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INTRODUCTION 

It is now reasonably common to find scholarly works analyzing US 
foreign policy making from the perspective of bureaucratic politics. As a 
discipline, however, this kind of approach is still in its infancy and 
continues to ignore important actors in the policy making-and policy 
implementing-process. In his seminal 1971 study of the Cuban missile 
crisis, Essence of Decision: Explaining the Cuban Missile Crisis, Graham 
Allison explained the need to shift the focus of analysis away from key 
individuals and notions of the "unitary state" when trying to understand 
foreign policy decisions and look instead at organizational behavior. The 
reason, he argued, is that "the 'decision-maker' of national policy is 
obviously not one calculating individual but rather a conglomerate of large 
organizations and political actorS."l Just how extensive the "conglomerate" 
engaged in handling any particular foreign policy issue may be can remain 
uncertain for years until documents are declassified and made publicly 
available. Even then, the array of political actors involved in policy 
discussion and detelTIlination may appear so unwieldy that scholars choose 
to concentrate on high-ranking officials and peak bodies such as 
departments in the interests of comprehensibility. Writing almost 50 years 
after Allison's ground breaking study Gvosdev, Blankshain and Cooper 
argue-in Decision-Making in American Foreign Policy-that mainstream 
foreign policy analysis remains focused at the level of senior bureaucratic 
maneuvering and pays far too little attention to the "less visible 
bureaucratic activities that take place at lower echelons within the national 
security apparatus."2 

Those who occupy these "lower echelons" often help to produce-or at 
the very least circulate and thus promote-the language in which issues 
are framed and policy options are discussed. Any particular approach can 
come to be generally viewed in the minds of more senior officials as 
"positive" or "negative," "moderate" or "radical," according to the 
prevalence of the labels attached to them in departmental "Talking Points", 
"Options Papers" and memos. The repetition of terms such as "chaos," 
"hostile," "threat," "hardline" as distinct from "responsible," "credible," 
"orderly," and "measured" can help shape the way perceptions are formed 
or confilTIled and the beliefs associated with those perceptions take shape. 
In this way, the language in which bureaucratic debate is conducted can 
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play a crucial role in generating images in the minds of senior decision 
makers and influencing the set of policy preferences associated with those 
images. Language, in other words, matters. 

More directly, lower level officials of the foreign policy bureaucracy 
can support and faithfully carry out decisions made by their superiors but 
they can just as easily manipulate, undelTIline, or oppose instructions. 
Different agencies can interpret the wording of a policy decision in vastly 
different ways and proceed to "enact" the policy accordingly: individuals, 
dO\vn to and including section officers in an embassy, can choose to 
emphasize aspects of a policy with which they agree and ignore or drag 
their feet in acting on those with which they disagree. A president's 
interest in an issue may be broad and time-bound: departmental secretaries 
translate that interest into policy directives. But the vast network of 
political appointees and career service officers below the level of secretary 
are tasked with lending coherence to directives by engaging with the 
details of policy over time. This provides considerable opportunity to 
contest what has been decided and to influence directly how decisions are 
implemented. Lower level officials can also act surreptitiously as back­
charmel conduits of infOlmation to members of Congress-who have a 
vital role to play in foreign policy making-and to non-government 
organizations which campaign for congressional action in particular issue 
areas. 

This book is the first detailed study of the "less visible bureaucratic 
activities" involved in US policy making in respect of Chile in the 1970s 
and how these related to the "visible" or more obvious policy statements 
and activities at senior levels. In the first part of the 1970s US policy 
toward Chile came to be seen as emblematic of the realpolitik approach 
pursued by President Richard Nixon and his chief foreign policy adviser 
Henry Kissinger. Subsequently Chile policy was viewed as a test case of 
Jimmy Carter's alternative human rights approach. This study thus fills a 
gap in our understanding of an important bilateral relationship at a crucial 
time in US foreign policy. But it has wider implications than simply 
throwing light on policy toward one country during one particular period. 
In significant respects the goals pursued in respect of Chile by each 
administration during this decade-that of Nixon, Ford and Carter-were 
largely unrealized. This was primarily due to the single-minded purposes 
of Chileans themselves and the limited influence the US had ( and chose) 
to wield upon them. As a result, these frustrated ambitions heightened the 
debate among US officials at every level over what policies to pursue and 
how to pursue them. The contest of ideas and the competition between 
different interests and agendas throughout the foreign policy bureaucracy 
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were thus thrO\vn into stark relief, permitting a deeper reading of their 
operation and impact on policy outcomes. The fact that the period under 
study saw two quite different approaches to the management of foreign 
policy also allows the identification of those features which were common 
to both approaches and are thus inherent characteristics of the bureaucratic 
politics of decision making. 

Nixon, Kissinger and foreign policy making 

By the late 1960s, the United States confronted a number of uiterrelated 
global developments that weakened its position as the world's dominant 
power: the war in Vietnam, increased economic competition from 
powerful capitalist allies in Europe and Japan, the emergence of the Soviet 
Union to military superpower status, the rise of China, and resurgent 
nationalism in various parts of the developing world. A serious question 
also had arisen as to whether the American electorate and Congress would 
continue to support military intervention ui the Third World to protect US 
interests. There must be global recognition, Richard Nixon had written in a 
1967 essay, "that the role of the United States as world policeman is likely 
to be limited in the future."3 He concluded that if the US was to mauitain 
its status as the global power in a stable international order, an alternative, 
more cost effective means of "containing Communism" must replace the 
kind of direct confrontation that had hitherto characterized Washuigton's 
Cold War competition with the Soviet Union. 

To achieve this Nixon sought to run a foreign policy unconstrained by 
public opinion, Congress, or even his 0\Vll bureaucracy. The result was a 
greater emphasis on secrecy in decision-making in Washington and an 
increased resort to covert intervention in the Third World. A man of film 
convictions and considerable ego, Nixon had always intended to conduct 
foreign policy out of the White House. This meant strengthenuig the 
position of the National Security Council (NSC) and downgrading the role 
of the State Department. It also meant that the President's choice of an 
NSC Adviser was a crucial one. Not only would the appointee have to 
share a similar worldview but also be able to rise above the maul of 
competing departmental interests and pressures typically involved in 
policy formulation. 

With these qualities ui muid, Nixon turned to the director of Harvard 
University's International Seminar and its Defense Studies Program, Dr 
Henry Kissinger. Although Kissuiger had decluied to serve on Nixon's 
foreign policy committee during the presidential campaign, he had 
established himself by the end of 1968 as the Republican Party's pre-
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eminent foreign policy expert. He was also well known for his hard line 
anti-communist credentials and was sympathetic to Nixon's views on how 
best to pursue the Cold War policy of containment. The two met for only 
the second time following Nixon's election victory in November, 1968, 
and quickly established a rapport 4 Kissinger accepted the offer to head the 
NSC, recommending that he "structure a national security apparatus within 
the \¥hite House that, in addition to coordinating foreign and defense 
policy, could also develop policy options for [tbe President] to consider 
before making decisions."5 Foreign policy making essentially would 
become a joint affair witb little role for intermediaries. The State 
Department's John Bushnell, who was seconded to the NSC staff from 
1971 to 1974, recalled that Kissinger "felt the bureaucracies did not share 
his global view of what he and the President were trying to do and tbat the 
cabinet secretaries were in the pockets of the bureaucracies."6 

In one of his first acts as President, Nixon issued National Security 
Decision Memorandum (NSDM) 2 which ended State Department 
oversight of the NSC and thereby effectively promoted tbe Council to tbe 
key role in the fOlTImlation of policies on major international issues-and 
the NSC Adviser to the role as his most influential foreign policy 
consultant. Nixon deemed these organizational changes necessary to create 
a more centralized policy process, particularly after tbe NSC had been 
sidelined during the Kennedy-Johnson years. This shift in influence would 
have a profound effect on recommendations by both senior officials in 
Washington and US ambassadors around tbe world and how tbeir advice 
was viewed by Kissinger. 

As for the State Department, Nixon dismissed it as a little more than 
what he termed a "recalcitrant bureaucracy."7 In The White House Years, 
Kissinger was even more forthcoming. Nixon, he wrote, was convinced 
that State personnel had no loyalty toward him, having "disdained" him as 
Vice President and "ignored him the moment he was out of office." 
Nixon's animus extended to the CIA which he was detennined to bring 
under greater control because he regarded it as "staffed by Ivy League 
liberals who behind the fayade of analytical objectivity were usually 
pushing their own preferences [and] had always opposed him politically.'" 

In hindsight at least, Kissinger was acutely aware of the implications of 
this restructuring. It created a situation likely to intensify the normal 
frictions between the NSC Adviser and the Secretary of State, and 
diminish the role of the latter. Reinforcing these institutional changes was 
a deep-seated personality clash between Kissinger and Nixon's first 
Secretary of State, Williarn Rogers. A close confidant of tbe President's 
since the late 1940s, Rogers had limited foreign policy experience prior to 
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his appointment. A lawyer by profession, who had served as Attomey­
General in the Eisenhower administration, Rogers "was trained to deal 
with issues as they arose on their merits," in Kissinger's opinion, which 
was less than adequate preparation for his new position. This "tactical" 
approach to foreign policy was in stark contrast to what the NSC Adviser 
described as his own "strategic and geopolitical" approach. Kissinger also 
viewed Rogers as overly concerned with congressional reactions to policy 
decisions (which Nixon would make little effort to court') and the press 
(toward which the President adopted a "bunker mentality"lO), and as 
basically "an insensitive neophyte who threatened the careful design of our 
foreign policy"ll because he baulked at tough decisions. 

By September 1970, and after months of endless bickering between 
Kissinger and Rogers, Nixon's Chief of Staff Harry "Bob" Haldeman 
would write in his diary that Kissinger felt sure Nixon "can't take Rogers 
seriously on foreign policy."12 Kissinger himself recalled that by the 
summer of that year, Rogers was already being excluded from all key 
foreign policy decisions or else "brought in so late that his role was that of 
a ratifier rather than a policy formulator."13 The responsibilities of cabinet 
government, in other words, were essentially taken over by NSC staff so 
that Nixon and Kissinger could "keep control of the agenda and the 
bureaucracy." 14 

In the Nixon administration interdepartmental advisory committees 
were no longer to be chaired by State: the Senior Interdepartmental Group 
(SIG) that formulated policy options and reports under State's leadership 
was replaced by a Senior Review Group (SRG) chaired by Kissinger and 
tasked with coordinating all policy papers from Interdepartmental Groups 
(IGs) which prepared NSC directives. Kissinger also chaired meetings of 
the 40 Committee (responsible for covert operations), the Defense 
Program Review Committee (responsible for defense policy and budgets), 
the Intelligence Committee, the Under-Secretaries Committee (which 
considered issues referred to it by the SRG that did not require a 
presidential decision), the Inter-Agency Regional Groups (which likewise 
considered regional issues that could be dealt with at the assistant 
secretary level), and the Washington Special Actions Group (WSAG) 
which was responsible for managing crises involving US interests abroad. 
Eventually, the interagency WSAG would grow in importance relative to 
all other groups and committees, meeting on an almost weekly basis from 
July 1969 until November 1973. From his position as chair of these 
forums, Kissinger was able to control what infmmation and policy 
alternatives were presented to the President, and deluge the foreign policy 
bureaucracy with requests for studies and options papers-which he often 
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ignored.15 The net result was that policy advice in cases such as Chile was 
often based less on specialist knowledge than on the application of general 
theories and assumptions (Kissinger's) and policy decisions were often the 
product of little more than prejudice and gut-feeling (Nixon's). 

With these organizational and personnel changes "the focus of major 
foreign policy and military decisions became the daily meetings between 
Nixon and Kissinger."16 Unsurprisingly, morale within State plummeted as 
the White House "circumvented [the Department] in a hundred different 
ways" and deliberately sidelined Secretary Rogers from any substantive 
policymaking roleP On almost all major foreign policy initiatives, State 
was either kept out of the loop (Nixon's "opening" to China), marginalized 
(Vietnam policy), or trumped by the White House and the NSC in 
interagency deliberations (Washington's "tilt" toward Pakistan in its 1971 
war with India). Another consequence was that foreign governments 
became confused about who spoke for the administration and/or imagined 
that they could play one senior US official against another.18 

In September 1973, Nixon announced that Kissinger (while still 
retaining his NSC position) would replace Rogers as Secretary of State. 
Many of Kissinger's most trusted NSC staff moved to State with him, 
assuming key positions and creating an inner circle of favored advisers. 
"The locus of power moved with Kissinger to State," observed Barry 
Rubin, "but the authority remained personal rather than institutional."19 
More than that, Kissinger's new appointment placed him in a "particularly 
propitious position to design, manage, and make foreign policy almost 
single-handedly."20 According to one State Department official at the time, 
reports and memos were often written with an eye to purely internal 
departmental disputes and many simply vanished into a "black hole" of 
bureaucratic filing cabinets.21 

The transition from Nixon to Gerald Ford in August 1974 had little 
impact on Kissinger's influence. Ford entered the 'White House "without a 
sure grasp of either the substance or the processes of foreign policy" and 
was eager for Kissinger-along with most of Nixon's other key foreign 
policy advisers-to stay in place." As Ford recalled later, he "didn't want 
to make any changes that might be misunderstood overseas. ,,23 Moreover, 
Ford had pressing domestic issues to contend with-the political aftennath 
of Nixon's dO\vnfall, an increasingly belligerent Congress, an economy in 
difficult straights-and was amenable to giving Kissinger considerable 
latitude in his dual roles as Secretary of State and NSC Adviser. 

Ford would implement no major changes in the structure of foreign 
policymaking. Among the transition team recommendations he rejected 
was one that Kissinger be relieved of one of his two portfolios,24 a 
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decision ensuring that there would be few, if any, shifts in the fundamental 
direction of US foreign policy. Not only did the existing conceptual 
framework of fighting the Cold War by whatever means possible remain 
intact but, under Ford, Kissinger pursued a managerial approach that 
differed little from the Nixon period-which continued to generate unease, 
if not hostility, at the middle and lower levels of the State Department. 
Through most of 1975 and 1976, Kissinger remained the dominant figure 
in American foreign policy, gaining his way in intra-departmental conflicts 
(for example, approval for a major covert program in Angola over the 
strong opposition of State's bureaucracy) and interagency disagreements 
(winning the argument with Defense over how much force should be used 
to rescue the US merchant ship S.s. Mayaguez captured for allegedly 
entering Cambodian territorial waters).25 

As he gained confidence in the conduct of foreign affairs, however, 
Ford would start to listen to advice other than Kissinger's while 
maintaining the basic thrust of his predecessor's foreign policy. \¥hat 
differences did emerge between Ford and Kissinger resulted from 
congressional initiatives (for instance, on human rights), the growing 
chorus of opposition (in Congress and elsewhere) to superpower detente 
with the Soviet Union, and a vague notion entertained by some of Ford's 
senior advisers that it was time to infuse moral values into the conduct of 
America's dealings with the rest of the world. 

Foreign policy under Carter 

Iimmy Carter's criticism of the Nixon-Ford-Kissinger era was not that its 
leading architects had been less than vigorous in promoting US interests 
but that at times they had misconstrued what these interests were, deceived 
the American people about how they were pursuing them, and acted in 
ways that undelTIlined confidence in the US commitment to the values it 
claimed to champion. Carter was determined to break with the realpolitik 
of those years and to substitute for secret diplomacy, covert politics and 
automatic support for authoritarian anti communist regimes a moral 
approach based on the pursuit of human rights.26 

Carter later explained that his commitment to a new approach stemmed 
from a belief that "moral principles were the best foundation for the 
exertion of American power and influence." 27 But Carter's confidantes 
also allowed a substantial role in his motivations to "political acumen." 
His senior campaign foreign policy adviser, Zbigniew Brzezinski, 
observed that not only did Carter sense there was a "pressing need to 
reinvigorate the moral content of American foreign policy:" he also 
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perceived the electoral appeal of human rights "for it drew a sharp contrast 
between himself and the policies of Nixon and Kissinger."28 The human 
rights issue, recalled campaign aides, was the one issue around which a 
divided Democratic Party could unite: it "appealed to [those] on the right" 
in the sense that it applied to the Soviet Union and its treatment of Jews, 
and "to the liberals in terms of Korea and Chile."29 

Even as a strongly articulated component of Carter's foreign policy, 
however, the commitment to human rights retained a key instrumental role 
in the administration's thinking. State Department officials were reminded 
of the need to establish "credibility" with Congress as to the depth of their 
commitment to enable the Executive Branch "to regain [the] initiative in 
this field and to have more flexibility on [the] use of levers such as aid and 
alms policies, public reporting on human rights conditions, and voting in 
international financial institutions, all of which are now mandated by the 
Congress."30 More generally, Carter viewed a commitment to human 
rights as a way of helping to strengthen American influence among Third 
World nations which were yet to choose "future friends and trading 
partners."31 Similarly, Brzezinski-who Carter appointed NSC Advisor­
felt strongly that the approach would advance US global interests by 
offering these countries a counter to the liberationist rhetoric of the Soviet 
UnionY For him, however, "power was the goal and morality was an 
instrument to be used when appropriate, abandoned when not.'>}} "Without 
credible American power," he wrote, "we would simply not be able either 
to protect our interests or to advance more humane goals. ,,34 

In countries where vital strategic, political and/or economic interests 
were paramount, human rights concerns would always take a back seat to 
a pragmatic maintenance of friendly relations. In dealing with repressive 
Third World allies, the Carter administration made "ample use" of the 
"extraordinary circumstances" clauses 'Written into human rights legislation 
to minimize or circumvent aid cutbacks.35 The Carter 'White House 
commitment to human rights, in other words, was never as "absolute" or 
principled as the President insisted it would be in his inaugural address. 
Exploiting "loophole" provisions would not only compromise the policy 
but was bound to create frictions with Congress where the 'White House 
could initially expect a sympathetic hearing but not necessarily a trouble­
free ride. 

The influx of a significant number of newly elected, independently­
minded Democrats to Congress in 1976 meant, in the words of Carter's 
Chief of Staff Hamilton Jordan that "we ... had no unifying Democratic 
consensus, no program, no set of principles on which a majority of 
Democrats agreed."36 The President's 0\Vll attitude, reflected in the "the 
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anti-Washington thrust of the 1976 campaign," only promised to make 
matters worse. Secretary of State Cyrus Vance described Carter as having 
"almost a contempt for the Congress" which both sides of politics were 
acutely aware of and made dealing with legislators on foreign policy 
issues "more difficult than they should have been.'>37 This, in turn, 
severely limited his ability to establish a solid support base willing to do 
him "favors" or push programs that required congressional assent.38 In 
early 1978, Carter wrote in his diary of feeling particularly uncomfortable 
in meetings with those legislators who, ironically, were the strongest 
supporters of his human rights policy: "I feel more at home with 
conservative Democratic and Republican members of Congress than I do 
the others, although the liberals vote with me more often."39 Only months 
later, a White House legislative official reported that Carter had no 
"natural constituency" on the Hil1.40 

Testifying before a Senate Foreign Relations subcommittee in the first 
weeks of the new administration, Deputy Secretary of State Warren 
Christopher insisted that human rights "will be woven, we are detelTIlined, 
into the fabric of American foreign policy." 41 In a speech at the University 
of Georgia in April, Secretary of State Cyrus Vance provided a slightly 
more detailed exposition of the policy, which concentrated on three areas: 
the "integrity of the person," the enjoyment of civil and political liberties, 
and basic economic rights. In other words, the focus would be on specific 
techniques of governing, not on questions of regime origins or legitimacy. 
Brutal or autocratic rulers would never be opposed on the grounds of their 
essential nature. Vance underlined the importance of pursuing human 
rights in a "realistic" and calculating fashion based on each particular case, 
the possibilities for taking effective action and its impact on national 
security interests.42 This, he later wrote, could best be achieved through 
"quiet diplomacy"-a view fully shared by Christopher. 43 Nonetheless, 
Vance's speech "offered remarkably little insight into how the 
administration would promote human rights, unless it was to foreshadow 
how full of qualifications and hesitancies it would be," concluded Barbara 
Keys.44 

Upon taking office, Carter moved quickly to differentiate his 
management style and structures from those of his immediate predecessors. 
He downgraded the role played by the NSC in foreign and defense policy 
decisions under Nixon and Ford with the objective of broadening the range 
of opinions and options for his consideration. To this end, he issued 
Presidential Directive 2 on January 20, 1977 that retained the NSC as "the 
principal forum for international security issues requiring Presidential 
consideration" but reduced its overall staff numbers and its leadership role 
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within the interagency committees by cutting the latter from seven to two, 
only one of which-the Special Coordination Committee (SCC)-would 
be routinely chaired by the NSC Adviser and attended by other senior 
foreign policy officials as appropriate. The meetings of tlie Policy Review 
Committee (PRC) would be run by tlie Cabinet officer (or Director of 
Central Intelligence) most directly responsible for the issue under 
discussion. Those NSC Interdepartmental Groups tasked with considering 
specific issues at the behest of the President also operated under the 
direction of tlie PRC. 

The PRC had the most extensive charter with responsibility for issues 
that fell primarily witliin the province of a particular department but where 
the subject also had important implications for otlier departments and 
agencies. These ranged from major foreign policy issues with significant 
military aspects, to defense policy issues with international impacts, to the 
preparation of national intelligence budgets and resource allocations to 
intelligence activities. Also included were economic issues relevant to US 
foreign policy and security. The SCC (which replaced the Nixon-Kissinger 
Washington Special Action Group) dealt with issues that cut across 
agencies and required coordination in the development of policy options 
and their implementation. Though narrower in focus than the PRC, the 
SCC would eventually become the key clearing house for foreign policy 
matters due to the growing importance of crisis management and the 
increasing influence of Brzezinski.45 

Vance inherited from Kissinger a State Department whose institutional 
problems had not been addressed and whose resources had not been 
adequately exploited. He would later describe the Department as 
"suffering one of its perennial crises of morale" as a result. DetelTIlined 
that something had to be done to "prevent a steady erosion of the sense of 
identity and purpose" within the foreign-service, he proposed a re­
organization that would "assign greater responsibility and authority to 
senior subordinates and to ambassadors in the field [and] draw regularly 
on the career service for advice on major foreign policy matters as well as 
for the conduct of routine business." This gave the careerists greater 
muscle with which to pursue their particular agendas but it also ensured 
that intra-agency disputes over human rights would require close and 
careful management. Vance, however, delegated responsibility for this and 
a number of other issues, including Chile policy, to his Deputy, Warren 
Christopher, whom he described as "truly" his "alter ego," concentrating 
much of his 0\Vll time and energy on East-West issues and anns control 
rather than tlie day-to-day conflicts embroiling State officials. 46 
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Since the effort to incorporate human rights criteria into decisions 
about US bilateral (and multilateral) aid policy had originated in Congress, 
it was perhaps natural that the search to lend coherence to Carter's 
ambitions in this area drew at first on the language of the 1976 Harkin 
Amendment to the Foreign Assistance Act (FAA) restricting multilateral 
development bank loans and assistance, and US alms exports and security 
assistance, to any country whose government engaged in a "consistent 
pattern of gross violations of internationally recognized human rights." 
The State Department's February 1977 Guidelines on US Foreign Policy 
for Human Rights agreed with Congress that the prime point of reference 
for detennining internationally recognized human rights was the UN's 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, principally those sections dealing 
with crimes against the person which should constitute the "main focus for 
purposes of both field reporting and Department decision-making." The 
Guidelines were open-ended in defining what constituted a "consistent 
pattern of gross violations" since "no mathematical formula is appropriate 
to the wide variety of existing cases." Rather, the emphasis should be on 
searching for both "regular recurrences" (for instance, with respect to 
class, race or political persuasion) that indicated patterns of behavior, and 
"the extent of violations over time." In effect, rather than producing 
clarity, this focus encouraged intenninable inter-agency disputes about 
trends.47 "Consistency has always been the core problem for the [human 
rights] policy," said a White House official midway into Carter's term. 
"And the infighting gets roughest when different government agencies see 
their interests threatened. ,,48 

This study reconstructs the internal debates in Washington regarding 
Chile policy during the Nixon, Ford and Carter administrations, and assesses 
the extent to which the different approaches of each administration 
influenced decision-making in Santiago, particularly lUlder the Pinochet 
dictatorship. The study is based on original interviews which no other 
scholarly publication has exploited with former US government officials, 
congressional staffers, human rights activists, and leading Chilean 
opposition political figures, as well as primary/archival research (in the 
United States, Canada and the United Kingdom) the scope of which 
exceeds that of any currently published work on this topic. The study 
demonstrates that neither the sympathetic embrace of the Chilean junta by 
the Nixon and Ford administrations nor the more critical approach 
exercised toward it under Carter went unchallenged within the US foreign 
policy making bureaucracy. In fact, the often intense competition over 
policy decisions at a departmental, agency and even embassy level often 
spoiled attempts to implement a consistent approach to Chile and 
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weakened what pressure the US could bring to bear in pursuit of its own 
preferred outcomes. This challenges the prevailing view in much of the 
published literature that the US had substantially much more influence 
over the dictatorship than it was prepared to wield and raises findings with 
wider implications for scholars of US relations with Chile and Latin 
America, and for approaching US foreign policy more broadly. 



CHAPTER 1 

CONFRONTING ALLENDE 

"Chile could end up being the warstfailure in our administration­
'our Cuba ' by 1972. " 

Henry Kissinger, speaking to President Richard Nixon 's appointments 
secretary, DWight Chapin, November, 1970. 

As Chile's major political parties began mobilizing for the 1970 
presidential election, Washington policymakers confronted the very real 
possibility of a leftist coalition, Unidad Popular (Popular Unity or UP), 
gaining national political power through the ballot box. The UP's 
candidate, Salvador Allende-a member of the Socialist Party who had 
strong connections to the Communist Party-had run for the presidency in 
1952, 1958 and 1964, each time significantly increasing his share of the 
vote. In 1964, tbe United States had mounted a major covert action 
program to forestall his victory and six years later the idea of a 
government led by him had no more appeal. There was, however, a greater 
reluctance, especially in the State Department, to replicate the massive 
electoral intervention tbat had helped bring to office the incumbent 
Christian Democratic Party's (PDC) Eduardo Frei, even though senior 
officials in the Bureau of Inter-American Affairs (ARA) were willing to 
lend support to low-level anti-Allende covert political initiatives. 

In March 1970, a memo from Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of 
State for Inter-American Affairs John Crimmins requested that the 
interagency 40 Committee-a secretive group chaired by National 
Security Adviser Henry Kissinger and responsible for approving fimding 
of CIA covert operations-endorse such a proposal as long as it simply 
targeted the UP and could not be interpreted as providing support to the 
right-wing National Party candidate, former President Jorge Alessandri. 
ARA was above all concerned about the regional consequences of a UP 
victory, that it would bolster "extremist groups in other countries-most 
immediately, Bolivia and Peru.'" The CIA also advocated covert 
intervention but in more traditional Cold War tenns: an Allende 
presidency would ipso facto be a win for the Soviet Union and therefore a 
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"major strategic setback" for the United States. To prevent this outcome, 
the CIA contended, would send a clear message to Moscow as to "our 
determination [to] rebuff any Soviet attempt [to] establish another 
beachhead in the Western Hemisphere."2 

By mid-year, the White House had designated Chile a "high priority" 
issue-a status the CIA seemed only too willing to justify. At the end of 
July, for instance, the Agency produced a National Intelligence Estimate 
(NIE) on Chile detailing the challenges Washington was likely to confront 
depending on the outcome of the election. Although bilateral relations 
would not be trouble-free if either the rightist Alessandri or the left­
leaning Christian Democrat's (PDC) candidate, Radimiro Tomic, became 
president, both "appear persuaded of the value of good relations with the 
US." By contrast, an Allende government dominated by the Socialist and 
Communist parties would produce "much greater" problems. Apart from 
the threat to US economic interests in Chile, such a government would 
likely pose a direct challenge to the US in Latin America and globally 
which would be "extremely difficult" to manage. The problems foreseen 
ranged from such a government llOlmalizing relations with Cuba and 
increasing ties with the socialist bloc to adopting an "openly hostile" 
stance on key issues involving "East-West confrontation" at the UN and in 
"world affairs generally."3 

That same month, however, President Richard Nixon requested an 
urgent interagency review (titled National Security Study Memorandum 
97 or NSSM 97) of how the US should respond to an Allende presidency 4 
Its major conclusions treated a leftist government in Chile as a threat to 
US interests but in more measured terms than had the CIA report. NSSM 
97 stated that a leftist government would not pose a direct threat to "vital" 
US national interests within Chile, nor would it "significantly alter" the 
global military balance of power. Such a result, however, would raise the 
likelihood of "tangible economic losses" for the US and significant 
"political and psychological costs.'" The Interdepartmental Group (IG) 
subsequently approved NSSM 97-effectively trumping the CIA 
assessment. Crimmins, who chaired the IG meetings, recalled a consensus 
that "the world was not going to come to an end" if Allende won and the 
White House "should sort of live with that situation." Even though 
Crimmins had drafted the earlier memo to the 40 Committee proposing a 
limited covert campaign to keep the UP out of power, Chile's democratic 
political culture, he reasoned, would ensure that "there was another 
election down the line.,,6 A similar sentiment prevailed within the State 
Department according to the Assistant Secretary of State for Inter­
American Affairs William D. Rogers (who was no relation to Secretary of 
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State William Rogers) who was appointed in 1 974. "We didn't regard the 
left in Chile as a contribution to the distortion of the balance of power with 
the Soviet Union," he recalled. "I mean it was laughable: [Chile 1 was a 
microscopic country."7 

Still, Washington's least favored outcome was confnmed on September 
7 when Allende and the UP coalition won a narrow victory over 
Alessandri by a mere 39,000 votes, with the PDC candidate lagging well 
behind in third place. From Santiago, US Ambassador Edward Korry, 
effectively rejecting the NSSM 97 assessment of the likely impact of this 
outcome, cabled Secretary of State Rogers that US interests had "suffered 
a grievous defeat" which would have "the most profound effect on Latin 
America and beyond." For its part, the CIA's Directorate of Intelligence 
produced a same day assessment which also challenged the consensus of 
the IG on NSSM 97 and followed it up with a paper for discussion at a 40 
Committee meeting to assess the possibilities for reversing the election 
result. A military coup option was ruled out on the grounds that the 
Chilean aimed forces are "incapable and unwilling to seize power." The 
Agency was almost as pessimistic about a political strategy to forestall 
Allende fOlming a government on the basis of his narrow win, as this 
would require the support of outgoing president Eduardo Frei to secure 
sufficient PDC and Radical Party votes in Congress to elect Alessandri. 
Nevertheless, the CIA argued that the US might still have a "crucial" role 
to play in preventing Allende from taking office, although it cautioned that 
any such actions must be confined to "backstopping a Chilean effort.'" 

Wliether the US should become involved or not was "the crux of the 
issue," NSC staffer Viron Vaky wrote in a memo to Kissinger. Vaky 
suggested that the "risks" of an Allende govenament outweighed the 
possible unanticipated consequences that might flow from US intervention 
to countelTIland the election vote. Still, while conceding that Allende was 
"a serious problem that would cost us a great deal," Vaky nevertheless 
argued that the UP leader did not pose any kind of "mortal threat to the 
US" and nor was his victory likely to trigger' 'dominos falling" across the 
region. The impact of a Marxist state for the rest of Latin America, the 
NSC staffer suggested, "is containable."9 

This was not an assessment that either Nixon or Kissinger wanted to 
hear. Crimmins recalled a Wliite House that "had gone ape about this­
ape. They were frantic, just besides themselves. ,,10 Kissinger and Secretary 
of State Rogers, however, adopted a coolly calculating posture on what 
should happen next as their telephone conversation on the early afternoon 
of September 14 makes clear: 
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Rogers: I talked with the President at length about [Allende's victory]. My 
feeling and I think it coincides with the President's is that we ought to 
encourage a different result . . .  but should do so discreetly so that it doesn't 
backfire. 
Kissinger: The only question is how one defines "backfire." 
Rogers: Getting caught doing something. After all we've talked about 
elections, if the first time a Communist wins the US tries to prevent the 
constitutional process from coming into play we will look very bad. 
Kissinger: The President's view is to do the rnaxirmun possible to prevent 
an Aliente [sic] takeover, but through Chilean sources and with a low 
posture. 

Although the fmdings of NSSM 97, along with Vaky's NSC 
assessment of the consequences of an Allende victory for the US, had now 
been quickly overtaken by events-or, perhaps more correctly, by the 
mood in the 'White House-both senior officials expressed concern about 
the more extreme assessments coming out of the Santiago Embassy. 
Ambassador Korry, after all, had been a newspaper man with only limited 
diplomatic experience (as Ambassador to Ethiopia) before being appointed 
to Santiago by the Iohnson administration: he now found himself at the 
centre of what the 'White House believed to be a major fault line in the 
Cold War conflict and the tone of his reports apparently suggested to 
Rogers more the breathless urgency of a correspondent's dispatches than 
the sober assessments of an ambassador. 

Rogers: I have been disturbed by Korry's telegrams. They smmd frenetic 
and somewhat irrational. I know that he's lUlder pressure but we ought to 
be careful of him. He's got tender nerve ends. I don't know if you saw his 
telegrams. 
Kissinger: Yes, I did. 
Rogers: And I think we've got to be sme he acts with discretion. He's a 
high-stnmg fellow. 
Kissinger: I think what we have to do is make a cold-blooded assessment, 
get a course of action this week some time and then get it done. 11 

According to Kissinger's later account in The White House Years, 
during a September 14 meeting with the conservative Chilean businessman 
and publisher Augustin Edwards and the President of the Pepsi Cola 
Company, Donald Kendall, Nixon was "triggered into action" over 
Allende's victory.12 The following day, the President denounced Allende's 
victory at a meeting with CIA Director Richard Helms and Kissinger. 
Terming the result "unacceptable to the United States," the President 
instructed the head of the covert agency "to prevent Allende from coming 
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to power or to unseat him by whatever means possible." The 'White House, 
according to Helms' handwritten notes of the conversation, was detelTIlined 
to "save Chile!" irrespective of the "risks involved," and in order to 
achieve this objective it was necessary to "make the economy scream.,,13 
Helms attempted to tell Nixon that no Agency official believed it was 
possible to mount a program to prevent Allende's inauguration as 
President in early November, but said it "was like talking into a gale."14 

If Nixon, in Kissinger's words, "was beside himself' over the election 
outcome, and took out his frustration on Helms, a similarly apoplectic 
NSC Adviser directed his wrath at the relevant foreign policy agencies 
whom he accused of engaging in "a complicated three cornered minuet 
that kept the problem from high level attention." Kissinger singled out the 
State Department's Latin American Bureau for not "put[ting] the chips on 
anybody" in the lead up to the election and dismissing the possibility of an 
Allende victory.15 He conjured up the specter of dramatic global and 
regional consequences for the United States if the vote was allowed to 
stand. Internationally, Kissinger insisted, the result would have major 
implications for the future success of communist parties in Western 
Europe. An NSC aide recalled that Kissinger was especially preoccupied 
with the growing political support for the Italian Communist Party and the 
negative message communist participation in Chile's democratic electoral 
process, and Washington's acceptance of the result, would send to the 
Italian voter ahead of the 1 972 elections.16 Beyond warnings about the 
threat of "falling dominoes" in southern Europe, Kissinger further 
conflated the dire consequences of Allende's election (and the importance 
of a "tough" US response) by situating it "against the backdrop of the 
[pro-Moscow] Syrian [govenament's] invasion of Jordan and our efforts to 
force the Soviet Union to dismantle its installation for servicing nuclear 
submarines in the Caribbean."17 Closer to home, he declared, Chile's 
location in the mainland of South America, and the democratic origins of a 
Socialist-Communist-dominated coalition election victory, posed an even 
greater threat to US regional interests than had the Cuban Revolution 
during the 1 960s. For Kissinger, what happened in Chile had the potential 
to "undelTIline our position in the entire Western Hemisphere."18 

The day after Helms was told to somehow rescue Chile from the left, 
Kissinger held a White House briefing in which he again spelled out the 
broader strategic implications of the election result. Implicitly treating 
Allende's victory as akin to the Soviet Union forcibly establishing a client 
regime in Eastern Europe, he issued an ominous warning: "I don't think 
we should delude ourselves that an Allende takeover in Chile would not 
present massive problems for us, and for democratic forces and for pro-US 
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forces in Latin America, and indeed to the whole Western Hemisphere." In 
the current circumstances, however, the reality was that Washington's 
dilemma could not easily be resolved in a marmer favorable to US policy 
objectives. Realistically, Kissinger acknowledged, the situation was "not 
one in which our capacity for influence is very great at this particular 
moment now that matters have reached this particular point. "19 

That said, and having failed to prevent the UP's victory, the White 
House was detelTIlined to overturn the result if at all possible. According 
to Kissinger, Nixon "did not put forward a concrete scheme, only a 
passionate desire, unfocused and born of frustration to do 'something' ."20 
Before long, however, that "something" coalesced into a two-track policy: 
Track 1, approved by the 40 Committee and, according to Kissinger, 
"closely paralleling" the instructions Nixon had given Helms, consisted of 
instructions to the Embassy to enlist whatever political, economic, and 
propaganda tools it could to induce the opposition forces to block a formal 
transfer of power to Allende.21 Track 2 concentrated on efforts to foment a 
military COUp.22 In a telegram to Santiago on September 28, the head of a 
special CIA task force on Chile, "instructed his team that 'every plot, 
however bizarre' must be explored to prod the military into action."23 
Kissinger was skeptical about a successful covert operation, telTIling it a 
"long shot" made worse by "bureaucratic resistance" especially from a 
"timid and unsympathetic" State Department.24 He did, however, direct 
Ambassador Korry to inform the Chilean military leadership that "we do 
not want them to be deterred by what they may feel is any ambiguity with 
respect to our attitude toward the election of Allende" and that if they did 
block his inauguration the reward would be increased military aid.25 

That was about as much as State Department officials knew of Track 2 
programs.26 Even Korry was kept in the dark about what the Embassy's 
CIA station and US Army attache had been instructed to get up to. The 
Ambassador, according to his successor, Nathaniel Davis, was "blind­
sided and short-circuited in his responsibility to represent the President. "27 
This extraordinary secrecy, recalled Kissinger, "was an expression of 
Nixon's profound distrust of State Department machinery, which he 
suspected would foil consideration of his wishes. ,,28 But it marked the 
beginning of a policy response suffused with internal contradictions and 
inconsistencies. 

The Chilean military culture 

Kissinger's instincts about, along with the CIA's assessment of, the 
prospects of the military moving to block Allende's assumption of power 
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were correct. But the reasons why the armed forces refused to act had little 
to do with their capabilities (a key factor singled out in the CIA's 
September 7 assessment), the timidity of the State Department in egging 
them on (cited by Kissinger in his September 1 7  memo to Nixon), or any 
consideration of inducements (the offer made by Kissinger through Korry 
on October 7). Rather the Chilean military had a well-developed respect 
for constitutionalism, an acute sense of the dangers involved in trying to 
umpire Chilean politics, and sufficiently mixed feelings about the 
prospects of an Allende government to want to stay its hand. 

Historically, the Chilean military saw itself as the country's pre­
eminent institution and the very repository of national values, interests, 
and goals.29 Its battlefield successes dated from colonial times and 
included the war of independence from Spain, the fierce frontier wars 
fought against the Mapuche Indians, and the two victorious nineteenth 
century wars against its neighbors, Peru and Bolivia. During the twentieth 
century, all three services played a key role in laying the economic and 
political foundations of the modem state, including the adoption of the 
1 925 Constitution. By the late 1 960s, the Chilean military was arguably 
the most professional armed forces in all of Latin America. 

Beginning in the 1 920s, the twin ideas of the state playing a key role in 
industrial and economic development, and the importance of social justice 
in order to avoid instability and the political radicalization of the lower 
classes, began to permeate the thinking of the army's officer corp. So also 
did a nationalist outlook reflected in a strand of thinking opposed to 
foreign economic domination and in favor of domestic control over 
strategic resource sectors. None of this, however, inclined the anned 
forces to jettison a virulent anti-communism combined with a more 
generalized distrust of mass movements and the potential dangers of 
popular democracy. While the former had a long pedigree, dating back to 
the early days of the Russian Revolution, it grew in intensity during the 
Cold War. Like other Latin armed forces, the Chilean officer corps saw 
themselves locked in a mortal conflict to preserve not only their national 
integrity but Western civilization, which they saw as hardly the exclusive 
preserve of European and North American countries. Indeed, many 
Chilean officers expressed their irritation over what they perceived as 
Washington's paternalistic attitude and failure to threat them as vital, 
equal partners in this worldwide conflict-particularly with respect to 
sophisticated weapons transfers-and viewed with concern what they 
perceived as the West's flagging commitment to waging the moral battle 
against the forces of global communism.30 
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The formative anti-communist experience of the generation of military 
officers who came to power in the 1 970s, including Augusto Pinochet, was 
their direct participation in the effort of the Gonzalez Videla's Radical 
Party government to crush nationwide industrial strikes in the mines 
during 1 947, declaring them part of a political effort by the Communist 
Party to topple the regime from power. 31 As well, the teaching of 
geopolitics in Chile's war academies during the 1 950 and 1 960s-by 
Pinochet and Jose Merino, among others-served to reinforce the 
military's nationalist and statist but also anti-communist sentiments. 
Geopolitical thinking was based, in Pinochet's words, on "the idea of the 
state as a living organism engaged in a constant struggle for survival" 
against the forces of economic decline and political and moral decay. 32 In 
this worldview, Marxist notions of internationalism and class conflict were 
seen as threats that weakened the nation by destroying its social 
cohesion.33 Chilean military studies of insurrectionist movements from 
Algeria to Vietnam also reinforced the idea that civil society was a 
battlefield in which, left unchecked, Marxists infiltrated intellectual 
circles, labor unions, the media and even the Church to promote 
lawlessness and moral disorder to their 0\Vll advantage.34 This thinking 
reinforced the military's commitment to economic development-poverty 
only empowered revolutionaries-but also constituted a further reason to 
suspect democracy's excesses and politicians who are tempted to exploit 
these for the own short-sighted ends. 

At the same time, the Chilean military had a vivid institutional memory 
of the disastrous consequences that befell it following the collapse of the 
[banez dictatorship during the Great Depression of the early 1 930s. Then, 
as the Army and Carabineros struggled to restore order on the streets of 
Santiago, elements within the Navy mutinied leading the newly created 
Air Force to bomb the fleet at anchor in the port city of Coquimbo. The 
combined effect of a civilian backlash against the military and the 
breakdo\Vll in its 0\Vll institutional discipline and unity eventually 
persuaded senior officers to disavow any further direct role in politics. 
After 1 932 the armed forces confined themselves to purely professional 
duties and "began to develop a social and cultural life that was completely 
separate from civilian society."35 

In the civilian domain, meanwhile, an attitude bordering on neglect 
developed toward the military and its concerns. Between 1958 and 1 968, 
the Alessandri and Frei governments presided over a contraction of the 
defense budget from 25 percent to 13  percent of total public spending,36 
and dismissed warnings from senior officers about Chile's military 
capabilities lagging dangerously behind those of Peru and Argentina-
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both seen as  potential future threats. In  1 968, eighty officers signed letters 
of resignation in protest at their poor salaries and working conditions; the 
following year retired General Roberto Viaux took control of a barracks 
on the Peruvian border, declaring a "strike" to secure a pay rise in the 
AlTIlY and the resignation of the Defense MinisterY 

In these circumstances Allende's election victory was a cause of both 
concern and celebration within the military. On the one hand he was a 
Marxist who employed the language of class conflict, mass mobilization 
politics, and internationalism. On the other, he promised structural refolTIls 
that would strengthen the economy and hence the nation's security. 
FurthelTIlore, Allende-unlike his predecessor-went out of his way to 
accommodate the anned forces' concerns. He praised their contribution to 
the country, promised (and eventually delivered) pay increases, gave 
guarantees to modernize their equipment and assurances that he would not 
change Chile's defense arrangements with the US or interfere in the 
military's affairs.38 Moreover he had come to power in an election contest 
that constitutionalist military leaders had pledged to respect, and 
committed himself to govern within the bounds of legality. There was, in 
other words, no immediate impetus for the alTIled forces to stand in the 
way of his fOlTIling a government. 

Korry flew to Washington for a meeting with Kissinger on October 1 3  
at which he basically outlined the same conclusion, arguing that any 
attempt at a military coup supported by the US might backfire as badly as 
the Bay of Pigs invasion of Cuba in 1 96 1 .  The Ambassador was then taken 
to meet with Nixon whose first words of greeting were, "That sonofabith, 
that sonofabitch! Not you, Mr Ambassador, you always tell it like it is. It's 
that bastard Allende." Nixon invited Korry to address a meeting of the 40 
Committee where the latter again expressed his strong opposition to any 
US contact with conspirators---especially retired General Viaux who, 
along with other potential plotters, was being actively encouraged by the 
CIA behind Korry's back. The Ambassador left the meeting and flew back 
to Santiago believing there was a consensus behind a decision to accept 
the inevitability of an Allende government and to pursue a policy of 
cordial if distant relations with it.39 According to Kissinger's subsequent 
account, mounting advice that a coup was unlikely to succeed caused him 
to terminate Track II programs-with Nixon's approval-on October 1 5. 
(Track I, he claimed, was also abandoned by the 40 Committee at the 
"same point" and the administration then resigned itself to the prospect of 
an Allende presidency.)40 

The following day, however, the CIA station in Santiago received a 
cable from headquarters advising it remained a "filTIl and continuing 
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policy that Allende be overthrown by a coup" and that while it would be 
"much preferable" to have this transpire before October 24 "efforts in this 
regard will continue vigorously beyond this date. ,,41 Three days later, 
rightwing conspirators (including retired General Viaux) mounted a plot to 
force a coup by kidnapping Army Commander-in-Chief General Rene 
Schneider and sheet the blame home to leftist radicals. Although the CIA 
had urged Viaux against taking "precipitate action" until he could be 
assured of more widespread support for a coup, the Agency had supplied 
him with gas masks and gas canisters on October 1 6.42 In any event, the 
kidnapping attempt failed: Schneider was shot resisting his assailants, died 
some days later and the nature of the plot was exposed leading to Viaux's 
arrest and imprisonment. At this point, the Chilean military rallied even 
more resolutely to the causes of both institutional unity and law and 
order-rather than to Washington's hoped-for pre-emptive coup strategy. 
The whole farce was the first of many miscalculations by US 
policymakers when it came to understanding the culture and intentions of 
Chile's officer corps. 

Chile "Gone": The Allende transition 

With Allende seemingly assured of victory in the congressional vote on 
October 24 as a result of post-election guarantees negotiated with the 
PDC, and in the absence of any sign of military intervention to block his 
subsequent inauguration, fonnulating a strategy for dealing with the UP in 
government now became imperative. In fact, Kissinger had already begun 
chairing interagency meetings to devise a longer-telTIl program of 
economic sanctions in the event that Allende's election was confirmed by 
the Chilean Congress. "The whole purpose of the meetings," an 
administration source recalled, "was to ensure that the various aid agencies 
and lending agencies were re-jiggered to make sure that [Allende] wasn't 
to get a penny."43 

A number of key assumptions aggregating, but by now also exaggerating, 
earlier assessments of the impact of an Allende government infolTIled this 
new policy debate. A memo from Vaky to Kissinger in early October 
provides a case in point. A little over a month after suggesting that the 
impact of a Marxist government in Chile was "containable", the NSC 
staffer assembled a more alalTIling list of consequences. First, and given 
Allende's "profound anti-American bias," his governing coalition was 
"likely to lead opposition to US influence in the hemisphere, to promote 
policies counter to ours and to seek the adoption of a neutralist Third 
World stance by Latin America." Second, the new government would 
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almost certainly deepen relations with Cuba, the Soviet Union, and the 
socialist bloc, thereby creating an "entry point" for these countries to 
expand their influence in the hemisphere. Third, US investments in Chile 
will "almost certainly" be expropriated in due course, possibly without 
compensation. Fourth, the simple reality of a government of the UP's 
persuasion in Chile "is likely to encourage elements opposed to us in other 
Latin American countries. ,>44 The State Department began expressing 
particular concern over a possible Chilean "turn" to the Soviet Union for 
military and economic aid-even tliough tlie CIA offered the opinion tliat 
closer relations with Moscow would not lead Allende "to make Chile a 
Soviet vassal...or submit to Soviet domination."45 The Agency's 
assessment would prove more accurate: as President, Allende did not ask 
US military advisers to leave the country; US military aid increased from 
$800,000 in 1 970 to $5.7 million in 1 97 1  to $10.9 million in 1 972; and, in 
1 973, Chile took part in the UNlTAS sea exercises witli US and other 
Latin navies for the first time in four years.46 

At the end of October, Kissinger received an "Options Paper on Chile" 
prepared by the State Department officials in consultation witli tlie 
Department of Defense (DOD) and the CIA for consideration by the NSC. 
This document exhibited still greater alarm than earlier memos about 
policymakers' assumptions regarding an Allende government's regional 
and global policies. In addition to its "profound anti-American bias"-now 
a mantra among US officials-that would translate into efforts to 
"extirpate" the US presence in Chile and challenge its influence in the rest 
of tlie hemisphere, a UP government was likely to exploit tlie Organization 
of American States (OAS) "as a forum for advancing its interests 
principally at the expense of the United States," to encourage other 
countries in the region to replicate the Chilean experience, and would 
certainly re-establish diplomatic and economic ties with Cuba. Further 
afield, while keen "to avoid dependence" on Moscow, Chile might 
develop military relationships witli the communist bloc tliat would pose a 
serious tlireat to the Western Hemisphere if Santiago adopted an "actively 
hostile" stance toward inter-American organizations. Finally, Allende's 
Chile was likely to become "a haven for Latin American subversives. ,>47 

Against this backdrop of real and imagined concerns, the Nixon \¥hite 
House redoubled its efforts to make certain that a government it viewed as 
a profoundly antagonistic to US interests did not complete its six-year 
telTIl of office. Nixon's antagonism toward Allende had been set in stone 
before the new Chilean President had any opportunity to enact policies 
impacting on tlie US in anyway: his professed ambition to transform Chile 
into a democratic socialist society pursuing its 0\Vll independent foreign 
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policy was all that was needed. Moreover, although Allende harbored 
ambitions to restrict the capacity of US capital to expand in Chile, the 
nationalization of American property interests, wrote Kissinger, "was not 
the [primary] issue." He told a group of US corporate executives who 
supported Treasury Secretary John Connally's proposal to negotiate a 
quiet government bailout of the corporations and an "expropriation peace" 
with Allende that the administration had "the national interest to think 
about.,,48 

\¥hen officials in State's ARA and Policy Planning Bureaus received 
copies of the October "Options Paper" they responded coolly to its more 
provocative policy implications. In a briefing memo to Secretary Rogers, 
on the day of Allende's inauguration (November 3) and preparatory to an 
NSC meeting on Chile that afternoon, several of these officials agreed that 
the election result was "clearly a setback for the US" but counseled that 
Washington should think carefully about how it treated a democratically­
elected government in a region where nationalism was on the rise, fuelled 
in large part by a perception of "US domination." An approach based on 
"overt" hostility, the memo argued, risked the possibility of "even more 
serious losses for us in the hemisphere and elsewhere in the world." 
Moreover, Washington's ability to influence developments in Chile by any 
means short of direct military intervention over the next several months 
was "marginal at best and could be seriously counterproductive. "49 

The risks were obvious. For a start, US meddling might unite rather 
than divide the various political factions and power brokers in Chile. And 
it could produce a wider anti-American backlash in Latin America, 
particularly in the absence of anything Washington could point to as a 
clear provocation or imminent-as distinct from imagined-threat. 
Moscow's immediate response to Allende's confimmtion as President, for 
instance, was filTIlly anchored in the spheres of influence politics practiced 
by the world's !\VO superpowers at the time and requiring each to respect 
the other's areas of obvious interest. State's Bureau of Intelligence and 
Research (BI&R) had already reported that the Soviet Union seemed 
determined not to "unduly provoke" Washington by avoiding any 
commitment that might be interpreted as helping the UP to consolidate its 
hold on political power. Rather, it had adopted a conservative approach to 
developing ties with the regime based on "friendly but not effusive public" 
support. BI&R attributed this posture not only to the commitments under 
global detente but also to Moscow's 0\Vll domestic economic problems, its 
existing major financial commitments to Third World allies, and its 
concern over the survival prospects of the Allende government, especially 
given the vehemence of US hostility. 50 
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But Kissinger was projecting a much darker scenario. A secret 
November 5 memo to the President prior to a second NSC meeting on 
Chile in ahnost as many days spelled out the dimensions of "one of the 
most serious challenges ever faced in this hemisphere." Describing 
Allende now as "a tough dedicated Marxist.. .with a profound anti-US 
bias," Kissinger hyperventilated that his "consolidation in power" would 
lead to the establishment of "a socialist, Marxist state in Chile," the total 
loss of US influence throughout the region, and a deepening of ties 
between Santiago and the socialist bloc. The consequences of regime 
consolidation would be bilateral, regional and global: the billion dollar US 
investment stake would be immediately threatened together with the 
prospect of a default on the approximately $ 1 .5 billion in debt owed to the 
US government and US private banks. As well, "Chile would probably 
become a leader of opposition to us in the inter-American system ... and a 
focal point for subversion in the rest of Latin America," while the global 
impact of a successful democratically elected Marxist government­
"especially in Italy" -could have a multiplier effect "significant[ly] 
affect[nig] the world balance and our own position in it." Thus, Kissniger 
cautioned against taking a "benign or optimistic view of an Allende 
regime over the long term" or seeking some kind of accommodation on the 
grounds that, within Chile itself, such an approach "plays into his game 
plan" and, worse still, a socialist Chile linked to Moscow and Havana 
could somehow "be even more dangerous for our 10ng-telTIl interests than 
a very radical regime." Kissinger's recommendation was predictable: 
"oppose Allende as strongly as we can and do all we can to keep him from 
consolidating power. ,,51 

The next day, Nixon and his senior foreign policy officials gathered in 
the Cabinet Room to discuss what was now being viewed as little short of 
a crisis facing US policymakers. It quickly became clear that the President 
himself was preoccupied with the potential regional and global 
consequences of a consolidated left-wing government in Santiago and, as 
such, gave short shrift to those in State and the CIA who contemplated 
some knid of accommodation with the democratically-elected Allende 
government. In Nixon's mind an even worse scenario than Allende's 
election would be his ability to lead a successful government and project a 
positive global image of Chilean socialism. 

Determined to prevent this happening, Nixon settled on a strategy of 
maintainnig a formal public relationship with Allende but privately 
sending the message that Washington opposed his government, and also 
letting other Latin American leaders or potential leaders know they were 
asknig for "trouble" if they thought "they can move like Chile and have it 
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both ways." Chile is "gone," the President declared, because Allende 
"isn't going to mellow." The US must try to "hurt him" in any way 
possible. "I want [other Latin leaders 1 to know our policy is negative," 
Nixon said. If the UP government "is able to get away with" its socialist 
strategy, it would embolden other Latin governments who are "sitting on 
the fence," he insistedY 

The White House now prepared to mobilize all the resources at its 
connnand to destabilize and topple the elected UP government from 
power. On November 9, Nixon issued National Security Decision 
Memorandum 93 (NSDM 93) dictating a public policy toward Allende of 
accepting his government and keeping lines of communication open in a 
"correct but cool" fashion; and a private-that is, secret-policy of 
hostility designed to "maximize pressures on the Allende government to 
prevent its consolidation and limit its ability to implement policies 
contrary to US and hemisphere interests." Included in the measures to be 
followed were a mandated end to all US credits, sharp reductions in 
economic assistance, a denial of new guarantees for private US investment 
in Chile, and putting pressure on the international financial institutions to 
limit credit and other financial assistance to Chile. 53 According to 
Nathaniel Davis-who formally succeeded Korry as US Ambassador to 
Chile in October 1 97 1 -it soon became evident "that the difficulty with 
these inconsistent and somewhat contradictory secret and public policies 
was that they were hard to keep straight, hard to keep secret, and hard to 
make fully understood-even within the inner counsels of the US 
government."54 None of that concerned Nixon who also infOlmed his 
senior policy officials that the public-private tracks would be accompanied 
by ongoing attempts to coordinate anti-Chile regional actions. 

Destabilizing Allende: The "outsider" strategy 

The Chilean economy's vulnerability to US pressures provided a natural 
target for the Nixon administration as it set about implementing a multi­
track destabilization policy. Washington's ability to make the economy 
"scream" was immensely facilitated by two key factors: a copper industry 
accounting for approximately 90 percent of the country's foreign exchange 
earnings, and largely controlled by American corporations until it was 
nationalized toward the end of 1 97 1 ;  and Chile's extensive dependence on 
funds from US public and private sources, as well as US-influenced 
multilateral development banks (World Bank, Inter-American 
Development Bank) and international financial institutions (International 
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Monetary Fund), both for day to day operations and long-term development 
projects. 

Following Allende's inauguration, the US government systematically 
went for the economic jugular. First, it terminated all bilateral economic 
(but not military) aid to an economy tliat, on a per capita basis, had been 
the largest recipient of Alliance for Progress funds during the 1960s. 
Second, it imposed a spare parts embargo that was particularly devastating 
for a country whose agro-industrial infrastructure was overwhelmingly 
dependent on purchases of these materials from American films. This 
cutoff had a profoundly negative impact on the pivotal copper industry's 
production levels and thus foreign exchange earnings. Third, between 
1970 and 1972, Nixon policy resulted in a precipitous decline in short term 
US commercial credits which further affected the Allende government's 
ability to purchase replacement parts and machinery for the most critical 
economic sectors---copper, steel, petroleum, electricity and transportation. 
Fourtb, the White House sought to limit Chile's access to capitalist bloc 
export markets, most notably in its partially successful effort to place an 
embargo on Chilean copper sales to Western Europe. Fifth, Washington 
successfully mobilized support within the global and regional banking 
institutions for a virtual cutoff of all loans from these sources for the 
whole period of UP rule. "Our job," recalled Kenneth Guenther, US 
Alternate Executive Director in the Inter-American Development Bank, 
"was to make sure that not one shekel left the bank for Allende and for 
Chile. ,,55 

Washington also lobbied Chile's foreign creditors to participate in its 
global credit squeeze on the basis of Chile's "lack of creditworthiness," 
highlighting domestic economic problems that, in large part, could be 
attributed to US sanctions. Moreover, at the same time as the 'White House 
was denying Chile access to traditional sources of external funding, it 
instituted its 0\Vll debt squeeze, demanding that interest payments on that 
part of the debt owed to US government agencies (accumulated prior to 
1970) be made exactly on schedule as compared with the extremely 
flexible arrangements that operated during the 1960s. Around half of Chile 
estimated $3.83 billion foreign debt as of December 1970 was owed to US 
government agencies and US private lenders. 56 

Unlike the credit, financial and trade squeeze which denied new 
economic resources to the government, the intended debt squeeze sought 
to extract financial resources from Chile. By demanding most payments on 
schedule, US policymakers had a no loss strategy in mind: if Chile paid up 
it would have to divert scarce funds from popular programs and 
development projects; if Chile did not pay, its international credit rating 
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would fall, new loans from non-US sources would not be forthcoming, and 
the loss of funds to finance imports would cause an economic decline 
generating political discontent.57 Initially, to meet increased debt 
obligations, the government was forced to draw on the country's foreign 
exchange reserves just to keep many of its development and social 
programs operating. Before long, it declared a moratorium on debt 
repayments. Eventually, over US opposition, Chile negotiated an 
agreement with most of its creditors granting it a 70 percent stay on 
payments due in 1972 but no such agreement was made between Chile and 
the US. 58 Even so, the dramatic action Chile had taken hardly endeared the 
Allende government to potential creditors. 

In a porous, dependent society like Chile, these mutually reinforcing 
US economic sanctions were a fOlmidable instrument in heightening 
opposition to the UP government. But the UP's 0\Vll economic 
mismanagement quickly began to alienate large sections of Chilean 
society. Keen to broaden its base of electoral support, the UP set about an 
economic stimulus in 1971 which included raising workers' salaries and 
using public spending to create jobs. At first, this policy seemed to reap 
rewards with industrial production rising, unemployment falling, GDP up, 
and inflation down in Allende's first year in office. By 1972, however, the 
economy was not producing sufficient goods to meet demand. Production 
levels fell, the government began printing money, and the scarcity of 
goods soon produced rationing, a black market and bread lines. 59 

Allende had no luck finding alternative sources of funds and new 
trading partners. The Soviet Uinon's political-and limited financial­
support did not translate into significant levels of economic aid. As a 
result, Allende could not at one and the same time honor past external 
obligations, meet current economic pressures, and develop the economy 
which, in turn, severely affected his government's ability to budget, plan 
programs, and pursue a coherent economic and social policy. 

Regionally, the administration took up Nixon's call to work with other 
Latin regimes to isolate Chile diplomatically. US policymakers increasingly 
viewed the Brazilian generals and their repressive capitalist economic 
development strategy as a counterweight to the Chilean socialist experiment, 
and sought their assistance in contesting the forces of political and 
economic nationalism on the continent. Testifying before Congress in mid-
1971, Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs Charles 
Meyer characterized Brazil's development record as "transcendental.,,6o 
Some months later, during a White House meeting with Brazil's President 
Emilio Medici, one of the agenda items was a discussion about how best to 
coordinate anti-Chile interventionist actions. Medici infonned Nixon that 
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Brazil "was exchanging many officers with the Chileans" with a view to 
encouraging the latter to overthrow Allende. Nixon responded with 
enthusiasm and an offer of whatever support might facilitate Brazil's 
efforts. As reported by Kissinger: 

It is very important that Brazil and the United States work closely in this 
field. We could not take direction but if the Brazilans felt that there was 
something we could do to be helpful in this area, he would like President 
Medici to let him know. If money were required or other discreet aid, we 
might be able to make it available. This should be held in the greatest 
confidence. But we must try and prevent new Allendes and Castros and try 
where possible to reverse these trends.61 

Complementing these actions was a public diplomacy campaign that 
sought to portray Allende in the worst possible light. In a remarkable echo 
of the language the Chilean military would eventually use to justify its 
overthrow of the UP government, senior administration officials were 
dra\Vll to medical metaphors in describing the interrelated issues of 
communism and the "problem of Chile" in Latin America. To Nixon and 
Kissinger, the September 1970 election result had produced a "cancer" or 
"poison" that had to be eliminated leat it spread uncontrollably through the 
whole regional "body politic."62 

Destabilizing Chile: The "insider" strategy 

The efforts to deepen economic dislocation in Chile were paralleled by 
growing ties between the United States and critical sectors of the Chilean 
state and civil society. The objective was to weaken the capacity of the 
new government to realize a nationalist development project, and to enlist 
these forces in support of US policy goals. The interagency 40 Committee 
approved funds for a covert program that included political action to 
divide the UP coalition, expanding contacts with the anned forces, and 
providing support to non-Marxist opposition groups and parties as well as 
anti-Allende media outlets, including Augustin Edwards' influential El 
Mercurio newspaper.63 The administration's decision not to rupture 
diplomatic ties with Allende made it possible to collect sensitive 
information on his government and its supporters, lend assistance to the 
political opposition, and facilitate the flow of financial resources to those 
internal forces sympathetic to its ultimate strategy of turning the Chilean 
military against the government. 

The circumstances of Allende's accession to the presidency promised 
to create fOlmidable institutional obstacles to the new government's efforts 
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to' implement a wide-ranging program of social and economic change in 
Chile. The UP achieved office in a context of fractured political power. 
Control over the Executive Branch did not extend to' most other key state 
and political institutions. Congress remained under opposition control, and 
time and again was responsible for blocking key legislation proposed by 
the executive (for example, bills to' introduce a progressive income tax). 
The judiciary remained an opposition stronghold throughout the Allende 
presidency. In return for PDC votes to confirm the September 1970 
election outcome, Allende guaranteed that those officials who staffed the 
state bureaucracy in previous governments would retain their positions­
which effectively meant that the opposition had allies inside the civil 
service who were in a position to' slowdown or sabotage the implementation 
of UP programs. The pIe-election guarantee alsO' extended to' the mass 
media where the political opposition had a decisive advantage in tenns of 
ownership and control that would not be fimdamentally challenged during 
Allende's tenure. 

By the latter half of 1971 the internal opposition was beginning to 
recover from the disarray of the post-election period. The PDC and the 
National Party had begun to mend their fractured relationship, while the 
initial "panic and paralysis"64 that characterized the industrialist class was 
being replaced by a focus on developing a strategy to contest the 
goverlll1lent and its economic program. At the same time the UP coalition 
began bickering over the tactics, strategy and timing for achieving its 
ultimate goal. The "moderates" led by the Allende wing of the Socialist 
Party and the Communist Party clashed with the "radicals" coalesced 
around the more hardline Socialist Party faction over a range of issues. 
These included relations with the middle class sectors and the PDC, ties to 
the extra-parliamentary Movimiento de Izquierda Revolucionaria (Movement 
of the Revolutionary Left or MIR), support for mass mobilization politics, 
attitudes toward Moscow, agrarian refOlTIl strategies, unauthorized factory 
and land occupations and, more broadly, the pace and scope of 
socioeconomic change.65 These divergent positions were not easily 
reconciled, delaying the submission of critical legislation to take over parts 
of the economy and creating other obstacles that hampered government 
efforts to pursue a coherent policy program. Not surprisingly, such intra­
coalition disagreements did little to strengthen the goverlll1lent's ability to 
withstand attacks by a more united opposition and played into the hands of 
those who argued that the country was becoming ungovernable. 

The issue of pressure from sections of the working class and 
marginalized Chileans for an accelerated transfer of political, economic 
and class power, for instance, surfaced as early as April 1971. In 



Confronting Allende 3 1  

municipal elections that month, the UP increased its share of the vote to 
just under 50 percent but major tensions were beginning to emerge within 
the coalition-not to mention the country more generally. In the urban 
centers industrial workers began taking over factories and plants on their 
own initiative, forcing a reluctant Allende-fearful of the ripple effect of 
such independent actions-to accede to demands that they become part of 
the state sector. By doing so, the government increased the concerns of 
factory O\vners and investors, many of whom simply refused to risk capital 
in expanding productive capacity that might unexpectedly become subject 
to legal or illegal expropriation. In the countryside, pressures to legitimate 
farm expropriations were equally strong: by mid-1972, peasant supporters 
had illegally occupied around 1700 properties presenting Allende with 
another largely unwanted source of opposition from disaffected 
landO\vners and a more generalized fear about the direction in which the 
country was heading.66 Fidel Castro's near month-long visit to Chile 
toward in November 1971-his first state visit since a trip to the Soviet 
Union seven years earlier-had also intensified both middle class and 
military anxieties that Allende was intent on opening the country up to 
Soviet-Cuban influence and igniting class conflict. 

Before long, the external sanctions regime was beginning to feed into 
an array of interrelated problems confronting the UP: rising import costs, 
shortages of goods, declining private domestic and foreign investment, 
dwindling foreign currency reserves, the growth of a black market, and 
wage increases considerably in excess of original projections. Particularly 
concerning was the failure of domestic production to meet the upward 
demand for basic foodstuffs occasioned by the rise in workers' wage 
levels which, in turn, fuelled inflation and forced the government to divert 
more of its financial resources to pay for imports. Substantial falls in the 
price and production of copper-resulting in tax collections falling far 
short of projected totals-merely added to the emerging fiscal crisis. 
Within little more than a year, a $100 million balance of payments surplus 
(1970) had turned into a $299m deficit (1971).67 

By early 1972, the most prominent anti-government forces in civil 
society had regrouped and begun to develop a focused and organized 
counter-response to the UP government. Ranged against the UP and its 
lower class base (workers, urban poor and sectors of the rural population) 
was the bulk of the upper and middle classes including large landowners 
and industrialists, the propertied lower middle class who abhorred the 
instability and viewed the government's nationalization policy as a threat 
to private enterprise, retail and wholesale merchants who opposed the 
government's efforts to assume direct control over the distribution of 
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goods in order to pIe-empt the black market, those peasants who wanted 
their O\Vll private plots of land rather than work on collective or state 
fanns, and the major political parties of the center-right who were putting 
their ideological and political differences aside in order to jointly oppose 
Allende's rule. 

Holding a decisive advantage in seats in both houses of Congress, the 
opposition political parties signaled their intent to use their legislative 
power to challenge the constitutionality of the government's program-to 
vote against individual proposals, to devise means to limit the executive's 
traditional power of veto, to censure cabinet ministers and, more generally, 
displayed an intent to play fast and loose with traditional conventions in 
implementing measures to obstruct the UP coalition's objectives. 

The UP's resort to existing legislation and laws to implement its 
structural changes further antagonized sectors of the political opposition 
who cited an earlier goverlll1lent commitment to submit new legislation to 
Congress to achieve these objectives. In October 1971, the PDC 
announced a fundamental challenge to the gradualist transition to 
socialism by submitting a constitutional amendment to the Senate to 
deprive the Chilean President of "the regulatory powers on which the 
goverlll1lent's nationalization policy was based" and make illegal any 
further takeover of private films using state funds to become a majority 
shareholder-which had been the strategy employed in the financial 
sector.68 Allende's government countered with its 0\Vll legislation to 
substantially expand the nationalized sector as part of a broader attempt to 
increase the power of the Executive Branch, setting the stage for a major 
constitutional confrontation. Four months later, following the collapse of 
negotiations, Congress voted to approve the opposition amendment which 
the UP government predictably vetoed. Further negotiations failed to break 
the deadlock due to a combination of policy differences withni the 
coalition and the PDC's refusal to modify its orignial stance.69 As this 
constitutional conflict unfolded, it did so against the background of an 
emerging electoral collaboration between the PDC and the National Party 
(ni late 1972, both parties formally organized themselves into the 
opposition Democratic Confederation or CODE), and the appearance of a 
more coordniated challenge to the government by center-right political 
parties and their allies. 

The PDC received considerable support from the Chilean legal 
profession. The Comptroller-General, responsible for "implementing the 
law tlnough governmental decrees," deliberately slowed down the 
processing of decrees and actively participated in the constitutional debate 
through efforts to obstruct the goverlll1lent's nationalization program by, 
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for instance, consistently ruling that decrees requisitioning privately­
O\vned enterprises for the state sector were unlawful.70 Taking its lead 
from this "new approach to legal interpretation," the Supreme Court also 
repeatedly contested the constitutional basis of government actions.71 

Despite selective nationalizations in the industrial and commercial 
sectors of the economy, both remained largely under private control and it 
was precisely in these sectors that the UP confronted its most serious 
internal economic problems. Industrialists stopped investing and cut back 
on production, used state credits for speculative or political purposes, and 
transferred capital into foreign bank accounts. The commercial sector 
resorted to hoarding goods and capital, and selling goods on the black 
market to circumvent price controls. 

The political opposition sought to give their efforts a disciplined and 
focused thrust through specific organizational structures with close ties to 
the center and right wing political parties. These employer and 
professional associations (gremios) included confederations of the big 
landO\vners and industrialists, small property owners (truck O\vners, bus 
O\vners, taxi O\vners, small retail merchants and industrialists), and the 
salaried professionals (doctors, lawyers, etc.). Because all felt threatened 
by the government's policies, the large property O\vners were able to 
promote a sense of identity and common purpose by playing on the theme 
of conflict between those who owned property and those (essentially 
working class Chileans) who didn't-a strategy which effectively blunted 
the traditional differences and disagreements between big and small 
property owners. Efforts to organize the latter to oppose the government 
were greatly facilitated by the growing working class pressure on Allende 
to accelerate the process of change. This merely served to heighten middle 
class and professional groups' sense of being embattled in a hostile and 
chaotic world. 

In Washington, the Nixon administration was carefully monitoring 
these developments as it began to devote more and more time, effort and 
resources to "the problem of Chile." To complement and reinforce the 
internal opposition, and to take advantage of the multiple internal and 
external pressures that were now beginning to create maj or dislocations in 
the Chilean economy, the 'White House authorized a significant expansion 
of CIA covert activities. 

Covert US support for the centrist and right-wing political parties was 
a feature of virtually "every major election in Chile in the decade between 
1963 and 1973," enabling the major opposition political parties "to 
maintain an anti-government campaign throughout the Allende years."72 
The PDC was particularly dependent on the Agency for its growth and 
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influence in the decade prior to Allende's election, extending its presence 
into strategic areas of Chile's social as well as political life (the Catholic 
Church, unions, education and the civil service)-which Washington fully 
exploited after 1970 in its effort to destabilize and terminate UP rule. CIA 
expertise and financial support also facilitated a sustained propaganda 
assault against the government in the newspapers (especially El Mercurio), 
radio stations and on television. The mass media played a key role in 
influencing popular perceptions by framing its coverage of the various 
problems besetting Allende's government in telTIlS of UP incompetence, 
the breakdown oflaw and order, and an undisciplined labor force. 

Supported by the traditional elites, the CIA moved to mobilize and 
finance those social forces most adversely affected by the deteriorating 
economic conditions and direct their political energies against the UP 
government. A principal target was the property-owning lower middle 
class which was not only numerous but also concentrated in the capital of 
Santiago, the nerve center of both the economy and public administration. 
Members of the lower middle class exhibited a contradictory attitude 
toward the state: while opposed to wage and price controls, they sought 
tariff protection, lines of credit and public infrastructure investments. 
Initially, many of these individuals had been attracted to the UP policies 
from which they directly benefited through increased access to state 
credits and rising sales due to wage increases for workers. But as 
economic pressures began to bite, the lines of credit also dried up, spare 
parts became harder to obtain, and Allende's working class supporters 
became more militant in demanding a quickened pace of socioeconomic 
transfOlmation, organizing street rallies on an almost daily basis. To 
property owners large and small who abhorred instability and disorder, the 
country was becoming an increasingly hostile and threatening place, 
sentiments that led the least privileged among them to abandon the support 
they may have originally lent to the government. This constituency, in 
turn, became exceedingly receptive to traditional rightist appeals on the 
need to restore order, defend the sanctity of private property, the family 
and religion, and to reverse a perceived trend toward economic anarchy­
making its members amenable to mobilization by the traditional elites who 
proceeded to help organize and channel their resentments in a political 
direction. 

The right-wing political parties and tbe gremios began developing a 
coordinated strategy in March 1972 centered round a series of strikes that 
they hoped would weaken and eventually oust the UP government from 
power-either by forcing Allende to resign or the anned forces to 
intervene into the political arena. That October, the truck O\vners' 
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confederation went on strike, ostensibly over specific economic 
grievances. Within 48 hours, the truckers' action had ballooned into the 
first general strike of the property O\vning classes as a whole. The entire 
gremialista movement joined the protest, the big industrialists called on 
their members to lock workers out of their factories, retail shopkeepers 
closed their doors, private transport filTIls locked up their vehicles, and 
doctors, lawyers and other professionals closed their practices. A newly 
formed Gremialista Front performed a coordinating role. Endorsed by the 
National Party and the PDC, what began as a strike by a single gremio 
triggered an effort to paralyze the economy and was then rapidly 
transfolTIled into a political strike. Economic losses resulting from the 
strike ran into the hundreds of millions of dollars. The truckers' strike 
culminated in violent demonstrations against the government which, 
momentarily at least, convinced many in the military to unite more 
determinedly behind the government for "disorder was on the right, and 
legality on the left."73 At the same time, independent action by factory 
workers in Santiago's industrial belts to seize-and thus prevent lockouts 
in-dozens of enterprises raised the long-term stakes by effectively 
forcing the government to issue decrees legitimizing the takeover of more 
than 50 factories in order to avoid a major confrontation between labor and 
capital. 

At this point, and egged on by opposition political leaders, Allende 
invited three senior constitutionalist generals, including alTIlY commander 
General Carlos Prats, to join the cabinet. In so doing, Prats' idea was to 
maintain a truce between the competing forces until congressional 
elections would reveal the extent of the government's popular support. But 
this first civil-military cabinet risked polarizing the armed forces (given 
the qualms many of its members had about Allende) and, significantly, 
breached the strict division between affairs of the military and affairs of 
government. 

In the congressional elections of March, 1973, the UP increased its 
share of the vote to 44 percent of the electorate and the combined vote for 
the opposition parties accounted for 56 percent. \¥bile this was the first 
time in Chilean electoral history that a government had increased its 
popularity during its term in office, the result, Frederick Nunn noted, 
"merely perpetuated and exacerbated executive-legislative conflict (always 
a point of departure for military-political activists in Chilean history) and 
it gave both UP and CODE reason to believe that each represented the will 
of Chileans. ,,74 Chileans, in other words, were almost equally divided. 
Having concluded that the only solution to this political standoff was a 
coup, the strongest military proponents, the Navy and Air Force, 
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confronted a dilemma: how to penetrate the anny's rigid top-down 
structure of authority and convince its officer corps to withdraw their 
allegiance from a constitutionalist commander (prats), who was esteemed 
by his troops, without fracturiog the most powerful branch of the armed 
forces and igniting a civil war. 75 

According to a later account of this period by Ambassador Nathaniel 
Davis, the purpose of US financial assistance to the opposition groups 
after 1970 was "to keep the democratic non-Marxist forces in Chile afloat, 
not to destabilize and sink the Allende government partway through its 
term." Official US policy on that score, he insisted, "was unvarying 
throughout my time in Chile, even in the most privileged and confidential 
policy documents. "76 Davis also notes that both Nixon and Kissinger 
contemplated far more radical measures to oust Allende but these were 
resisted and never turned into policy. One example he gives is a proposal 
to lend financial support to the strikiog truckers, which both he and 
Assistant Secretary of State Jack Kubisch successfully opposed77 The 
claim that Washiogton was only trying to maintain a level playing field in 
Chile, however, sits oddly with Davis' acknowledgement of NSDM 93's 
secret directive to bring maximum pressure to bare on Allende's 
government. Davis also admits that while he made every effort to ensure 
that US military attaches stationed io the Santiago Embassy "stopped short 
of political involvement of any kind", it did become necessary "to send a 
few US military officials home, in order to ensure compliance with my 
directives and enforce our policy of strict political self-restraint."78 Why 
anyone in the Embassy would still be workiog toward a military coup 
without directives to that effect from more senior officials back in 
Washington remains unclear in his account. The only explanation Davis 
offers is that the "ioherent dissembling io the secret and public US policies 
toward Chile caused problems."79 At the very least, these "problems" may 
have provided a good deal of latitude for some agencies and individuals to 
interpret for themselves the intent, and limits, of US intervention in Chile 
at this time. 

Beginning in 1973, for instance, the CIA subsidized a series of 
devastating strikes against the government in the agro-industrial and 
mining sectors that served as a basis for tens of millions of dollars in 
production and foreign exchange losses. Notable among these was the 
April-May strike of thousands of El Teniente copper miners-the "labor 
aristocracy" of blue collar workers---organized by the industry gremio and 
supported by the PDC, the National Party, and the extreme right-wing 
Frente Nacionalista Patria y Libertad (Fatherland and Liberty Nationalist 
Front) over demands for a 41 percent salary iocrease; the June strike by 
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the medical gremios (doctors, chemists, nurses, dentists) who combined 
specific grievances with a more generalized attack on the government's 
economic model; and a ruinous strike in late July, coordinated by a 
Gremialista Front, which resulted in tens of millions of dollars in damage 
to production.80 Given that more than 1000 gremios were actively 
opposing the government, it is little wonder that the CIA increasingly 
pursued its objective tlirougli those it regarded as "the holders of real 
power" in Chile81---conveniently ignoring those who still retained legitimate 
power. 

Inside the military, events in Chile since October 1972 were being 
viewed with increasing alarm and the initial support Allende's policies had 
generated-his attempts to address military grievances over pay, 
conditions and budgets; his efforts to secure Chilean sovereignty over key 
national resources such as the copper industry; and even his enthusiasm 
for breaking Chile's dependence on the US-was beginning to wane. The 
unfolding economic crisis further intensified military concerns about 
social cohesion; so also did the growing number of marches, rallies and 
street clashes that raised the specter of increasingly radicalized popular 
sectors making more and more demands on the government to accelerate 
the class struggle and the socioeconomic revolution. The MlR was not just 
creating difficulties for the government but was also becoming a source of 
major concern among the anned forces as well. In the countryside, for 
instance, the MIR encouraged renmants of the indigenous population to 
seize fannland and timber stands, and to declare no-go areas for the 
security forces.82 

Meanwhile, US efforts at economic destabilization and covert subversion 
had been paralleled by deepening ties between the Uinted States and the 
Chilean armed forces. At the time of Allende's inauguration, the CIA had 
only two paid agents in the Chilean military;83 by January 1972, the Senate 
Intelligence Committee's report on Covert Action in Chile, 1963-1973 
concluded that the CIA Station "had successfully penetrated" the most 
likely pro-coup sectors of the armed forces. Agency officials, by their 0\Vll 
admission, now had "assets" "dra\Vll from every branch of the Chilean 
aimed forces. As the level of class conflict intensified, and preparations 
for the military coup quickened, the Santiago Station moved to give 
potential plotters support and direction by starting to collect "operational 
intelligence" vital to any successful coup such as "arrest lists [and] key 
government installations that needed to be taken over and government 
contingency plans. ,,84 

Toward the end of 1972, the New York Times reported discussions 
among senior Chilean anned forces officials about the possibility of a 
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military coup against Allende and their increased contacts with the gremio 
leaders and prominent capitalist supporters of the October 1972 anti­
government general strike.85 On the political right, the National Party, tbe 
gremialista movement and non-party nationalists were all espousing "the 
need for an authoritarian political order."86 US intelligence sources also 
reported that the American Embassy in Santiago was becoming a meeting 
place for extreme right-wing individuals ''who were essentially dedicating 
their lives to tbe overthrow of Allende-it was like a holy war."87 As tbe 
opposition to Allende grew more strident, the persistence of internal 
differences within the UP government undermined efforts to resolve the 
economic crises and limit new demands from radicalized workers and 
peasants. Violence from both extreme left and rightwing groups grew 
apace and the former began to talk of a forthcoming class war and, of 
critical concern to military commanders, to infiltrate the aimed forces to 
recruit supporters.88 

In February 1973, tbe UP government announced plans to assume 
government control of the school curriculum and use it to promote a 
socialist system. The Escuela Nacional Unificada (National Unified 
School or END) generated sufficiently huge protest marches to force 
Allende to delay implementing tbe scheme. But tbe motivations behind tbe 
END particularly concerned more conservative members of the anned 
forces and began to erode service rivalry between them.89 Two months 
later, witb CODE still in the majority in botb the Senate and the Chamber 
of Deputies, the confrontation between Congress and the President over 
the anti-nationalization constitutional amendment flared up again. The 
Chamber of Deputies rejected the government's veto, and the opposition 
argued that the President was required to promulgate the text within 60 
days. Subsequently, the Chamber declared Allende's policies 
"unconstitutional and illegal" and voted overwhelmingly for tbe armed 
forces to "defend the constitution. "90 

In June, Lieutenant Colonel Roberto Souper led a colunm of tanks 
toward tbe presidential palace in an effort to topple Allende. When 
informed of tbe threat, Allende broadcast a call to the nation urging 
workers to assemble in central locations in Santiago to defend the 
government. Subsequently, he called on workers to take over factories and 
enterprises, and for a more general popular show of support in the capitol. 
Few Chileans responded to the call-something tbat could hardly have 
escaped the attention of future coup plotters. General Prats himself, 
supported by his Santiago area commander, General Augusto Pinochet, 
faced down Souper's tanks with a minimal loss of life. In the aftermath of 
the abortive coup, however, anny unity and discipline began to weaken as 
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a number of senior officers independently began to make common cause 
with Navy and Air Force colleagues who favored a coup. Complementing 
these institutional moves, elements of the civilian opposition continued to 
engage in strikes and bombings and began openly to urge the armed forces 
to seize power. 

On August 23, yielding to pressures from within the officer ranks and 
also to maintain alTIly unity, Prats resigned and was replaced as 
commander-in-chief by Pinochet. The military then began a purge of 
officers deemed loyal to the government and vigorously enforced anns 
control laws but in a way that betrayed its essential leanings: factories and 
shanty to\VllS were searched but far less attention was focused on right­
wing vigilante groupS.91 Less than three weeks later, the September 1973 
coup occurred-shattering Chile's democratic transition and setting the 
stage for an ambitious rightist counterrevolution based on repression and 
terror. 

Complex forces both internal and external meshed to create the 
conditions leading to the September 1973 coup. While the UP govemanent 
failed to develop a coherent socialist transition strategy or to carry a 
majority of Chileans with it, the political-economic errors and bureaucratic 
incompetence that attached to Allende's experiment Call1lot be disassociated 
from the internal class conflict or US attempts to sabotage the UP 
government. The ties between Washington, the PDC and right-wing 
civilian and military forces inside Chile laid the basis for the continuous 
destabilization of Allende. Extensive US funding and penetration of anti­
Allende groups had a profound influence on the degree and extent of 
economic dislocation, and deepening social polarization. The Nixon 
administration was willing to provoke a general societal crisis, a coup, and 
a military government-to support a transition from democracy to 
dictatorship-if that was the only means of restoring the optimal 
conditions for private capital accumulation in Chile and crushing the 
possibilities of a regional economic and political challenge to continued 
imperial state hegemony. The ultimate goal, as one scholar in another, 
early Cold War, context aptly described, was a "closed hemisphere in an 
open world. "92 

The coup gave the impression that the US had played a leading role in 
the ouster of Allende. While that is extremely doubtful, the idea led to a 
proprietary sense of the outcome as far as Nixon and even more so 
Kissinger were concerned. That, in turn, would continue to condition 
Nixon-Kissinger policy toward the military Junta and further minimize the 
attention each was prepared to give to advice from Latin American 
specialists in the State Department and elsewhere. The consequences of 
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this mindset for Chile and the pursuit of US interests in the country would 
soon become apparent. 



CHAPTER 2 

CONSOLIDATING PINOCHET 

"Iprefer them to Allende-oldfashioned as it may be. " 
Henry Kissinger on the Chilean military Junla, July 18, 1974. 

Although the September 1 1  coup came as no great surprise to Washington, 
those who led it were largely an urknown quantity to US officials-even 
in the Pentagon. Three of the governing Junta-General Augusto Pinochet 
(Army), General Gustavo Leigh (Air Force), and Admiral Jose Merino 
(Navy)-had only assumed the top position in their respective services 
less than a month prior to the coup and had not figured prominently in US 
dispatches. The remaining member, General Cesar Mendoza, joined the 
plotters the day before the coup on the understanding that he would 
become general director of the Carabineros (Chilean national police force) 
after the military took power l Beyond the initial unfamiliarity of Chile's 
new military leaders, the quite extraordinary ability of the Junta to keep its 
subsequent deliberations secret, especially to the US Embassy and 
intelligence services, kept outsiders guessing. Over time, the military's 
sense of cohesion and purpose also "increased the regime's capacity for 
surprise and unpredictability and forced domestic and international actors 
[including the US] to elaborate their responses on the basis of only 
minimal infOlmation about positions and evolving correlations within the 
government." 2 

This was evident from the beginning of military rule. If, in their initial 
appearances and statements, the Junta leaders talked tough, they were also 
at pains to justify their actions to both domestic and international 
audiences and, initially, restrained in the ambitions they set for 
themselves. In two documents released on September l l-Edict 5 and 
Decree Law I-Chile's new rulers explained that the military had a 
"moral duty" to oust a government that had fallen into "flagrant 
illegitimacy" and had "destroyed national unity." The new military 
regime, its leaders insisted, was assuming power out of a sense of patriotic 
duty, without any radical agenda of its own and for only as long "as 
circumstances so require."} 'What was clear, however, was that while the 
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military held the ousted government and its supporters responsible for the 
crisis into which Chile had descended, it ultimately blamed the political 
system for allowing Allende's rise to power and failing to curb what it 
regarded as his excesses. 

The armed forces leadership consolidated its rule in the early period 
with considerable ruthlessness that could be explained partly by a strongly 
held belief that "a rapid imposition of military rule characterized by shock 
and awe would pIe-empt protracted resistance."4 The core targets of this 
offensive were the leftist political parties and trade unions and their 
supporters, who constituted the political-social base of the Allende 
government. These groups had to be systematically demobilized and 
denuded of any power to represent their (urban and rural) constituencies. 
Factories and shanty-towns became early targets.5 The disappearances, 
killings, incarcerations, and torture, Chile's 2004 National [Valech] 
Commission concluded, were intended "to instil fear, to force people to 
submit. . .to the military regime."6 Among US officials both in Santiago 
and in the State Department in Washington, recalled William Lowenthal, 
there was a sense of disbelief that the Chilean military "could be that 
cruel."7 Arnold Isaacs, who had been placed on the Chile desk in State in 
July 1973, agreed that no-one had expected the brutality that the military 
unleashed. "The Prussian part of their makeup came to the fore," he says.8 
The coup leaders were sending a message not only to those who might 
choose to resist but also to Chile's political class generally that the country 
had broken with its past and the days of political compromise were over. 
The systematic campaign of terror and bloodshed was intended to achieve 
unchallenged control over the nation's political life in order to transfOlTIl, 
in turn, Chile's politics, economy and society. 

Chile "saved" 

Despite the bloodshed, President Nixon and his National Security Council 
(NSC) advisor Henry Kissinger were privately euphoric over Allende's 
demise and decried liberal Americans' lack of appreciation for their 
contribution to this Cold War victory: 

Kissinger: The Chilean thing is getting consolidated and of cmrrse 
newspapers are bleeding because a pro-Comrlllmist government has been 
overthrmvn. 
Nixon: Isn't that something? Isn't that something? 
Kissinger: I mean instead of celebrating in the Eisenhower period we 
would be heroes.9 
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One State Department official likened tlie response in the White House 
to the sensation of a sporting victory: "You know, kind of like it wasn't 
the Super Bowl, but at least it was a playoff game, and our team had 
won."10 The administration's haste to embrace the Junta indicated that the 
issue of a genuine and convincing justification for the overthrow of a 
democratically-elected government was not a high priority in this White 
House. On the contrary, Nixon and Kissinger essentially turned a blind eye 
to the Junta's repressive consolidation strategy. 'What mattered above all 
was that Chile had been rescued from "an anti-American government" and 
"totalitarianism," and the Southern Cone "from collapse into radicalism."ll 

In public, however, the 'White House never wavered from its stance of 
neutrality when discussing events in Chile. During confimmtion hearings 
before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee on September 17, 
Kissinger, now Secretary of State-designate, insisted that the administration 
"took the decision tliat we would not say anything that indicated either 
support or opposition-that we would avoid what we had done in Brazil in 
1963 [sic] where we rushed out by recognizing tlie [military] government."12 
Four days later, and three days before Washington officially recognized 
the new government, Ambassador Davis received a cable from State 
requesting him to meet with the new Foreign Minister, Admiral Ismael 
Huerta, to convey the message that the US government wanted "our 
relationships with the new GOC to be as positive and constructive as 
friends can make them" and promising to assist the new government in 
"all appropriate ways. ,,13 

This instruction echoed a message Kissinger had sent to the Santiago 
Embassy two days after the coup instructing Davis to inform Chile's 
generals that the US government wished "to make clear its desire to 
cooperate with the military Junta. "14 In a memo to Kissinger, NSC staffers 
Richard Kennedy and William Jorden reported telling Pinochet of "our 
favorable disposition and our readiness to work with the new government 
and be helpful to it." They suggested that Washington "will need to have 
our ducks in line to respond quickly and effectively to specific requests 
and proposals."" Pinochet had already met with a US Military Group 
(MILGP) officer and conveyed "a fundamental desire to strengtlien" 
bilateral relations and reach a "mutually acceptable solution" regarding 
compensation for US-O\vned copper companies expropriated by the 
Allende government. He also announced that Chile would sever 
diplomatic ties with Cuba, tlie Soviet Uinon, Nortli Vietnam and North 
Korea.16 

Complicating the desire to help the Junta, however, was the failure of 
Pinochet and his colleagues to deal witli the level of repression. This 
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constituted a powerful constraint on the amount of assistance that could be 
provided, not least due to the anti-regime mood in Congress. Prior to a 
mid-October meeting with Chile's Foreign Minister Huerta, Kissinger 
received a briefing from Assistant Secretary of State Jack Kubisch that 
while it was in the US interest to help the Chilean Junta consolidate power, 
its actions in the human rights field had rendered the task more difficult. 
Kissinger subsequently told Huerta that "it would be easier for us" if his 
government purchased "riot control and police-type equipment" from 
other countries. At the same time he stressed that on those occasions when 
US domestic politics made it difficult to respond to particular requests 
from Chile "this would not affect the basic position; it would simply be a 
matter of tactics. "17 

Two weeks earlier, the State Department had already concluded that as 
the Junta would be "extremely sensitive" to any demarche (a formal 
protest delivered through diplomatic charmels) on human rights. It should 
be postponed until diplomatic ties had been formalized, raised as part of a 
package of bilateral issues, and should emphasize "positive steps GOC 
[Government of Chile] has already taken in human rights matters."18 
Nevertheless, the need to attend to the military rulers' image abroad was a 
high priority in both Washington and Santiago. From the very earliest 
meetings of the Junta, getting international legitimacy ranked with the 
desire for access to US economic and military aid. Within days of the 
coup, Admiral Huerta was instructed "to prepare a list of distinguished 
Chileans" to tour the US and Europe to remedy "'the distorted image of 
Chile abroad, '" in the process making the case for the coup and the 
necessity for a period of military rule.19 

The abuses perpetrated against civilians by the aimed forces were not 
about to derail Nixon-Kissinger efforts to normalize US relations with 
Chile. If such abuses were somehow tolerable-from the perspective of 
more important US interests-Kissinger wrote, "we will seek to work out 
what we can with the country involved in order to increase our 
influence."2o The new ruling generals in Santiago fell into this category. 
Whatever the precise civilian death toll, their requests for non-lethal 
military aid found a strong advocate in the US Ambassador. When the 
Chilean Air Force requested flares "for illumination purposes in military 
operations against extremist groups," Davis cabled Washington in support 
of the request and hoped it could be undertaken "discreetly if possible." 
The regime was "operating under great strains, and is counting [on] friends 
in this moment," he wrote.21 In a follow-up request, the Ambassador 
lobbied his superiors to send tents, blankets and other supplies for use in 
detention centers being set up around the country. Once again, Davis was 
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keen to ensure that such material assistance did not shine the spotlight on 
the regime's human rights record, and suggested that it "need not be 
publicly and specifically earmarked for prisoners."22 

The initial Chilean request for 2000 flares for what the senior Bureau 
of Inter-American Affairs (ARA) official Jack Kubisch called 
"intimidation,'m together with 1,000 steel helmets and liners, was treated 
with some skepticism in State where these items were not seen as critical 
to the military's consolidation of power. The Embassy, however, argued 
that the flares were critical to the Air Force's ability to undertake what it 
euphemistically termed "nighttirne operations." If the Junta could not find 
alternative sources for the purchase of this equipment, State was willing to 
"reconsider the request 'on an urgent basis. '" 'Whatever decision was 
taken, NSC staffer William Jorden informed Kissinger, State had expressed 
a concern that "public identification" with Junta military needs "might 
influence thinking on the Hill." But Jorden emphasized how important it 
was "to set a pattern of cooperation and trust" with the new regime and 
that meeting this essentially "modest military request" fitted such an 
approach.24 Ultimately, State sold the flares after the Junta was unable to 
obtain them from any other country. 

The provision of actual weaponry to the Junta was a more contentious 
issue, especially given the mounting evidence of widespread repression. 
NSC staffers advised Kissinger that the Chilean armed forces would 
alinost certainly submit orders for expensive M-60 tanks and F-SE aircraft 
to counter a military buildup in neighboring Peru but that such requests 
would require careful handling. "We do not need to face this issue now but 
we believe we may have to slow the Chileans dO\vn on these high cost 
purchases" until a stabilization program and the economic rehabilitation 
plans are in place. "This will have to be a carefully tooled action on our 
part."" In a telegram to the Santiago Embassy in late October Kissinger's 
office wrote that given the extent of congressional and public hostility 
toward the Junta, any move to provide it with lethal weaponry was out of 
the question and could only undennine "our future ability to assist and 
cooperate with the GOC."26 

Chile: "Creditworthy" again 

Although Kissinger cabled the Embassy in late September that the biggest 
obstacle to a rapid normalization of relations was congressional anger over 
the brutal nature of the COUp,27 for now the most pressing issue was how to 
satisfy the military regime's economic requirements. The Junta was in 
desperate need of US fmancial assistance to help halt, then reverse, the 
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country's economic and financial crisis. Under the combined weight of 
interrelated domestic and external pressures---economic mismanagement, 
US sanctions, declining copper production and exports, and falling 
agricultural and industrial production-Chile's growth rate (real Gross 
Domestic Product or GDP) had plummeted to -5.6 percent by the end of 
1973, the govemanent deficit had reached almost a quarter of the country's 
GDP, the long and medium-term foreign debt hovered at close to $3.3 
billion, and the inflation rate exceeded 500 percent.28 

In preparation for a September 20 WSAG (inter-agency crisis management 
committee) meeting on Chile, Kissinger received a briefmg from aides on 
a proposed strategy to reinvigorate the Chilean economy over the next six 
months. Given the Junta's filTIl promise to compensate expropriated US 
property O\vners and its detelTIlination to recreate an attractive 
envirolll1lent for foreign investment, they told him he would "want to set 
the tone for our cooperation . . .  to be sure there is no foot-dragging or 
timidity in our responses to Chile's needs."29 To help identify these needs 
more precisely, it was proposed that a group of Agency for International 
Development (AID), Treasury, Agriculture and Export-Import Bank 
(Eximbank) officials visit Chile. In addition, subtle pressures should be 
applied on the Junta to request International Monetary Fund (IMF) loans 
but the US should avoid flexing its own power within the Fund "lest we 
appear to be the GOC's patron." Large-scale US aid should be considered 
down the track as a complement to support provided by the IMF and other 
global financial institutions.30 The rush to support the generals was not a 
consensus view within the State Department, however. Some officials 
expressed misgivings about "taking a leading role in assisting the new 
government to straighten out its economy" without waiting for the dust to 
settle. Otherwise, wrote ARA's Richard Bloomfield, "we [could be] 
putting our foot on a slippery slope."31 

On September 25, Chile's representative to IMF and the World Bank 
(IBRD), Orlando Saenz, conferred in Nairobi with US Assistant Secretary 
of the Treasury John Hennessy and Deputy Assistant Secretary of State 
Sidney Weintraub. To meet its debt obligations and import costs, Saenz 
estimated that the Chile would need $500 million in balance of payments 
support over the next three months. Without giving any specific 
commitment, the American officials responded that the administration 
would "be as helpful as possible." Hennessy added that "to establish 
Chile's financial bona fides" a quick resumption of debt rescheduling 
negotiations with its creditors would greatly facilitate substantive action 
by Washington. 32 
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A Kissinger-chaired WSAG meeting meanwhile agreed that 
Ambassador Davis should inform the Junta about when it could expect 
delivery of emergency supplies and also discuss with the generals "Chile's 
middle and long-term economic needs. ,,33 In short order, the Department 
of Agriculture extended $52 million in two commodity credits for the 
purchase of wheat ($24 million) and feed corn ($28 million) to meet food 
shortages. When the latter request was discussed at an October 29 WSAG 
meeting, the likelihood of congressional criticism and complaints from 
Third World governments denied commodity credits was weighed against 
the need "to maintain the credibility of our commitments to the GOC to 
meet their urgent economic needs."34 The Journal of Commerce telTIled 
the wheat credit "extraordinary" in view of Chile's supposed lack of 
creditworthiness over the previous three years.35 Senator Edward Kennedy 
(D-MA) observed that it was "eight times the total commodity credit" 
provided to the Allende government. 36 

There was also a sudden renewed interest in Chile by the multilateral 
lending institutions which had previously followed the US lead in 
implementing a virtual complete cutoff of aid to the Allende government. 
The IMF sent a mission to Santiago in early November 1973 to discuss the 
possibility of new standby loans, the Inter-American Development Bank 
(IADB) was poised to dispatch a team to open negotiations on two loans 
totaling $129 million to finance hydroelectric and petrochemical plants, 
and World Bank officials were planning a visit to review the institution's 
uncreditworthy rating for Chile.37 

The Junta had equal success in convincing the US private banks to re­
open their loan books. Hanover Bank of New York was the first to act 
with a $24 million credit to the Banco de Chile, the nation's most 
influential private bank. Another eight to ten American banks and two 
Canadian banks reportedly offered a combined $150 million in commercial 
loans.38 Surveying these developments, Business Latin America observed 
that the major economic justification for the international financial 
community's "three years of total ostracism" of Chile during the Allende 
government years still existed but had conveniently been forgotten.39 

Chile's foreign debt, likewise, was a subject of discussion only blocks 
away in the Nixon White House. Treasury officials argued strongly that it 
was in America's interest to continue to work through the Paris Club-an 
informal grouping of creditor nations which operated on the principle that 
decisions required the assent of all its members. The major advantage of a 
multinational debt relief strategy was that it would enable the US to "keep 
a low profile." The officials cautioned, however, that the likelihood of a 
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successful debt relief outcome would be significantly reduced in the 
absence of an "effective [IMF] stabilization program."40 

In early October, Paris Club co-chairman and Assistant Treasury 
Director in the French Finance Ministry Guy Nebot told a visiting Chilean 
delegation that debt talks could not resume until the Junta government was 
able to work out such a program. He also told US officials that an 
agreement with Chile at the next Paris Club meeting was "imperative" 
because failure to act, against the background of growing international 
hostility toward the military regime, would be interpreted as a "political 
sanction." Hence, no meeting date should be armounced "until it is clear 
that economic and technical conditions warranting rescheduling were in 
prospect. "41 

The military regime made clear from the outset that, despite its 
pressing financial circumstances, it would honor Chile's multibillion 
dollar external debt, re-privatize almost all of the foreign and domestic 
companies expropriated by the Allende government, and resume 
compensation negotiations with the affected US copper companies­
which, significantly, the regime had no intention of denationalizing 
because it regarded state control of this sector to be in the interests of 
national security. These commitments were rewarded when officials of 
both governments signed a memorandum of understanding to reschedule 
Chile's November 1971 to December 1972 external debt payments to the 
1974-77 period.42 

Still, by the end of 1973, the Nixon administration had achieved only 
mixed success in supporting Chile's access to international financial 
assistance. In the World Bank (IBRD), the US had informed President 
Rober! McNamara that it favored proceeding rapidly on three postponed 
loans totaling $13 million so long as he was confident of favorable 
outcomes when the Executive Directors voted on each loan. Soon-after, 
though, McNamara "received negative signals" from several European 
countries and decided that it would serve Chile's interests best if there was 
a temporary delay in submitting the loans to a vote. Santiago was 
especially disappointed because the regime had already started making 
debt payments to the IBRD on a signal that its President would get the 
loan process well underway by then. Although no less unhappy with 
McNamara's tactics, Washington counseled the Chileans against taking 
any rash action to express their displeasure, such as withholding future 
debt payments.43 

Junta negotiations with the IMF had a more successful outcome. 
Although a Fund Mission to Chile concluded that the country's Finance 
Minister and Central Bank President "do not grasp the details of economic 
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and financial policy," it was satisfied that they could still "effectively" 
implement the proposed program.44 At the end of December, the Fund's 
management approved a financial plan submitted by the Mission, and 
recommended passage by the Executive Directors. In January 1974, the 
Board approved a $95 million standby arrangement. Over the next twelve 
months, Chile also gained access to other sources of IMF support to offset 
short telTIl export shortfalls and the dramatic rise in oil import costS.45 The 
IMF loan would play a key role in the successful renegotiation of more 
than $900 million of Chile's foreign debt at the March 1974 meeting of the 
Paris Club creditor nations.46 

Taking stock 

In late November, 1973, Kissinger requested his top Latin American 
adviser, Jack Kubisch, to prepare an analysis of the post-coup repression 
in Chile, including the widespread practice of summary executions carried 
out during the early weeks after the military takeover. Kubisch's memo 
explained that the "purpose of the executions [was partly 1 to discourage by 
example those who seek to organize armed opposition to the Junta." The 
expectation of large-scale resistance, or more specifically, the "fear of civil 
war" was instrumental "in their decision to employ a heavy hand from the 
outset." But equally important was a "puritanical, crusading spirit-a 
detelTIlination to cleanse and rejuvenate Chile. ,,47 

The Junta's application of extreme force, Kubisch perceptively noted, 
was consistent with well-established thinking inside Chile's military 
academies-reinforced by their close observation of the Vietnam 
conflict-about the nature of popular insurgencies, the need to tackle them 
early with overwhelming force, and the military imperative to view civil 
society as itself a battlefield in which the armed forces had to set about, in 
the words of Chile's Colonel Manuel Contreras, "killing guerillas, 
destroying their hideouts, and submitting the civilian population to the 
strictest of surveillance.''''8 The conviction among Chile's military leaders 
that security matters (however exaggerated) took precedence over other 
considerations such as human rights, dialogue and compromise would 
continue to undelTIline US attempts to moderate the Junta's behavior, and 
so remain an obstacle to Washington's ability to deliver on economic and 
military aid proposals. 

The Kubisch memo also touched upon the essential nature of the coup 
leaders' justification-that, as guardians of the nation and its social values, 
they had both a moral and historical mandate to defend a certain kind of 
societal order, albeit one within which radicalized workers and peasants, in 
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the military's imagination, constituted the primary threat. Over time, this 
justification partly explained the Junta's prolonged resistance to outside 
calls to reduce or eliminate its repressive policies and accelerate the return 
of electoral politics. 

The "crusading spirit" of the Junta also explained why Pinochet publicly 
rejected the option of the military acting as a "caretaker government for a 
year or so" and then returning to civilian rule as the "worst [possible 1 
solution." His Junta colleague, Admiral Jose Merino, was similarly 
disparaging about any rapid handover of power to "the political 
gentlemen," while Defense Minister Patricio Carvajal told El Mercurio 
that there was "no desire to return to a corrupt (viciada) democracy."49 
The Junta's March 1974 Declaraci6n de principos del gobierno de Chile 
(Declaration of Principles of the Govenarnent of Chile) gave official 
imprimatur to these statements, formally abandoning any post-coup 
intention to retain power only as long as circumstances warranted in favor 
of boldly asserting that the armed forces "have set no time limit on their 
stay in govenarnent [as 1 the task of morally, institutionally, and materially 
rebuilding the country requires a prolonged and profound effort." 
Significantly, the Declaration distinguished between the type of society the 
military sought to foster and those in Europe and the United States which 
had descended into "a materialism which has enslaved man's spirit" and 
where consumerism seems to "control man himself, leaving an inner 
feeling of emptiness and dissatisfaction." The Junta's Chile would not 
seek to replicate other Western countries but instead be a "technocratic 
society with true social participation" and one that gave expression to an 
"organic, social" democracy. In practical telTIlS, this translated into a 
depoliticized populace, a pelTIlanent change towards a more authoritarian 
style of government fostering the values of "Christian western 
civilization," and the promotion of a new capitalist development model. 50 

By early 1974, the generals had extended the seizure of power into a 
more comprehensive, and more pelTIlanent, ambition to implant a long­
term military rule-a situation US policy seemed willing to accommodate. 
But while political priorities were being transfolTIled in Chile, political 
fortunes were undergoing dramatic changes in Washington as well. The 
Watergate scandal and its subsequent investigation was now carving a path 
directly to the Oval Office, and before the end of the 1973 Congress was 
debating whether to impeach the President. Increasingly consumed by the 
threat to his political survival, Nixon was allowing more and more 
discretion to Kissinger in the conduct of foreign policy so that the latter 
quickly became the "de facto director" of most aspects of US relations 
abroad.51 
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Deserting old friends 

Assessing bilateral ties at the beginning of 1974, the US Embassy in 
Santiago characterized them as basically "close and constructive [despite] 
some irritants on both sides." Notable among the "irritants" was the status 
of the Christian Democratic Party (PDC) to which US policymakers 
looked for allies to lend a veneer of legitimacy to the military regime. 
With their hopes of a relatively swift handover of government now dashed, 
the party felt "ignored, frustrated, demoralized and generally impotent."" 
To make matters worse, the PDC was essentially bankrupt. As part of its 
early propaganda efforts to boost the image of the Junta abroad, the CIA 
had financed a tour of European and Latin capitals by leading Christian 
Democrats in October 1973 to explain the background to the coup, and 
why they had supported the regime change. Mindful of the PDC's dire 
financial situation, the CIA also urged continuing direct, covert support to 
enable the Party to recover a political role in the post-coup environment. 
Agency officials lobbied to adjust the Fiscal Year (FY) 1974 budget for 
the PDC political action program to almost $700,000 and requested 
$160,000 in immediate support for the period December 1973 to April 
1974. The request sparked a heated and revealing debate between two of 
Kissinger's most senior advisers. To Jack Kubisch, the survival of the 
PDC was not critical to the "success" of the pro-US Junta and, therefore, 
financial support was no longer warranted. But allowing the PDC to wither 
on the vine, countered Harry Shlaudeman, Deputy Assistant Secretary for 
Inter-American Affairs and former Deputy Chief of Mission (DCM) at the 
Santiago Embassy (1969-1973), might reflect badly on the administration 
because "it would look as if we had been interested simply in knocking off 
Allende [and] had no problems with a right-wing dictatorship [or any] 
interest in the survival of democracy [in Chile]."s3 

Responding to a direct appeal by ex-President and former PDC leader 
Eduardo Frei, the newly-appointed US Ambassador to Chile, David 
Popper (a career diplomat who replaced Nathaniel Davis in February 
1974), proposed a limited funding commitment "that would keep our 
options open." Popper did not question the importance of "avoiding at all 
costs an open break" with the military government. If the PDC-Junta 
relationship ever became "openly antagonistic" over issues of human 
rights, economic policy, trade unions, or any other major issue, argued the 
Ambassador, "we would not want to be linked to the PDC."54 Keeping the 
military on side, in other words, was the priority. Eventually a compromise 
was reached between State and the CIA: the agency was authorized to 
make a final $50,000 clandestine payment to the party to cover pre-coup 
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commitments made between July 1 and September 10, 1973 but [mancial 
support for all otber political parties was terminated. Before long, tbe 
CIA's role in Chile was also reconfigured from covert operations to more 
open relations with the regime's security services. 

Keeping Chile afloat 

Santiago was still in pursuit of an accord with its foreign creditors on its 
multi-billion dollar debt-around half of which was held by US public and 
private institutions. Success in rescheduling debt payments hinged on 
satisfying the members of the Paris Club. Deliberations over Chile 
promised to be something of a litmus test of international reaction to the 
Junta, to tbe extent tbat political (tbat is, human rights) as well as strictly 
financial considerations played a role in decisions taken. US efforts to 
support the Junta soon revealed how attuned or out of step Washington 
was witb its European allies and the lengtbs to which it was prepared to go 
to wrest a favorable outcome for Chile from its international creditors. 

Kissinger cabled tbe Santiago Embassy at the end of January 1974, that 
the Junta looked to tbe US for "strong support for generous . . .  terms" at tbe 
upcoming Paris Club meeting. 55 If the Nixon administration was keen to 
develop a consensus on a rescheduling procedure in advance of the 
meeting, Chile's European creditors were not all of one mind. The senior 
West German govermnent debt negotiator told American diplomats tbat he 
had to "tread very carefully" in devising an approach because Chile "was a 
sensitive political issue" in tbe Federal Republic. The French firmly 
believed that Chile's commercial debts "should be rescheduled on 
commercial telTIls. ,,56 According to State Department officials, the 
Canadians and tbe Spaniards would advocate "generous [rescheduling] 
terms," and Japan was expected to take a "positive" approach while 
arguing for a rescheduling limit of 85 to 90 percent of the outstanding 
debt. 57 After a London meeting between US Treasury officials and the 
head of the British delegation to tbe Paris Club, the American Ambassador 
cabled Kissinger that, with a national election on the horizon, the 
conservative British government "for political reasons" favored a rapid 
settlement as long as it was based on purely economic criteria.58 Other 
delegations (tbe Dutch, Swedish, Danish and Belgian) were cautious about 
rescheduling, at least on generous telTIls. It took considerable effort on the 
part of the US to produce a basic understanding on rescheduling, subject to 
fOlTIlal agreement at a second Paris Club meeting in March.59 

The terms of the draft to be discussed at tbe follow-up Club meeting 
were not as generous as Washington desired but were sufficiently 
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acceptable to receive its unqualified support. Chile and its international 
creditors eventually reconvened in Paris and signed a multilateral debt 
rescheduling arrangement requiring the fmmer to repay 20 percent of its 
1973-74 debts, with tbe remaining 80 percent being rescheduled. The 
Dutch government's attempt to condition renegotiation on an improvement 
in human rights failed to elicit any broad support.60 France and West 
GelTIlany signed a memorandum of understanding to reschedule Chile's 
external debt payments for the two year period 1973-74 less tban three 
months after tbe Paris Club meeting. By mid-year, to Washington's 
considerable relief, Chile's major creditors had either concluded (US), or 
shortly expected to negotiate (United Kingdom, West GelTIlany, France, 
Japan), bilateral rescheduling agreements witb Santiago. The US was not 
yet entirely out of step with other Western governments in its approach to 
Chile's Junta but differences were appearing. 

Business Latin America called the result "surprisingly generous," while 
the Latin America Economic Report telTIled it "an important psychological 
step in clearing the way for new credits to Chile. ,,61 This forecast was no 
rash prediction. Soon-after the March Paris creditors' meeting, a $22 
million IADB agricultural recovery loan was "rammed through" by the US 
in around four weeks instead of the nOlTIlal six months, bypassing the 
required technical review of such applications-and over the objections of 
a number of member governments-but in time for the Bank's armual 
meeting in Santiago in April. 62 Later that month, IADB Directors 
approved their largest ever loan to Chile, a $75 million credit for the 
construction of a hydroelectric complex. "The bank's administration 
which used to delay all loan requests from [Allende's] Chile," a 
knowledgeably insider observed, "now brings them to the directors with 
impressive speed. "63 

At the same time, a number of European IADB representatives 
continued to express concerns about the Junta's repressive policies. The 
West GelTIlan government, for instance, temporarily held up an IADB 
operation in Chile due to the internal political situation. But it was aspects 
of the Junta's economic program that was more likely to act as a brake on 
these fmancial institutions coming to the aid of the military dictatorship. 
Following a World Bank Mission to Chile during February and March 
1974, US Ambassador Popper reported that the Mission was suitably 
"impressed" with the general economic policy approach but critical of the 
"disorganized government apparatus charged with [implementing] 
decisions [and was] appalled at [the] failure of [the] GOC tbus far to set 
clear development priorities." 64 If anything, Popper understated the 
danming nature of the Mission's assessment. According to Paul Meo, a 
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World Bank economist who accompanied the mission, the group 
concluded that the Chileans had "no serious program" and that their anti­
inflationary measures lacked "credibility. ,,65 

US officials were less than pleased by the Bank's attitude while 
conceding that the military's economic perfOlmance was mixed. But 
government mismanagement and human rights considerations took a back 
seat to the needs of political stability, internal security, and the 
requirements of foreign investors. As far as Washington was concerned, 
the global [mancial institutions had an important role to play in promoting 
these interrelated objectives in Chile and the provision of large-scale 
infrastructure assistance was a prerequisite to creating the conditions for 
future growth and development. Although the Nixon administration may 
have desired the World Bank to follow the lead of the IADB which had 
sho\Vll itself willing, under considerable US pressure, to circumvent basic 
assessment criteria in making loans to the Junta, Meo recalled that "we 
didn't get any pressure from the Americans" in this early period.66 The 
real problem wasn't a lack of sympathy for Chile's economic needs within 
the Bank's hierarchy. As President McNamara told Chile's newly 
appointed Minister for Economic Coordination Raul Saez, while the Bank 
management was "very eager to move forward" on loan proposals, there 
were "problems" in mobilizing favorable votes among Executive Board 
members.67 

In the IMF, unease over further lending to the Chile stemmed primarily 
from its actual performance under the standby negotiated in late 1973. A 
May 1974 Fund Mission reported that efforts to implement "a cohesive 
financial policy" was made more difficult by the ability of interest groups 
to delay or reverse decisions made by the regime's economic team. It 
singled out "a competing group of civilian advisors" as the main culprits. 
While the regime's external perfOlmance-its depreciation of the 
exchange rate to a level now more aligned with domestic price and cost 
increases, trade liberalization measures, and a balance of payments surplus 
generated by higher than expected world copper prices-was viewed in a 
more positive light, the Mission still assessed the overall perfOlmance as 
"disappointing."68 This conclusion had little or no effect on Washington's 
determination to do all it could to support the regime. 

Since the September 1973 coup, there had been no dearth of statements 
by the Chilean regime affitming the need to reach satisfactory agreements, 
as rapidly as possible, with foreign and especially U.S-owned companies 
expropriated without compensation by the Allende govenament. In April 
1974, Secretary of the Treasury George Shultz told Pinochet that the US 
considered the actions taken to date "to be very significant" and lauded the 
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dictator for his understanding of the key role private foreign capital played 
in economic development.69 Eventually, the Chilean government agreed to 
pay $253 million in compensation to the Anaconda Company (less than 
the company's requested $341 million) and $68 million to the Kennecott 
Copper Corporation.70 Compensation payouts to these and other US films 
accounted for over half of the increase in Chile's external public debt 
which topped $3.73 billion at the end of 1974.71 

The eventual successful conclusion to these compensation negotiations 
only strengthened Washington's desire to support the governing Junta. A 
mid-year State Department "Talking Points" paper could not have stated 
US policy toward the Junta more clearly: "our objective is to try and 
contribute to the Junta's sense of confidence in its ability to govern and to 
meet the country's economic problems and defense requirements. Undue 
pressure on [human rights 1 would work the other way. Quiet but steady 
US support for the Junta is the indicated strategy."72 

Accommodating the Generals 

Once the Nixon administration had extended official recognition to the 
new Chilean government-on September 24-the Junta accelerated efforts 
to systematically eliminate all real and perceived opponents through a 
campaign of terror and bloodshed intended to achieve unchallenged 
control in order "to facilitate the 10ng-telTIl transfolTIlation of Chile's 
socioeconomic and political systems.'>73 The key institution for 
implementing the post-coup repression was the Direccion Nacional de 
Inteligencia (Directorate ofNational lntelligence or DlNA), a secret police 
organization established in mid-1974. DlNA's thousands of members were 
drawn from all branches of the armed forces, the police, the extreme right 
wing group Patria y Libertad, and "an extensive network of infolTIlants 
and collaborators."74 DlNA functioned with broad powers under the 
authority of now General Manuel Contreras-one of the principal 
architects of the Chilean military's theories about how to wage counter­
insurgency warfare-who was answerable only to Pinochet. 75 At a July 
AlTIlY generals' meeting, Pinochet dismissed criticism that DINA's "lack 
of accountability violated the chain of command" in a few terse words that 
underscored his steady consolidation of personal power: "I am DINA 
gentlemen." In practice the establishment of DIN A signaled the victory of 
the Army over other military branches whose officers were allocated 
purely administrative responsibilities within the organization. This 
arrangement would become a source of on-going tension between the 
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services. "I pulled my people [out]," said Air Force General Gustavo 
Leigh, "when I realized that I had no power over DINA.,,76 

The CIA played an active role in building up DINA through training 
and support provided to its members, rationalized by Agency officials on 
the grounds that they were contributing to the fight against "external 
subversion" and that none of their activities related to "internal political 
repression." Privately, however, these officials understood that this was a 
sham and illusory distinction. FurthemlOre, since his arrival in Santiago in 
1974, the CIA's Chief of Station Stuart Burton had developed a strong 
camaraderie with Contreras, extending to joint family SlUlday picnics. 
Embassy political officer John Tipton recalled that the tight relations 
between the two "permeated the whole CIA Station." According to the 
Chile Desk officer in State, Contreras also considered himself "a bosom 
buddy" of the CIA's Deputy Director General and Pinochet confidante, 
General Vemon Walters.77 

Over time, with the opposition decimated, the intensity and scope of 
the repressIOn ebbed and became more selective: increasingly, 
"disappearing" opponents became the favored means of minimizing the 
publicity attached to other fonns of violence against civilians. But abuses 
of human rights were still abuses. Despite the problems and tensions that 
such repression might produce in US relations with Chile, from the outset 
Kissinger had no intention of allowing it to influence the administration's 
basic policy approach. Following the coup, he had told his subordinates: 
"We should understand our policy-that however unpleasant they act this 
government is better for us than Allende was. ,,78 

The US Embassy was under strict instructions not to provide assistance 
of any kind to Chilean nationals seeking to enter its grounds to escape 
arrest or worse. "We are under orders," wrote Labor Attache Art Nixon to 
the Inter-American representative of the AFL-CIO, Andrew Mclellan "not 
to officially intervene with the [Chilean] Government in cases which 
involve Chilean citizens, unless we have a request from someone in the 
States (i.e., from the US government)."79 One exception was a decision by 
Ambassador Davis, immediately after the coup, to send Embassy officers 
"deliberately and in broad daylight in cars with Embassy license plates and 
an American flag," to visit the families of detained persons, including 
former Allende cabinet ministers. Recalled the Embassy Political Officer, 
Rober! Steven: "The point was to be seen in the hope that this would send 
a message to the government 'Don't mess with these people, they are 
people that we are concerned about. ", At the very least, "we did put the 
Chilean military on notice very quickly that we didn't want to see these 
people summarily executed. ,,80 Art Nixon also worked tirelessly to protect 
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Chilean trade unionists. "Who knows how many Chileans [trade unionists] 
are alive because Art Nixon happened to be in Chile?" remembered an 
American Institute for Free Labor Development (AIFLD) official. Aware 
that "he would do anything he possibly could to protect them," union 
officials provided Nixon with lists and he "was up day and night tracing 
the names on those lists." Among other things, he "served notice on the 
people from DINA . . .  that there was a diplomat in the US Embassy who 
was on their tail and holding them accountable for the fate of these people 
who had disappeared."81 

Still, in stark contrast to the Europeans who opened their embassy 
gates to all asylum seekers, the US Embassy denied access even to 
American citizens seeking refuge or asylum. Although it was standard 
operating procedure to refuse foreign nationals such entry, American 
citizens did not fall into this category. Yet, on the day of the coup, Robert 
Steven witnessed this procedure being applied to his 0\Vll country's 
nationals: "Some Americans came to the Embassy and asked to be allowed 
to come in for refuge because there was shooting in the streets but [they] 
were refused entry. They were told, 'No, just go home. They're not going 
to bother any Americans. As soon as things quiet do\Vll, you'll be 
alright. ",82 This was not a consensus view among the Country Team, some 
of whom chafed under the constraints imposed on them in a situation 
where human rights were being abused indiscriminately. Steven believed 
the Ambassador was responsible for this decision, as did his colleague 
John Tipton who described Davis as "the real culprit [who] refused 
suggestions by the Consular Section to help US citizens here. ,,83 From the 
very beginning, in other words, a few American diplomats were clearly 
unhappy about what they were being asked to do or not do irrespective of 
instructions from Washington. 

Similarly, Embassy officials who were assigned to cover some of the 
military trials described the procedures as "a travesty" where defense 
lawyers had practically no authority, and confessions were extracted 
through the use of torture. "We reported these things regularly," said 
Robert Steven, who was assigned to cover the trials of some of Allende's 
air force supporters, "but the attitude in Washington always was, 'These 
are unfortunate developments but the country's not communist, it's 
improving economically and American business will benefit from this, the 
country's now 'stable.' The hope that the repression would gradually 
decline was essentially it. ,,84 
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The Peruvian "pro blem" 

If ensuring Chile's continued access to international sources of loans and 
credits was a priority for the Junta, maintaining the aimed forces' 
capabilities ranked close behind. When it came to military aid, the Junta 
had no stronger advocate than Kissinger but even he had to factor a 
number of considerations into any decisions he might make. One was the 
contentious nature of such assistance---especially given the likely response 
from Congress. Another was Chile's request for an array of sophisticated, 
high cost weapons based on the Junta's deeply held belief that Peru's 
nationalist military govenarnent headed by General Juan Velasco would 
launch an attack on Chile in the near future. This fear was exacerbated by 
Lima's decision to purchase advanced T55 tanks and other weaponry from 
the Soviet Union. Foreign Minister Huerta told US Embassy officials in 
late January 1974, that the Junta was "seriously concerned" about Peru as 
a potential military threat to Chile, and stated that Lima's new arms 
purchases from Moscow had created a dangerous regional anns imbalance.85 

The Chileans had already signaled a desire to purchase 18  F-SE aircraft 
at an estimated cost of $60 million and to acquire IS M-60 medium tanks 
that had been requested under a Foreign Military Sales (FMS) credit 
arrangement prior to the September 1973 coup. Although sympathetic to 
Chile's needs in this area, any US response had to take into account more 
than the Peruvian situation. The Junta's intention, ARA's Jack Kubisch 
told a State Department staff meeting, with Secretary Kissinger in 
attendance, was to borrow the funds to purchase the aircraft at commercial 
interest rates. ARA, he continued, would probably recommend that the 
Chileans be permitted to go ahead and purchase the aircraft with their own 
funds but only after Washington had assessed "the implications of that on 
economic assistance programs." The core problem, said Kubisch, was the 
likely response of the World Bank and other international lending agencies 
if Chile prioritized military spending. Vigorous lobbying by left-wing 
European governments in these institutions, still angry over the toppling of 
Allende, to defer lending to Chile until things settled down, could cost the 
Junta hundreds of millions of dollars in loans and credits. As far as 
Kissinger was concerned, there was an even bigger geopolitical issue at 
stake: the growing Soviet and European anns sales to Latin America at the 
expense of US manufacturers which, if allowed to continue, will "create a 
group ofNasser-like colonels in these countries."86 

Deputy Assistant Secretary of State Williarn Bowdler and the Acting 
Head of the Bureau of Politico-Military Affairs (PM) Seymour Weiss 
cautioned Kissinger that any effort to fulfil! Chile's arms request would 
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undoubtedly "provoke strong opposition in tbe Congress and could affect 
the prospects for foreign assistance legislation in general." To address this 
concern, the Department's Legal Adviser (L), ARA, and the Bureau of 
Economic and Business Affairs (EB) recommended that the administration 
fulfil its previous commitment to sell Chile F-5E fighter planes and 
medium tanks, and consider any additional requests on a case-by-case 
basis. BB endorsed the limited sale in the absence of any real alternative, 
while L and PM "reluctantly" supported tank sales on the grounds that 
they would counterbalance Lima's acquisition of similar items from 
Moscow and hopefully allow tbe US to "have a restraniing influence on 
the possible use oftbe tankS."87 

In late March, the Director of State's Policy Planning Staff (SIP), 
Winston Lord, again took up the issue with Kissinger, reporting that the 
Chileans' pressure for new weapons purchases was unrelenting: they 
remained convinced that Peru was a serious threat due to its superiority in 
tanks and fighter aircraft, and tbe message from Santiago was that if tbe 
US refused to accommodate Chile's perceived "minimal needs," the 
generals would "make every effort to meet them elsewhere." A failure to 
support tbe Chilean request, Lord wrote, could have "unpredictable long­
telTIl consequences" for the Junta. Kissinger approved the final 
recommendation by ARA, PM and SIP to authorize the sale of previously 
committed F-5E aircraft and M-60 tanks, and to indicate that the US was 
prepared to sell mines and the LAW (Light Anti-Tank Weapon) system 
and consider other anns requests on a case-by-case basis.88 

In mid-April, US Ambassador Popper informed the Junta's Admiral 
Mernio and Defense Minister Carvajal that Chile had been allocated a $15 
million Foreign Military Sales (FMS) credit. Although only meetnig a 
small part of the Junta's request, Merino called the decision "wonderful 
news" and Popper expressed confidence that tbe credit "will help to 
maintain our leverage" with the regime.89 But he quickly discovered that 
Pinochet himself was far less ebullient about tbe amount of fundnig than 
his colleagues. During a meetnig with the Junta leader and tbe head of US 
Southern Command, General William Rosson, Pinochet pressed for more 
arms transfers on the grounds that Chile had gotten rid of a "Marxist 
government" and continued to oppose the "communists." It was precisely 
this deeply imbedded sense of "self-righteousness," Popper commented, 
that makes the generals "largely insensitive" to international concerns over 
human rights issues.9o In Washington, though, Pinochet had in Kissinger 
an individual who shared his dismissive attitude toward human rights 
when tbey interfered with larger strategic objectives. Less tban 72 hours 
after this meeting, Popper received a telegram from Kissinger instructing 
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him to advise the Chilean government of his decision to proceed with 
limited weapons sales despite a certain hostile response from Congress and 
influential sectors of American public opinion.91 

Over the following months, the US Embassy kept up the drumbeat in 
support of military aid to Chile. In an August cable to Kissinger, for 
instance, the Ambassador, speaking for the entire Country Team, spelled 
out the case for modernizing Chile's anned forces. Soviet tank sales to 
Peru had placed the Chilean military in a state of "massive inferiority" and 
the armed forces leadership maintained there was "a threat of local leftist 
terrorism, supported by international Marxist forces." Providing Chile with 
the latest weaponry to repeal such threats was perfectly understandable, 
the Ambassador argued, and not doing so would force the Junta to "make 
irrational purchases of inferior equipment at exorbitant prices" from other 
sources. This would weaken the armed forces' morale, contribute to 
internal instability, and lead to the emergence of "a highly xenophobic, 
harshly dictatorial regime." From the point of view of US interests, a 
refusal to cooperate would "drastically lower our influence with the 
Chilean Junta." To avoid this outcome demanded a substantial increase in 
US military training assistance which also served an important political 
purpose: as a transmission belt for propagating American values and 
beliefs, and cementing professional ties between the officer corps of both 
countries.92 These arguments cut little ice with Congress: that August, 
Senator Kennedy submitted an amendment to the Foreign Assistance Act 
(FAA) that would terminate all US military aid to Chile. 

Institutionalizing repression 

"A hostile regime," began the Embassy's 1975-76 CASP for Chile 
(released in March 1974), "has been replaced by one which is avowedly 
friendly and which shares many of our own conceptions." Globally, 
regionally, and economically the US stood "to gain substantially from a 
policy of sympathy and support for the present government [of Chile]." 
The paper dismissed the case for non-cooperation because of human rights 
abuses and the absence of democratic politics, maintaining-in what 
would become a constant Embassy refrain-that direct pressure to force 
the Junta to ease its political grip was "much more likely to provoke an 
adverse reaction" contrary to US interests. The CASP took at face value 
the Junta's public statements that it would return Chile to civilian rule "in 
due course" and viewed Pinochet as justified in waging an internal war 
until the threat of the Marxist "cancer" was eliminated. What did concern 
Popper was the need "to save these well-meaning but somewhat narrow 
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and unimaginative military leaders . . .  from the consequences of their 0\Vll 
acts." American policy, therefore should operate within a broader 
consensus that sought to assist "in maintaining and strengthening" the 
present regime, while encouraging it to develop a "viable democratic 
political process as quickly as possible." Strengthening military ties, it was 
suggested, could help achieve these objectives.93 

A CIA memo issued the same month described the Chilean armed 
forces as "more detelTIlined than ever to pelTIlanently restructure the 
nation's political, economic and social systems before allowing a return to 
civilian rule." Personality, inter-branch and policy conflicts had been 
contained "within manageable proportions" so as not to affect the stability 
of the government. To ensure his authority went unchallenged, Pinochet 
was "detelTIlined to prevent the emergence within the military of potential 
rivals for power" through forced retirements, relocation to positions far 
from the center of power, and promotion of supporters to high level 
positions.94 Within six months of the coup, he had already retired 15 of the 
25 army generals (including the four most senior) and replaced them with 
officers "knO\Vll for strict adherence to institutional discipline. "95 In doing 
so, Pinochet had "essentially freed the anny of constitucionalistas. "96 

Compared to the Embassy CASP, and even the CIA's views, a much 
less clinical assessment of the situation inside Chile at the end of the first 
six month of military rule was provided by Canada's Ambassador to 
Santiago, A.D. Ross, who reported to Ottawa that the "'purification' [that 
is, physical elimination of the left] has been accomplished mainly by 
fear-fear caused by the harsh brutality of the Junta's post-coup methods 
[which included] torture, threats, arbitrary arrest, detention without 
specific charges and under inhumane conditions, suspicious shootings of 
prisoners 'while trying to escape,' and other clear violations of basic 
human rights [which] have occurred on a considerable scale."97 Not 
surprisingly, the moderate domestic opposition-notably from Christian 
Democrats and the Catholic Church-was becoming slightly more public 
in response to the generals' repressive rule, their now clearly articulated 
intention to remain in power over the long term, and their detelTIlination to 
carry out an ambitious program of domestic reforms irrespective of the 
social costs. PDC leaders could be in no doubt that, in view of the 
military's intentions as outlined in the Declaration of Principles, there was 
little or no chance they could implement their own programs through the 
Junta or convince it to hand over the reins of power in the medium term. It 
was the Church, however, that began to emerge as the leading institutional 
opponent of the regime-even though it continued to tread a delicate line 
between criticizing the Junta and not to precipitating a complete break 
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with the ruling generals. Efforts to influence government policy were 
generally confined to what the Canadian Ambassador described as 
"private gentle persuasion rather than public exhortation."98 

In contrast to these domestic critics, Washington's concerns over the 
military's repression were largely confined to the negative image it 
projected to the rest of the world. The regime's already strained relations 
with a number of European and Latin American governments seemed to 
be going from bad to worse during the first half of 1974. Sweden, France, 
Italy, Belgium, West GelTIlany, Colombia, Venezuela and Mexico were 
embroiled in serious disputes with Santiago over their embassies 
extending asylum to Chileans fleeing arrest, imprisonment or worse. Paris 
and Bonn linked bilateral aid programs to the release of specific 
individuals jailed for political reasons. The Dutch, Norwegian, and Italian 
governments not only substantially reduced levels of economic assistance 
but also voted "No" on Chilean loan requests to the World Bank. Relations 
with Britain deteriorated further when Harold Wilson's new Labor 
government armounced telTIlination of alms sales and suspended its 
economic aid program in response to the Junta's human rights record. 
Although the amounts involved were not large, the most significant impact 
was political: reinforcing the Junta's international pariah status. In a tit­
for-tat, Chile reciprocated by halting copper sales to the United Kingdom 
(UK). The tension between the two countries increased when Wliitehall 
recalled its Ambassador over the arrest and torture by Chilean security 
forces of one of its citizens, Dr Sheila Cassidy, who had travelled to Chile 
to practice medicine during the Allende years.99 Before year's end, Mexico 
would sever diplomatic ties with the Chilean regime while other Latin 
govermnents significantly downgraded political ties. 

With mounting evidence that the generals were embarking on a 
program to purge Chile not just of "terrorists" and "Marxists" but of all 
those who might conceivably oppose its vision to "rejuvenate" the nation, 
and systematically employing torture and disappearances as tactics to this 
end, Kissinger could not ignore completely the Junta's ham-fisted 
behavior. In March, thwarted by Pinochet's reluctance to allow any 
international monitoring of the human rights situation, he voiced his 
support for an Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) 
delegation visit. Circling the wagons against any evaluation by an outside 
body, Kissinger explained in a memo to the Santiago Embassy, was 
counter to the regime's "O\vn best interests" and did nothing to "improve 
the prospects for international cooperation."lOO 

Testifying before a House Subcommittee in June about Washington's 
cozy relationship with the Junta, Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for 
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Inter-American Affairs Harry Shlaudeman dismissed any notion that the 
generals had transformed Chile into a "totalitarian state." Questioned by 
an incredulous chailTIlan Donald Fraser (D-MN), the senior Latin 
American diplomat held firm to this position: 

Fraser: You are saying it is not now a totalitarian state? 
Shlmtdeman: I should say not. 
Fraser: The Government that is in control of the instnunents of power in 
Chile derives its legitimacy from what sOillce? 
Shlmtdeman: . .  .I believe, as a matter of fact, there is a considerable degree 
of personal freedom still in Chile . . . .  My definition of a totalitarian 
government would be one with an exclusive monopoly on power which is 
not the case in Chile. 
Fraser: With whom does the existing government share power? 
Shlmtdeman: I think you would find a wide variety of groups, of activities. 
Chile is not a monolithic state. 

This brought a withering response from an exasperated Fraser: 
"Political parties suspended, congress in recess, no elections, summary 
trials, suspension of the right of habeas corpus. Mr Secretary, you are a 
great apologist for an authoritarian regime. "101 

"Authoritarian" or "totalitarian," Chile's internal situation at this time 
was certainly closer to Fraser's depiction than to Shlaudeman's, a 
conclusion given added weight only days later when the military declared 
all executive powers resided in the Junta President-that is, Pinochet. The 
military also legalized the separation of state powers in such a way as to 
give the President special prerogatives. Under the Estatuto de la Junta del 
Gobiemo (Statute of the Governing Junta) promulgating these changes, 
Pinochet effectively became Chile's leader in perpetuity: the order of 
precedence could be changed only if the Commander-in-Chief of the 
AlTIlY ceased to be a member of the Junta due to "death, resignation, or 
any kind of total disability." He was formally appointed "Supreme Chief 
of the Nation" but under the Statute was required only to "collaborate" 
with other Junta members "in the exercise of [his] executive functions."102 
In reality, the Statute legitimated a process that had been operating de 
facto since the coup. The perception of a collective decision-making 
process belied Pinochet's paramount role within the Junta.10} 

The June 1974 decree appointing Pinochet as Junta President, 
however, certainly did not give him unlimited authority. His early efforts 
to concentrate absolute power in the Anny under his leadership were 
vigorously and successfully rebuffed by the Navy (Admiral Jose Merino) 
and Air Force (General Gustavo Leigh) commanders, forcing the adoption 
of rules specifying and separating "executive and legislative powers," and 
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requiring consensus decisions to enact decrees, pass laws or change the 
Constitution. Pinochet, writes Robert Barros, retained control over 
legislation, and areas such as budgets, taxes and wages but "could not 
unilaterally legislate nor mold the Junta at his whim."l04 Technically, he 
was required to exercise his specific powers with the "cooperation," 
"accord," or "advice" of the Junta, and adhere to the unanimity rule. These 
institutional arrangements also ensured that each branch of the aimed 
forces retained its autonomy when it came to promotions and retirements. 

If his power and authority was "never absolute,"105 it was not for want 
of trying. The notion of a collective leadership did not sit well with 
Pinochet's ambition to establish outright dominance over his colleagues. 
By the time he formally assumed the position of President of the Republic 
in December 1974, Pinochet had garnered a formidable support base 
within the state and civil society. First, he had the unqualified backing of 
the Army leadership and of DINA which was effectively his own secret 
police. Second, his power to make appointments to national, municipal 
and local government posts reinforced his authority nationwide. Third, he 
could depend on a powerful civilian movement which contributed to, and 
supported, his political and economic views. Eventually, having seen off 
the objections of Junta colleague General Leigh in the course of some 
particularly acrimonious discussions about the dangers of concentrating 
power in a single individual, Pinochet's year-end fOlTIlal appointment as 
Head-of-State would be the beginning of his attempt to assume total 
power.106 

The civilian advisers to the Junta consisted of two distinct groups with 
clashing views over Chile's political future. Gremialista leader Jaime 
Guzman and other hardline conservatives were dismissive of the political 
parties and aggressive proponents of 10ng-telTIl authoritarian rule in 
contrast to a small group of prominent senior economic advisers who 
exhibited a more eclectic mix of political outlooks. In the final analysis, 
however, neither group exercised more than a limited influence on regime 
policy. The "hardliners" could always be overruled by a military 
leadership composed largely of conservative, authoritarian pragmatists 
while those with the administrative skills and reputations as experts within 
the global [mancial community found their ability to shape Junta thinking 
almost exclusively limited to economic issues. The latter, Ambassador 
Popper would report in 1975, "enjoyed only second-class status and could 
not adequately control other ministers, much less members of the Junta."107 

In this situation where the incumbent regime was tightly connected to 
the state, and especially where the dictator had built up strong political 
loyalties in the dominant-and largely impenetrable-branch of the armed 
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forces, American policymakers were always going to face an uphill task 
influencing regime behavior, identifying and/or exploiting cleavages 
among its members, bolstering moderates, or exercising any significant 
impact on political developments or Junta decisions. While civilians 
appointed to serve the regime in executive or advisory roles provided a 
more likely conduit through which Washington could exercise some 
leverage, their highly circumscribed roles compounded the problem. "We 
had close relations from the outset with the regime's economic team and 
offered what we could to their efforts," recalled Harry Shlaudeman. "As 
for other 'moderate' elements, or divisions in the Junta and the like, 
Pinochet was simply not open to challenge as long as he had the support of 
the Army, which he had virtually to the end."108 This would prove to be an 
on-going source of frustration for US officials and make it virtually 
impossible to detennine the relative effectiveness of quiet diplomacy 
versus a tougher approach. In circumstances where neither the civilian 
opposition nor external actors were in a strong position to influence 
regime policy, restraints on policy practice would largely originate within 
the Junta itself. 

Resisting the Congressional challenge 

In the US, meanwhile, Congress was beginning to flex its muscles over the 
control of foreign policy and, to that end, Chile was becoming something 
of a test case. Those legislators concerned with human rights abuses had 
largely been forced to rely on media reports of the situation in Chile 
through the latter months of 1973. By 1974, however, credible reports 
from non-govermnental organizations (NGOs) detailing the extent of 
human rights violations not only confinned the worst fears of Kennedy, 
Fraser and others about the situation in Chile but also provided a sharp 
contrast to the assessments and assurances provided by administration 
officials. The US Catholic Church, which had probably its strongest 
regional presence in Chile at the time of the coup, was, by 1974, also 
becoming more active in lobbying legislators to do what they could to 
defend human rights there. No member of the US Conference of Catholic 
Bishops (USCCB) dissented from the hierarchy's line in defense of human 
rights, presenting sympathetic congressmen with a powerful ally in 
pressing the administration on behalf of the victims of repression. In time, 
the USCCB also began working with Chilean Church organizations. 
Among the tasks performed by the USCCB, one particularly stood out: its 
willingness to submit documented evidence of human rights abuses 
collected by these local religious bodies to the Organization of American 
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States (OAS) and United Nations Human Rights Commission (UNHRC) 
in its O\Vll name to avoid the very real danger of the Junta's retribution if 
the actual authors of this evidence were revealed. 

The Nixon-Kissinger 'White House was exceedingly dismissive of, 
even antagonistic toward, Congress playing any substantive role in foreign 
policymaking. The legislature was viewed in purely negative tenns, as an 
institution only capable of obstructing, constraining, and complicating 
Executive Branch efforts to pursue America's relations with the rest of the 
world. In the minds of the President and his senior foreign policy adviser, 
the Congress should confme its foreign policy actions primarily to rubber 
stamping administration decisions. Assistant Secretary William D. Rogers 
(henceforth referred to as William Rogers or simply Rogers) offered a 
concise explanation for Kissinger's antipathy toward the nation's elected 
representatives: "They were constantly legislating instructions about how 
we were to manage the tools of our foreign policy, military assistance and 
economic assistance, the findings we had to make, the reports we had to 
make, and essentially extracting as much as they could of the management 
of the instruments of foreign policy. "109 

Although reluctant to allow domestic constituencies to influence 
foreign policymaking, political factors now dictated that Kissinger could 
not simply ignore the growing demand on Capitol Hill for a stronger US 
response to the violence being perpetrated by autocratic Third World 
allies-especially those who were recipients of US aid. His proposed 
solution to congressional activism had been to establish an Office of the 
Coordinator of Humanitarian Affairs. It responsibilities, however, would 
not be allowed to intrude on the tmf of State's geographic and functional 
bureaus even though human rights officers were subsequently assigned to 
each of the geographic bureaus. Likewise Kissinger resisted 
recommendations to appoint human rights officers to US Embassies around 
the world, a decision, wrote the first Humanitarian Affairs Coordinator 
James Wilson, which would not have displeased US ambassadors in those 
countries later targeted as major rights abusers. They generally opposed 
any shift away from quiet diplomacy, believing that "public flagellation of 
offenders" would in most cases fundamentally weaken bilateral ties "and 
reduce our future ability to persuade them to mend their ways."110 Indeed, 
Wilson would soon discover the essentially cosmetic nature of his position 
as time and again the Secretary summarily and emphatically dismissed his 
proposals related to human rights issues.111 

On Capitol Hill, there was a diversity of opinions about Chile policy­
opponents and supporters of the Pinochet regime as well as those who 
"simply avoided the issue. ,,112 Broadly speaking, however, Congress was 
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always more critical of the Chilean dictatorship per se than the Executive 
Branch. It was more inclined to view the Junta as the problem, and not 
merely particular aspects of its behaviour, which partly explained the 
persistent disagreements between the two branches over the amount of 
pressure that should be applied on the dictatorship. Consequently, while 
Kissinger could browbeat and bully his subordinates over how to approach 
the Junta, Congress was not so easy to deal with. 

At the end of September 1973, Senator Edward Kennedy (D-MA) had 
opened Judiciary Subcommittee hearings on human rights in Chile with a 
direct challenge to Nixon-Kissinger willingness to sacrifice democratic 
rule in favor of military dictatorship. First, he wanted "some public 
assurance of active concern over the bloodshed and violation of human 
rights in Chile." Second, excluding emergency humanitarian assistance, he 
recommended that there should be no rush to provide economic aid to 
generals who had violently seized political power "especially after years of 
denying such assistance to a democratically-elected govennnent." Testifying 
before the Subcommittee, Assistant Secretary of State Jack Kubisch was 
grilled over human rights in Chile and US policy on economic aid to the 
regime. Kennedy's ire was raised when Kubisch stated that the 
administration and the international fmancial institutions (IFrs: also 
referred to as multilateral development banks or MDBs) "would certainly 
consider all kinds of possible assistance to Chile if the new govennnent 
adopts sensible programs that can be supported from abroad." Why, then, 
the Senator demanded to know, was "the same rule of thumb" not applied 
to the Allende govennnent? To that question State's senior Latin 
American diplomat had no satisfactory answer.113 

To emphasize his concerns and intentions, Kennedy subsequently 
introduced a non-binding "Sense of the Congress" resolution (Section 32 
of the Foreign Assistance Act) calling on the President to withhold non­
humanitarian economic and military aid to Chile until he was convinced 
that the new regime was protecting basic human rights as defined in the 
relevant international declarations. This was a "minimum" initiative to 
demonstrate the Hill's opposition to the generals' human rights abuses and 
"our deep concern..  over the continued silence by the administration" 
over what was taking place in Chile.114 

As the documented evidence of widespread human rights abuses began 
to mount, congressional voices grew louder and more strident, and the 
issue of military aid to the Junta emerged as a major target of opposition. 
If Congress was reluctant to provide significant amounts of economic 
assistance to the Chilean generals, it was doubly hostile to the idea of more 
lethal aid commitments to a regime that had overthrO\vn a democratically-
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elected government and appeared to be carrying out repression on a wide 
scale. The need to address this issue was not lost on some Nixon officials. 
One paper written for a September 1973 WSAG meeting had recommended 
that the Junta be told prospects for future weapons assistance would hinge 
substantially on its ability to project "a reasonably good international 
image with respect to human rights. ,,115 A December memo to the Acting 
Secretary of State from ARA's Kubisch and the Bureau of Politico­
Military Affairs (PM) Seymour Weiss termed tbis "the heart of tbe 
problem," making it incumbent on the administration to "continue to be 
sensitive to the attitude of Congress on this subject." At least temporarily, 
they cautioned against authorizing the sale of tear gas, riot shotguns, 
police-style atmored vehicles and other items that could be used for 
population control. Based on infonnal discussions with key legislative 
staff members, the memo continued, trying to make a case for commercial 
or Foreign Military Sales (FMS) cash sales offered the best prospects as 
these were likely to generate fewer attacks than would be the case if FMS 
credits were involvedY6 

That same month, following a series of hearings on human rights and 
foreign policy before the House Subcommittee on International 
Organizations chaired by Donald Fraser which highlighted serious human 
rights violations in Chile, Congress took the fIrst hesitant step in applying 
pressure on the Executive Branch to contest the generals' brutal method of 
rule. It passed the Kennedy-autbored Section 32 on a voice vote. Kennedy 
also managed to secure Senate approval of a Chile-specific reference to 
the foreign assistance authorization bill (Section 35) urging tbe President 
to lobby the Chilean government to protect human rights, allow 
international organizations such as the United Nations (UN) and the Red 
Cross to aid political prisoners and refugees, and pelTIlit the Inter­
American Commission on Human Rights (lACHR) to launch an 
immediate investigation into the events following the coup. Although 
Kennedy's original amendment also included a sense of the Congress 
statement that all military and economic aid to Chile should be reduced, 
this statement was absent from the House version of the bill and did not 
survive the Joint Conference Committee meeting called to reconcile the 
two versionsY7 Kennedy-Fraser efforts to mobilize support for the 
upgrading the human rights Coordinator's offIce in tbe State Department 
to Bureau status also failed, as they were unable to muster the necessary 
numbers in either the House or the Senate. 

Furtber to his efforts to get Congress off his back over the human 
rights issue, Kissinger agreed to infolTIlal discussions on the subject with 
interested legislators. Most dismissed the Secretary's utterances as largely 
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"window dressing," according to John Salzberg, tbe staff aide to 
Representative Donald Fraser. What came through loud and clear was that 
human rights was of no great concern to the White House if the targeted 
regimes ''were our allies and served our interests. ,,118 By adopting a 
disdainful attitude toward the Hill's desire to promote greater respect for 
human rights, Fraser told tbe co-founder of the Washington Office on 
Latin America (WOLA), Joseph Eldridge, that Kissinger was his own 
worst enemy. "If he had been a little less arrogant the human rights 
legislation would have been defeated, it just wouldn't have gone forward. 
But there was such resentment at his haughty kind of arrogant dismissive 
treatment oftbe US Congress tbat they said 'To hell witb it, we're going to 
adopt this legislation to try and rein in his embrace of these despotic 
governments. "'119 

Kissinger's palpable frustration with interfering legislators and his 
detelTIlination to circumvent or keep them in the dark about the 
Department's objectives and intentions in Chile dominated a mid-July, 
1974, telephone conversation between tbe Secretary and his deputy: 

Kissinger: Let's see what we can do on military equipment for them. What 
is the obstacle? 
Kuhisch: We face an imminent [problem in Congress. They] will not give 
us discretion on military assistance. We are trying to walk the line to avoid 
having this amendment. There was a resolution on this last fall. We wanted 
to make military assistance . .  
Kissinger: We don't have to take it into account. 
Kuhisch: We don't want to flaunt it in such a way they remove Oill 
discretion to do that and that they make it mandatory. 
Kissinger: What are you telling me? In practice, how do we take this into 
accOlUlt? 
Kuhisch: We tell them we will make certain things available tanks, 
aircraft. They have a long lead time. We will not publicize the fact that we 
have informed them of this. We have informed the Chileans. They know 
it. 120 

Congress, however, was not easily dismissed or sidelined. In late July, 
Senator Kennedy presided over a second series of hearings on refugee and 
humanitarian problems in Chile. On this occasion, he questioned the 
administration's determination to provide as much financial support for 
the Chilean Junta as possible, including commodity credits and loans 
totaling $52 million, a proposal to renew development loans for the first 
time in almost a decade, an increase in military aid to $20.5 million (Plus 
an additional $800,000 for the training of Chilean military officers) in FY 
1975, and strong pressure by US officials to accelerate the bureaucratic 
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process and support Junta loan requests to the IADB. Kennedy was 
prepared to concede that the "humanitarian rationale" constantly invoked 
by administration officials justified some of these decisions, but he failed 
to comprehend why this rationale was not equally relevant in respect of 
Allende's rule, when similar progmms were denied to Chile. Beyond 
highlightnig this fundamental contradiction ni White House policy, the 
Senator termed efforts to apply the humanitarian justification to military 
assistance an "inexcusable policy" which ignored "the virtually unanimous 
reports" by the international human rights community of ongoing torture 
and repression. Given this, he was at a loss to understand what possible 
reason there was for the concurrent visit to Santiago by Secretary of the 
Army Howard H. Callaway "to hobnob with Chilean military officials."121 

Kennedy's most severe criticism was reserved for the Acting Assistant 
Secretary of State Harry Shlaudeman. Questioned about reports that the 
Chilean military were engaged in the practice of systematic torture, 
Shlaudeman simply denied this to be the case, based on enquiries 
Ambassador Popper had made with Chilean officials. "What do you think 
they are gonig to tell [Popper] thoughT' Kennedy asked. "Do you think 
Chilean officials are going to tell him they are torturnig as a systematic 
means of interrogation or are they not?" Shlaudeman could only repeat his 
initial answer but then he inadvertently undennined his own justification 
by stating that, in any event, "one way to help correct the situation would 
be to bring these facts to their attention." Having listened to enough of this 
evasiveness, Kennedy exploded: "And what are they going to do? I mean I 
would like to know the extent of [Popper's] review of this" given that 
myriad groups and individuals visiting Chile "have found the same thnig." 
For the Ambassador and the State Department, ni the face of overwhelmnig 
evidence to the contrary, to rely uncritically on statements by members of 
the Chilean government "who say that [torture] is not a systematic thnig" 
was nothing more than a "head-in-the-sand attitude."122 

Concerned that repeated efforts to press Congress on large-scale Chile 
funding in the current anti-Pinochet atmosphere might imperil the entire 
Agency for International Development (AID) program, Agency 
Administrator Daniel Parker made fruitless attempts to get State to jettison 
its overly supportive approach toward the Junta. Instead, Department 
officials now concentrated their efforts on lobbying chairs of the House 
and Senate committees responsible for aid legislation to the effect that 
dollar flows were one of the few ways to gain influence with the Junta. 
Some months later, ARA brokered a decision to put any increase in aid on 
hold until a comprehensive investigation of the military government's 
foreign aid bureaucracy had been carried out. It was in this context of 
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efforts to break dO\vn congressional resistance that Kissinger appointed 
Special Assistants on Human Rights officials directly responsible to the 
Assistant Secretaries in the various regional bureaus.123 In no sense, 
however, did this reflect any significant shift in Kissinger's view of the 
role of human rights in foreign policymaking. 

Such minor, and largely cynical, initiatives could not disguise 
Kissinger's unqualified and active support for providing military aid to the 
Junta, and there now seemed little doubt that the White House and 
Congress were on a collision course. Previously, the case for military aid 
had been based on Washington's obligation to honor outstanding 
commitments dating from the Allende era. But the rationale for a proposed 
$20 million package in FY 1975 was given a Cold War twist: it was 
deemed necessary to counterbalance Soviet weaponry recently acquired by 
the government of Peru. To bolster the argument, Kissinger warned a 
Senate Foreign Assistance Appropriations subcommittee that "our 
influence in Chile and the need of continuing the relationship" could be 
jeopardized if the US failed to accommodate at least some of the Junta's 
requests.124 

To Senate Foreign Relations Committee (SFRC) Chief of Staff Pat 
Holt, the hostile Nixon-Kissinger response to these congressional 
initiatives came as no surprise. Especially among SFRC members, he 
recalled a "cynicism [of] cosmic proportions [regarding] almost anything 
coming out of the 'White House." The post-coup repression in Chile 
merely served to widen this "credibility gap" and played a major role in 
the passage of legislation linking aid to human rights performance. When 
Kissinger met with the Committee and made "an impassioned plea . . .  not to 
ties his hands, that progress in human rights was best promoted through 
'quiet diplomacy, '" he received a sympathetic hearing. But the problem, said 
Holt, was "that nobody believed there had been any 'quiet diplomacy. '''125 

As Nixon began his fateful last months in office, the key dynamics of 
Chile policy were beginning to emerge: a brutal and ambitious military 
regime; a divided and increasingly polarized Chilean populace; and an 
influential minority of legislators ready to contest an Executive Branch 
determined to lend whatever support it could to Chile's new rulers. In 
August 1974, one step ahead of possible impeachment, Nixon resigned his 
office, to be replaced by his Vice-President Gerald Ford, a foreign policy 
novice, who would leave Kissinger's pre-eminent influence on foreign 
policy essentially intact over the next two years. Predictably, during the 
1976 presidential election campaign, the Democratic candidate, Iimmy 
Carter, exploited this issue by charging that "as far as foreign policy goes, 
Mr Kissinger [not Gerald Ford] has been the President of this country."126 
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Even members of the Secretary's Department concurred with this 
judgment. "Ford was so beholden to Kissinger," recalled the Director of 
the Office of Bolivia-Chile (BC) Affairs, Rudy Fimbres. "He was so proud 
when he said Kissinger was going to be his Secretary of State. I thought 
''Who's nominating who here?

,
,,127 

Presidential transition, policy continuity 

Some weeks after the August 1974 transition from Nixon to Ford, the 
Director of the Latin American section of State's Policy Planning Staff 
(SIP) commented to a British Embassy official that the incoming President 
"knew little about foreign affairs and had to be educated. This took time­
and Latin America would be low on the liSt."128 Western Hemisphere 
developments also ranked low on the scale of Ford's global policy 
concerns for another reason. With the overthrow of the Allende 
government in Chile, recalled Kissinger's National Security Council 
(NSC) deputy Brent Scowcroft, "a lot of the anxiety over the leftist trend 
in Latin America went out" of administration ca1culations.129 The region 
reverted, in the words of Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American 
Affairs William Rogers, to a place of "zero consequence. "130 Certainly the 
Nixon \¥hite House had exhibited little or no interest in actively 
promoting a strategic shift away from a hemisphere dominated by military 
regimes to one where democracies flourished. The US was involved in a 
global conflict with the Soviet Union, Kissinger wrote in his memoirs, 
"and the Cold War reality impelled us to maintain a constructive 
relationship with authoritarian [and anti communist] regimes of South 
America." As far as developing lines of communication with the political 
opposition in countries governed by dictatorial rulers, Nixon-Kissinger 
policy was to establish contacts "without antagonizing the government." 
131 Promoting democracy was not a priority, observed Deputy NSC 
Adviser Brent Scowcroft because "we didn't want to stir things up in Latin 
America. ,,132 

Gerald Ford had barely moved into the Oval Office when the subject of 
Chile arose in a top secret State Department briefing paper on "Latin 
American and Human Rights" detailing the policy approach and its 
rationale. Aid to the Junta, the paper began, confronted two major 
obstacles. Internationally, Chile was subject to more opprobrium than any 
other hemisphere nation and, domestically, US efforts to lend support 
"were seriously hampered by hostile congressional attitudes." Yet, the 
case for supporting the regime had not lessened: if anything it had been 
strengthened by the regime's "friendly and cooperative" attitude in 
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contrast to the government it replaced. The Junta had moved toward a 
satisfactory resolution of compensation demands by US companies 
expropriated during the Allende years, played a "constructive role" in 
regional affairs, and aligned with the US on most key international issues. 
Thus, it was "clearly" in America's interests to maintain a positive 
relationship, especially taking into account the lack of any viable 
alternative to rule by the generals. "Undue pressure" over human rights 
would be counterproductive whereas "quiet but steady US support" was 
likely to be more effective in coaxing improvements. The prime goal 
should be to implement measures that bolster the Junta's "sense of 
confidence in its ability to govern and meet the country's economic 
problems and defense requirements. "133 

This was little more than a summary of the policy approach inherited 
from his predecessor and indicated that Ford was unlikely to alter it. On 
Capitol Hill, by contrast, support for imposing new restrictions on alms 
transfers to Latin America was growing. In preparation for an August 19 
NSC meeting to fOlTIlUlate a counter-strategy, State circulated a briefing 
paper noting the administration's modest success in opposing limits on its 
ability to satisfy weapons requests from Latin American goverlll1lents­
increasing the ceiling on military assistance from $100 million in 1972 to 
$150 million in 1974-and stating that Kissinger was preparing a 
recommendation to Congress that the ceiling be eliminated altogether .134 
In another memo prepared for the meeting, the Director for National 
Security, Richard Kennedy, argued that Kissinger's tactic of playing up 
the "regional threat" was the best way to neutralize or eliminate 
"objectionable" amendinents to legislation. This will be especially 
important, he wrote, in making the case for Chile aid which would get 
little traction if based "on the nature of the Junta." Emphasizing the 
importance of offsetting "Soviet penetration into Peru" was much more 
likely to achieve the desired result. 135 

Given that momentum in the House and Senate was moving in favor of 
those legislators opposed to economic and military aid to Chile, the best 
that senior State officials could propose was a new demarche to the Junta 
on the need to improve the nation's legal procedures and comply with 
international obligations regarding human rights.136 This was intended to 
build on an earlier visit to Santiago by Deputy Assistant Secretary of State 
Robert Blake that, according to Ambassador Popper, had "helped alleviate 
[a] feeling of isolation among GOC officials by showing continuing US 
interest and desire to maintain cooperative relations,"137 without making 
any impact on the regime's human rights practices. Not surprisingly, 
among those legislators most critical of the administration's Chile policy, 
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invoking the Soviet "threat" to justify aid was wearing thin while the 
promise of yet another Embassy meeting with regime officials to discuss 
US concerns made little, if any, impression. Four days after this new-and 
extremely limited-diplomatic effort was proposed, the SFRC took the 
first major step toward curtailing US assistance by setting a $65 million 
cap on economic aid, and a $10 million military aid ceiling on the regime 
over its "disregard for human rights. ,,138 

Following this SFRC initiative, the Santiago Embassy was requested to 
make sure the Junta clearly understood the growing "impatience" on the 
part of Congress and the international community over the lack of 
adequate progress in ameliorating state-authored abuses.139 Popper 
responded that for any demarche to have an impact would depend on his 
being allowed to detelTIline the most propitious circumstances for, and 
timing of, its delivery.140 Two days later, on the first armiversary of the 
coup, he offered a mixed and somewhat pessimistic assessment of the 
political dynamics in Chile vis-it-vis US interests and objectives. Although 
"frequently heavy-handed and fumbling," the military was still "firmly 
ensconced in power," had not allowed inter-branch rivalries to affect the 
consensus on broader policy issues, and confronted "no effective threat 
and no alternative" to its continued rule.141 Curiously, Popper made no 
reference to the plight of the PDC and nor did he note the deliberate 
absence of the Chilean bishops from the official armiversary celebrations. 

State Department officials were clearly armoyed and disappointed over 
both congressional resistance to their plans for Chile and the Junta's 
reluctance to make progress on human rights. Together, these attitudes lent 
themselves to a worst-case scenario whereby the Junta's failure to take 
measures that complied with human rights requests would ultimately 
influence Capitol Hill to cut further, or terminate completely, US 
economic and military aid to Chile.142 In mid-September, Deputy Assistant 
Secretary Robert Ingersoll infolTIled Kissinger of a "general consensus that 
if the Department did not place itself ahead of the curve on this Issue, 
Congress would take the matter out of the Department's hands."143 



CHAPTER 3 

DISCORDANT VOICES 

"To contimte our present support/or the [Government a/Chile] . .  
is to squander Executive Branch capital and credibility with Congress 
over a relatively unimportant issue when much more important ones 

are at stake. " 
Dissent report by five US Embassy officials to the 1976-77 Country 

Analysis and Strategy Paper (CASP) far Chile, May 18, 1975 

Echoing Henry Kissinger's well-established mantra, a State Department 
briefing paper for incoming President Gerald Ford unsurprisingly had 
restated the case for maintaining the Nixon-Kissinger approach toward the 
Pinochet regime: "In Chile, whatever the circumstances, the replacement 
of the Allende regime by a friendly and cooperative government favored 
US interests." Quiet diplomacy should remain Washington's preferred 
strategy and "undue pressure" on the human rights front-especially 
through legislative restrictions on aid-should be discouraged.1 For his 
part, Kissinger, now both Secretary of State and NSC Adviser, continued 
to resist all efforts to criticize, let alone chastise, the Junta for its 
widespread human rights abuses. 

By early 1975, however, the Ford White House was forced to 
acknowledge that a reluctance to censure or fmd serious fault with the 
Junta's method of rule was not producing the desired results, above all 
congressional approval for adequate assistance to the Chilean economy 
and an end to the country's international pariah status. With the political 
left now decimated, physically and organizationally, the Christian 
Democrats disoriented, and the regime's hold on power uncontested, 
Kissinger-whose 0\Vll reputation, especially in Congress, had been 
sullied by the public revelations of his role in destabilizing the Allende 
government-decided that the most immediate and pressing task was to 
improve the credibility of the administration's policy. This led to a mild 
tactical shift from uncritical support of the military regime to selective 
statements of disapproval about specific abuses perpetrated by the Chilean 
security forces, especially those that generated negative publicity abroad. 
But these pronouncements were not reinforced by the threat that, should 
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they be ignored, serious repercussions would follow. Indeed, as far as 
Kissinger was concerned, the primary objective of the shift was to make it 
easier for the White House to assist the Junta by fending off critics of 
Washington's supportive approach, both domestically and globally. 

Prodding the Junta 

But there was little sign that the ruling generals had any interest in 
cooperating with their friends in Washington by improving their image, 
much less their behavior-and thus strengthening the administration's 
stance vis-it-vis Capitol Hill. Kissinger viewed an early February 1975 
meeting between Popper and Interior Minister General Cesar Benavides as 
an opportunity to enlighten a senior regime official on the importance of 
"procedural safeguards and use of normal legal processes [including] 
restoring the rule of law and basic human rights protection," and how 
Chile's credibility internationally depended on visible achievements in 
these areas. The Secretary instructed Popper to make these points in a 
"low key" way, all the time stressing "our desire to be helpful.'" Despite 
this benign attempt to elicit some positive action on human rights, 
Benavides was totally unmoved. He insisted that steps already taken to 
release detainees had "substantially eased [Chile's] image problem" and 
that as more and more detainees were freed this would eventually lead the 
rest of the world to "tire of baiting Chile" and focus its attention 
elsewhere. Frustrated by the encounter, the US Ambassador concluded 
that someone other than Benavides would have to be approached if there 
was to be any serious discussion on human rights.} 

In Washington, attention had turned to finding a way to evade the spirit 
of congressional aid restrictions. In a memo to Kissinger, Rogers and two 
other Department officials eventually noted an "ambiguity" inherent in 
Section 25 of the 1974 Foreign Assistance Act (F AA) prohibiting military 
assistance to Chile in FY1975 that might be exploited by the 
adininistration-specifically whether the statute excluded FMS cash 
sales 4 The Legal Adviser (L), Momoe Leigh, decided that the statute 
pelTIlitted such sales as long as no US funds or guaranteed loans were 
involved. At the same time, he opposed any policy decision that 
circumvented the intent of Congress and argued "in the strongest telTIlS" 
for prior consultation with key legislators. If this was not done, Leigh 
warned, a "permissive" interpretation of the law in the absence of a major 
improvement in Chile's human rights environment would be "exceedingly 
difficult to defend" and could result in new and harsher congressional aid 
restrictions. One possible option would be to defer any decision on cash 
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sales until after the expiration of Section 25 of the F AA on June 30, 1975, 
thereby minimizing this risk. 5 Yet, Rogers and his colleagues still 
recommended approving the sale and delivery of F-5E aircraft and naval 
spare parts provided in existing contracts, and other spare parts contracted 
before Section 25 became law "without congressional sanction or 
consultation" as well as the preparation but not yet actual delivery of all 
other pre-Section 25 FMS cash sales 6 The debate was furtber complicated 
when Leigh learned that senior legal officials in Defense would insist on 
an opinion by the Attorney General before approving FMS cash sales 
under the President's authority.7 

Kissinger sought to break tbe impasse in mid-March by requesting the 
Pentagon to implement "without further delay" the procedures necessary 
for cash sales and delivery of add-ons to be included in a 1974 contract 
negotiated prior to the enactment of Section 25, and to offer the Junta the 
option of canceling or availing but delaying delivery of tbe rest of the pre­
Section 25 FMS cash sales.8 Defense, presumably protecting its wider 
interests in military transfers from any congressional flow-on effects 
arising out of the Chile case, refused to shift from its initial stance that 
Section 25 did not permit these sales .' 

Resistance to the Secretary's gung-ho policy was not confined to the 
Pentagon. Tensions within the State Department, especially among ARA 
officials, had been building up since early 1975. The Deputy Director of 
the Office of Bolivia-Chile Affairs (BC), William Lowenthal, remembered 
"a lot of disagreement between those who wanted to support Pinochet and 
those who wanted to abstain from having anything to do with him. Both 
sides were constantly at logger-heads." Wbile the major bone of 
contention was the Junta's human rights abuses, a number of officials were 
also critical of "Milton Friedman's economic policies" enthusiastically 
supported by some key civilian advisers to tbe Junta if not quite yet by tbe 
generals themselves. According to Lowenthal, there was a particularly 
acute cleavage in his 0\Vll Office between the staff and its Director, John 
Karkashian, who was considered by virtually all his colleagues to be a 
"holy terror" to work with and someone "who was much too supportive of 
Pinochet. ,,10 

The dilemma confronting those who desired a stronger commitment to 
human rights in Chile, said Lowenthal, was that "there was nothing we 
could do about it because of the position oftbe Secretary of State." As far 
as Kissinger was concerned "it was terrible what happened do\Vll there but 
we should be accommodating. Wbat's happened has happened, and in a 
way if it was good for our fight against world communism, then let it 
be."ll Lowenthal's colleague, Rudy Fimbres, made much the same point: 
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"With Kissinger there was an aura, an air that you couldn't speak frankly 
and if you had views that were negative to the Seventh Floor, tread 
carefully. As a result, the anti-Pinochetistas kept a low profile."12 Given 
his excellent contacts with Junta officials in Washington and Santiago, 
Fimbres was baffled, to say the least, by the Secretary's stance: "To get 
them to change their minds was impossible. With Kissinger, and the CIA 
and Treasury in their corner why in the world would they care what 
officials in State or congressmen said about them?,,13 This did not exclude 
subtle forms of resistance, however. 'When Deputy Assistant Secretary of 
State for Western Hemisphere Affairs Harry Shlaudeman conveyed 
Kissinger's instructions on Chile to the relevant bureaus, said Lowenthal, 
he had "a very hard time getting everybody underneath him to follow what 
he told them to do."14 

Criticism of the Kissinger's line expressed itself in other ways among a 
number of middle-level officials. Some of these, according to the director 
of the Washington Office on Latin America, Joseph Eldridge, "were very 
clearly chafing under the whip of Hemy Kissinger" and were 
uncomfortable with Kissinger's dismissive attitude toward incorporating a 
human rights element into US foreign policy. These officials privately 
sought outside views and assessments in fOlTIlUlating their position. 
Eldridge, among others, was regularly called in by the Office of Bolivia­
Chile Affairs' Rudy Fimbres, who Eldridge described as "a quiet, discrete 
ally," to brief Department officials. "He would bring together a group of 
officials and they just asked me for my impressions of Chile, what are you 
hearing from Chile, my reports from Chile," Eldridge recalled. "William 
Rogers would also have conversations with US."15 Thomas Quigley, the 
Latin American adviser to the USCCB, developed similar, infonnal ties 
with some in State: "We had a fair amount of contact with George Lister 
who played a major role in eventually getting the human rights office 
established [in State]," and also "showed up at all the Chilean concerts and 
protests."l6 Even at the height of his powers to shape Chile policy, in other 
words, Kissinger's approach was never a consensus view within State. 

As well as his policy preferences, Kissinger's managerial approach put 
offside many of his State Department colleagues, including some of his 
senior advisers. John Bushnell, who worked closely with him during the 
Ford years, considered his personal style the cause of most departmental 
unhappiness: 

Henry was an awful person to work for, just awful. At meetings, everyone 
would sit around a table more or less in order of seniority, and begilllling 
with the deputy secretary, he would begin by insulting each one of us, 
what a terrible job we we're doing. He was always playing games with us 
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and we never thought that he disclosed anything, hardly anything he was 
thinking about. Hemy thought of foreign policy as a private matter 
between him and the president, he didn't want anybody getting in the 
way anybody.17 

79 

More generally concerns about the Junta's behavior began to feature in 
Embassy communications that reported no likelihood of any modification 
in the basic pattern of restrictive human rights practices as long as the 
ruling generals gave priority to internal security issues. Left unchecked, 
the ongoing abuses "could eventually contribute to a violent outburst 
likely to result in an even more repressive regime . . .  probably unfriendly to 
the US."18 In a briefing memo for Assistant Secretary Rogers ahead of his 
scheduled trip to Santiago in March 1975, Popper noted how difficult and 
exasperating a task it was to get the regime leaders to understand the 
implication of their "authoritarian practices [which] remains the 
touchstone for US-Chilean relations," and take appropriate action that 
could bolster aid prospects: "We have tried to educate the Chileans, but 
few who run the government understand the root of the problem, or why it 
is so serious. "19 

In these circumstances, and with Chile still governed under a state of 
siege, Representative Donald Fraser had expressed "serious reservations" 
about Kissinger's stated intention to visit Chile himself. The Junta and 
international opinion, said Fraser, would undoubtedly interpret the trip as a 
sign of US "approval of the arbitrary and brutal methods" the government 
was using to repress dissent and punish Allende supporters. Absent a 
lifting of the state of siege and an end to torture, unreasonable arrest and 
other depredations against civilians, Fraser bluntly told tbe Secretary that 
"a trip to Chile by you at this time is inappropriate. ,,20 From Santiago, 
however, Ambassador Popper had enthusiastically supported a Kissinger 
visit for precisely the reason Fraser opposed it: it would give Junta the 
"kind of psychological boost it needs to help steady it as it confronts its 
difficulties. "21 

One pressing difficulty, from Santiago's perspective at least, remained 
the threat posed by Peru's arms buildup. Back in January, 1974, Chile's 
Foreign Minister Admiral Ismael Huerta had told US Embassy officials 
that the Junta was "seriously concerned" about Peru as a potential military 
threat to Chile, and stated that Lima's new anns purchases from Moscow 
of T55 tanks and other modem equipment had created a dangerous 
regional arms imbalance. 22 Not long after Huerta had raised his 
government's concerns, ARA's Jack Kubisch visited Santiago where he 
delivered a mixed message to the governing generals: Washington was 
closely monitoring developments Peru and was "very concerned" about 
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the Soviet tank sale. At the same time, this had to be balanced against the 
Nixon 'White House desire to improve bilateral ties with the government in 
Lima to ensure that it "does not fall in with powers outside this 
hemisphere." To take new measures that amounted to "tum[ing] our backs 
on Peru," the American diplomat said, would "make the situation 
worse.'>23 For the moment it could only have struck the Chileans as odd, 
especially given the fmmer Iohnson administration's strong opposition to 
Peru's purchase of Mirage 5 jet fighters from France in the late 1960s.24 

Embracing Neo-Liberalism 

The Chilean regime also had its O\Vll domestic economic problems that 
required immediate attention. For reasons of security and stability as much 
as anything else, Chile's senior military leaders were eager to sort out the 
economic chaos of the last two years of the Allende govenament as quickly 
as possible, reduce the country's vulnerability to outside financial 
pressure, and institute a national development program that would both 
integrate all regions of Chile into a new nation-building project and set the 
economy on a course for rapid growth. But the generals were not 
economists, and their initial thinking was as naive as it was heterogeneous. 
If there was one word that summed up a consensus position during the first 
twelve months of the dictatorship it was "corporatism" -a view that the 
nation was composed of various functional groups which must all act 
together under the direction of the state in the interests of the common 
good. Corporatist notions were clearly spelled out in the Junta's March 
1974 Declaraci6n de principos del gobierno de Chile (Declaration of 
Principles of the Chilean Govenament)--reilecting the belief that a nation 
was (or at least should be) an organic whole in which none of its 
constituent parts were more important than the sum of the total. 

The difficulties inherent in confronting the most highly regulated 
economy in Latin America outside of Cuba, and one marked by slow 
growth and high inflation, however, eventually reinforced the generals' 
belief that free market solutions and new inducements to foreign 
investment offered the best and quickest path to achieving their security 
and national development goals. Initially, the Junta hedged its bets, 
satisfying a desire to "recess" or telTIlinate all political parties and so 
silence their criticism of specific economic policies with support for a 
gradualist approach to overall reform. This included a relatively traditional 
austerity stabilization program proposed by the regime's two most senior 
economic officials Fernando Leniz and Raul Saez who argued that 
tackling the inflation and balance of payments crises should take priority. 
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At the same time, the Junta was determined to begin an immediate and 
profound restructuring of property relations, and a re-concentration of 
wealth to benefit some of the country's largest economic conglomerates. 
During the first year of military rule, 350 firms expropriated or in some 
way made subject to state intervention under the Allende government were 
privatized,25 nationalized properties were returned to the former O\vners, 
trade was deregulated via liberalized import controls, price constraints 
were eased, the exchange rate was devalued, state expenditures cut, capital 
controls eliminated, and foreigners offered new inducements to invest in 
Chile. 

By early 1975, however, it was becoming evident that this stabilization 
approach was not working: it had neither revived the economy as a whole 
nor raised the living standards of a majority of the population. With tlie 
economy in free fall, Pinochet decided to act, appointing Jorge Cauas, a 
former World Bank official and vice president of Chile's Central Bank, as 
Minister of Finance and Sergio de Castro, who had studied at the 
University of Chicago, as Economy Minister. Both were committed neo­
liberals. In April, Milton Friedman-tlie most high profile of tlie 
University of Chicago's free market advocates-visited Chile and held a 
private meeting with tlie Pinochet. Following this meeting, tlie Junta leader 
conferred extraordinary powers on Cauas to reverse the country's 
economic dec1ine.26 Pinochet's ability to make such a dramatic move and 
appoint cabinet ministers without approval from his Junta colleagues was a 
power he received on becoming President of the Republic in December 
1974. That an increasing number of subsequent ministerial and advisory 
appointments were graduates of the University of Chicago also reflected 
the fact that, in Pinochet's eyes, they were regarded as "technocrats" who 
had no connections to the political parties. To Pinochet, these "Chicago 
Boys"-as they came to be known-were untainted by traditional political 
practices and ambitions, and so did not pose a threat to his rule. For all the 
praise the US government subsequently heaped on the Chilean "economic 
miracle," these kinds of pragmatic political considerations behind 
Pinochet's embrace of the free market and neo-liberal policies-as well as 
the more general military ambivalence toward them (evidenced most 
dramatically when the Chicago Boys were dumped from cabinet positions 
during the 1982 fiscal crises)-never rated a mention in Washington's 
bureaucratic deliberations. 

Cauas and de Castro wasted no time in introducing further drastic cuts 
to state spending, deregulating the financial sector, slashing tariffs and 
import duties, pushing through additional privatizations, and withdrawing 
price controls on thousands of new items in an effort to halt spiraling 
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inflation. By the end of 1975, this "shock treatment" had managed to 
reduce inflation (although it remained a hefty 375 percent at the end of 
1975, falling to 212 percent in 1976) but elsewhere the economic 
landscape still looked bleak. National industrial production fell by almost 
one quarter following the elimination of protectionist barriers which 
exposed local producers to foreign competition, the Gross National 
Product (GNP) dropped 16.6 percent in 1975, and unemployment rose to 
14.5 percent (up from less than 5 percent before the coup), and real wages 
and salaries stood at 60 percent of 1973 levels. Developments in the world 
economy exacerbated Chile's problems: the copper sector's contribution to 
export earnings declined precipitously from $1.6 billion in 1974 to $868 
million in 1975, and was instrumental in a blow out in the balance of 
payments deficit from $45 million to $275 million during the same two­
year period and oil import costs rose significantly.27 Failing a turnaround 
in the world copper price, a 1975 State Department memo cautioned, it 
might become necessary to increase efforts to help cover Chile's foreign 
exchange needs by providing new Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC) 
funds, additional Eximbank fmancing, or by supporting the Junta's efforts 
to increase borrowings from US private banks-without, however, cutting 
back on PL480 wheat exports, the AID and housing guarantee programs, 
or vigorous lobbying on Chile's behalf in the international financial 
institutions. These proposed new supports could be justified on 
humanitarian as well as policy grounds, the memo argued, and there 
should be no hesitation in pursuing them as "the only means open to Chile 
to avoid a pelTIlanent, totalitarian dictatorship. ,,28 

The second debt rescheduling 

By early 1975, Chile also faced the prospect of teclmical insolvency, 
making a successful renegotiation of the country's external debt as critical 
as ever. Although this provided leverage to Washington to insist on 
improvements in the regime's behavior, Kissinger instead advised the 
Santiago Embassy that the administration intended "to support Chile's 
request for rescheduling on the most generous telTIlS possible" without 
preconditions.29 Getting Chile's other creditors to play ball, however, 
would not be easy. Kissinger suggested "selective bilateral agreements" if 
a significant number of creditors refused to attend the March meeting of 
the Paris Club on political grounds.30 

Initially, the British government adopted a very pragmatic stance on 
Chile's situation. Foreign Secretary James Callaghan advised Prime 
Minister Harold Wilson in early February to reject any Chilean request for 
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a Paris Club debt rescheduling meeting if it imposes "real and irresistible 
pressure" on the Pinochet regime but not "if our refusal is a gesture which 
costs us debt repayment but does not harm Chile."31 West Germany 
signaled that it would attend the March meeting, noting that the Junta's 
decision to release from prison Socialist Party leader Clodomiro Almeyda 
had eased tensions in the bilateral relationship. Having earlier stated that it 
was not possible to delink human rights completely from the debt 
settlement question, Bonn's Economics Minister now expressed 
confidence that the release would pave the way for overcoming any other 
"political objections" to a rescheduling of Chile's debt.32 The French were 
more circumspect, leading US officials to conclude that GelTIlan 
participation was crucial and therefore Bonn should be tlie target of 
"strong representations. "33 

The State Department could not have taken much comfort from its 
embassies' reporting on the deliberations of other European governments. 
The US Deputy Chief of Mission in The Hague came away from a 
meeting with a senior Dutch foreign policy official convinced there was no 
reason to believe that government "would overcome its political 
objections" to sending a delegation to Paris. Washington could only take 
some encouragement from the Spanish government which objected to the 
"politicization" of debt rescheduling and was prepared to support 
negotiating the same arrangements as 1974.34 But even Madrid's position 
depended on the views of other creditor nations. 

Kissinger kept umelenting pressure on Whitehall, instructing US 
Ambassador Elliot Richardson to telephone Foreign Secretary Callaghan 
and reiterate the administration's opposition to any attempt to politicize 
Chile's debt rescheduling. Wliile politely sympathetic, Callaghan 
explained that on tliis issue domestic politics trumped all else. The Chile 
debt problem, he said, had become "a focus for deep seated feelings" 
about Chile particularly witliin tlie Labour Party.35 As more creditor 
nations indicated their reluctance to participate, there seemed little point in 
going ahead witli the March meeting. The final straw was France's 
decision that the number of absentees (Netherlands, Italy, Belgium, 
Sweden, Norway, Demnark, the UK) was more important tlian the fact that 
these govemanents accounted for less than 20 percent of Chile's debt. 

The debt impasse had consequences for Chile's loan requests to the 
World Bank which was itself already under attack by American officials 
for its apparent reluctance to lend to the military regime. USAID Director 
Stuart H. Van Dyke, for instance, accused tlie multilateral lending 
institution of "dragging its feet" on Chile lending for what he deemed 
purely political reasons.36 Senior World Bank officials later insisted that 
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this was not a problem at tbe staff or management levels but conceded that 
it "could not be avoided at the Board level."37 Bank President McNarnara 
himself was particularly concerned about Chilean loan requests polarizing 
the Board because of the negative impact he feared tbey could have on tbe 
Bank's "capital increase and IDA [International Development Association] 
replenishment initiatives. ,,38 

After considerable encouragement from US officials, representatives of 
1 1  creditor countries arrived in Paris to attend an informal meeting on the 
Chilean debt in May. The end result did not disappoint Washington: only 
the UK and Italy failed to attend and seven creditors accounting for 80 
percent of the due debt (US, France, West GelTIlany, Japan, Spain, 
Canada, and Switzerland) agreed to reschedule 90 percent of Chile's 1975 
renegotiable payments. As well, four countries (Belgium, Netherlands, 
Denmark, and Sweden) decided to postpone rescheduling until a later date. 
Raul Saez accepted the terms even though they were "somewhat harder" 
than the 1974 rescheduling. Nonetheless, these telTIlS were more attractive 
than those offered tbe Allende government in 1972. This outcome did not, 
however, assuage the US Secretary of State's anger over what he believed 
was the Paris Club's failure to treat Chile favorably and France's 
insistence that politics must be part of the discussions. With typical 
hyperbole, Kissinger assailed the actions of these European allies as 
putting the future of the Club "very much in doubt."" 

Washington's success in mobilizing support for Chile in the IMF was 
more straightforward. The Fund was especially cooperative in helping tbe 
country deal with internal economic and foreign debt problems. \¥bile 
underlining the importance of further austerity measures to radically cut 
the inflation rate, and concerned that "the slippages between policy 
formulation and implementation" that occurred in 1974 were not 
repeated,40 the Fund signed a second $79 million standby agreement in 
March 1975 and allowed Santiago to make additional drawings to offset 
persistent export shortfalls and the rising cost of petroleum imports. 
During FYl975 and FY1976, the Fund loaned tbe Junta $231 .8  million 
from its oil facility which enabled Chile to continue importing 70 percent 
of the nation's domestic requirements. Between September 1973 and 
December 1975, tbe Fund provided just under $450 million in standby 
agreements which was critical in enabling the regime to subsequently have 
"ready access to private capital markets," thus eliminating its dependence 
on other, more difficult to obtain, sources of credit.41 
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Kissinger's policy challenged 

Writing to President Ford at the end of April 1975, Kissinger had 
described bilateral relations with Chile as "good:" the regime had settled 
expropriation disputes with American companies and aligned with the US 
on most international issues. On those grounds alone, he complained, the 
legislative constraints on US economic and military assistance were 
unacceptable.42 It was, therefore, not surprising that Kissinger should be 
more concerned about reassuring Pinochet and his colleagues of 
Washington's favorable intentions than in dealing with the implications of 
global hostility toward the generals' method of rule. In mid-May, the draft 
of a statement prepared for delivery by Assistant Secretary Rogers at a 
meeting of the OASGA in Santiago affirmed that "no issue is more 
fundamental to the business of the hemisphere, than . . .  the sustenance of 
human freedom and individual dignity."43 The same week, Kissinger 
privately conveyed a very different message at a breakfast meeting in 
Washington with Chile's Foreign Miinster Admiral Patricio Carvajal 
where he restated a long-held personal view that a country's domestic 
problems should not be the final arbiter of US decision-making. The US 
would probably need to make a statement on human rights at the OASGA 
but did "not intend to harass" Chile on the matter.44 

'What particularly incensed Kissinger was Congress's refusal to allow 
generous military aid-a position that left US administration officials 
uncertain about their room for maneuver-and the Pentagon's refusal "to 
deliver on contracts made [to Chile] before the [congressionally mandated] 
cutoff.,,45 This conflict between the State and Defense Departments didn't 
improve Kissinger's mood. State continued to interpret the Kennedy 
Amendment to the 1974 F AA as allowing FMS cash sales; Defense argued 
for withholding any new sales until the expiration of the amendment on 
June 30. Kissinger took the matter up with the President, requesting 
support for his Department's stance because it was legally defensible and 
"in the national interest. ,,46 

Pinochet's response to Congress's successful efforts to block the 
possibility of substantial military aid to Chile mirrored that of Kissing er's. 
Requesting a meeting on short notice with Ambassador Popper, and 
accompanied by his Defense Minister Herrnan Brady, the Junta leader got 
straight to the point. In Popper's account of the meeting what particularly 
displeased Pinochet was the inability of the Chilean Mission in 
Washington to even get a satisfactory answer as to whether the 1971-74 
FMS credits for Chile would be released. Inquiries to the Pentagon, he 
said, had been "repeatedly rebuffed." Brady then "weighed in strongly on 
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the subject of increasing Chilean fears regarding Peru's growing military 
superiority .. >47 

Less than two weeks after Kissinger's communique on the matter to 
Ford, the NSC's Stephen Low informed the Secretary that the 
administration was only authorized to deliver $1.5 million of a total $50 
million in arms sales Chile had requested before July 1. Under Secretary 
of State Carlyle Maw was proposing that no sales should occur until after 
that date, and then only if the new provision in the continuing resolution 
(which temporarily funded a program until a new appropriations bill was 
passed) "pelTIlits us to do so." Further complicating the issue, explained 
Low, was a letter from 100 congressional supporters of Chile anns sales 
(on security grounds) which had the unintended consequence of focusing 
renewed attention on these sales by the opponents of any transfers "and 
particularly on the legal question of whether or not authority exists for 
such sales." As well, achieving US objectives was not helped by highly 
critical press accounts of torture in Chile and the growing impression that 
the Chileans had not taken promised measures to improve human rights. 
Unless this commitment was fulfilled it threatened the passage of a "new 
and stiffer provision" banning all military aid to the regime. Thus, to 
deliver even a small part of the Chilean request before July 1 ran the risk 
of being perceived in a very negative light on Capitol Hill, posing a threat 
not only to US military assistance to Chile but also to other allies around 
the world. The reconnnendation to Kissinger was that the administration 
would be "on sounder grounds to proceed later" if Congress failed to 
change the Chile arms provision in the new continuing resolution "after 
having had the interpretation that it permits sales brought to its attention." 
But even the transfer of a very limited quantity of alms would almost 
certainly exacerbate already difficult relations with the Congress. Better to 
wait until July 1 and proceed then "if the flexibility we now have remains 
in the Continuing Resolution." Kissinger approved the recommendation.48 

The intra-agency battle over Chile policy flared up in more dramatic 
fashion when the Embassy prepared to submit the 1976-77 CASP, 
bringing into the open sharp internal divisions within the Country Team. 
In his overview to the document, Popper referred to several members of 
his staff who believe that the US should "apply its power and influence a 
good deal more vigorously than it has," to improve the Junta's human 
rights practices. He was not among them, adding that as emotionally 
satisfying as strong pressure this might be, he "would not consider a major 
change of this character . . .  to be justified in the present circumstances." 
While the regime should be encouraged to improve its behavior and 
broaden its political support base, there should be no diminution in 
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Washington'S level of support for what was "after all a highly friendly 
government." In any event, a resort to direct pressure would only have a 
counterproductive outcome: instead of eliminating abuses and bolstering 
the Junta's political opponents, they "would undercut the moderates in 
Chile, force the Junta to react in paranoid fashion, and create a siege 
mentality which could only be breached by violence."49 US goals would 
best be served by tbe application of "balanced judgments reached in tbe 
context of a comparison of Chile's behavior with that of other 
authoritarian regimes," by maintaining the current level of economic and 
financial aid, by actively supporting Chilean loan requests to tbe IFIs, by 
providing "generous" debt rescheduling telTIlS, and by continuing efforts to 
expand the military assistance program. 50 Most of Popper's colleagues 
believed that exerting too much pressure on Pinochet could risk him 
adopting a reactive, nationalistic posture. "We were trying to dance along 
a very fine line here," recalled DCM Thomas Boyatt.51 State's Deputy 
Director of Bolivian-Chilean Affairs, William Lowenthal, had a more 
cynical interpretation of the Ambassador's stance, attributing it primarily 
to his "fear of getting himself into trouble with Kissinger" and being 
subjected to one the Secretary's outbursts: "I tbink he was trying to find a 
way that he could live witb Mr Kissinger's views and not get himselffired. 
He was for putting more pressure on Pinochet but he had to follow his 
orders. ,,52 

The alternative, "dissenting," view had been prepared and signed by 
five Embassy political officers, and supported by several of tbeir 
colleagues "who personally approved it but felt tbey couldn't sign it."" 
Appended to the CASP report, it argued that quiet diplomacy and "friendly 
persuasion" had comprehensively failed to achieve any major improvement 
in the Junta's human rights perfolTIlance. Despite overwhelming evidence 
that the generals remained impervious to external pressures, and that 
Chile's pariah status internationally showed no signs of easing, the main 
report simply restated the 1975-76 CASP recommendation, thereby 
ignoring "both the past failure of our efforts [and] the new situation." 
Once again, the most striking absence in these now standard 
recommendations was any reference to "specific tools and concrete 
actions." Instead of clinging to a status quo policy that had not served 
America's best interests globally, these diplomats wanted tbe Junta told, in 
strongly worded language if necessary, that "we will take no new 
initiatives to assist Chile . . .  unless and until its human rights practices have 
reached an acceptable standard." This approach had distinct advantages: 
first, it was more measured than the CASP position and allowed the 
regime time to react without halting pipeline aid and other US assistance, 
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thus avoiding the possibility of the generals "withdrawing into an 
unproductive siege mentality"; second, it offered "the most effective 
incentive" to the Government of Chile to improve its human rights 
behavior and move toward a return to democracy; and, third, it made no 
sense to waste "capital and credibility" with Congress and major allies by 
maintaining what was perceived to be a "close embrace" with one of the 
most repressive Third World regimes that was not even an important US 
strategic ally. 54 Political Officer Robert Steven characterized the split in 
the Embassy as one between those diplomats who were "very strongly 
conservative" and supported official policy "to the hilt to keep the 
communists out" and those who strongly disagreed with "the unqualified 
support that we appeared to be giving [the Pinochet regime]."" 

This "dissenting" assessment was not only sharply at variance with the 
Ambassador and the majority of the Embassy staff but also with 
Kissinger's own thinking on the subject. As one senior State official at the 
time recalled, the dissenters' report bucked the "party line" in the 
Department that the US needed to support Pinochet to hold back 
communism in Latin America.56 

The CASP dissidents had the unintended consequence of weakening 
Kissinger's effort to make sure his subordinates were of one accord on 
Chile because they emboldened officials inside the Department who were 
similarly critical of the existing policy approach to begin to speak out. In 
the Latin American Bureau (ARA) the general reaction was "those guys 
are pretty ballsy down there.,,57 State's Director of the Office of Policy 
Planinng (SIP), Richard Bloomfield, characterized "diplomatic persuasion" 
as a failed policy that was becoming increasingly costly over time. It had 
only succeeded in eroding support for "our [broader] foreign policy 
[objectives]" both on Capitol Hill and among the electorate at large.58 
Kissinger sought to allay any concern the Ambassador may have had 
about widespread intra-agency unease over the basic thrust of the CASP: 
"No, repeat no, pre-IG [Inspector General's Office] participant [at June 5 
review] endorsed [the] premise that human rights interest per se 
outweighed other US interests and objectives in Chile." At the same time, 
all in State agreed that the regime's human rights record constituted a 
major obstacle to the achievement of these "interests and objectives."59 

Kissinger was now fighting for his policy preferences on three fronts: 
against congressional opponents intent on limiting US economic and 
military support to an abusive regime; against officials in other parts of the 
foreign policy bureaucracy who articulated a more black letter 
interpretation of the restrictive legislation than did he; and against 
members of his own Department critical of a policy which appeared 
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incapable of getting the Junta to tone down the violent nature of its 
governance. 

Chile's economic crisis, Washington's policy dilemma 

Despite Chile's successful renegotiation of its external debt, and the 
generous support provided by the IMF, a mid-1975 memo to Deputy NSC 
Adviser Scowcroft, aptly titled "Disarray in Chile Policy," concentrated 
much of its attention on the still serious economic situation confronting the 
military regime. Written by staff official Stephen Low, it drew heavily on 
a recently prepared CIA National Intelligence Estimate (NIE) warning of 
the potential politically destabilizing consequences of a failure to reverse 
the country's "gloomy" economic outlook. The NIE put most of the blame 
on falling copper prices that contributed to a major blowout in Chile's 
balance of payments deficit. In these circumstances, any signal that the US 
was cutting back on its economic support could be calamitous: a 
retrenchment of aid programs might "dry up sources of external capital 
and precipitate an economic crisis" thereby forcing the generals "into 
economic alignments potentially at odds with US interests. "60 

The Low memo began on an upbeat note, praising Washington's 
commitment to support Chilean government attempts to "get its economy 
under control and defend itself against the possibility of Peruvian 
aggression," the administration's "major, successful effort" to get the Paris 
Club to approve rescheduling of the country's foreign debt, the provision 
of PL480 food aid, pressure on the World Bank to lend to the Junta, and a 
commitment to sell military spare parts "as soon as possible." On the 
dO\vnside, the NSC staffer noted "strong criticism" by congressional 
opponents of Junta aid, as well as by a number of State Department 
officials and American diplomats in Santiago who supported a ban on all 
forms of aid to Chile until the human rights situation improved. While 
Low's analysis indicated the difficulties in arriving at a consensus over 
how best to deal with the regime, the Embassy dissidents and like-minded 
ARA officials were still a distinct minority: within the foreign policy 
bureaucracy, the Ambassador's CASP analysis had received overwhelming 
support. 

The perception of a policy in "disarray," wrote Low, was heavily 
influenced by a particularly acrimonious debate between State and 
Treasury over a $55 million Housing Guarantee loan to Chile approved by 
the Inter-Agency Chile Coordinating Committee and Development Loan 
Committee (with no objections from Congress). "At the last minute," 
ARA decided to reduce the loan to $30 million without consulting other 
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participating government agencies. Treasury officials, in particular, were 
"annoyed" by this arbitrary decision which they considered "a departure 
from agreed policy" that could negatively impact on the Chilean economy. 
Treasury was fielding questions from New York bankers on a $200 
million commercial loan to Chile that was being floated and on how to 
handle pressure to urge the World Bank to process more loan requests to 
the authoritarian regime. Against the background of a fall in world copper 
prices, the financial communities in Washington and New York were in 
agreement with the NIE that any indication the US was withdrawing its 
economic support for Chile could have major negative flow-on effects. 61 

That possibility seemed all the more likely after the World Bank 
concluded, in a December 1975 report, that nine months into the economic 
shock treatment under the tutelage of the Chicago Boys, Chile was 
experiencing its "worst depression" in over four decades: 

The Junta's free market economic policies led to the transfer [re­
concentration] ofincorne to the upper class, heightened the exploitation of 
the working class, impoverished the middle class, and led to a greater 
concentration and consolidation of power in the hands of big foreign and 
national capitalists, bankers and financiers, generals and admirals while 
exacerbating the problem of inflation and depressing industrial production. 62 

The Chicago Boys took this damning assessment in their stride. They 
were perfectly happy to assume responsibility for this outcome in the 
belief that a recession was the only way to get rid of inefficient enterprises 
that depended on state supports to fimction. The policies they had 
implemented would shift "both capital and labor. . .into new, export 
oriented and globally competitive areas of the economy." In the words of 
Marcus Taylor, they looked upon their program as one of "creative 
destruction. "63 

Further debate on military aid 

The other problem highlighted in Low's memo to Scowcroft was the 
ongoing saga of military assistance and the postponement of a decision on 
FMS cash sales until the Kennedy Amendment to the Foreign Assistance 
Act (F AA) expired on June 30. While lawyers in State and Defense agreed 
that restrictions on this category of sales lapsed after that date, Under 
Secretary of State for Security Assistance Carlyle Maw disagreed, 
insisting that he had an understanding with the Pentagon that it would not 
authorize any sales without his concurrence. Low disputed Maw's veto 
power, infOlming Scowcroft that as far as he was concerned the $5 million 
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in sales already approved by Kissinger and the President could certainly 
proceed without anyone's concurrence. "ARA wants a hold put on 
everything, including the $5 million, until the matter can be reconsidered," 
Low reported. Scowcroft wrote in the margin the word "No" three times, 
in capital letters and underlined each word.64 In Santiago, Pinochet had 
again protested to Ambassador Popper about "the run-around" Chilean 
officials in Washington were getting about alms sales at a time when Peru 
had installed its Soviet tanks and other military equipment within 150 
miles of the border between the two countries.65 Chile's military leaders 
remained "convinced that Peru plans to 'avenge' the War in the Pacific 
defeat, with the prodding of Cuba and the Soviet Union, before the year is 
out. "66 

Chilean preoccupation with Peru, however, had begun to receive less 
and less credence among US and other Western diplomats after the 
appointment of General Francisco Morales-Bemuldez as Peru's Prime 
Minister in February 1975. In August, he replaced Velasco entirely. 
Commenting on the transition, Brent Scowcroft advised the 'White House 
that the new President was "likely to follow a more moderate line than his 
predecessor. ,,67 

Still, in mid-July, Low returned to the anns sales issue after Pinochet 
had discussed with Popper an $11  million in FMS credits left over from 
FY1971 to FY1974. The Chileans had been repeatedly told that these 
funds could not be used to purchase FMS items. But anxious Pentagon 
officials, convinced that Senator Kennedy would introduce a new sanction 
on military aid, wanted the 'White House to authorize Chilean access to the 
$11  million, as well as a finther $52 million of signed and valid 
obligations the release of which awaited some progress on the human 
rights front. Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger was being aggressively 
lobbied by his subordinates to request an interagency Senior Review 
Group (SRG) meeting on the subject to get Kissinger personally involved 
"because they are not convinced that lower levels of State are reflecting 
his views in this matter. ,,68 

At the State Department, William Rogers supported the resumption of 
military aid. After noting that Congress was not united on this issue, he 
requested Kissinger's approval to infonn the leading critics of Chile in the 
House and Senate that the administration plarmed to move ahead now with 
FMS cash sales to Chile on a "modest level."69 This suggestion received a 
lukewann response from the Bureaus most closely involved with Chile 
policy. The Legal Adviser (L), Momoe Leigh, together with the Human 
Rights Coordinator's Office argued that such a course of action would be 
perceived by many in Congress as a "reward for conduct inconsistent with 
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US human rights policies," notably Section 502B of the Foreign 
Assistance Act (FAA), and would pose a "genuine risk of legislative 
action to preclude even delivery of items proposed to be sold to Chile. ,,70 

The primary objective had to be to prevent any "counterproductive" 
legislation and convince the regime to take some positive human rights 
initiatives that would allow the administration to defend limited cash sales 
to Chile. ARA was not opposed to a postponement of military sales; nor 
was Ambassador Popper unduly concerned that his position would be 
"utterly compromised" if there were no sales just yet. 71 

In the midst of this debate Pinochet did himself no favors with his 
abrupt mid-year decision to cancel a United Nations Human Rights 
Commission (UNHRC) Working Group visit to study the human rights 
situation in Chile. Always ambivalent about the visit in the absence of 
similar study missions to Cuba and the Soviet Union, he was convinced 
that the United Nations had become a tool of Moscow and its allies, with a 
history of applying disproportionate pressure on selected member 
countries over their human rights abuses and none on others. It was only 
after prodding from his closest advisers that Pinochet was persuaded to 
change his mind in the first place and authorize a Working Group visit. 
The clinching argument by senior civilian officials was that the 
government had negotiated "reasonable guarantees" ensuring the proposed 
delegation would be fair and objective. As the months passed, however, 
Pinochet's anger over global criticism of the military's rule intensified. 
Attacks on Chile at the International Labor Organization meeting in 
Geneva, and at a UN-sponsored International Women's Conference in 
Mexico City, reinforced his underlying skepticism about the proposed 
visit. The last straw was the Working Group's decision to interview 
Chilean exiles prior to its arrival in Santiago, together with Pinochet's 
accusation that some its members "had made prejudicial statements 
indicating they were biased." During a July 4 speech, without consulting 
his Junta colleagues, Pinochet announced cancellation of the visit because 
"by communist design [the] cards are stacked against Chile in international 
organizations.'>72 Pinochet's unilateral decision provoked criticism among 
senior civilian and military officials that he was being overly influenced 
by "a small group of extremely conservative advisers," especially Jaime 
Guzman-who General Leigh among others believed was instrumental in 
persuading the President to cancel the visit. 73 

From Capitol Hill, and in the State Department, the responses to this 
decision were immediate and condemnatory. Donald Fraser, the chair of 
the House Subcommittee on International Organizations, telTIled Pinochet's 
action "deeply deplorable and regressive," and one that required a blunt, 
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uncompromising US government responseJ4 State's Robert Ingersoll 
called in Chilean Ambassador Manuel Trucco (appointed April 1975) and 
Deputy Foreign Minister Colonel Emiquez Valdes, and "read them the riot 
act."75 A CIA intelligence report presumed the decision would "damage 
[Chile's] efforts to obtain badly needed credits and new foreign investment," 
and create additional problems in future foreign debt negotiations.76 

What rankled senior State officials, particularly those who had been 
able to exploit the Working Group's scheduled trip to Chile's advantage in 
multiple arenas, was a feeling of the rug being pulled out from under them. 
This was another of Pinochet' s decisions that came as a complete surprise 
to US officials in Washington and Santiago. By using this upcoming visit, 
Assistant Secretary Rogers wrote, Chile was able-"with our support"-to 
keep consideration of an Inter-American Human Rights Committee 
(IAHRC) report highly critical of tlie Junta's human rights abuses off tlie 
agenda of the previous OASGA meeting. Without the promise of that visit, 
Rogers also thought it unlikely that a US delegation statement about 
progress in human rights in Chile would have been acceptable to tlie 
regime's critics on Capitol Hill. Last, but not least, American officials had 
been able to use tlie trip "to mute Chile's critics" during the May Paris 
Club negotiations on debt rescheduling. Rogers concluded on a despairing 
note: in the absence of a major policy shift, Pinochet had "at a stroke 
practically eliminated" Chile's chances of buying significant quantities of 
military hardware from American sources and had made "fmancing of 
their economic recovery program problematic at best. ,>77 

Just prior to Pinochet's armouncement, Popper had transmitted a long 
memo to Washington assessing the current situation in Chile in 
preparation for an interagency meeting in State on July 18  at which he 
would be present. His central argument was that the US should not retreat 
from its policy of supporting the Pinochet regime for interrelated, if 
somewhat unconvincing, political and economic reasons: to maintain US 
leverage in the human rights field which tlie Embassy dissidents observed 
had not achieved much, if anything, to date; and to keep the regime 
technically solvent and help it "establish a viable market economy." 
Popper concluded that the national interest demanded that US policy 
should be directed "primarily at preventing the re-emergence of a Chilean 
government essentially hostile to us" and only secondarily to ameliorating 
state-authored repression.78 With the regime's authority unchallenged, 
however, there was little possibility of an alternative government emerging 
in the near future and so this was, in effect, a non-issue. 

In a frank memo to William Rogers and Deputy Assistant Secretary of 
State Hewson Ryan, Policy Planning's Richard Bloomfield attacked what 
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he viewed as another example of a head-in-the-sand approach. The fall-out 
from the UNHRC Working Party cancellation was bad enough but his 
more trenchant comments focused on the striking disparity between 
Executive Branch rhetoric and its actual policy practice: "We . . .  deploy our 
diplomacy to promote debt rescheduling; we use our influence in the IFrs 
to assure that Chilean loans are not held up; we vote against or abstain on 
resolutions in international organizations that condemn the GOC's human 
rights record; we assure the GOC that we want to sell it anns and that we 
regret Congressional restrictions." Turning to Popper's policy analysis, 
Bloomfield savaged the Ambassador's contention that harsh criticism of 
the human rights situation had little or no effect. This, Bloomfield wrote, 
was little more than an attempt to rationalize the provision of aid to the 
Junta when most of the international community considered the Pinochet 
regime a bunch of "fascists and torturers." Human rights were the 
touchstone of US-Chilean relations, he concluded, "and we will not 
achieve them without turning the screws harder and taking the risks that 
entails. "79 

'When Popper was recalled for consultations in mid-July, what he 
encountered was a Secretary of State prepared to vent his frustrations in all 
directions. Kissinger opened a meeting with his senior aides by 
complaining about State's apparent decision to almost halve the promised 
multimillion dollar housing guarantee loan to Chile only to have Rogers 
interpose that these funds had merely been set aside for the next twelve 
months because "we did not want to appear too generous" this fiscal year. 
Kissinger then proceeded to lecture his subordinates that tbey should be in 
"no doubt about my policy [which was] to strengthen Chile." The 
international community was his next target. "'Why," he asked, "does 
Chile have to be tbe only country that must receive a human rights 
investigating body?" Next in line for a tongue-lashing were members of 
his 0\Vll Department whom he accused, in effect, of giving tacit support to 
the anti-Pinochet forces on Capitol Hill: "There is a great deal of foot 
dragging all over this building. [It's] just enough so that notbing happens 
and it is difficult to pin responsibility on anyone." Warming to tbe task, 
the Secretary again invoked the specter of "a Portuguese-type 
government" taking over in Chile, at which point he told tbe gathering 
"you will sit around and wring your hands." Congress was also included in 
the tirade: he had "no intention of having Chile [economic aid] cut" and 
any attempt to tenninate it would be rejected out of hand. Yet, Kissinger 
was clearly disappointed at the Junta's unpredictable behavior and 
reluctance to take Washington's advice. When asked if he would include 
Chile in his itinerary for a contemplated trip to Latin America, his 
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response conveyed a sense of exasperation: "Well, if those madmen do 
something on human rights. ,,80 

Pinochet's cancellation of the UNHRC visit increased the likelihood 
that Congress would further extend or tighten legal restrictions on all 
forms of aid to the regime. William Rogers described the mood on Capitol 
Hill as one in which new restraints on military aid to Chile during 1975-76 
were inevitable in the absence of some "measurable" decline in regime 
abuses.81 As the administration readied its FY1976 foreign assistance 
package for submission to Congress, State's BC Affairs official Rudy 
Fimbres issued a similar warning about the sentiment within Congress. 
"Indications are that Chile and South Korea will be singled out as 
villains," he wrote. The prohibition on Chile arms sales would "most 
likely" continue, the economic aid program could well "be in trouble," and 
debt rescheduling "may receive closer scrutiny. "82 

As if these problems were not enough, the last thing the 'White House 
needed was a proposed visit by Pinochet to the United Nations in New 
York, followed by a meeting with President Ford at the White House-in 
all probability the real intention of any trip north. The Chileans had 
initially floated the possibility with US Embassy officials in August. On 
transmitting the request to Washington, Popper was instructed to 
"discourage it by saying that the President's schedule was already full for 
this period." Both State's William Rogers and the NSC's Stephen Low 
expressed the view that if Pinochet was the first Latin American head of 
state received by Ford in the Oval Office, it "would stimulate criticism 
domestically in the US and from Latin America."83 To make sure the 
Chilean dictator got the message loud and clear-as he was not 
immediately dissuaded-Deputy Director of the CIA Vemon Wallers was 
requested to raise the issue with the head of DINA, Manuel Contreras, 
later that month along the lines of a State Department determination that 
"we should play it very cautiously, and do nothing to encourage such a 
visit. "84 

Pinochet was eventually persuaded to drop the idea but he showed 
little flexibility beyond that. On the second anniversary of the coup, he 
announced a partial lifting of Chile's state of siege in a speech that was 
otherwise uncompromising about the Junta's open-ended hold on political 
power and its domestic policy agenda. Marxist parties remained banned, 
other political parties were indefinitely suspended, leftists had been purged 
from the public service, the universities and labor posts, left-wing led 
unions were forbidden to strike, and leftist publications were prohibited 
while others remained under strict controls. Church sources around this 
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time put the number of Chileans who had undergone at least temporary 
detention at 1 in 100 compared with the govermnent figure of 1 in 250.85 

To Pinochet and his military supporters this was all part of the "anti­
subversive" war. Not even senior Pentagon military officials could 
convince them otherwise. Meeting with the Chilean President in late 
September, the head of the US Southern Command, General Dennis 
McAuliffe, once again emphasized the importance of the Junta taking 
some measures "to help their US friends in Washington to help them." The 
response was a flat denial that there was any longer a human rights 
problem in Chile.86 

Chilean workers under siege 

Within the US Embassy, those officials unhappy about rigidly 
implementing Washington's policy of accommodation and its reluctance 
to vigorously criticize human rights abuses sought as best they could to 
ameliorate the regime's violence against civil society. Supporting the 
moderate trade unions, as well as the center-right political leadership, was 
one example of Embassy officials taking the initiative in the absence of 
any encouragement or initiative from their superiors in Washington. To do 
so, they enlisted the help of the peak organization of the American labor 
movement. "The AFL-CIO representatives were dO\vn to see us all the 
time," said then DCM Thomas Boyatt, "which started even before my 
arrival in Santiago in December 1975. We met once a week with the labor 
union leaders and the Christian Democrats and some of the politicians on 
the right."87 

Organized labor's plight had become increasingly more desperate 
through 1975, and especially with the adoption of a strategy of economic 
recovery through a radical structural adjustment to make Chile competitive 
in the global marketplace. Back in early April, the US Embassy's Labor 
Attache Art Nixon had painted a bleak picture of the state of the union 
movement in a note to the AFL-CIO's Inter-American representative 
Andrew McLellan: "The situation here becomes more depressing each 
day. Although the movement is structurally intact, it becomes less 
effective as time passes." The one respite for Chilean union leaders was a 
series of seminars organized by the American Institute of Free Labor 
Development (AIFLD). Although "pretty bland" they enabled the union 
leadership to meet in relative safety and, perhaps more importantly, 
created "the feeling that we care about the Chilean movement. We're 
about the only shoulder they have to cry on.,,88 Stuart Van Dyke, Director 
of the AID Mission in Chile, and Ambassador Popper also described the 
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AIFLD program as giving "moral support" to a movement fighting to 
survive under relentless government pressure.89 The unions' continuing 
resistance had most recently been demonstrated when as few as 1,000 
workers attended a May Day meeting organized by pro-regime supporters 
at which Pinochet was scheduled to speak-in a theater with an 8,000 seat 
capacity. The small turnout, resulting in his non-appearance, was due to 
the union movement's decision to support a labor Mass held by Cardinal 
Raul Silva at more or less the same time. "The cathedral was full and 
virtually all the labor leaders were there," Nixon reported. The Minister of 
Labor was "furious" and that afternoon called a meeting of the four 
principal labor spokesmen who comprised an advisory committee to the 
govermnent "and bawled [them] out. . .  threatening to have them 
arrested."90 Soon after, Nixon was cabling Washington to the effect that 
the Junta was cracking dO\vn even more ruthlessly on what it deemed 
political activities by the labor movement, singling out copper workers 
who had been arrested in June and some of whose members were still 
detained-and possibly subject to torture-three months later.91 This 
hostile operational environment and the refusal to restore basic trade union 
freedoms, the AFL-CIO's Andrew McLellan informed Nixon, put in 
"serious doubt" a proposed visit to Chile by members of his organization.92 

The AFL-CIO itself was unable to accommodate Chilean union 
requests for desperately needed financial assistance due to a fiscal crisis of 
its own at this time. A low level trade union delegation that did visit Chile 
unsuccessfully proposed a budget to their AFL-CIO and AIFLD 
colleagues that would permit them to travel and maintain regular contact 
with rank and file leaders throughout the country.93 By then, the CIA was 
reporting that the union movement was struggling to stay afloat and a 
working class which had been depoliticized by its preoccupation with 
economic survival and was "intimidated by the fear of the armed forces. "94 
In a letter to McLellan, Nixon highlighted the dire situation, commenting 
that the Chile labor movement was "going to need help if [it is] to 
survive," and appealed to the AFL-CIO to come to its aid, rather than 
AIFLD which had a precarious relationship with the military regime. Ioe 
Campos, the AIFLD Chile representative, was "walking on eggs, trying to 
conduct an effective program, without being booted out of Chile," Nixon 
wrote. Given AIFLD's problems with the regime, and the debate over aid 
to the union movement, Nixon encouraged McLellan himself to consider a 
visit: someone "with the clear authority to speak for the AFL-CIO might 
be able to clear up some of the doubts which some in this government 
have on labor."95 



98 Chapter 3 

For its part, the Catholic Church under the leadership of Cardinal Silva 
employed a carefully balanced strategy that avoided any action with the 
potential to rupture its access to the regime. It publicly criticized the harsh 
impact of the austerity measures on workers and peasants but continued to 
resort to "quiet diplomacy" in responding to human rights abuses so as to 
keep open the lines of communication with the generals. A State 
Department official said of Cardinal Silva that "his barbs are velveted in 
theology."96 Occasionally, the Church publicly criticized the security 
forces for their habit of "ignoring existing legal safeguards against 
arbitrary detention and torture."97 In late October 1975, based on Embassy 
discussions with two prominent Church spokesmen, Ambassador Popper 
reported to Washington his belief that strained relations would not lead to 
"an open and permanent split between Church and GOC."98 US 
intelligence communiques reached a similar conclusion about Pinochet's 
stance: "[He 1 has been careful to keep Church-State differences within 
manageable limits and to at least leave the door open for cooperation. "99 

Meanwhile, on Capitol Hill during the latter months of 1975, pressure 
to amend the F AA to halt all economic aid to any country engaged in a 
persistent pattern of gross human rights violations was gathering strength. 
Drafted by human rights activists Joseph Eldridge (Washington Office on 
Latin America) and Edward Snyder (Friends Committee on National 
Legislation), a proposed amendment to this effect was championed in the 
House by liberal Democrat Tom Harkin (IA). Perhaps of greater concern 
to the White House, it was also embraced by a number of Harkin's 
conservative colleagues hostile to US foreign aid "giveaways." In 
September, the Harkin arnendinent passed the House by a vote of 238 to 
164, and thereafter in the Senate on a voice vote. This comfortable 
majority in favour of the amendinent testified to the Hill's growing 
detelTIlination to force the Executive Branch to be less dismissive of its 
wishes and recognize that foreign policy-making was a shared 
responsibility. In this case, the President was now mandated to suspend aid 
to human rights violators except in cases where he concluded that a waiver 
was in the interests of US national security. The other loophole in the 
amendinent was a "basic human needs" (BHN) provision which allowed 
for economic aid if it could be justified as benefiting the neediest sections 
of the population. DetelTIlining when aid met this condition would soon 
become yet another source of disagreement between the Ford 'White House 
and Congress. 100 

Kissinger loathed the thought of elevating human rights concerns 
above the demands of realpolitik in the conduct of US diplomacy. In the 
case of Chile, the Santiago Embassy's DCM Thomas Boyatt recalled that 
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Kissinger "didn't want to hear" reports on human rights abuses or 
suggestions that "we ought to try to do something about [them] ."!01 When 
he didn't oppose or ignore congressional restrictions on aid to repressive 
governments he invariably "produce[ d] a State Department lawyer with 
legalese exempting the programs he wished to continue."102 But in an 
effort to mute congressional criticism, the State Department requested 
Embassy reports on the status of human rights in over 80 prospective aid 
recipients. After examining the results, senior officials agreed that the 
level of violations in at least seven countries, including Chile, "were 
clearly going to cause trouble." Some bureaus advocated aid cutbacks for 
selected countries while others, notably the geographic bureaus, 
maintained that security interests dictated no changes to the initial country 
allocations. Among the former was the Human Rights Office which 
recommended to Kissinger that State produce a series of individual 
country reports. In the words of Human Rights Coordinator James Wilson, 
a "great quiet" then descended on the Seventh Floor before Kissinger 
eventually came back witb a question: "Why do we have to do all this? 
Can't we just tell Congress in an executive session what the story is?,,103 

In September, Wilson had managed to convince Robert Ingersoll and 
Carlyle Maw to endorse a recommendation that unclassified reports-or at 
least reports that could be largely declassified-be sent to Congress. 
Kissinger turned the proposal do'Wll, preferring instead generalized reports 
that concentrated on the "processes" undertaken. He suggested highlighting 
the difficulties involved in settling on specific criteria for designating 
governments as major human rights abusers, and was only prepared to 
discuss the subject with Congress in executive session.104 Kissinger's idea 
of accommodating Congress, in other words, meant withholding country­
specific reports, classifying them, and substituting a humdrum summary of 
the findings which, instead of providing the requested information, would 
attack tbe 1974 "Sense of Congress" policy enunciated in Section 502B of 
the F AA that linked military or security assistance to human rights 
perfOlmance. Wilson described the reaction in Congress as "sulphurous." 
Senator Hubert Humphrey (D-MN) characterized the summary document 
as "about as bland as swallowing a bucket of sawdust" while his colleague 
Alan Cranston (D-CA) said it displayed "malign indifference."!05 When 
Under Secretary of State for Security Assistance Carlyle Maw appeared 
before the House Committee on International Relations in November, his 
testimony further exacerbated tensions between the two branches of 
government: no military aid or alms sales, Maw told his questioners, had 
been denied to any country on human rights grounds. As many in the 
Department had feared, this was another clear signal to tbe Congress that 
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the administration would continue to oppose 502B. This attitude so 
angered legislators that they moved to strengthen the amendment by 
making it binding on the President to include human rights considerations 
in detelTIlining economic and security assistance to recipient countries, to 
insist that reports must be submitted on a country by country basis, and to 
ask for a detailed statement of violations occurring in any particular 
country where they were not satisfied with the reports. 

Rethinking US policy 

In a detailed analysis of US policy toward the Chilean military dictatorship 
during its first two years in power, the State Department's Rudy Fimbres 
argued that the decision "to maintain and strengthen" the regime stemmed 
largely from a belief "that on a worst-case basis a likely ultimate 
alternative to the Junta would be a leftist dictatorship." Hence, the Nixon 
and Ford administrations had taken a number of economic stabilization 
measures, from aggressively encouraging private investment and 
multilateral capital flows to "spearheading" Chile's foreign debt 
negotiations with the Paris Club. Yet, the central message of Pinochet's 
September 11,  1975 anniversary speech was unmistakable: his government 
did "not welcome suggestions regarding its internal affairs." One could 
only conclude, Fimbres wrote, that US policy "has not worked." 
Pinochet's persistent refusal to take any meaningful actions to improve the 
human rights situation, and no indication that he was prepared to do so in 
the future, suggested it was time for the US to apply "more energetically 
its power and influence" to induce a change in the Junta's outlook. If the 
status quo in Chile persisted and there was no change in Washington's 
approach, Fimbres predicted that the failure to take a sufficiently tough 
stance over human rights violations would further erode domestic support 
for White House policy. 

The problem in deciding how to proceed had to balance two different 
realities. On the one hand, American interests in Chile were "not 
significant [and] the strategic argument is overdrawn;" on the other, the 
governing Junta had settled outstanding disputes with US firms and 
pursued policies "highly friendly" to the US. Fimbres cautioned that 
taking some kind of forceful action would be interpreted by Pinochet as a 
clear "sign of shifting US policy." A response of this kind needed to be 
weighed against Pinochet's extreme sensitivity to even a "nudge" which 
he could easily inflate into a "push," leading him to conclude that 
Washington had "abandoned" Chile the better to pursue broader US 
interests. In these circumstances, he might resort to behavior that was 
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"paranoiac and unpredictable." Fimbres recommended that Kissinger raise 
the issue in a low key manner with Foreign Minister Carvajal during a 
forthcoming United Nations meeting, explain to him the US desire for 
faster progress on human rights, and make him doubly aware that growing 
domestic opposition to the Chilean government will only increase "if the 
American public cannot see demonstrable progress in the elimination of 
abuses." On a more positive note, Fimbres suggested to Kissinger that he 
might inform his Chilean counterpart that despite the failure to gain 
congressional support for FMS credits, the White House would try to 
restore access to FMS and commercial military sales, support a small-scale 
mapping training program to the tune of $0.9 million, and continue its 
bilateral and multilateral economic assistance during FY1976.106 

Fimbres' memo, the author later recalled, demonstrated further the 
policy rift in State Department ranks over the administration's strategy. 
His reference to the limited significance of US interests in Chile was his 
way of "throwing a barb at Kissinger" and the exaggerated importance tbe 
Secretary placed on supporting the regime lO7 Outside of tbe State 
Department, however, policy disquiet tended in the opposite direction. The 
most vigorous bureaucratic opponents of establishing a link between 
support for Chilean loan requests to the IFIs and human rights 
improvements were Treasury officials greatly impressed by the regime's 
willingness to take a number of "hard decisions" that had revitalized tbe 
economy in their view. This was not the moment "to undermine the 
Chilean effort."lo8 They criticized "the increasingly political orientation" 
of tbe World Bank and "went out of tbeir way to express disenchantment 
with, and indeed resentment toward, [President Robert] McNamara.,,109 
Kissinger's arrogant dismissal of a briefing paper prepared for his 
September 29 meeting with Carvajal as full of "notbing but human rights" 
indicated that he couldn't have agreed more with these sentiments. 
Dripping sarcasm, he spoke of being surrounded by "people who have a 
vocation for the ministry [but because] there were not enough churches for 
them they went into the Department of State." His critics were 
"hypocrit[ es ]," Kissinger told Carvajal, who singled out Chile and ignored 
violations committed in numerous other countries. This was a welcome 
sentiment to the Foreign Minister who dismissed allegations about rights 
abuses as "absolutely false." 

Nonetheless, even Kissinger went on to acknowledge that there 
remained a "practical" problem to be resolved: while the administration 
was keen to assist Chile "it was hard for us to help" because of the 
constraints imposed by Congress. Some highly visible human rights 
initiative would be "enormously helpful." Otherwise, said the Secretary, 
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"Congress will place restriction upon restriction" to dramatize its 
opposition to further US aid. Turning to the cancellation of the UNHRC 
Working Group visit, Kissinger opined that the offer should not have been 
made in the first place as it only raised expectations that were dashed 
when the trip was called off. Carvajal then raised the issue of a $500,000 
credit limit imposed on Chile by the Eximbank. When the Secretary asked 
Williarn Rogers to intervene with the Bank, his deputy replied that 
officials already were "leaning hard on the [Eximbank] bureaucracy." In 
all, the tenor of the meeting was reassuring rather than remonstrative. "We 
understand the problem," a solicitous Kissinger assured his Chilean 
counterpart, once again invoking the specter of the April 1974 revolution 
in Portugal where left-nationalist military officers toppled the Salazar 
dictatorship. "It is not in the interest of the US to turn Chile into another 
Portugal," he conc1uded.110 

Scarcely a week after Kissinger's meeting with Carvajal, a senior PDC 
leader Bemardo Leighton, at the time exiled in Rome, was severely 
wounded in an assassination attempt carried out by Italian operatives 
working for DINA. The previous November, Pinochet had taken the lead 
in fOlmally concluding a secret agreement with the military regimes in 
Argentina, Uruguay, Paraguay, Brazil and Bolivia-codenamed 
"Operation Condor"-to cooperate in tracking dO\vn and eliminating 
"subversives" in each other's countries. Within twelve months, Chile, 
Argentina and Uruguay would move to globalize their efforts and Santiago 
quickly emerged as a major state sponsor of international terrorism, 
unleashing DINA against high-profile exiled Chilean opponents of the 
dictatorship in Europe and Latin America. Those targeted for assassination 
included Christian Democrats as well as Socialist and Communist Party 
members.111 Curiously, American officials at first drew no connection 
between these actions and the September 1974 murder of retired 
constitutionalist General Carlos Prats in Buenos Aires, also by individuals 
contracted by DINA. Despite the close working relationship between 
DINA and the CIA, and compelling circumstantial evidence that the 
fmmer had carried out the Prats' assassination on Pinochet's orders to 
eliminate a potential threat to his power, US Embassy officials in Santiago 
had displayed a total lack of intelligence or insight when they dismissed a 
Soviet claim of DIN A's involvement as making "no sense to US."112 After 
the attack on Leighton, US officials again drew no decisive conclusion. 

On Capitol Hill, meanwhile, Assistant Secretary Rogers was raked 
over the coals when he testified before a Senate Judiciary subcommittee 
hearing in early October on Chile's humanitarian and refugee problems. 
Chairperson Edward Kennedy drew attention to the apparent "political 
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criteria" for allocating 85 percent of Latin America's total PL480 food aid 
allocation to the military dictatorship instead of distributing it regionally 
on the basis of humanitarian needs. When asked to explain this anomaly, 
Rogers defined basic needs as incorporating efforts to help a country such 
as Chile that was in the grip of a worsening balance of payments crisis 
brought about by increased wheat imports due to a fall in domestic 
production "at the very time when the bottom fell out of the copper 
market." Applying tbis logic more generally, Kennedy found it difficult to 
restrain his anger at the administration's double standard when it came to 
Chile: "Are we going to say that Haiti has had a low standard of living and 
therefore we do not have to give food to them-we can give them just a 
little-but Chile had had a high standard of living, so we will give tbem a 
good deal more?"113 

The following day, Rogers could at least report tbat discussions 
between officials from State, Defense and the NSC on alms transfers to 
Chile had reached agreement-witb Kissinger seemingly going along 
under sufferance-on a strategy for dealing with Congress. He informed a 
weekly ARA!CIA meeting that Chile would receive no military grants or 
loans during FY1976. Although this would likely cause much "writbing 
and flailing" on tbe part of tbe Chileans it would avoid a head-on clash 
with Congress.114 The State Department agreed, however, to begin limited 
sales "as promptly as possible" but according to NSC staffer Stephen Low, 
both State and Defense insisted on consultations witb key legislators 
before the understanding was implemented. The ultimate goal was to get 
FMS sales contracted before Capitol Hill imposed restrictions on them 
(tbat is, before the end of 1975) released to the Chileans, together with "a 
few new items," the total value of which could be as much as $100 
million.115 

Kissinger could not contain his unhappiness over this decision to 
exclude Chile from FMS eligibility simply on the grounds tbat "it would 
be knocked off' by Congress. "Now I think we should put Chile back on," 
he told President Ford and NSC Adviser Brent Scowcroft during a White 
House meeting, "and let Congress knock it off. I don't tbink we should 
link FMS witb human rights." Ford agreed tbat to do so would establish "a 
very bad precedent."116 

At a staff meeting to discuss the Chile alms sales issue Kissinger could 
only bemoan his Department's "failure" to aggressively challenge 
Congress by putting tbe military aid ball in tbe legislators' court instead of 
meekly capitulating to their demands. Rogers again bore the brunt of tbe 
Secretary's discontent. When he relayed tbe Pentagon's desire to "get 
cracking" on the arms sales program after consultations with Congress, the 



1 04 Chapter 3 

reaction was, at once, skeptical and accusatory. Kissinger implied that his 
policy was being white-anted by officials intent on pursuing an agenda 
that had more in common with the legislative opponents of Chile aid. 
"Why do I have the uneasy feeling that you guys are euchring me step by 
step into an arms embargo on Chile [and] that Chile is being thrown to the 
wolves?" Nor was the Defense Department exempted from his criticism on 
the grounds that it had failed to consult with Congress much earlier. To 
this charge Rogers replied that "the bureaucratic decision of getting the 
foot-dragging settled" had been achieved and that it involved nothing 
untoward. "It's part of the problem," he said, "of getting that whole [aid] 
package through." 

This comment further enraged Kissinger who protested that it had only 
taken State and Defense "two seconds" to decide Chile would receive no 
FMS credits. Once military credits are determined by criteria other than 
security concerns, the Secretary insisted, "We're licked." Rogers 
countered that the issue was basically one of "straight, raw politics," 
namely that foregoing FMS credits increased the possibility "of keeping 
the [cash] sales program alive." Kissinger grudgingly conceded the point 
but when Rogers said that the Chile sales issue was going up to Congress 
in the next day or so, the Secretary shot back that "it's not going up with 
my approval [and] there should be absolutely no misapprehension about 
it." To make sure those present got the message, Kissinger then issued a 
pointed threat: "And I am perfectly capable of sitting on it for six weeks." 
Under Secretary of State Carlyle Maw intervened that to do so would have 
broader global ramifications because the lack of a decision on FMS sales 
to Chile was "hold[ing] up the Mideast [arms sales package] and 
everything." Rogers kept trying, with little success, to convince his boss 
that "nobody was trying to do anything behind your back." But Kissinger 
was obsessed with the perfidy of bureaus in his 0\Vll Department, 
convinced that the only reason they didn't come up with a proposal weeks 
earlier was "because all they do is weep around with each other so that 
they can finally make a compromise." Eventually, an exasperated Rogers 
summarized the two available options: either the administration proposed 
$20 million in FMS credits for Chile and "c1os[ es ] the door with respect to 
possibilities" or it proposed no credits to accompany the cash sales 
proposal. If it opted for the latter "we have a fighting chance of getting it 
through [Congress]."117 

But the first crack in the administration's wall of resistance to holding 
Chile fully accountable for its human rights practices came in October 
1975 when the UNGA's Social, Cultural and Humanitarian Affairs Third 
Committee prepared to consider the issue once again. Nervous Chilean 
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officials alerted Washington to the possible passage of a resolution more 
critical of regime violations than in the past. The response was surprisingly 
cool and blunt: "Chile must help her friends help her" and the Junta had 
done itself no favors by refusing entry to the UNHRC Working Group. In 
the absence of improvements, even Kissinger was forced to concede that 
the 'White House could no longer adhere to the fence-sitting positions it 
adopted at previous UNGA and UNHRC meetings. "We must be 
prepared," he telegrammed the USUN Mission in New York, "to accept 
language in resolutions reflecting widespread concern over [the] Chilean 
attitude and impatience at [the] refusal of Chile to cooperate in 
establishing facts. "118 

Opinion among American diplomats about the resolution most likely to 
emerge from the Third Committee was restrained in comparison with 
earlier proposals. The Santiago Embassy characterized it as "generally 
moderate," non-condenmatory, and "largely free of verbal overkill." 
Ambassador Popper thought the US should abstain if the final wording 
was mild to "lend strength to the more moderate elements in GOC" and 
only vote against the resolution if its language was toughenedy9 UN 
Ambassador Moynihan told Kissinger the final text was the result of a 
"fragile truce" between the hardliners and the moderates on the Committee 
and judged it an improvement over some earlier draft resolutions, 
principally because it avoided a "direct condenmation" of Chile.120 The 
mildly worded resolution expressed "profound distress" at the violations 
of human rights, called on the Chilean authorities to take all necessary 
measures to restore and safeguard basic individual rights "without delay," 
and deplored the refusal to allow the Working Group visit to take place.121 
The USUN delegation recommended a favorable vote for three reasons: to 
signal US displeasure over the cancellation of the Working Group visit; to 
send a message to the Chileans that they must improve their human rights 
performance; and because abstaining would considerably limit the 
administration's ability "to accomplish anything in the human rights area 
at this GA [General Assembly] ."122 But a "Yes" vote should be 
accompanied by an explanation that included criticism of the UN's 
tendency "to show only a selective concern about the protection of human 
rights in member states. ,,123 

Following a telephone conversation with Moynihan on the eve of the 
final vote, Kissinger indicated that he would support the resolution even 
though "I don't like it," and ended the conversation with his now familiar, 
and increasingly fanciful, refrain about the dangers of a Portuguese-style 
government achieving power in Chile.124 For the first time the US voted 
against Chile in a major international body. The reaction in Santiago was 
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more one of resignation than great anger. Pinochet expressed 
"disappointment and surprise," while Foreign Minister Carvajal claimed it 
would strengthen Junta hard-liners and the "moderate voices will be 
correspondingly weakened"-an interpretation that US Ambassador David 
Popper echoed.125 To ensure that the regime's leaders were laboring under 
no illusions about US support for the wording of the resolution, Deputy 
Assistant Secretary Hewson Ryan informed Chile's Permanent UN 
Representative Huerta that it "represented the consensus of all elements of 
the USG."l26 The full General Assembly had also passed the resolution by 
an impressive margin: 88 to 1 1  with 20 abstentions. 

In early November, Ford had decided to relieve a notably reluctant 
Kissinger of his NSC post and appoint his deputy, General Brent 
Scowcroft. Regarded as a loyal acolyte, Scowcroft described this change at 
the top of the NSC as "seamless." 127 While the decision stripped Kissinger 
of his White House office and staff he continued to dominate NSC 
proceedings due both to his perceived pIe-eminence in foreign policy 
matters and through his position as Secretary of State. Kissinger's shift 
was also part of a broader cabinet reshuffle engineered by 'White House 
Chief of Staff Donald Rumsfeld who moved to the Pentagon to become 
Secretary of Defense, replacing James Schlesinger. Although Rumsfeld 
was successful in eliminating one of Kissinger' s two positions, he failed in 
an attempt to place his preferred candidate, Arthur Hartman, as the new 
NSC adviser rather than Scowcroft whose foreign policy outlook closely 
approximated that of his predecessor. This ensured the NSC remained 
more or less within Kissinger's orbit.128 

Kissinger was still considering his options in respect of visiting 
Santiago when the OAS Permanent Council voted by a margin of 17 to 2 
with 5 abstentions to hold its 1976 General Assembly meeting in the Chilean 
capital. The US decision to abstain from voting was primarily influenced 
by the Junta's refusal to admit the UNHRC Working Group. 129 This latest 
instance of so-called public distancing from Chile was part of what the 
NSC's Latin American Director Stephen Low termed the administration's 
"increasingly hard-nosed" policy approach toward Pinochet's regime.130 
For the moment, officially, the 'White House continued to link its 
attendance at the OAS meeting to Chilean government cooperation with an 
international investigation of the domestic human rights environment.131 
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A COOLER EMBRACE 

"My evaluation is that you are a victim of all left-wing groups around the 
world, and that your greatest sin was that you overthrew a government 

which was going Communist. " 
Henry Kissinger to GeneralAugusto Pinochet, June 1976. 

As the Ford presidency prepared to enter its last year, interagency and 
intelligence reports described a "diminishing commonality of interest" 
between the United States and Latin America. The increase in regional 
"bitterness" was largely the result of a perception that Washington had 
"unilaterally changed the rules of hemispheric (economic) interaction," 
ranging from increased protectionism and declining levels of aid, "punitive 
legislation [and] threats of retaliation for disagreement on international 
issues," to a lack of reciprocity for concessions by Latin governments. In 
the case of Chile, Washington's failure to appreciate the elimination of "a 
Marxist cancer" had led to "wanning relationship" between Santiago and, 
ironically, Communist China.1 

Toward the end of 1975, the pressure in Washington for some kind of 
change in its approach to Chile was palpable. A number of State 
Department officials had become increasingly irritated by the military 
Junta's stubborn refusal to ease its repressive practices and had begun 
calling for the adoption of tougher measures to drive the message home. 
Meanwhile, the \¥bite House was locked in an umesolved dispute with 
Congress over the provision of economic and military assistance to the 
regime while the international opprobrium directed at the Junta only 
served to further isolate the US defense of the Chilean dictatorship from 
positions taken in Europe and elsewhere around the world. 

Chile's human rights performance was scheduled to be a major agenda 
item at the next UN Human Rights Commission (UNHRC) meeting in 
Geneva in early 1976. Kissinger instructed Ambassador Popper to meet 
with government officials and suggest that they take account of 
international concern and at least indicate "a desire to correct the abuses 
that have occurred." Allowing the UNHRC Working Group to visit would 
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be a good start. Popper was advised to stress that without some "gesture of 
cooperation" it would be difficult to offset the negative impression created 
by the earlier cancellation, and almost certainly result in the UNHRC and 
other UN forums taking "stronger condenmatory measures" in the future.2 
Like similar past requests, this overture had no impact where it most 
counted. Pinochet, Chile's Director General of the Foreign Office 
explained, had ruled out a UNHRC visit as "absolutely foreclosed [and] 
would not reverse [this decision J.  ,,} Weeks later, Air Force General Leigh 
told a visiting US congressional staffer that, while he was "concerned with 
Chile's poor international image," he would not be taking any action to 
change Pinochet's mind. Differences of opinion on specific issues 
remained compatible with a Junta consensus over basic objectives.4 The 
CIA had long since arrived at the same conclusion. Irrespective of 
differing personal, professional and political outlooks, the ruling generals 
remained sensitive to the need to "compromise where necessary to 
preserve the unity of the Junta."5 In late June, to take one example, Popper 
had two separate conversations with senior Air Force officers close to 
General Leigh, botb of whom stressed that tbe entire higher Chilean Air 
Force command thought Pinochet "had let power go to his head." They 
complained about his refusal to terminate the state of siege and his 
preoccupation with getting inflation under control at the expense of 
attacking unemployment and raising living standards. Leigh's fellow 
generals attributed the latter to "the 'Milton Friedman nonsense' preached 
by Chilean civilian economic ministers." That said, they emphatically 
denied that their branch of tbe armed forces would "abandon Pinochet or 
the Junta."6 

What Washington should do about Pinochet's refusal to heed its advice 
was a matter of some contention among the Country Team-as the 1977-
78 CASP revealed. In his overview of tbe situation, Popper described a 
regime that was "firmly in control" and posed no current threat to US 
economic or strategic interests but its "deep-seated desire" for close 
bilateral ties was unlikely so long as a concern with the absence of basic 
human rights "dominate[d] our approach to Chile." Popper, and a majority 
of Embassy officials, believed the provision of military and economic aid 
could be utilized as a lever to force tbe generals to gradually bring tbeir 
human rights practices up to "acceptable standards" so long as it was done 
in a gradual way. Any resort to a "meat-axe approach" would be 
counterproductive and most likely "force tbe Junta into a much tighter 
repressive and xenophobic posture." For the second year in a row, a 
dissenting paper was attached to the CASP outlining the views of two 
political officers and five other Embassy officials. Their analysis was 
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premised on the assumption that "absent strong pressures to the contrary," 
the regime's abusive behavior was unlikely to change and that tbis could 
only be to tbe detriment of US interests in Chile and to America's global 
reputation. The "dissenters" were at one with their colleagues on the need 
to avoid an excessively "rapid" application of pressure because it might 
lead to increased state-authored repression. But, in the absence of some 
"tangible" action the 'White House would not achieve its objectives 
because diplomatic actions and UN votes failed to send Pinochet and his 
Junta colleagues "a sufficiently strong message." The dissenters proposed 
that all economic and financial aid, and access to military hardware and 
training, be terminated after FY1976. 7 

For the moment, the Ford administration confined its leverage to 
symbolic pressures-and even these actions were not always applied in a 
consistent fashion. In February, the US voted for a Chile resolution in the 
UNHRC expressing "profound distress at the constant, flagrant violations 
of human rights, including the institutionalized practice of torture, cruel, 
inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, arbitrary arrest, detention 
and exile." That same month, however, Kissinger handed the Junta a 
public relations coup by announcing tbat he would, after all, head the US 
delegation to tbe June OAS meeting in Santiag0 8 Not surprisnigly, an 
Embassy political officer about to be reassigned after a three year posting 
in Santiago, told ARA's George Lister that the Junta was not receiving 
consistently "clear signals on USG's Chile policy" which are "essential" if 
Washington desires to influence Pinochet. 9 

An economic lifeline 

Back in November 1975, the administration presented to Congress a 
FYl976 economic aid package for Chile exceeding $100 million-double 
that of any otber country in tbe region and 20 percent of total US 
assistance to the Westem Hemisphere proposed for that year. Senator 
Edward Kennedy's reaction to tbis request was unsympathetic. Still 
smartnig from what had happened twelve montbs previously when he 
sponsored an amendment to limit economic aid to Chile to $25 million in 
FY1975 only for the actual figure to end up topping $100 million despite 
"continuing repression, the continuing use of torture and the continuing 
violations of human rights," he served notice of a new amendment to the 
1975 International Development and Food Assistance Act that would 
substantially cut this latest request.!O 

Administration policy, however, was not reducible simply to matters of 
"political interest," as Kennedy had asserted ll Falling global demand for 
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copper and the devastating social and economic costs of the April 1975 
austerity measures had significantly increased the number of Chileans 
living in extreme poverty, and bankrupted, slashed the incomes, or 
eliminated the jobs of tens of thousands of small property owners and 
public sector workers. The result was growing discontent among a range 
of societal groups, including some who had been strong supporters of the 
1973 coup and an important social base of the dictatorship. Only the 
armed forces budget, which jumped from $332 million in 1973 to $653 
million in 1974 (falling to $455 million in 1975, but still a substantial 
increase over 1973), was relatively exempt from the effects of the new 
economic program.12 

These developments accounted for a strong concern among US 
officials that Chile might fail to meet its 1976 foreign debt repayments, 
projected at around $700 million or 38 per cent of its entire export 
earnings which, in turn, could trigger a default chain reaction among other 
Latin American debtors and fuel debt moratorium sentiments in other parts 
of the Third World-all of which had the potential to impact severely on 
the US as the world's largest creditor nation 13 With the difficulties 
sUlTOlUlding the 1975 debt renegotiations fresh in his mind, and convinced 
that the 1976 discussions would be even more politically complicated, 
Chile's Finance Minister Jorge Cauas raised the possibility that 
renegotiation this time around might be more trouble than it was worth. 
World Bank and IMF officials dismissed such thinking as "wholly 
impractical" and dangerous for a government grappling with a severe 
economic crisis.14 

In contrast to the more demanding and rigorous conditions that 
normally attached to IFI loans or balance of payments support, the private 
foreign banking community's lending requirements were far less onerous. 
In the case of Chile, they provided a veritable economic lifeline to the 
regime. These financial institutions, flush with funds as a result of the 
quadrupling of global oil prices in 1973-74 were, in the words of a 
Business International executive, "falling all over each other" to fill the 
coffers of the military dictatorship-at high interest rates but with far 
fewer strings than the conditions attached to IMF or MDB loans. And, if 
asked, Washington was only too willing to "provide a positive assessment 
of Chile's economic policies and creditworthiness."15 As a result, the 
country's dependence on these private bank funds more than doubled from 
25 percent of total foreign borrowings in 1975 to 59 percent in 1976 
(skyrocketing to around 80 percent in 1977).16 

If the largesse of the foreign private banks was enthusiastically 
supported by the Ford administration as a means of circumventing 
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congressional restraints on US aid and the difficulties experienced in 
dealing with the IFIs, this did not mean a lessened effort to gain Chile 
access to funds from these global institutions. In mid-January 1976, the 
State Department's Office of Bolivia-Chile (BC) Affairs proposed a slew 
of new initiatives to ease Chile's economic problems and to avoid any 
possibility of a debt default that singled out the importance of supporting 
IMF, World Bank and Inter-American Development Bank loans to the 
Pinochet governmentY Weeks later, strong American lobbying in the 
World Bank paid off when the Executive Directors approved a $33 million 
copper development loan to Chile-more than the Bank's total aid 
provided in the previous two years-despite abstentions or no votes by 9 
of the 20 member countries (including virtually all of the West Europeans) 
representing over 40 percent of the bank's voting power. The 'White House 
senior economic adviser, William Seidman, insisted the US voted in favor 
of the loan "solely on its economic merits,,18-a puzzling explanation 
given that Chile was supposedly mired in the worst recession since the 
1930s and their European allies had profound doubts about its 
creditworthiness. 

This paradox did not escape congressional critics of the lenient 
treatment afforded Pinochet's Chile. In a letter to Bank President Robert 
McNamara, the influential chair of the House Banking and Currency 
Committee, Hemy Reuss (D-WI), charged that the institution's own 
internal documents did not validate McNamara's claim at the time of the 
vote that the "Yes" case was based on "purely economic groundS."19 In 
Reuss' opinion, it was dictated by the Bank's "favorable assessment" of 
the regime's neo-liberal economic model. 'What else, he asked, could 
explain deeming an economy "creditworthy" that was in "incomparably 
worse" shape compared with 1971 when the Bank deemed the Allende 
government "uncreditworthy" and suspended assistance to Chile? In 
voting for the $33 million loan, it was hard to avoid the conclusion that the 
Bank had "gone all-out to justify an essentially unjustifiable loan," 
knuckling under to political pressure from American officials "to shore up 
an inhuman right-wing dictatorship tottering on the edge ofbankruptcy."20 

In a March cable to London, a British Embassy official recounted a 
discussion with State's Deputy Director of BC Affairs William Lowenthal 
about Chile's debt servicing problem. The White House bind, he reported, 
was that no amount of lobbying would convince Congress to support a 
bilateral, rather than a multilateral rescheduling, and, absent an improved 
human rights environment, a new rescheduling process was unlikely to 
begin.21 For the first time in three years, the Americans chose not to press 
ahead with efforts to convene a Paris Club meeting. The subsequent failure 
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to renegotiate its debt servicing arrangements with European creditors left 
the Chilean government saddled with more than triple the debt service and 
interest on loans it had expected to repay in 1976.22 

Despite Washington's reticence to force the issue in the Paris Club, it 
was eager to provide what bilateral assistance it could. On his arrival in 
Santiago in early May, Secretary of the Treasury William Simon indicated 
that the US was prepared to support loan submissions to the IFIs, 
encourage new inflows of US private investment by restarting the 
Overseas Private Investment Corporation's (OPIC) insurance program, 
and implement an agreement to avoid double taxation, contingent on "a 
framework of a system ensuring personal and political freedoms."23 At a 
round table conversation with senior Chilean economic and foreign policy 
officials, Simon called the human rights issue a serious obstacle to 
improved bilateral ties and to increased US and multilateral aid flows: 

We fought in the World Bank for you. I urged debt rescheduling for 
Chile . . . .  But there will be trouble in the mRD and I[A]DB. Congressman 
Reuss' letter is an indication. Unless we break do\Vll this obvious 
impediment, the situation will get worse . . . . .  We were disappointed when 
the UNHRC trip was cancelled . . . . .  The dangers are clear if the situation is 
not reversed?4 

The Chileans promised to take some measures to improve the country's 
image abroad, including a commitment to work with the UNHRC, but 
most of what they said rested on vague assurances of Junta actions at some 
indefinite time. Particularly revealing were those issues the Chileans 
refused to discuss: telTIlinating the state of siege, disbanding the secret 
police (DINA), putting a stop to arbitrary arrests and disappearances, and 
addressing the lack of political rights. What modest concessions Simon 
extracted-a speeding up of the "parole" program and agreement to 
discuss a possible UNHRC visit-came from civilian officials he knew 
personally, notably Finance Minister Jorge Cauas, who had next to no 
influence with Pinochet when it came to political matters.25 Nonetheless, 
Simon had already delivered a huge boost to Chile's reputation for 
creditworthiness by his very presence in Santiago and his statements of 
continued US support.26 

In a detailed briefing to representatives of the European Economic 
Community missions in Santiago, the Embassy's DCM Thomas Boyatt 
insisted that the Simon visit "should not be seen as marking any change in 
US policy."27 This seemed borne out following the Treasury Secretary's 
return when the Washington Post reported that the State Department had 
pressured OPIC to quietly begin insuring companies that invested in Chile, 
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that State and Treasury had encouraged a consortium US and Canadian 
banks to lend Santiago between $100 and $125 million to pay short-term 
obligations to other countries, and that the administration had used its 
influence to get the IADB to lend Chile up to $125 million, with the first 
$20 million already approved.28 

Testifying before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee (SFRC) in 
executive session, Simon pressed the case for maintaining the US 
economic aid program-and avoiding any contemplated cuts in the 1976-
77 security assistance legislation relating to Chile-on tbe thin reed of 
assurances given by Pinochet that the human rights situation would be 
improved. Such a guarantee did not impress Simon's skeptical questioners. 
What angered Hubert Humphrey and Edward Kennedy was tbe perception 
of an autocratic regime receiving overly generous treatment from the 
administration, including the great bulk of PL-480 aid allocated for Latin 
America.29 

Congress keeps the pressure on 

If the Wbite House efforts to support Chile economically produced a 
heated response on Capitol Hill, attempts to rescind legislative constraints 
on military aid to the Junta generated even more anger. Michigan 
congressman Donald Riegle Ir (D) expressed a widely held view during a 
hearing on the 1976 International Security Assistance and Arms Export 
Control Act (ISAAECA): "I don't understand why [Chile] over and above 
others in South America deserves greater help." There was, Riegle told a 
senior Defense Department official testifying against a total anns 
embargo, no justification for giving a nation ruled by a repressive regime 
such special treatment. 30 His colleague, Donald Fraser, accused the 
Executive Branch of paying lip service to human rights problem while 
simultaneously acting in ways "to make clear to Chile that we have a 
special relationship." For some "wholly obscure [reason], we feel a need 
to give them preferred treatment." In his view, the contrast between this 
mollycoddling of the authoritarian generals and a disinterest in the civilian 
targets of their violence could not have been greater .31 

Michael Harrington (D-MA) proposed a complete prohibition on all 
forms of military assistance to Chile in an amendment to the House 
version of tbe F AA. This was simply too much for Alabama's Republican 
congressman John Buchanan Jr. who countered with an alternative 
amendment to avoid a blanket ban. His proposal would permit FMS cash 
sales after September 30, even in the absence of a presidential 
detellllination that a visible improvement in human rights had occurred, 
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and it would avoid any blockage of commercial sales and delivery of 
military items in the pipeline.32 In the Senate, Kel11ledy introduced an 
amendment to a version of tbe ISAAECA to embargo the sale of all 
American-made weapons to Chile. When tbe bill reached the floor of tbe 
Chamber it was supported by a margin of 48 to 39. Hubert Humphrey 
spoke for many of the bill's supporters, describing the dictatorial regime as 
"a handful of thugs [who] had shot their way into power."" The Chilean 
response was predictably hostile. In a speech alluding to the Senate's 
action, Pinochet referred to '''demagogues from countries who have 
traditionally been friends of ours, [who] embroider their electoral 
campaigns witb a cheap form of leftism . . . .  They are the puppets [of] 
Soviet imperialism. '" Even so, the US Embassy described the government 
reaction as "less than might have been expected. "34 Reporting on a 
conversation with Pinochet, DCM Boyatt wrote that the Junta head was 
more worried about the "symbolical impact" than the "practical effects" of 
the Senate vote.35 

State Department officials were most upset by the provision in the 
Kennedy amendment that would eliminate $122 million worth of 
equipment, including 18  F-SE and 18  A-37 aircraft already in the pipeline, 
which Santiago had agreed to pay in cash upon delivery.36 Despite 
indications of a tough battle abead with the Congress, a staff aide to NSC 
Adviser Brent Scow croft thought there was a reasonable chance of 
defeating a total ban on military assistance and sales on the floor of the 
House, thereby shifting the issue to a House-Senate Conference 
Committee. This would provide an opportunity to lobby for an outcome 
"as close to the Buchanan amendment as possible," he wrote. "If necessary 
to defeat the Kennedy amendment, we would be willing to sacrifice some 
or all of the new FMS sales or commercial sales." The highest priority was 
the $122 million in pipeline funds.37 Kissinger instructed his subordinates 
"to make an all-out effort [to] defeat" Harrington's House version.38 At tbe 
Pentagon, officials were optimistic about retaining the Buchanan 
amendment language or "at least some compromise short of a total 
embargo" if the Conference Committee was called upon to reconcile the 
two conflicting pieces of legislation. 39 

In mid-March, prior to the House vote, Thomas Harkin (D-lA), George 
Miller (D-CA) and Tony Moffett (D-CT) visited Chile. Their primary 
purpose was to investigate "tbe real effect of US foreign aid dollars" but it 
was the appalling political situation they encountered that had the greatest 
impact: "During our stay, it became increasingly clear that the Junta . .  
rules . . .  by terror. We found a silent and pervasive fear in all segments of 
Chilean society."40 They antagonized the regime by meeting with Cardinal 
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Raul Silva and former PDC President Eduardo Frei while failing to keep 
scheduled appointments with the Interior Minister and the President of the 
Supreme Court. Embarrassed US diplomats went out of their way to stress 
that they "did not arrange any meetings or interviews for the visitors, other 
than those with members of the Government. ,,41 On their return, the three 
legislators announced that they would lobby for a total cut-off of military 
aid, including pipeline funds. "As long as US aid keeps flowing through 
the pipeline," they told a press conference, "there is no deterrent to the 
military Junta's repressive human rights policies."42 In a jointly prepared 
statement to the House International Relations Committee (HIRC), Harkin 
decried the absence of a "concrete message" from the administration that 
would "in any way act as a deterrent or moderating influence on the 
Junta." Moffett added that he became quite perturbed when senior 
Embassy officials "boasted proudly of the wonderful job that the new 
Chilean government had done on internal security" and lauded the Junta 
leaders as "our kind of people."43 These comments had little impact on 
House legislators who voted overwhelming against terminating all aid to 
Chile which automatically propelled the competing amendments to the 
Foreign Assistance Bill to a joint Conference Committee for a final 
decision. 

Over relentless administration objections, however, Congress did land 
a potential blow to the Pinochet regime when it voted in May to extend the 
1975 Harkin amendment authorizing tennination of aid to major human 
rights abusers unless it directly benefited those most in need to cover loan 
applications to the IADB and the African Development Fund (ADF). 
President Ford criticized this decision as "well intended but misguided 
[and] an awkward and ineffective device" for promoting internationally 
recognized human rights.44 

On May 7, despite relentless pressure from the "formidable 'Israeli 
lobby'" who opposed any holdup in the provision of military aid to 
Washington's most important political and strategic ally in the Middle 
East, President Ford vetoed the Foreign Assistance Bill citing the 
mandatory nature of 502B as his reason-and singled out for criticism the 
legislators' decision to tenninate "the modest program of military 
assistance to Chile." This justification did not impress the majority of 
legislators who "considered aid for Israel much more important than 
human rights in Chile."45 Eventually, the White House and Congress 
reached a compromise on the wording of the bill that allowed the President 
to provide assistance to abusive regimes if extraordinary circumstances 
pertained. The revised language of the bill also conditioned aid sanctions 
on a provision that required the President's signature, thereby giving the 
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Executive Branch increased control over aid flows. A now satisfied Ford 
signed the bill into law, including its "watered down version" of the 
Senate's 502B provision, at the end of June. 46 With the ink barely dry on 
the document, the State and Treasury Departments turned their attention to 
developing guidelines that would enable the administration to take the 
"greatest advantage possible" of the basic needs 100phole.47 This sleight of 
hand tactic would only fuel the growing militancy among those legislators 
critical of US aid to Third World governments deemed to be human rights 
abusers. 

The compromise bill also delayed the requirement that formal country 
reports be submitted until FY1978, although Congress did ask for 
"sample" reports on 13 designated countries. Kissinger turned that request 
down as well but in the House Donald Fraser then invoked a request for 
"statements" on six countries (including Chile)- with which State was 
forced to comply.48 James Wilson recalled that State Department officials 
were almost "unanimous" in requesting that Chile at least should be 
dumped as a recipient of military assistance or the 'White House risked so 
"infuriating Congress that they would enact even stricter legislation." 
Kissinger's response was to refer privately to his staff as "theologians" 
and "bleeding hearts. "49 

Kissinger's side-show in Santiago 

Kissinger's decision to attend the OAS gathering in Santiago exemplified 
his tendency to blunder or miscalculate when dealing with issues or areas 
of the world where his expertise was limited. "It does his ego good," a 
State Department official explained to the Miami Herald. "They kick him 
around in Europe, he's lost his magic in the Middle East and he's a 
political issue here at home. Latin America is one of the few places left 
where he still gets the kind of reception he likes."so The prevailing 
sentiment in State's Latin American bureau, of course, had been that going 
to Chile should be dependent on prior human rights concessions from 
Pinochet's regime.51 

In a cable to the Secretary soon-after he confirmed the visit would take 
place, Ambassador Popper described the regime's human rights progress 
over the previous twelve months as "generally disappointing."52 Perhaps 
conscious of Kissinger's tendency to dismiss such reports when they 
challenged his preferred course of action, ARA and the Office of the 
Coordinator of Humanitarian Affairs agreed that human rights should at 
least be on the agenda of any Kissinger-Pinochet meeting: it would 
counter likely Chilean efforts to otherwise draw a "more benign" picture 
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of the situation, and it would offset a Department concern that Kissinger 
would legitimize the military regime by his presence in Chile. 53 

As someone who probably had better personal relations with Pinochet 
than any of his colleagues,54 Embassy DCM Thomas Boyatt also worried 
about how Kissinger should handle a discussion with the Chilean head-of­
state and offered some timely advice: "Pinochet is shrewd and hardheaded, 
but finds it difficult to deal with contrasting viewpoints. He is so narrow­
minded and convinced of his righteousness that it takes sledgehammer 
blows to call his attention to some unpleasant facts of life. The meeting 
should be small . . .  and tbe message direct. [fwe speak platitudes, Pinochet 
will never understand what bothers us. "55 Boyatt recommended that the 
Secretary emphasize as strongly as possible that tbe failure to take 
"specific steps to improve human rights practices," would make it 
impossible for tbe US goverrunent to "justify the domestic cost of 
defending his regime against its critics at home and abroad. ,,56 On another 
issue, the Department and Embassy were in complete agreement: 
rescinding the ban on a UNHRC Working Group visit would undeniably 
improve Chile's global image.57 

On May 26, Rogers transmitted a memo to Kissinger outlining in detail 
what should be tbe objectives of his trip and the Department's view over 
how best to achieve them. While the administration had given no tbought 
to promoting a regime change, Roger's message was clear: 

Even our present level of relations is at hazard if [the regime] continues 
practices that offend sincere public opinion armmd the world. The most 
important US objectives in Chile, thus, are to improve hlUllan rights 
practices and to make it publicly clear that we do not approve of what is 
going on. A passive policy would not be an attractive option. Our critics 
would consider silence an acquiescence. At the same time, since we want 
real change, we have to leave the Junta a chance to reform without losing 
face. Aggressive confrontation . . .  would make it difficult for Pinochet to 
back dm.vn.58 

From Santiago, Popper concurred that any kind of drastic punitive 
measure such as withholding the delivery of promised F-SE aircraft (until 
October), could only bolster the autbority of regime "hardliners" who 
desired the government to pursue its 0\Vll agenda "whatever the cost. "59 

Rogers highlighted anotber issue that Kissinger needed to address. The 
Chilean regime must be disabused of the perception that congressional 
hostility was only confined to "an ineffective minority" and, that being the 
case, "cosmetic changes would get them by." The generals and their 
civilian cabinet ministers had to understand "the rudimentary facts of life": 
that only an improved human rights performance could halt efforts to 
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further limit US aid and avoid an unnecessary obstacle to international 
bank loans. The Secretary's primary task would be "to convince" tbe 
Chileans of this reality.60 

Reluctant to apply any significant pressure on the Junta, and convinced 
that he was being undermined by members of his own Department and 
elsewhere within the foreign policy bureaucracy, Kissinger did not wholly 
embrace the Rogers' advice. During their telephone conversation on the 
eve of the OAS conference, he literally accused his colleagues of wanting 
to see Pinochet toppled from power: "I am not on the same wave length 
with you guys on this business. I just am not eager to overthrow these 
guys . . . .  I think we are systematically undermining tbem."61 

For Pinochet, the OAS conference was an opportunity to showcase the 
new Chile. In the lead-up period, he ordered the release of more tban 300 
political prisoners, decreed medical checks for others still in detention, and 
issued safe passes out of tbe country to a number of leftists who had taken 
refuge in foreign embassies. If these limited, and calculated, gestures had 
any positive influence on international opinion, it was nullified almost 
immediately by tbe blanket findings of tbe latest IAHRC report on Chile 
(covering the period August 1974 to January 1976). Quantitative 
reductions in some categories of human rights abuses notwithstanding, the 
report accused the military regime of arbitrary imprisonments, 
persecutions and torture, and a general lack of cooperation in providing 
access and infOlmation to investigators. The continuing restrictions on 
political party activity, freedom of expression and assembly, and flaws in 
the legal system were just as "contrary to the full restoration of human 
rights."62 Even a US OAS delegation position paper conceded tbat Chile 
exhibited the basic features of "a classic police state. "63 None of this could 
have been welcome news to Kissinger as he prepared to leave for 
Santiago. At the very least, in his meeting with Pinochet, he would have to 
navigate his way around these charges. This he would do in a rather 
duplicitous-and eventually somewhat pointless-fashion. 

On June 4, Pinochet opened the regional gathering, denouncing 
"communist tyranny" as a threat to the Western Hemisphere and attacking 
"those who adopt peaceful coexistence [global detente 1 or neutralism in 
the face of it.,,64 This was not merely Pinochet striking a defensive posture. 
The previous August, tbe US and its NATO allies had signed the Helsinki 
Final Act with the Soviet Union, essentially recognizing Soviet territorial 
gains in Eastern Europe arising from the Second World War. To tbe 
Chilean military this was a serious abrogation of the US' moral 
responsibility to wage the Cold War. The wider significance of tbis 
viewpoint-particularly for US-Chilean relations-seemed entirely lost on 
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Kissinger and his staff, who at no time seemed alert to what Pinochet was 
implying, namely that the anti-communist forces in Latin America were on 
their 0\Vll in defending their treasured societal values. 

Before addressing the conference, Kissinger held his much anticipated 
meeting with Pinochet. Topping his list of priorities was a desire to allay 
any fears the dictator might harbor tbat Chile would be subjected to a 
major dressing do\Vll over the Junta's human rights record. Kissinger told 
his host that none of the critical remarks in his speech should be taken to 
heart, that they were nothing more than a sop to American domestic 
opponents of the regime and did not reflect his views or those of the Ford 
administration: "In my statement. . .  I will say that the human rights issue 
has impaired relations between the US and Chile [but] the speech is not 
aimed at Chile. I wanted to tell you about tbis. My evaluation is that you 
are a victim of all left-wing groups around the world, and tbat your 
greatest sin was that you overthrew a government which was going 
Communist. But we have a practical problem we have to take into 
account." It was this "practical problem" that stood in tbe way of deeper 
economic and military ties between the two nations. Pinochet had to 
understand that Congress "is in a mood of destructiveness," so much so 
that Kissinger's instructions to administration officials "to make an all-out 
effor!" to defeat the Kennedy amendment banning military transfers to 
Chile had no possibility of success in the absence of convincing evidence 
that the human rights situation was improving. "We must be able to point 
to events here in Chile or we will be defeated." Kissinger then suggested 
that tbe prisoner release program would have a greater "psychological 
impact" ifPinochet combined tbe releases instead of staggering tbem at 20 
a week.65 

But it did not take long for Pinochet to move the discussion to the one 
issue that preoccupied the Junta above all else: the Peruvian military 
buildup. Twelve months earlier, an NIB had provided a precise summary 
of tbe Junta's preoccupation with tbe tbreat of a Peruvian military attack. 
This was "its principal foreign problem" and influenced its efforts "to 
improve its international position and its bilateral relations" far more than 
any other factor. 66 

Despite this NIE and periodic Embassy cable traffic referring to 
Chilean anxiety about Peruvian intentions, on this issue Kissinger 
appeared to have been caught totally unawares. Under Pinochet's direct 
questioning, he sidestepped straightforward answers: 

Pinochet: How does the US see the problem between Chile and Peru? 
Kissinger: [after a pause] We would not like to see a conflict. Much 
depends on who begins it.. If Peru attacked, this would be a serious 
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matter for a cmmtry armed with Soviet equipment. It would be serious. 
Clearly we would oppose it diplomatically. But it all depends, beyond that. 
It is not easy to generate support for US military action these days . .  
Pinochet: Assume the worst, that is to say, that Chile is the aggressor. Peru 
defends itself and then attacks us. What happens? 
Kissinger: It's not that easy . .  
Pinochet: I am concerned very much by the Peruvian situation . . .  you have 
a plUlitive system for your friends. 
Kissinger: There is merit in what you say. It is a cmious time in the US.67 

'What this exchange revealed was that President Ford's senior foreign 
policy adviser had clearly misread Pinochet's priorities and was unprepared 
to address the dictator's foremost concern. Assurances regarding public 
criticism of the regime's human rights record, although welcome, paled in 
significance to Chile's desire for a US commitment to prevent a military 
attack by Peru or, failing that, to assist the country in the event of war with 
its neighbor. Kissinger's uncertain and decidedly non-committal 
response-that it would depend on the circumstances at the time in some 
vague sense-had an impact on the course of bilateral relations that could 
not be underestimated. In light of conclusions that Chilean military 
analysts had already drawn from their observations of the Pakistan-India 
wars of 1965 and 1971 and the Israeli-Arab wars of 1967 and 1973-that 
small countries could not depend on superpower allies to come to their aid 
in regional conflicts68-Kissinger's responses further persuaded Pinochet 
that the US was an unreliable ally that could not be trusted to provide 
support when it was most needed. 

All of this seemed to escape the Secretary of State who was reasonably 
upbeat over the reception accorded his speech to the closed session of the 
OAS where he repeated part of what he had told Pinochet-that human 
rights abuses had "impaired" the US relationship with Chile and would 
"continue to do so. "69 As expected, the US voted in favor of the 
conference resolution on Chile which authorized the IAHRC to continue 
monitoring and documenting abuses. Washington had now supported 
resolutions critical of Chile in the UNGA, the UNHRC, and the IAHRC. 
Although some scholars have argued that Kissinger' s message to the OAS 
carried weight,70 the reality was otherwise. The statement was essentially 
meaningless, completely undelTIlined by the Secretary's behind-the-scenes 
assurances to Pinochet regarding human rights. But, more importantly, 
what Pinochet had sought from Kissinger were guarantees over Peru-not 
suggestions about how he might assist the administration to do more to aid 
Chile generally. And, most importantly, his disappointment at Kissinger's 
response gave him even less reason to curry favor with Washington by 
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complying with 'White House or congressional strictures about human 
rights. 

Kissinger's subsequent extraordinary outburst over the comments 
made by tbe US representative on tbe IAHRC, Robert White, continued 
his generally aggressive-if by now more ineffective-defense of the 
Chilean regime. The Secretary had already returned to Washington by the 
time the IAHRC was ready to consider its latest report on Chile. Wben tbe 
Junta government rejected the report, 'White accused it of "refusing to see 
itself as others see it. ,,71 A furious Kissinger complained to Rogers that not 
only had tbe American diplomat made a "passionate defense" of tbe 
report, he then had the temerity to set about "humiliating" the Chileans. 
This, to Kissinger, was nothing short ofa "bloody outrage."72 

Congress and aid issues 

Less tban two months after the Santiago Embassy submitted its 1977-78 
CASP report, Ambassador David Popper offered his own analysis of 
Washington's decision to "perceptibly" change its approach to dealing 
with Chile's human rights problem. Since July 1975, Popper wrote, US 
policy had shifted from an emphasis on "quiet diplomatic suasion" to one 
based on a "more forceful series of policy decisions," including support 
for UN resolutions condemning human rights practices in Chile 
(November 1975, February 1976), an abstention vote on Chile hosting tbe 
June 1976 OAS General Assembly meeting, deleting Chile from tbe US 
military assistance program for FY1976 and FYI977, and a refusal to 
support Junta efforts to convene a 1976 Paris Club meeting.73 Nonetbeless, 
Popper considered these actions as less a principled objection to the 
Junta's systematic and sustained repression than to symptomatic factors­
above all, Pinochet's indefinite postponement of the UNHRC Working 
Group visit. 

Popper's interpretation, however, overstated the extent of the policy 
shift insofar as senior US officials continued to offer mixed signals in 
regard to human rights, downplayed the seriousness of abuses inside Chile 
and, where urging restraint or refOlTIl, did so with a view to appeasing 
critics of the Junta who the administration generally regarded witb disdain. 
Moreover, no effort was spared to support Chile in the IFIs, to encourage 
US private bank lending and new investments, and to disburse what 
economic aid Washington could provide. Finally, to circumvent any 
congressional ban on military aid, Ford officials continued to explore 
avenues for transferring certain kinds of weaponry to the Junta If it was 
possible to discern any shift in Chile policy it was primarily driven by a 
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desire to counter growing domestic and international opposition to 
Kissinger's efforts to blunt criticism of the Junta. Necessarily, those efforts 
now required that greater lip-service at least be paid to human rights in 
Chile. 

Doing so was never going to be easy as sentiment on Capitol Hill 
hardened in opposition to Executive Branch maneuvers designed to keep 
aid flowing to Chile. Writing to the President in mid-May 1976, NSC 
Adviser Brent Scowcroft summarized the status of the security assistance 
legislation as it related to Chile. The Kennedy amendment to the Senate 
bill imposed a comprehensive embargo on all military assistance and sales 
(including spare parts) after October 1976 witb the sole exception of sales 
in tbe pipeline waiting to be released. The State Department-supported 
House version, incorporating the Buchanan amendment, would pelTIlit 
FMS cash sales and a continuing flow of spare parts for US-origin 
equipment. While Scowcroft and his staffers also preferred the House 
version, they did not believe the Senate version in itself would be grounds 
for veto of an "otherwise acceptable bill. ,,74 

At the beginning of June, the House passed an amendment to the 
legislation autbored by tbe chair of tbe Subcommittee on International 
Organizations, Donald Fraser, placing a ceiling of $25 million on 
economic aid to Chile in FYI977 compared with the administration 
request for $68 million. \¥hat motivated this amendment was an analysis 
of the US economic aid program to Latin America that revealed the 
Pinochet regime had received "preferential treatment" during FY1975 and 
FY1976: the bulk of Public Law 480 Title 1 food aid loans to tbe region, 
tens of millions of dollars in housing loan guarantees, a debt rescheduling 
agreement, Eximbank loans and financial guarantees whose exposure in 
Chile now totaled $141 million, and favorable treatment from tbe 
international banks. Fraser accused the \¥hite House of consciously 
seeking "to evade the spirit if not the letter of the congressional aid 
ceilings on Chile." During testimony before his subcommittee, Deputy 
Assistant Secretary of State Hewson Ryan taxed Fraser's patience by 
repeatedly attempting to minimize the importance of bilateral ties. At one 
point Ryan's obfuscations provoked a cutting response from the chair: 

The Title 1,  Public Law 480 program will enable them to buy anns from 
us, aid from the Export-Import Bank, the housing guarantees, om votes on 
the World Bank and the Inter-American Development Bank for new loans. 
We are the principle defenders of Chile. We are their friend; they are our 
client. Why?75 
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An NSC staff aide, Les Janka, informed Scowcroft that if developments 
in the House were not bad enough, Kennedy intended to replicate Fraser's 
initiative by introducing a floor amendment incorporating a ceiling 
provision into the Senate bill. The administration would "strongly oppose" 
it while attempting to get the House amendment deleted in Conference, 
although "our prospects for achieving this result are not bright." 
Pinochet's reluctance to modify his repressive political rule only partly 
explained Janka's pessimism: the limited nature of the aid programs 
themselves meant that neither the domestic agricultural sector nor the anns 
industry had any good reason to actively lobby on Chile's behalf.76 

The White House eventually gained a small victory when the House­
Senate Conference Committee agreed to allow pipeline deliveries 
(amounting to $115 million in equipment already contracted and paid for) 
and military training activities currently in progress. But a more significant 
indicator of congressional sentiment-a decision to prohibit commercial 
and future alms spare parts sales---did not bode well for increases in Chile 
aid. The committee rejected administration efforts to allow private 
commercial sales because it wanted "the narrowest possible" interpretation 
placed on the relevant provision 77 At the Defense Department (DOD), the 
priority was to ensure the flow of additional spare parts and other items 
not in the pipeline that were critical to the optimal functioning of 
American-origin equipment about to be delivered to, or already in, Chile. 
It proposed negotiating a new agreement with the Chileans before the 
current legislation was enacted into law to provide up to $18 million worth 
of spare parts, air safety equipment and teclmical manuals. In State there 
were qualms about how this idea would be received on the Hill even 
though the Pentagon intended "to do this openly in full consultation with 
the Congress." State officials could not shake the feeling that this would 
generate considerable "flak" thereby undelTIlining the gains achieved over 
the past twelve months in "reestablishing trust" between the two branches 
of government. 78 

Commenting on the House-Senate Conference decision, Rogers let 
Kissinger know that the State Department, together with DOD and AID, 
had gone "all out on the legislation" and had achieved some important 
victories in efforts "to soften the provisions on Chile." Apart from getting 
language inserted in the bill to permit delivery of the weaponry paid for in 
the pipeline (defeating Kennedy's effort to prevent this transaction), they 
were able to exempt the non-concessional activities of the Eximbank, 
OPIC and the Department of Agriculture's Commodity Credit Corporation 
(CCC) from the ceiling on bilateral economic aid 79 Other senior colleagues 
assured Kissinger that the results of the Conference Committee decision 
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were "considerably better than we had anticipated," particularly in 
permitting the sale of F-5Es and other Chile materiel in the pipeline.80 
Unconvinced, tbe Secretary stubbornly clung to tbe belief tbat an 
American ally was being punished out of all proportion to its internal 
shortcomings. Re instructed tbe Santiago Embassy to deliver a letter to 
Foreign Minister Carvajal expressing his "disappoint[ment]" at tbe 
outcome, stressing that the US government had resolutely opposed 
measures to limit or telTIlinate economic and military aid, and conveying 
the hope that continuing efforts to repeal tbe legislation would ultimately 
succeed.81 

A few days later, Stephen Low reported to Scowcroft tbat Kissinger 
was apparently still making up his mind before approving one of three 
alternatives presented to him by his subordinates regarding a proposed $15 
million spare parts agreement with Chile. Concerned that the process was 
"moving very slowly," Low reconnnended that Scowcroft tell the 
Secretary time was running out and unless the Department of Defense 
received State's authorization to proceed "within the next day or so," there 
was almost no possibility of getting the parts package approved.82 After 
conferring with Scowcroft, Kissinger decided to give the "go ahead" to the 
Pentagon. Relations with Congress took a subsequent turn for the worse 
when Senators Rubert Rumphrey and Edward Kennedy accused the State 
Department of "rushing through" a new $9.2 million package of spare 
parts for the Chilean Air Force "in a last-ditch effort to beat a 
congressional ban on further weapons aid for Chile." Kennedy called it 
"outrageous [and] a clear total violation of tbe spirit" of the provision 
banning military aid.83 

In the course of his grilling of Rewson Ryan, Fraser had focused 
attention on tbe crucial role of the IFIs in putting their stamp of approval 
on the Junta's economic program with the strong support of the US 
government. This issue was subsequently addressed head on by the chair 
of the House Banking and Currency Committee, Hemy Reuss, who 
launched a powerful attack on tbe World Bank, the IADB and the US 
private banking community over their hard currency commitments to an 
economy in the midst of a severe recession and close to bankruptcy, a 
situation brought about in part by the regime's 0\Vll free market austerity 
policies.84 Reuss's specific target was a recent $125 million loan from 16 
American and Canadian banks signed in January 1976 which, he 
contended, violated the banks' 0\Vll letter of commitment, because it 
stipulated that any such loan was predicated on Chile negotiating an IMF 
standby agreement to guarantee effective international supervision of the 
country's economic policies. In a letter to the US Comptroller of tbe 
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Currency, Reuss warned that the loan carried "a substantial risk" for the 
participating banks given the "shambles" into which the Chilean economy 
had fallen and the refusal to provide relief by major European creditors 
holding the largest share of the post-1976 debt. Aware that the Fund and 
Santiago could not agree on the terms of a standby, thereby casting doubt 
on Chile's ability to pay back the loan without incurring another multi­
million debt, the bank syndicate nonetheless proceeded with the line of 
credit amid allegations that both the State and Treasury Departments had 
encouraged the consortium to do so despite the excessive risk. Under 
questioning by Reuss, the Comptroller lamely responded that he had no 
knowledge of these allegations.85 

During his visit to Santiago, Kissinger had held discussions with 
Foreign Minister Carvajal and Finance Minister Cauas to lay to rest any 
concerns they harbored about US support for a $21 million IADB loan to 
the Chilean private sector. Cauas had opened the meeting by telling an 
apparently unaware Secretary of State that twenty four hours earlier the 
IADB's Chilean Executive Director was told the US desired to postpone a 
scheduled vote on the loan for a week "so as to comply with informing 
Congress because of the Harkin Amendment." Although there was no 
criticism of the technical aspects of the loan, the Chileans had learnt that 
Treasury Secretary William Simon discussed the vote with congressional 
officials a second time. An incensed Kissinger assured the two Cabinet 
ministers that this was nothing more than "harassment" of an ally and he 
"would get this situation under control" on his return to Washington. "I 
will not have my statements on human rights here used to injure Chile." 
This was another case of individuals wanting to get into the "human rights 
business," he claimed. Shifting into full sarcastic mode, he declared that 
his "prime function this year is to take the blame. Let them say that Henry 
Kissinger with his well-known fondness for dictatorship has ordered this." 
William Rogers, who was at the meeting, responded that a week's delay 
"would set a fatal precedent" in both the IABD and the World Bank for 
upcoming loan submissions by the military regimes in Argentina and 
Brazil. Worse than that, Kissinger exploded, "it would ruin our foreign 
policy." And as far as the IADB loan was concerned "my position is for 
the loan and against consulting with Congress on it. ,,86 On the same day 
(June 10), back in Washington, State's HA Coordinator received an 
inquiry regarding a pending IADB loan to Chile from the Treasury 
Department to confirm its understanding that a favorable vote would 
require a detelTIlination as to whether or not a consistent pattern of 
widespread human rights abuses existed in Chile and, if so, whether the 
pending loan met the "basic human needs" (BRN) test. HA responded that 
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Chile clearly fitted the "consistent pattern" criteria and supported an 
analysis as to whether this loan project should be given the green light.87 

"Bureaucratically the loan was a big problem," recalled a State 
Department official. "This was a hot potato that nobody wanted to touch. 
We struggled with it down to literally the last minute."88 Be that as it may, 
the Treasury-chaired National Advisory Council (NAC)-responsible for 
coordinating US actions in the !FIs-maintained that under the Harkin 
Amendment responsibility for assessing a country's human rights 
perfOlmance rested with State. Initially, none of the economic agencies 
raised any objections to the Chile loan submission and routine preparations 
proceeded on the assumption of a favorable Board outcome. To avoid any 
congressional criticism, a Treasury lawyer advised Deputy Assistant 
Treasury Secretary John Bushnell to notify State before giving NAC 
approval, even though the State was represented at the NAC meetings that 
reviewed the loan. On so doing, he discovered that the issue had already 
been referred to Kissinger for a decision. Bushnell made it clear that he 
would follow standard operating procedure in these cases: in the absence 
of objections from State the loan would go ahead. Kissinger eventually 
bowed to the advice from his Legal Adviser that the Harkin Amendment 
meant the US Executive Director could not legally support the loan. 

The day before the IADB Board vote, Bushnell was notified of the 
decision to oppose the loan unaccompanied by any reason for doing so. To 
say the least, he was perplexed at this outcome: "We seldom vote 'No' on 
a loan, and we always explain why." Unable to arrange a last minute NAC 
committee meeting to consider the matter, he demanded a memo from 
State explicitly directing the US Executive Director John Porges to cast a 
negative vote. The memo arrived on the morning of the Board meeting 
only to confront one last hurdle. Porges declared he would not vote as 
instructed because he personally opposed the Harkin amendment and, in 
any event, accused State of misinterpreting its meaning. This response cut 
no ice with the Bushnell: "You don't have any choice. It's the law of the 
land and the NAC procedures have been followed."" 

At an early July meeting of the IADB Executive Directors, the US 
grudgingly opposed the loan but refused to charge the regime with 
engaging in a consistent pattern of gross violations as required by the 
Harkin amendment. Congressional staffers monitoring the debate ascribed 
this precedent-setting vote to a calculation that, even without American 
support, there were enough votes on the Board to ensure the loan passed. 
If this was a true reading of the administration's view, it likely accounted 
for the absence of any US lobbying in support of a "No" vote.90 
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Kissinger's singular detennination not to "injure" the Junta fueled his 
anxiety over the latest proposed congressional restrictions on anns 
transfers. During a telephone conversation with Senators Hubert 
Humpbrey and Jacob Javits (R-NY), the Secretary insisted that the 
Chileans "are moving in the right direction now and [we] don't want to 
kick them in the teeth." Humpbrey replied that Capitol Hill was bending 
over backwards in an effort to meet his requests. The House compromise 
amendment (cash sales but no aid) should be welcomed by the White 
House, Humphrey said. His tone then shifted, verging on uncharacteristic 
anger: "You have the Import-Export Bank, you have PL-480. You have 
economic assistance if they make progress which you and the President 
certify. You have danm near everything you asked for."91 The White 
House did indeed have much of what it asked for-except the required 
progress on human rights from the Chilean side. 

The Junta clearly had other priorities. In the months following the OAS 
conference, the perceived Peruvian military threat dominated Junta 
thinking but was no closer to convincing Kissinger or Scowcroft of the 
need to give any undertakings of support if there was an outbreak of 
hostilities-reinforcing the belief in Santiago that the US could not be 
depended upon in a crisis. During his meeting with Scowcroft in mid-July, 
Admiral Merino again highlighted the Peruvian military threat "with 
Soviet and Cuban support," and complained that Chile was even being 
forced to purchase naval spare parts from non-US sources at greater cost 
while Peruvian and Argentine fleets continued to have access to 
American-built spares. Scowcroft was singularly unresponsive to Merino's 
pleading. "We have done the best we could for Chile," he told his visitor, 
"and in fact had come out better than we had expected earlier in the year 
would be possible. We were able to get the pipeline approved."" 

As for Kissinger, he was never particularly alanned about any Peruvian 
threat to Chile per se-especially after General Francisco Morales­
BermUdez became President in August 1975 and signaled Peru's shift to a 
more conservative, pro-Western foreign policy. During his June 8 
conversation with Pinochet, Kissinger had expressed mild concern over 
the regional implications of Peru's expanded military ties with the Soviet 
Union.93 Otherwise, while conceding there was a "distinct possibility" 
Peru's acquisition of Soviet military aircraft and missiles could only have 
a destabilizing impact on countries in the Southern Cone, he continued to 
dismiss the likelihood of "a deliberate armed attack" on Chile in the near 
future. Given the "almost nonexistent" possibilities of restoring the 
balance of military power by persuading Congress to increase US aid to 
Chile, Kissinger advised the White House that the application of economic 
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pressures on Peru offered the best prospects of defusing the inevitable rise 
in tensions as the anniversary of the start of the War of the Pacific (1879-
84) approached. The Mora1es-Bermudez government had inherited an 
economy in "desperate financial" shape due primarily to major foreign 
exchange shortages and a rising foreign debt, and was currently 
negotiating with a number of American and other foreign commercial 
banks for a $400 million loan package to meet its external payments for 
the rest of 1976. "We intend to use [this] leverage," Kissinger told the 
President, "to try to persuade the Peruvian Government that a continued 
buildup threatens its credit worthiness and jeopardizes it developmental 
objectives. "94 

At the end of 1975, the prospect of Peruvian military action had not 
rescinded in the eyes of the Chilean military. Nevertheless, the Junta 
announced that it would begin negotiations with Bolivia to restore to that 
landlocked nation a corridor to the sea via Peruvian territory lost to Chile 
during the nineteenth century conflict. Lima had always insisted "that it 
has a treaty right to veto any change of sovereignty in the territory it lost to 
Chile," Kissinger informed the 'White House. Recent reports, however, 
indicate that Chile "may nevertheless unilaterally cede the corridor to the 
Bolivians" which would undoubtedly anger the Peruvians "and could 
provide the flashpoint for hostilities." An attempt to deter "unilateral 
action" by the Chileans, Kissinger suggested, may well explain the 
Peruvian build Up.95 

The interrelated issues of Chile-Peru tensions, US military aid policy 
toward both nations, and Soviet anns sales to Lima dominated a State 
Department meeting chaired by Kissinger in early September. A decision 
was required before the end of the month on whether to proceed with a 
$20 million FMS purchase of A-4 Skyhawk jets to Peru that had been 
under consideration for the past twelve months. Describing the Chileans as 
"in a state of near panic about this whole business," Rogers proposed that 
the administration adopt a "get tough" approach and cancel the deal. 
Kissinger seemed not averse to that outcome, describing the FMS 
weaponry as "beyond the usual parade-ground stuff' and part of a 
Peruvian military buildup that, contradicting his earlier statement, is 
"bound" to lead to war in the Western Hemisphere because Lima is 
determined "to build up tension [and] take back the part [of their territory] 
they lost [during the War in the Pacific]." Turning to the Lima-Moscow 
military relationship, Under Secretary of State Carl Maw observed that the 
terms on offer were so "attractive" that the Peruvian Air Force "feels they 
can't afford to turn it down." But it was the offensive nature of the 
weapons that was most disturbing. Harry Shlaudeman suggested that the 
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previous US refusal to sell Peru F-5s was "a critical mistake" because they 
were now buying more advanced aircraft from alternative sources. There 
was no consensus over how to proceed. For his part, Maw was reluctant to 
cancel the $20 million FMS, arguing that the new government in Lima 
desired to establish "more friendly" ties with the White House and this 
was an opportune time "to try to win them back." The Secretary responded 
with customary bluntness: "buying the planes is not an act of friendliness 
because they can't get them anyplace else." He then reminded the meeting 
that "the strategic problem with Chile" was still umesolved and suggested 
a possible solution might be to satisfy Peru's requests for A-4s under the 
FMS and to submit an arms package request for Chile to the Congress. 
Unable to restrain himself, the Secretary then launched into a tirade over 
Soviet military exports to the region in general: "If we don't oppose the 
purchase of the Soviet anns, they're going to have anns all over the 
goddam place and they're going to turn Latin America into as much of a 
tension place as they can get away with." Major Soviet arms purchases by 
Latin governments must be avoided "and if we have to use muscle to do it, 
we ought to do it because we're going to pay for it dO\vn the road."96 

For the rest of 1976, Washington maintained a cautious, low-level 
concern about Peruvian military objectives. Despite increased tensions 
between Peru and Chile, both governments were still on speaking telTIlS 
and the prevailing view in the Secretary's office was that fears of a war 
were exaggerated. To embark on military action would not only contradict 
Morales-BelTIludez's plans to improve ties with his Andean neighbors but 
also exacerbate Peru's now severe domestic political and economic 
problems. "On the other hand, crazies exist in the Peruvian military," the 
Secretary's office reported.97 At the end of December, the State requested 
NSC comments on a proposal to infolTIl Congress that the administration 
intended to sell 140 armoured personnel carriers (APCs) to Peru valued at 
almost $16 million. Given the volatile nature of Peru's relations with both 
Ecuador and Chile, Council staffers questioned the timing of the sale. 
They suggested that because it would transmit "a particularly unfortunate 
signal to all parties in the region" any decision should be postponed for 90 
days by which time "the situation should have clarified sufficiently . . .  to 
allow a final decision on whether the APC sale proposal should be 
approved. "98 

Assassination in Washington 

In July, 1976, a UN diplomat Carmelo Soria disappeared in Santiago and 
was found murdered-an act subsequently attributed to DINA as part of 
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its "Operation Condor" activities.99 A report to Kissinger on "Operation 
Condor" prepared by Shlaudeman three weeks later explored in considerable 
detail the joint efforts by the Southern Cone military dictatorships to 
coordinate intelligence operations and wage war against "subversives" and 
terrorist exponents of "International Marxism" who threatened "Christian 
civilization" at home and abroad. linbued with a "siege mentality shading 
into paranoia," Shlaudeman wrote, these regimes and their security forces 
were also targeting "non-violent dissent from the left and center left." Of 
the three dictatorships Chile's was the most dramatic example. Pinochet 
had "smashed the left almost as thoroughly as the Brazilians," but the 
Chilean Junta's repressive apparatus was "much more unrestrained" 
compared to Brazil whose President, General Emesto Geisel, "even seems 
to wish to moderate human rights abuses." 

What most worried Shlaudeman were the potentially "disturbing" 
regional and global implications of a resort to "bloody counter-terrorism" 
by these dictatorial regimes. In the Western Hemisphere it threatened to 
create "deep ideological divisions;" if "Operation Condor" started operating 
in European capitals, its targets might respond in a way that would turn the 
industrial democracies into a "battlefield." Unless Washington took some 
action, its reputation around the world might suffer because "internationally, 
the Latin generals look like our guys. We are especially identified with 
Chile [which] cannot do us any good."'oo 

Despite an absence of real urgency, once Kissinger became aware of 
"Operation Condor" expansion plans he instructed US ambassadors in 
Chile, Argentina and Uruguay to approach "the highest appropriate 
official, preferably the chief of state" and issue a demarche stating that 
while the US considered the exchange of intelligence information and the 
coordination of activities in tracking dO\vn subversives "useful," it drew 
the line at counter-terrorist actions that extended to targeted assassinations­
whether of subversives, politicians or other high-profile figures-which 
could only bring further international opprobrium on these Latin allies.101 
As the implications of Shlaudeman's report were being debated in State, 
evidence surfaced of a possible "Operation Condor" mission to the United 
States in the form of an August 5 cable from the US Ambassador to 
Paraguay, George Landau, detailing efforts by two Chilean secret police to 
travel to Washington, via Asunci6n, on false passports.102 

From Santiago, David Popper rejected the idea of approaching 
Pinochet directly regarding "Operation Condor" on the grounds that his 
well-established "sensitivity regarding pressures by the USG" might lead 
him to "take as an insult any inference that he was connected with such 
assassination plots. ,,103 Instead, Popper endorsed the idea of sending the 



A Cooler Embrace 1 3 1  

head of the CIA Station in Santiago to discuss the matter with his DINA 
counterpart, Manuel Contreras. Shlaudeman agreed that there was no 
question of "making a representation to Pinochet as it would be futile to do 
SO."I04 Whether this proposed CIA-DINA meeting took place is unclear. 
For the next several weeks, there were no new initiatives by either 
government. Then, on September 20, at Shlaudeman's directive, US 
ambassadors in the Southern Cone countries were instructed "to take no 
further action [because] there have been no reports in some weeks 
indicating an intention to activate the Condor scheme. ,,105 In less than 
twenty four hours the error in this advice became apparent in the most 
public and violent fashion: one of the most high profile international 
critics of the Pinochet regime, fonner Allende Foreign Minister, Orlando 
Letelier, and his American colleague Ronni Moffitt, were killed by a 
remote-controlled car-bomb in dO\vntO\vn Washington, D.C., not far from 
the 'White House. The impact of this terrorist act on bilateral ties, and 
especially on Kissinger's "practical problem" in getting maximum 
flexibility to assist Chile could not be exaggerated. In the words of one 
State Department official involved with Chile policy, "it made everything 
utterly sour. ,,106 

Kissinger's endgame 

In the aftermath of the LetelieriMoffitt murders, State's Chile Desk 
Officer Robert Driscoll described bilateral ties as "poisonous," observed 
that Washington's linkage strategy-improved relations and increased aid 
in return for declining levels of state-authored violence-"does not appear 
to have brought real results," and was convinced that the arms cutoff had 
made the Chileans "even less disposed than previously to listen to 
American 'moralizing. ",107 Even so, Kissinger and other senior 
Department officials met with a Chilean delegation in early October 
headed by Foreign Minister Carvajal for a wide-ranging discussion on 
human rights, US policy, and how to deal with another likely UNGA 
condemnation of Chile. The ensuing conversation revealed the depth of 
frustration Kissinger shared with his visitors over the forces arrayed 
against them. He understood perfectly Santiago's need to purchase 
military hardware for cash on an ongoing basis, castigated recent 
congressional decisions, and promised that if President Ford was re­
elected in November "we will attempt to undo [them]." He gave fair 
warning, however, that if the Democratic Party candidate Iimmy Carter 
was victorious, "there is no possibility" of any change. 'When Carvajal 
repeated an earlier suggestion by Finance Minister Jorge Cauas that Chile 
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might be better off to refuse the current limited amount of US economic 
aid because of the negative publicity it created both at home and abroad, 
Kissinger responded with a mixture of anger and sympathy: "The whole 
thing is a goddam disgrace. You may be right."!08 

At this point, Chile's UN Ambassador Ismael Huerta brought the 
discussion around to a resolution currently before the UN's Third 
Committee proposing economic sanctions against Chile. Kissinger was 
indignant at Chile being singled out: "It's totally inappropriate . . . .  I can tell 
you 30 states with human rights problems worse than Chile's. We will 
oppose it."!09 In a cable to the Santiago Embassy the day after the UN 
panel charged Pinochet's regime with "systematically extending its 
suppression of human rights," the Secretary emphatically declared that the 
US would not support any proposal in the UNGA "calling for mandatory 
economic sanctions. "110 The most it was willing to do was abstain on the 
UNGA vote condenming the Junta government's human rights abuses 
which passed for the third consecutive year. 

The perennial question of how to overcome Chile's negative global 
image was taken up with Ambassador Popper when Carvajal returned to 
Santiago. Popper's message was simple: if the regime was serious about 
avoiding further isolation, and reversing its pariah status, it could "with no 
appreciable risk begin an evolutionary process of restoring individual 
rights." The response was a "vigorous 'No.'" Carvajal's "hard-rock 
resistance" to any gradual easing of restrictions reflected the basic outlook 
of Pinochet, his right-wing civilian advisers and the hardline generals in 
the anned forces: that to do so would only provide new opportunities for 
the spread of communist influenceYl As well, by now Pinochet and his 
supporters were convinced that the US Congress had little appreciation of 
the realities of the Chilean situation-or Latin American issues 
generally-and was unlikely to be swayed from an essentially paternalistic 
attitude toward the region. On October 20, the govenament formally 
notified Washington that it would no longer accept any US economic 
assistance-a decision that surprised few given the poor state of bilateral 
relations.112 

But, for the moment, the President and his Secretary of State were 
focused on a far more pressing domestic concern: Gerald Ford's 1976 re­
election campaign. The 'White House incumbent confronted a formidable 
challenge in the person of the Democrat candidate Jimmy Carter who 
Kissinger described as "a vicious, mean little man-the worst one ever to 
stand for the President." In discussing the upcoming debates, he warned 
Ford that Carter would "take on Chile again [and] ifhe doesn't I would" 
and link it to the importance of being able to provide military assistance to 
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Third World allies. During a recent speech at Harvard Uinversity "I said if 
we can't be the policeman of the world and can't sell anns, how do we 
defend the free world?,,113 The implication of these comments was 
unmistakable: If Carter won the Wbite House, Kissinger believed US 
global interests would no longer be advanced or defended. 

Much to the outgoing Secretary of State's dismay, however, Carter 
won a narrow election victory. Writing to the Foreign Office, a British 
Embassy official characterized the Chilean government reaction as 
"somewhat despondent." Apart from a general nervousness about the new 
president's foreign policy outlook, what particularly worried the Junta was 
that the contacts developed with the Ford administration (reflected in the 
Simon and Kissinger visits) would "lose their value" although "in practical 
terms . . . .  it is by no means clear what more the new Administration could 
do to demonstrate disapproval of the Junta." The termination of US 
military aid, the congressional embargo on weapons sales, and Pinochet's 
decision to refuse future US economic aid, had reduced bilateral ties to a 
point where they "were already devoid of major content.,,114 

With the Ford presidency entering its final days, a vote on two World 
Bank development loans totaling $60 million scheduled for mid-December 
triggered one last confrontation between Congress and the administration. 
Henry Reuss and eight House Democratic colleagues wrote to Treasury 
Secretary William Simon that despite the absence of any legal prohibition 
on US approval of World Bank loans to Chile, "it is the clear intent of 
Congress that we not support such repressive regimes through any 
economic assistance channel. ,,115 Staff aides to Senators Kennedy and 
Lawton Chiles [D-Fl], and the House's Donald Fraser, contacted Treasury 
officials to indicate that favorable votes, especially during a recess period, 
would be widely resented on Capitol Hill. In response, Assistant Treasury 
Secretary Gerald Parsky merely restated the traditional Department view 
that World Bank loans "should not be decided for political reasons, but on 
economic merit alone. "116 

In a memo to the Acting Secretary of State, Philip Habib, Harry 
Shlaudeman and the Economic and Business Bureau's Julius Katz 
advocated a "Yes" vote on the grounds that both loans qualified under the 
Harkin Amendment's BHN exemption loophole, and that supporting them 
"should encourage the Chilean Government to continue to move in the 
right direction on human rights." Postponing the vote would only delay the 
decision momentarily and be perceived as vacillating on the US 
commitment to oppose "injecting political factors" into Bank decision­
making. That said, Shlaudeman and Katz acknowledged that a favorable 
vote could increase congressional demands for new restrictions on aid 
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recipients with poor human rights records.u 7 At the request of the 
Scandinavian member nations for more time to analyze the loan 
documents, the Bank's Board of Directors decided to temporarily delay the 
vote. After a short interregnum, both loans were approved by substantial 
margins. They were economically "sound," said US Executive Director 
Hal Reynolds, and that was all that mattered.!18 

Pondering bilateral relations over the previous twelve months, 
Ambassador Popper characterized them as "difficult, formal, and largely 
static." He painted the picture of a Junta with a firm and unchallenged grip 
on political power, governing a country in which political activities were 
banned and individual rights "sharply curtailed." At the top of the political 
pyramid sat Pinochet who "shows no inclination to relinquish [personal] 
power." \¥bile the repression may have diminished in intensity, DINA 
continued to operate with relative impunity, leftist and trade union 
opponents of the government regularly disappeared, and the population 
lived under the emergency provisions of a state of siege, "which in effect 
suspends due process of law for real or imagined dissidents."119 

Nevertheless, as Ford prepared to leave office support for the regime 
on State's Seventh Floor remained as strong as ever. Rudy Fimbres 
recalled a Department still on tenterhooks about Chile policy in case some 
opinion was expressed that might displease Kissinger: "Everybody was on 
guard. Everybody was very reserved on what they said. There wasn't the 
normal communication about Chile you would have had under more 
nOlmal circumstances without Kissinger there.,,120 From the Secretary's 
office, there were no concessions to the expressed mood of the incoming 
Carter 'White House, none to the US Congress, and no sign that emerging 
suspicions of the Chilean Junta's complicity in the LetelierIMoffitt 
murders had substantially shaken his confidence that US interests were 
best served by a continued embrace of the authoritarian regime. By now, 
though, such uncritical support was largely confmed to Kissinger and a 
few of his closest acolytes. In Santiago, if there was "apprehension at what 
might come" in American policy after January 20, 1977,121 it was unlikely 
that Pinochet himself any longer expected much at all from his so-called 
friends or was losing any sleep about what Carter's election might portend 
for future relations with the United States, much less what impact it might 
have on the situation inside Chile. 



CHAPTER S 

CONTINUITY AND CHANGE IN CHILE POLICY 

"Human rights is now at the high-stakes table. In the past, it was too often 
at the penny ante tahle. " 

Mark Schneider, DeputyAssistant Secretary a/State, April 21, 1977 

Throughout his run for the White House, Jimmy Carter appeared to single 
out Chile for special attention in his critique of US foreign policy during 
the Nixon-Ford era. In the second campaign debate, he repeated his charge 
that US policy toward Chile during the fIrst half of the 1970s-its role in 
the "destruction" of a democratic government and "strong support" of a 
military dictatorship-had failed to reflect American values.1 \¥bile these 
comments were essentially directed at past policy, they raised expectations 
of a major change in Washington's relations with the Pinochet regime. 
Ironically, the absence of any overriding strategic or economic threat to 
US interests meant that Chile posed a fairly low risk target of Carter's 
commitment to human rights. "They were not going to give Lebanon or 
Pakistan to the human rights lobby," explained the State Department's 
Robert Blake, "but they could give them something that was very high on 
their priority list-which was Chile-where there was no comparable 
priority in terms of US interests. So Chile was something where they could 
side largely with the human rights community, where they couldn't for 
other reasons in the vast majority of cases.,,2 On Capitol Hill, expectations 
of a shift in Chile policy among those legislators concerned with reviving 
America's damaged international reputation following the Nixon­
Kissinger era were high 3 The Santiago Embassy's DCM, Thomas Boyatt, 
recalled that after January 21, 1977 "we were getting more pressure from 
the Congress now that they had an Executive to work with."4 

The domestic human rights community most active in the political 
struggle over relations with Chile hailed Carter's election victory as a 
watershed event. To the US Conference of Catholic Bishops Latin 
American adviser Thomas Quigley, it was as though "a new day had 
dawned.'" The Director of the Washington OffIce on Latin America 
(WO LA), Joseph Eldridge, was just as elated. The presidential transition, 
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he said, had ushered in "a completely different ball game . . .  particularly 
with regard to Chile.,,6 Chilean opposition leaders, likewise, embraced 
Carter's promised approach on human rights as a welcome change from 
the policies of Nixon and Ford. The Socialist Party's Enrique COITea 
lauded Carter for providing opportunities for anti-regime forces to engage 
with Washington in ways that were not possible under his predecessors: 
"Carter not only represented a political or diplomatic change but a real 
surgical break to an almost romantic relationship between the US and the 
Pinochet government and the intelligence services of both countries."7 
Other prominent Socialist Party officials were similarly impressed by what 
Ricardo Nunez called "significant changes" in US policy toward Chile and 
the region as a whole. To Heraldo MUiioz, Carter's willingness to criticize 
America's failure to support democracy and human rights in the past, and 
to raise Chile in this context, was a "tremendous signal" about what lay 
ahead 8 By contrast, in both the US and Chile, members and supporters of 
the ruling Junta regarded Washington's new-found attention to human 
rights as outdated, exaggerated, or simply unfair. US Ambassador David 
Popper described the Junta's "burning resentment" over the failure of the 
international community to react positively to the country's human rights 
improvements.9 

At the outset of his presidency, the election rhetoric notwithstanding, 
problems in US-Chilean relations ranked far from the top of Carter's list of 
hemisphere concerns. It "was really pretty low on the priority list," 
observed NSC official David Aaron. "We weren't going to try to 
overthrow Pinochet. As far as the Carter 'White House was concerned, it 
would be a policy of diplomatic unfriendliness and just let them stew in 
their own juice."lO Robert Blake attributed Chile's relative lack of 
importance to a mix of ideological and material factors: "after the coup, 
the country was not going to go communist and US economic interests 
weren't threatened."ll Even then, Carter officials with a specific interest in 
Chile had a limited notion of what the administration might achieve and 
certainly downplayed any White House commitment to promoting 
political change in Chile. "The focus was on human rights abuses," said 
Aaron. "There was only a strategy of hammering the regime over human 
rights. There were no plans of how you get to democracy. ,,12 A senior 
State Department Latin American specialist agreed: "The focus was on the 
right to life kind of human rights-the right against torture and so on. 
There was not much focus on political rights."13 Carter's request for a 
Presidential Review Memorandum (PRM) on Chile early in his 
administration was accompanied by a directive that in considering "policy 
options . . . .  none can take precedence over our human rights concerns. n14 
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While that appeared to be a clear, if limited, change in approach the 
practice would prove less decisive. 

Chile: Opportunities and constraints 

A diplomat in the British Embassy in Santiago described the Junta as 
"somewhat despondent" about the election of Jimmy Carter, "clearly 
apprehensive" regarding his views on human rights, and "worried" that the 
myriad ties cultivated with previous administrations "will now lose their 
value." How far this assessment was true of General Augusto Pinochet 
himself, as distinct from those around him, is debatable. Like his US 
counterparts, this British official judged that such a high level of anxiety 
was, for all practical purposes, unnecessary given that the bilateral 
relationship was "devoid of major content" prior to Carter's victory and 
what more the new President could do to demonstrate disapproval of 
Pinochet and his colleagues was far from clear .15 

Within a month of Carter's victory, however, Pinochet approved the 
release of more than 300 political prisoners and the closure of two 
notorious detention centers. This was interpreted by some as a good-will 
gesture toward the new 'White House and by others as a decision taken for 
purely internal reasons (to demonstrate the Junta's confidence in its 
unchallenged authority). Irrespective of any change in strategy or tactics, 
hundreds of political prisoners still languished in Chilean prisons. Indeed, 
soon-after the November election, the US Embassy's DCM had cabled 
Washington that "the security forces are displaying greater sophistication 
in circumventing legal safeguards [and] more discreet arrests and effective 
isolation of those destined to continue 'missing' contrast with earlier, 
sloppier procedures. ,,16 The prisoner release decision was further 
compromised by a new crackdO\vn on the Communist Party, including the 
arrest of 13 of its leaders. 

US Embassy cables were guarded and not particularly encouraging as 
to what Pinochet's actions signified. "'While the repression may be said to 
be more moderate," wrote Ambassador Popper, "the Junta has not 
fundamentally altered its system of control."17 Citing the release of 
political prisoners and fewer reports of disappearances and torture as 
evidence that human rights practices had "improved appreciably during 
1976," the Embassy's Thomas Boyatt added that this had not been 
accompanied by any easing of the Junta's "authoritarian grip" on political 
power.18 There was nothing in these reports to indicate Pinochet was 
sufficiently concerned by Carter's election to substantially moderate his 
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behavior in order to pursue better relations with the new US 
administration-and certainly not on Washington's telTIlS. 

In a detailed "overview" of Junta rule in Chile prepared for the 
incoming Secretary of State Cyrus Vance, however, Popper was in no 
doubt that the Carter focus on human rights had created a "a very serious 
problem" not only for Pinochet but also, paradoxically, for the US' ability 
to reverse the country's international pariah status. The emphasis on 
repression would hamper foreign investment, leave Chile vulnerable to 
economic sanctions, and limit its efforts to acquire advanced military 
weaponry that could better enable the armed forces to respond to 
"Peruvian preparations for a revanchist border war." Certainly an 
improved human rights performance could facilitate an upgrading of 
bilateral security ties, ensure support for Chile in international forums, 
encourage new American investments in the minerals sector, maintain the 
country's support for responsible copper and other global commodity 
agreements, and "through a more cooperative relationship, avoid 
replacement of the present regime by one still less desirable. "19 But the 
current situation of tightened restrictions on economic aid, and 
congressional termination of military assistance and sales, meant that 
encouraging the Junta to modify its behavior would be no easy task. 

State did not have to be reminded of this reality. In preparation for 
Secretary Vance's meeting with Chile's Ambassador-designate to the US 
Jorge Cauas, ARA's William Luers forwarded a "Talking Points" memo 
to Vance noting that the Cauas appointment "coincides with a low point" 
in bilateral relations for which Santiago must take the blame. "We have 
explained again and again to the GOC [Government of Chile] the realities 
of the situation [that] although we support the foes of communism, it is 
difficult for us to defend any government which uses repression as an 
instrument of policy." In the absence of a "significant improvement" in 
human rights the possibilities for renewed military aid were bleak.20 So 
concerned was Luers about the Junta's stance that he suggested Vance 
invite Chile's Foreign Minister, Patricio Carvajal, at the time visiting 
Europe, to stop by the Department on his way back to Santiago to let the 
Chileans know early on in the new Administration that it was serious 
about human rights. "Coming from you the Chileans would not be able to 
blame 'middle and lower level officials' for meddling in internal affairs." 
External pressures were responsible for the gains that had occurred during 
the past year, Luers argued, but such pressure "must be direct and it must 
be clearly stated. Subtlety is lost on the Chilean military mind." Chile's 
global pariah status, he continued, remained unchanged precisely because 
what its government called improvements were "more cosmetic than 
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substantive" and did not involve any weakening of the state's repressive 
institutions.21 

Aside from the constraints imposed by Congress, there were other 
obstacles confounding Chile policymakers. "First of all," said the NSC's 
Robert Pastor, "we didn't really know a lot about what was going on in 
Chile within the military."" The beleaguered status and reputation of the 
CIA at the time partly explained this failure. The Agency was reeling from 
the Church Committee investigations into illegal domestic intelligence 
gathering activities and revelations about its involvement in attempts to 
assassinate foreign heads-of-state.23 In 1976, President Ford and the 
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence had established an independent 
Oversight Board to monitor the Agency much more closely than had been 
the case in the past. Once in the White House, Carter quickly signaled his 
intention to keep the CIA on a tight leash by ordering a thorough review of 
all its activities.24 'Whatever the result of more effective oversight and/or 
the depletion of its "assets" inside Chile might have been, CIA influence 
over Chile policy had ebbed significantly. The NSC's David Aaron, 
among others, was surprised to discover that American intelligence on 
Chile "was not very good" at all." 

The paucity of intelligence information was also affected by legislative 
restrictions on aid imposed during the Ford administration which 
inevitably weakened ties between the Pentagon and Chile's military 
leadership, as well as by the Junta's extraordinary capacity for keeping its 
affairs under extremely tight wraps. What was known about the military's 
thinking was more often provided to Embassy officials by civilians close 
to the regime. To that extent, it was often too general to be of much use in 
directing policy. "Abstractly," the influential Pinochet adviser and 
gremiaiista leader Jaime Gu=an told Ambassador Popper in early 1977, 
the majority of the armed forces leadership favored a move toward 
democracy at some future, unspecified date, yet constantly "shrank back" 
whenever an "immediate decision" was required. To Guzman, this 
indicated that any relaxation of political constraints "would be a slow 
business. ,,26 This kind of intelligence was of limited value to Washington. 

Clearly, having eliminated or intimidated into submission virtually all 
serious opposition, the military were under few internal pressures to speed 
up progress in the area of human rights (or a return to democratic politics). 
Appreciating this much at least, the possibility of any serious left wing 
political revival was dismissed out of hand by Carter officials in State and 
the NSC. The prevailing assumption was that the left was pretty much 
decimated and that "they were never going to come back."27 US officials 
were aware that among substantial numbers of middle and upper class 
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Chileans, Pinochet remained personally popular for having removed 
Allende from office and, in their eyes, rescuing the country from "chaos" 
and a possible civil war. While the Chilean economy remained in the grip 
of recession, the appointment of Sergio de Castro as Finance Minister at 
the end of 1976 heralded the beginning of a sustained period ofneo-liberal 
refOlTIlS presided over by neoliberals in the Milton Friedman school of 
thought. Economic restructuring and privatization hit working class 
Chileans hard in the form of massive cuts in government spending and job 
losses but inflation was brought under control and growth rates would 
climb over the next five year period.28 These achievements ensured that 
Chile was progressively less vulnerable to outside economic pressure; as 
well, they bolstered the regime's confidence in its 0\Vll management 
abilities and reinforced support for Pinochet in the eyes of many of his 
supporters. 

The consolidation of Pinochet's position limited what influence 
Washington could exercise over the regime. The bureaucratic debate over 
how forcefully to interpret and implement the human rights policy was 
another limiting factor. In contrast to Argentina or Uruguay, the most 
egregious human rights abuses in Chile had been perpetrated by the 
regime prior to Carter's election in November 1976. As a result, it was 
already tainted in the eyes of an influential segment of the US Congress, 
American public opinion and even some Carter officials, for past offenses 
rather than its more recent behavior. This added fuel to arguments over 
what constituted "progress" in measuring Chile's human rights perfonnance. 
"The timing of the [human rights] policy was wrong," said one senior 
State Department official, "because we were doing all these things when in 
fact, the Chilean military had stopped torturing people and so forth, and 
except for responding to violence against [armed forces personnel] they 
were not doing very much of anything." Other US diplomats contested this 
interpretation, advocating instead a policy that effectively sought 
punishment for the most brutal years of military rule-thus sending a 
strong signal to potential abusers-rather than a policy aimed at 
ameliorating current abuses.29 Further complicating the picture were the 
obligations a number of Carter political appointees felt they owed to the 
domestic human rights lobby and its members' raised hopes that the 
administration would take the gloves off in its dealings with Pinochet. 

Institutional interests and priorities constantly hindered inter-and intra­
agency cooperation on Chile. The human rights issue was the source of 
innumerable disagreements, especially within the State Department. 
"Whatever the Chileans did," observed the NSC's Robert Pastor, "parts of 
the Human Rights Bureau would say 'This is ridiculous, this is symbolic, 
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this isn't serious' and the Bureau of Inter-American Affairs would say 
'This is brilliant, this shows they're coming around'-whatever it was."30 
Roberta Cohen who worked in HA's Southern Cone office shared Pastor's 
view of ARA: that it always sought to put the best possible gloss on, and 
express maximum optimism about, the most limited of Junta actions or 
signals. "ARA would have liked to improve relations with Chile, little by 
little. So it was always poised to say 'Well, let's try to take some positive 
steps, either in public statements or in the UN. '" Cohen singled out the 
increasingly toxic relationship between HA and the ARA Chile Desk: 
"There were so many fights over Chile that it got to the point where I 
couldn't deal with them."31 

The two bureaus could be equally obstructionist when the circumstances 
permitted. ARA Chile Desk officer Robert Steven (1977-1979) described a 
proposal to bring two Chilean officers to the US for counter narcotics 
training. "I argued in a meeting that to reject the proposal would not make 
sense because counter narcotics was a basically politically neutral issue." 
That the idea had widespread Departmental support did not impress HA 
which flexed its muscles and "just flatly vetoed it.,,32 That Secretary Vance 
remained "completely uninvolved" in Chile policy didn't help matters." 

Bureaucratic conflicts resonated all the way dO\vn to diplomats in the 
Santiago Embassy. "It was incredible," said DCM Boyatt discussing the 
transition from Ford to Carter. "As far as Henry Kissinger was concerned, 
we were a bunch of starry eyed lib-symp pinkos. Two days later, when the 
Carterites got in, we were savage right-wing supporters of a vicious 
dictatorship." Career foreign service officers based in the Western 
Hemisphere were constantly placed in that kind of situation, Boyatt 
claimed, "because for some reason the American body politic takes Latin 
American affairs personally. You know they can live with some African 
dictator storing the eyes of his opponents in his deep freeze but they can't 
live with repressive regimes in Latin America."34 Charles Grover, who 
replaced Boyatt as DCM in 1978, was surprised by the resistance and 
cynicism among Embassy officials to Carter's human rights focus. The 
prevailing attitude was "we're up to our arse in alligators, and now they 
want us to tell the Chileans how to run their country."35 In practice, this 
failure to achieve closer bureaucratic coordination of Chile policy allowed 
individual agencies a degree of latitude that encouraged Pinochet to 
believe he could weather any serious challenge from Washington to his 
marmer of rule. 

These Executive Branch disagreements over Chile were mirrored on 
Capitol Hill. On the one hand, the White House was forced to deal with a 
powerful and vocal set of legislators who were highly critical of the 
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Chilean Junta per se and continually pushed for a more aggressive 
application of the human rights policy and punitive sanctions in the 
absence of substantive improvements. On the other, there was a smaller 
group of conservatives in both political parties acting in concert with allies 
in the Executive Branch, who regretted the regime's abusive rule but 
opposed a more forceful anti-Pinochet policy on ideological and economic 
grounds. To them Pinochet had rescued Chile from a Marxist regime and 
the clutches of international communism, presided over an economic 
transfOlmation based on a neo-liberal model, and reestablished a secure, 
attractive environment for foreign investment. RA's Mark Schneider 
thought the Executive had underestimated a broadly-based concern on 
both sides of the political divide tbat tbe human rights policy shouldn't 
jeopardize economic interests unnecessarily: "The assumption was that we 
were going to have congressional support, and that we didn't have much to 
worry about and we were somewhat surprised, and probably a little naIve, 
in not recognizing that when we did touch the economic levers there was 
going to be some reaction. ,,36 

This was the conundnun facing Carter foreign policy officials: how to 
pursue a human rights policy toward Chile within self-imposed constraints 
(the principle of non-intervention in another country's internal affairs), 
legislation mandated by Congress (restrictions on aid preventing its use as 
an incentive to moderate behavior), Pinochet's political dominance and 
what a State Department official described as a "hard audience" for a 
human rights message among those who governed in Chile37 -all the 
while acting in ways that did not backfire or jeopardize other more 
important or more pelTIlanent US interests. 

Initial policy cleavages 

In late January 1977, tbe high-level Policy Review Committee (PRC), 
chaired by Secretary Vance and responsible for foreign policy, defense 
and international economic issues, met to begin preparation of the PRM 
Carter had earlier requested but now focused broadly on US policy toward 
Latin America and tbe Caribbean with particular attention to four "special 
country problems"-Cuba, Brazil, Mexico, and Central America. Carter's 
campaign rhetoric had singled out Chile but it was conspicuously absent 
from tbe list. 38 Robert Pastor attempted to have Chile included in a draft of 
the memorandum which was leaked to the media "in a way that made it 
sound as if I was trying to foster intervention in Chile, and trying to do my 
own thing." He accused ARA of responsibility for this "very sensitive and 
very well-crafted" disclosure, playing on NSC Adviser Zbigniew Brzezinski's 
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disinclination to review a multitude of specific country policies because 
the administration's agenda was already full to overflowing. This 
experience of bureaucratic politics, said Pastor, made him "much more 
vulnerable. So I couldn't really press this issue at all. So that's why we had 
to retreat a bit. "39 

Following this back step, HA and ARA locked horns in a way that 
revealed how human rights issues could confound other foreign policy 
objectives. In February, administration officials received a joint offer from 
Chile and Peru to participate in the annual UNIT AS naval exercises 
scheduled for September. Previously, the US had always engaged in 
separate exercises with each country. Assistant Secretary Terence Todman 
and the Bureau of Politico-Military Affair's (PM) Director Leslie Gelb 
supported the idea of a trilateral exercise as a way of defusing regional 
political tensions and improving US defense relationships with Latin 
America. They argued that the Pinochet regime had recently taken a 
number of measures the US welcomed as a "positive development." Due 
to the "tentative and fragile" nature of the bilateral relationship ARA and 
PM agreed that "we should not burden it by making further Chilean action 
on human rights a condition of our participation. ,,40 

The background to this issue was the simmering conflict between Chile 
and Peru, and the latter's emergence as one of the region's biggest purchasers 
of military hardware from the Soviet Union. The CIA estimated that Lima 
had acquired or made commitments to buy approximately $500 million 
worth of Soviet weaponry during the Nixon-Ford years,41 a buying spree 
that showed no signs of slowing down. "It is expecting delivery of 36 
advanced Soviet fighter-bombers . . .  and is seeking bids on radar systems," 
Brzezinski informed the White House in early February.42 Although this 
undoubtedly "increase[ d] the pressure for an arms build-up throughout the 
region," Brzezinski saw no evidence to suggest that Moscow could expand 
alms sales to other Latin markets, and was equally skeptical about its 
ability to acquire any lasting influence with Peru's government unless it 
could develop other bilateral links or, in the less likely event of a 
radicalization of the so-called Peruvian revolution. As far as Brzezinski 
was concerned, the US should take a low-key approach to what was 
essentially a case of one country taking advantage of access to an 
independent source of advanced weapomy that could be delivered speedily 
and on relatively generous financial telTIls. 43 

Along with the NSC Adviser, the intelligence community could find 
no indication that Peru's military leaders were "bent on aggression" but 
cautioned that there was a "hawkish element within the military and a 
widespread conviction that war with Chile is inevitable. ,,44 Despite this 
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caveat, the CIA agreed with State and Defense that if anything, Peru had 
grO\vn "more cautious" as a result of a near-war with Ecuador in 
December 1976, and assessed the possibility of a conflict with Chile 
during 1977 as "slight."45 As for Moscow's eagerness to deepen ties with 
Lima, this was no more than an effort to overcome its lack of influence in 
the region as a whole: "it is their only toehold in South America," the CIA 
opined.46 

In May, the Agency updated its analysis of Soviet-Peruvian relations, 
highlighting Moscow's lack of success in expanding economic links with 
the Peru which had raised questions about the future of the relationship. 
Much to the frustration of Soviet officials, Lima had deliberately 
attempted "to keep them at [economic] arms-length," had been tardy in 
using Soviet credits, and had "kept its options open" with regard to other 
foreign aid and trade. Additionally, the presidential transition from Juan 
Velasco to Morales-BermUdez in August 1975 was accompanied by a 
greater emphasis on private investment to deal with domestic economic 
problems and the replacement of "leftist and pro-Soviet individual[ s]" in 
the upper reaches of the government and the anned forces by "more 
moderate and pragmatic [ones] ." Moreover, US acceptance of Peru's 200-
mile offshore fishing boundary and Lima's settlement of outstanding 
compensation claims by affected American companies had resolved many 
of the tensions that plagued US-Peruvian relations during the Velasco era. 
The intelligence study also reminded US policymakers that a major reason 
Velasco's government initially turned to the Soviet Union was a refusal by 
the Nixon-Ford White House to sell it arms "at a time when Peru felt itself 
strategically weaker than its traditional antagonist, Chile." But the 
acquisition of requested weaponry from Moscow together with the US 
embargo on arms sales to Chile had "recast the military balance in the 
Andes and [eliminated] a point of friction in US-Peruvian relations."47 

In Santiago, however, Chile's ruling generals continued to exhibit a 
more alannist perception of Peru's intentions. What mattered to them was 
a perception that Morales-BermUdez had downgraded diplomacy and 
proceeded to articulate a new get-tough military policy toward Chile ever 
since the 1976 collapse of negotiations aimed at giving landlocked Bolivia 
a route to the coast. There remained a strong suspicion that Lima would 
embark on military action before the looth anniversary of the 1879 War of 
the Pacific.48 Further contributing to regional anxieties about Peru's 
military buildup was "the absolute certainty" that the US, would not get 
involved even if the Peruvians launched a preemptive strike.49 

The Todman-Gelb assertion that trilateral naval exercises were in each 
party's best interests was challenged by HA. The bureau was reluctant to 
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countenance any "highly visible USG identification" with the Chilean 
Junta on the grounds that it ran counter to the legislative ban on security 
assistance to Santiago and would generate "grave doubts in Congress as to 
the credibility of the administration's declared emphasis on human rights 
in the conduct of foreign policy." Todman and Gelb responded that 
support for Chile's participation "does not imply satisfaction with the 
present state of human rights observance," and the absence of continued 
progress in this sphere "could require us to withdraw" at a later date. For 
the moment, however, there were practical benefits that flowed from the 
naval exercises and these were more compelling than any advantage to be 
gained by sending symbolic signals. Under pressure to make an immediate 
decision, HA withdrew its opposition to Chile's participation in the joint 
maneuvers in return for an understanding that the US reserved the right to 
pull out if the human rights situation worsened.50 Eventually Carter 
approved US participation but ordered American naval vessels to bypass 
Chilean ports on their way to the exercises. 51 The lines of arguments 
leading up to this decision typified the different approaches adopted by the 
two bureaus when it came to Chile: HA emphasized the importance of 
symbolic actions, particularly with reference to Congress; ARA was 
preoccupied with the impact of any decisions on substantive US interests. 

This difference of opinion was soon overshadowed by another clash, 
this time involving the Embassy and Secretary Vance. The bone of 
contention was how the US should vote on the Chile human rights 
resolution at the forthcoming meeting of the United Nations Human 
Rights Commission (UNHRC) in Geneva. Before the Commission was a 
draft resolution condemning the Pinochet regime over its "constant and 
flagrant" violations of human rights and its "institutionalized practice of 
torture." In a flurry of cable traffic between Popper and State, the 
Ambassador (who remained in the post until May 1977) noted that the US 
had abstained on a similar, though milder, resolution critical of Chile at the 
UNGA in 1976 when the situation for most Chileans was much worse. 
There was no recognition in the current draft resolution, he complained, 
"of the appreciable progress we have reported during the past year." The 
decision to co-sponsor this latest resolution at the urging of the USUN 
delegation, based on the proposition that this would ensure a "moderate" 
final wording, was ill-advised, Popper maintained, because it would only 
"strengthen the tendency which already exists here to demonstrate Chile's 
solidarity with Argentina, Brazil and Uruguay in defying the US on human 
rights issues. ,,52 This was not an argument that Vance found persuasive. 
Co-sponsorship, he responded, would improve the prospects for heading 
off a "harsher" Cuban draft. 53 Following the US vote in favor of the 
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resolution, which passed by 26 to 1 with 5 abstentions, Vance again cabled 
a sharply worded message to the Embassy: There would be no easing of 
public diplomatic pressure on Santiago until the government made "major 
sustained progress" in the human rights area. 54 

In an interview with the German newspaper Die Welt, Pinochet alleged 
that Washington had succumbed to "anti-Chilean" propaganda originating 
from two sources: the Soviet Union and those Chilean exiles "who play 
the game of Marxism without being Marxists themselves. ,,55 Three days 
after the UNHRC vote, the Chilean Foreign Ministry gave concrete vent to 
its anger by withdrawing its delegation and observers from the Commission, 
accusing it of subjecting Chile to "a constant and unfounded campaign of 
slander."56 A sympathetic David Popper could not hide his displeasure at 
the negative UNHRC vote, claiming that "it helped stimulate the tough 
measures to still domestic dissent," among them the Junta's March 12 
decision to ban all political parties including the PDC. 

This was a case of misreading the calculations going on in the minds of 
Junta members-not least that of Pinochet himself. Although the activities 
of the non-Marxist political parties had been suspended by govermnent 
decree in January 1974, the PDC managed initially to operate fairly 
openly. But as more and more party members who had supported the 1973 
coup began to publicly oppose the dictatorship and its policies, the regime 
responded by gradually curtailing the party's media outlets, removing its 
members from senior positions in the civil service, public enterprises and 
universities, and harassing, imprisoning, exiling and even killing some 
party officials. The decision to include the PDC in the ban on political 
parties seemed more a function of Pinochet's growing armoyance with the 
activities of party members than payback for a toughening of 
Washington's position in the UNHRC. Moreover, in banning all parties 
the Junta was attempting to shore up the juridical grounds for clamping 
dO\vn on violators of the original decree declaring parties of the center and 
right to be in recess: under that decree, successful convictions of anyone 
violating the recess required proof that the accused was acting as an agent 
of a political party together with evidence that a "political" act had been 
committed-which was almost impossible to obtain.57 'While a number of 
Christian Democrats among Pinochet's civilian advisers resigned in 
protest at the ban, no immediate action was taken against the party under 
the terms of the decree law and within days Pinochet had sought to allay 
fears among government supporters that he was moving in a totalitarian 
direction by promising that, in time, a legislative chamber would be re­
established. What Pinochet actually had in mind for political parties within 
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a future new institutional structure, however, was a role that limited their 
activities to "mere currents of opinion. ,,58 

Their disagreements notwithstanding, the other Junta members would 
have been in complete agreement with Pinochet on this latter point. During 
Popper's farewell call on Air Force General Leigh, the Ambassador 
learned of a major difference brewing within the anned forces leadership 
over whether and when to return the country to political nOlmality. On one 
side was Pinochet who insisted on retaining power indefinitely; on the 
other was the Air Force and Navy which advocated a return to civilian rule 
based on "a strong central source of authority" and where the role of the 
traditional political parties would be limited. Despite even this difference, 
however, Popper wrote that Leigh's comments did not reflect a breach of 
aimed forces unity "under any circumstances. "59 

Pinochet's bluster that he would adopt a "harder line" in dealing with 
Washington and pursue closer ties with neighboring regimes the better to 
resist US pressure over human rights was also dismissed as bluff by 
Popper. Despite indications that Chile was intent on deepening its ties with 
the other Southern Cone neighbors, all that had occurred to date was "a 
little smoke but no fire," the Ambassador reported. Popper correctly 
sunnised that whatever action Pinochet might take to distance himself 
from Washington was more likely to harm Chile than the United States: 
domestically, it could lead to a weakening of the Junta's political support 
because there was no consensus among regime supporters behind a new 
"get tough" anti-US policy; globally, it could have a negative impact on 
Chilean access to foreign markets, foreign investment and loans, and risk a 
cut-off of possible US military assistance programs in the event of war 
with Peru. There was no need for Washington to take "precautionary 
steps," Popper concluded, because it is the Embassy's considered view 
that "Chile can do little to harm us, and on reflection the GOC may decide 
not even to try."60 Six months later, a State Department study concluded 
that the other Southern Cone military regimes were still reluctant to 
participate in regional or anti-US actions with Chile except on an ad hoc 
and intermittent basis due primarily to global perceptions of Pinochet's 
dictatorship.61 

The head of the US Southern Command, General Dennis McAuliffe, 
was just as unperturbed as Popper by the prospect of any dramatic shift in 
Junta policy. In correspondence with the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of 
Staff (JCS), General George Brown, he wrote that "Chile is not likely to 
move any more against the US than it already has" even taking into 
account the deterioration in bilateral ties since Congress suspended 
military aid in July 1975.62 That Pinochet indeed failed to translate his 
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bolder threats against the US into action was, in all likelihood, because 
aside from embarrassing Chile at the UNHRC, Washington was hardly 
acting recklessly in applying its new human rights policy. Tough talk for 
domestic consumption did not necessarily reflect a similar intensity in the 
practical application of the policy. 

In early March, William Luers and State's Policy Planning staffer 
(SIP) Anthony Lake transmitted to Vance an options paper responding to 
the review of Latin American policy (pRM/NSC-17). The paper highlighted 
a number of weaknesses in Washington's approach including "clientism 
and conscious or unconscious identification with friendly regimes." It 
outlined a number of identifiable minimal policy objectives to eliminate 
human rights abuses and provide "encouragement and (where we can) 
concrete support" for governments that have good human-rights records 
while "simultaneously" advancing other US foreign policy interests. The 
paper then asked whether the US should have a single standard for 
measuring human rights violations or whether "[ w]e must expect 
something more from Pinochet than Idi Amin-or Brezhnev-if only 
because we have more responsibility for the Chilean situation, and more 
leverage to change it." The authors of the paper answered the latter 
question in the affimmtive on the grOlUlds that it was "far more feasible in 
practice" and would allow the US to make judgments on a range of issues 
and values. The paper also posed the question whether the priority concern 
should be "basic human rights" or these together with "civil" rights­
leaning toward the fmmer as this reflected both congressional and 
domestic public concerns and because basic rights "transcend national 
sovereignty." Finally, the document laid out examples of specific policies 
that could be pursued in defense of basic human rights, noting that 
"stronger steps would have an impact on other US interests" and therefore 
actual decisions "will inevitably be taken on a case-by-case basis." \¥bile 
noting that multilateral efforts to pursue human rights offered a "lower 
cost" to the US, the review concluded that "for the foreseeable future, the 
greatest opportunities for bringing about change lie in bilateral relations" 
as these were "quicker, can be more private, are much less cumbersome, 
and can be used far more frequently."63 

Later the same month, at a PRC meeting in the White House, Warren 
Christopher proposed an extremely mild shift in Washington's dealings 
with Latin military regimes. Adopting verbatim the phrase NSC official 
Robert Pastor had earlier coined in a memo to an approving Brzezinski, 
Christopher urged that the US pursue "warm relations with civilian and 
democratic governments, nmmal relations with non-repressive military 
regimes, and cool but correct relations with repressive governments." This 
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fOlTIlUlation was well received by other committee members, including the 
Pentagon's Deputy Secretary of Defense Charles Duncan, and the Joint 
Chiefs of Staffs General Brown 64 

But what, exactly, did "cool but correct relations" mean? One message 
was not hard to decipher: the administration would continue to deal with 
human rights abusers on a government-to-government level. A few weeks 
after the PRC meeting, ARA requested a decision from Christopher as to 
whether Chile's new Ambassador to Washington, Jorge Cauas, should be 
called into State for a "frank discussion" about the human rights issue in 
Chile. As the regime's repressive policies had forced bilateral ties to "a 
standstill," the only alternatives were to make an effort to break the 
impasse or do nothing and let relations "continue to stagnate." In view of 
Cauas' status as Chile's "Super Ambassador" who reported directly to the 
President, ARA surmised that he could be used to allay Pinochet's 
"paranoid" fear that the US was "trying to overthrow the Junta." For this 
tactic to succeed, however, progress on human rights must receive 
"suitable recognition" which had "not been done in the past." In the 
margin of one of the memos (from Terence Todman), a testy Christopher 
scribbled: "Wbat do you count as progress?" ARA's Williarn Luers 
offered a quick response: "Since the beginning of the year, we have not 
heard any believable stories of disappearances, torture or detention without 
charge." Despite continuing repression, the suspension of political parties, 
and government intervention in the labor unions and universities, Luers 
argued that these "positive" developments suggested it might now be time 
for Washington "to take the initiative" in seeking to improve the human 
rights situation and bilateral relations. This approach appeared consistent 
with Carter's own thinking, the President having "strongly suggested" to 
Cauas when he presented his credentials on March 23 that a renewed effort 
should be made to improve bilateral ties.65 

Luers' account of improvements inside Chile, provoked an angry 
response from Robert Pastor. "After three months of relative good 
behavior, Chilean security services increased the pace of activity starting 
about a month ago," the NSC staffer wrote to Brzezinski. "Most of the 
victims appear to be socialists, but some are communists and Christian 
Democrats. Pinochet made it clear that he will repress drastically and 
move harshly against anyone who threatens his government. ,,66 

Congress and the MDBs: The "flexibility" debate 

Dealing now with a Wbite House ostensibly committed to a human rights­
based foreign policy, congressional impatience for rapid, decisive and 
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sustained initiatives-bilateral and multilateral-was bound to create 
tensions over how actively to pursue the approach. Having elevated human 
rights to prominence during the Ford presidency, its proponents on Capitol 
Hill had high expectations of the new administration. In late 1975, over the 
opposition of the Ford White House, Congress had passed the Harkin 
Amendment to the Foreign Assistance Act (FAA) directing US Executive 
Directors in the Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) and the 
African Development Fund (ADF) to vote against loans to major human 
rights abusers unless those loans could be justified on "basic human 
needs" (BRN) grounds. Among those departments and agencies most 
involved with foreign policymaking-State, Treasury and the NSC-there 
was a considerable reluctance to support any further legislation that might 
limit Executive Branch discretion or flexibility. Senior Treasury officials 
were just as opposed-if not more so-as State to the very idea that a 
nation's internal policies should determine how US Executive Directors 
voted on loan submissions to the MDBs or IFrs. Assistant Secretary Fred 
Bergsten argued that to "inject political factors" into the process would set 
a precedent, thus undelTIlining the primacy of "sound development 
criteria" and that voting against loans on human rights grounds would 
achieve little since the majority of member countries in these institutions 
were opposed to politicizing the process.67 

NSC staff strongly concurred with Treasury and, in a memo to 
Brzezinski, several of them outlined their concerns in some detail. 
Legislating to force US Executive Directors to vote on the basis of specific 
criteria eliminated the administration's "flexibility" and was more likely to 
antagonize American allies in these institutions "whose support we want 
[and so] undermine the promotion of human rights objectives." 
Introducing political factors would be "highly counterproductive [and a] 
highly interventionist approach," thereby contradicting the fundamental 
US principle governing MDB loan decisions which was "to insulate" 
economic development from politics. The memo pointed out that Deputy 
Secretary Christopher was scheduled to testify before the Senate 
Subcommittee on Foreign Assistance where he was likely to be closely 
questioned about US military aid to autocratic governments in South 
Korea and the Philippines. The powerful chair of the House Banking and 
Currency Committee Henry Reuss was also preparing to hold hearings on 
multilateral assistance where he would be certain to demand a 
commitment to use US influence in the IADB, the IBRD and even the 
IMF "to shut dO\vn economic development assistance to human rights 
violators." Fearful that the whole issue might get out of control, 
Brzezinski's aides recommended that he counsel Christopher to be "non-
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committal" in his remarks before the subcommittee and remind the 
Secretaries of State and the Treasury that this remains the administration's 
position "until a more specific guidance is developed. ,,68 

The NSC's Latin American specialist Robert Pastor also intervened in 
the debate, also stressing the importance of Executive Branch "flexibility" 
in the course of launching a scathing attack on State's ARA Bureau over 
its authorship of PRMINSC-17-a review of US policy toward the 
hemisphere-which he characterized as an "unwieldy" document replete 
with "issues slated for decision [that] are posed poorly." This was finther 
proof that "if you want new policy directions toward Latin America, the 
last place to turn to for advice is ARA. "  Discussing the section on the IFrs 
and MDBs, he argued that while human rights should be an integral part of 
US decision-making in these institutions, it was important to avoid being 
bound by "any automatic or fixed formulas." The administration should 
seek "some flexibility" with respect to the original Harkin amendment as 
applied to the IADB and oppose moves gaining ground in the Congress to 
extend it to all other global financial institutions.69 Another NSC staffer in 
the Council's Office of Global Issues (the responsibilities of which 
included human rights) referred to the administration's growing anger over 
what it considered the failure of Congress to sufficiently appreciate that 
times had changed. Absent continued "pushing and forcing," the human 
rights advocates on Capitol Hill still appeared to believe that the Carter 
White House, like its predecessors, would "do nothing." But this 
overlooked one fundamental difference: this Executive Branch was 
actively committed to the promotion of human rights and therefore "you 
don't have to force us and lock us in with these amendments."70 

Although the State Department was relatively more disposed to work 
through multilateral channels and, to that extent, supported a sharper break 
with the Nixon-Ford approach, Christopher advised Secretary Vance that 
congressional enthusiasm for applying specific human rights criteria to 
each and every loan submission presented a "difficult tradeoff." The 
administration, of course, should comply with legislation and work with 
the Congress but only as long as these efforts on behalf of human rights 
did not become "a point of useless political contention within the IFIs." He 
urged a good faith effort to fulfill the spirit and letter of the Harkin 
amendment while lobbying Congress to give US Executive Directors in 
the IFIs "more flexibility" in applying human rights criteria to loan 
submissions. In return, Christopher suggested that "[we] should put 
increased effort into working with other nations and using multilateral 
mechanisms to further human rights" because this had the advantages of 
reducing the image of the US as "the moralistic mother-in-law of the 
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world" while simultaneously mobilizing global support for the human 
rights causeJl 

NSC Adviser Brzezinski preferred a more combative approach, 
warning the President that a rigid policy on human rights in the MDBs 
would have dire consequences for US relations with the Third World and 
also "severely compromise" the US position in the multilateral financial 
institutions. He accused "overzealous" legislators of threatening to make 
virtually all US international economic relationships hostage to a country's 
human rights perfOlmance.72 Carter was sufficiently concerned that he had 
communicated directly with Reuss about the need to avoid "an overly rigid 
approach."73 Soon-after, the President went public on the matter declaring 
that fOlTIlal mandatory requirements were self-defeating because they 
"simply remove my ability to bargain with a foreign leader" who might be 
willing to make human rights improvements but when faced with a 
requirement that is "frozen into law" this absence of "flexibility" 
eliminates any reason for that individual to comply.74 

During the first half of 1977, the administration's "flexibility" problem 
with Congress took a turn for the worse. While Reuss in the House and 
Humphrey in the Senate sponsored amendments to Harkin that would 
allow the White House greater discretionary power in applying human 
rights criteria to MDB or IFI loan requests, in April, the House passed, on 
a voice vote, an amendment to the IFIs authorization bill submitted by 
Herman Badillo (D-NY) to extend the mandatory provision of Harkin to 
the World Bank and the Asian Development Bank. NSC officials Jessica 
Tuchman and Jane Pisano feared that the Senate could follow suite unless 
the administration mounted an aggressive lobbying effort: "We face a real 
dilemma: while we do not like any of the amendments, we must voice 
support for the more flexible [Humphrey or Reuss] amendments."75 

A meeting of NSC, State, AID, Treasury and Eximbank officials to 
devise a strategy "to improve our increasingly weak and defensive posture 
on the Hill" attributed the defeat of the Reuss language and the adoption of 
the Badino amendment to the administration's failure to present a "strong 
clear position during the debate. ,,76 Treasury was the harshest critic of the 
Badillo-Harkin language, insisting that an automatic "No" vote in the IFIs 
undermined Washington's ability to promote human rights objectives by 
destroying any "negotiating flexibility" on its part. In any event, most of 
these targeted loans would still go ahead, thus rendering the policy "sterile 
[and] ineffective." By contrast, the Humphrey amendment would enable 
the US "to significantly advance" the human rights cause because it would 
provide "considerable negotiating leverage."77 In more measured language, 
V ance backed up Treasury's interpretation, describing the Humphrey 
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wording as "pennit[ ting] us to maximize our influence for human rights 
within the banks" whereas the Badillo language "represents too wooden an 
approach to the problems it addresses" and should be opposed 78 At 
Vance's suggestion, State drafted a letter that represented a coordinated 
interagency policy statement, to be signed by Carter, and transmitted to 
Humpbrey, praising his version of the Reuss amendment.79 

Amid this chorus of support for a more moderate amendment, one 
senior Carter official, White House counsel Robert Lipshutz, questioned 
whether the administration's opposition to the substance of the amendment 
might not "undennine much of our credibility in our espousal of human 
rights as a fundamental cornerstone of our foreign policy." Writing to the 
President, he pointed out that the vehicles for implementing this policy 
were essentially limited to public advocacy and private diplomacy (which 
were being actively pursued) while "overt physical actions" and financial 
pressures (principally restraints on US private bank lending) were firmly 
rejected. The message Lipshutz took from the NSC staff memo pouring 
cold water on all of the amendments "was that we should give only lip 
service and diplomatic efforts to the goal of human rights." As far as he 
was concerned, there was no contradiction between the mandatory action 
required by the Badillo or Harkin language and "a clear definition of what 
constitutes a consistent pattern [of human rights abuses]; an established 
and fair procedure for ascertaining facts; [and] adequate flexibility to 
protect our national interests and further our foreign policy goals." The 
amendment would retain the basic human needs exception and bilateral 
agreements would still be available.80 

In a separate memo to Brzezinski and Carter, Lipshutz insisted that if 
the White House was serious about human rights being the "cornerstone" 
of US foreign policy "then we must make that clear by our actions in the 
financial field as well as by our rhetoric [and] must utilize whatever other 
peaceful means we have." Granting or withholding economic aid, he 
argued, was "the most effective such means we have available. "81 Vance 
ignored Lipshutz's advice and urged Carter to support the Humphrey 
amendment to the IFI Authorization Bill because its more flexible 
language represented a "positive approach which pennits us to maximize 
our influence for human rights within the banks and with recipient 
governments. ,,82 The eventual outcome was not dissimilar to that which 
confronted President Ford over the original Harkin amendment: following 
votes in the full Senate and a Conference Committee in favor of the 
Humpbrey amendment, the House rejected the Committee report and 
voted so decisively in favor of the Badillo-Harkin language that the Senate 
capitulated and a reluctant President Carter signed it into law in October.83 
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Nonetheless, Treasury officials kept up a barrage of criticism about the 
difficulty of implementing the human rights policy in the IFIs. In early 
1978, Fred Bergsten would complain to Secretary W. Michael Blumenthal 
that State's policy regarding the IFIs was as "seriously deficient" as ever 
and yet it continually rebuffed suggested changes. First, there was no 
explicit definition of "gross violators" or clarity about the objectives being 
sought. Second, State had not developed country assessments and 
strategies that could provide a basis for systematic action over time. Third, 
there had been no attempt to link IFI policy to bilateral economic and 
military assistance policies.84 "Christopher and his people," Under 
Secretary Anthony Solomon and Bergsten wrote to Blumenthal on another 
occasion, appear "unable to pull together country strategies which 
integrate the IFIs with other policy instruments."85 While this debate had 
limited direct relevance to Chile policy-because Executive Branch 
discretion on matters of aid to Santiago was already tightly constrained by 
specific legislation-it was an indication of a growing gulf in expectations 
between the White House and Capitol Hill over how far the human rights 
policy should extend and, more importantly, how this issue was opening 
up fault lines between those officials wanting to pursue the toughest 
possible approach and those more concerned with a traditional interest in 
maintaining Executive prerogatives. 

Christopher had already transmitted a status report on the human rights 
policy to Secretary Vance that drew on earlier guidelines, once again 
stressing how important it was that the Department had as much flexibility 
as possible in regard to the decision-making process. To ensure that the 
policy was implemented in a "coherent" marmer, he proposed that State 
should assume primary responsibility and, as chair of the Department's 
Human Rights Coordinating Group, suggested that he might be "best 
placed to help in that capacity."86 

An Interagency Group on Human Rights and Foreign Assistance, 
(otherwise known as the Christopher Committee after its chairman) was 
subsequently created and tasked with assessing the human rights 
perfOlmance of governments submitting loan requests and making "how to 
vote" recommendations to the Treasury. NOlmally, an applicant's record 
would be assessed by HA and then distributed to the other Committee 
members. At first there were no lists of violators or country studies to go 
on and only the vaguest guidelines to act upon. As a result, decisions 
would often come dO\vn to a balance of opinion rather than a genuine 
consensusY At its first meeting on May 6, 1978 these omissions left one 
NSC participant apprehensive: until proper guidelines were developed, the 
NSC's Jane Pisano wrote to a colleague implicitly criticizing Christopher's 
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desire for flexibility, the Committee's decision would be made on an ad 
hoc basis "which may set precedents for further decisions. ,,88 

Deputy Assistant Secretary of State Sally Shelton-Colby remembered 
Christopher Committee meetings being "very contentious," with HA 
"always arguing for the toughest policy position, and [ARA 1 usually 
wanting the weakest policy position."89 HA and the geographic bureaus 
were detelTIlined to relentlessly defend their positions, so much so that the 
meetings usually "degenerated into a sterile tennis match." The animosity 
reached a peak on those occasions when HA sought to get a Committee 
decision overturned by going directly to the Secretary's office instead of 
utilizing the traditional bureaucratic process.90 ARA's Terrence Todman 
was so hostile to the entire concept of the Committee-on the grounds that 
opposing loans would not produce human rights gains-that he simply 
refused to attend its meetings. Instead, he delegated Robert Blake, and 
later Deputy Assistant Secretary John Bushnell, to go in his place.91 Of all 
the Executive Branch Departments, the Pentagon exhibited the most 
anxiety about inserting human rights criteria into decision-making in the 
IFIs, especially where it involved Latin America because to do so could 
only impinge on professional and personal ties with regional alTIled forces 
and thus weaken efforts to resist "communist subversion" throughout the 
region.92 

More of a problem was the fierce resistance mounted by some 
Departments and bureaus to Christopher Committee oversight of their 
programs. Under-Secretary of State for Security Assistance Lucy Benson, 
for example, successfully opposed all attempts by the Committee to 
review military aid programs. As she told a House Appropriations 
subcommittee in early 1977: "I believe we must use security assistance in 
a flexible and pragmatic way to improve human rights practices; extreme 
or ill-considered action could disrupt relationships of importance to us 
while having no effect on abuses of human rights. An absolute telTIlination 
of assistance would result only in losing whatever influence we may have 
had to change human rights practices for the better."93 Benson's victory 
was the beginning of the Committee's conversion "from a forum 
reviewing all aid decisions to one primarily reviewing US positions on 
MDB proposals."94 The Department of Agriculture was granted a similar 
exemption when it refused to relinquish control over food aid programs, of 
which Chile was a major beneficiary, and the Agency for International 
Development (AID) successfully argued that its programs benefited the 
poor and therefore should be exempt as well.95 Reflecting this gradual 
erosion of responsibilities, 13 full Committee meetings held in 1977 had 
been whittled down to two by 1980.96 
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During Carter's tenure US Executive Directors in the World Bank and 
the IADB abstained on a combined 46 loan submissions and voted "No" 
on 14 others from Chile, Argentina, Bolivia, El Salvador, Guatemala, 
Uruguay and Paraguay on human rights grounds.97 On only one occasioll-a 
World Bank loan to Chile-was there "enough support to have a loan 
withdrawn." This abysmal success rate was no surprise to senior State 
Department officials who concluded that member governments were 
simply reluctant to weaken "the apolitical and developmental integrity of 
the MDBs."98 

Reaching out to the Opposition 

The issue of how hard to push on Chile again became apparent in early 
May, 1977, when two prominent Chilean opposition figures-fmmer 
Christian Democratic Party (PDC) president Eduardo Frei and the exiled 
Socialist Party leader Clodomiro Almeyda-requested meetings with 
senior administration officials, including President Carter, during stopovers 
in the US. The requests were made independently and while both men 
were united in opposing dictatorial rule in Chile, the experiences of the 
parties they represented were quite different. Despite the regime's ban on 
all political parties in March, the PDC continued to enjoy a degree of 
latitude denied other opposition parties. Most of its leaders remained in 
Chile, had access to the media, and could hold some low-key party 
meetings so long as their activities posed no serious threat to the regime.99 
The Socialist Party, on the other hand, struggled merely to survive. It was 
paralyzed as a political force by the repression its members had suffered 
after September 1973 and by its 0\Vll internal factionalism, stemming from 
personality conflicts and disagreements over strategy. 

Although none of the Chilean parties had any illusions about the 
Pinochet regime or its detelTIlination to remain in power for as long as it 
chose, they remained divided over how best to respond to this reality: the 
Communist Party urged a broad front approach that would unite all regime 
opponents under the one umbrella; the Socialists, though many of its 
members had misgivings about the Communist Party's motives, were not 
prepared to rule out that option whereas the Christian Democrats 
categorically rejected it. lOO These differences meant that the Carter 
administration's response to Frei and Almeyda would reveal what kinds of 
ties with which opposition leaders Washington was prepared to entertain 
in the current circumstances, the extent to which it was willing to 
antagonize Pinochet by meeting with his opponents (and at what level of 
seniority), and what US officials regarded as the most appropriate ways of 
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reaching out to anti-regime political leaders in a context where none of 
them were in any position to seriously contest the Junta's hold on power. 

In mid-May, the NSC's Robert Pastor, addressed Frei's request for a 
top level meeting in a memo to Brzezinski. Arguing that there were 
"obvious and serious implications" for US-Chilean relations of a meeting 
between President Carter and Frei both in the short and the long-term, he 
spelled out two possible scenarios. One was to declare Chile a "pariah" 
state, aggressively lobby worldwide support for this stance, vote against 
Chilean loan requests to the IFIs, and meet opposition leaders in the 
expectation that "an alternative to Pinochet would emerge." The other 
approach would be simply "to try and bargain" with the Chilean dictator to 
shift to a less repressive style of governance. Pastor recommended caution 
in making a [mal decision because "Pinochet is reported to be paranoid 
and dangerous." Brzezinski and Pastor agreed, however, that the NSC 
Advisor at least should meet with Frei.101 

Most of the subsequent inter-agency discussion focused on the political 
implications of agreeing to a Carter-Frei conversation. At the NSC there 
was little doubt that Pinochet would view such a meeting as "interference" 
in the internal affairs of Chile and even accuse Washington of seeking to 
overthrow his government. Concern that this might put at risk human 
rights gains generated a discussion over how effective US pressure had 
been in terms of the results achieved to date and whether the 
administration "has anything to lose and perhaps something to gain by 
alienating the Pinochet government and declaring it a pariah." 
FurthemlOre, if a 'White House meeting received the thumbs down, might 
this be tantamount to the US conferring legitimacy on the military Junta? 
Whatever the decision, it was imperative that it not provoke a major 
rupture in bilateral relations. This was more or less assured when it was 
finally agreed that Frei would not meet with Carter due to "scheduling 
difficulties" but instead would be received by Brzezinski for a "more or 
less casual discussion." V ance would confer with Ambassador Cauas to 
"carefully negate any harmful impact" that might flow from the Frei­
Brzezinski meeting, and the Socialist Party's Almeyda would meet with a 
lower ranking official-ARA's Assistant Secretary Todman.102 

The State Department concurred with the decision to void a Frei visit 
to the Oval Office but was prepared to recommend that he meet with a 
more senior administration figure than Brzezinski, namely Vice President 
WaIter Mondale or, if he was unavailable, Warren Christopher (who had 
assumed the role of Acting Secretary of State while Vance was abroad). 
State also thought that Christopher should meet with Almeyda and 
preferred that the Chilean Ambassador simply be "informed of our 
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plans."!03 HA opposed Frei meeting with Carter on the grounds that it 
would antagonize the generals and reinforce perceptions that the PDC was 
an instrument of US policy. This, the bureau argued, would undelTIline 
efforts to encourage human rights improvements. In allowing Frei to meet 
with Mondale and Brzezinski, Carter had to override further disquiet in 
State, reportedly due to a similar concern that it might provoke further 
retaliation against the Christian Democrats104 because any decision to 
upgrade the status of Frei's reception would not have been lost on the 
generals in Santiago who considered him persona non grata. Those 
Department officials included Terence Todman who was "strongly 
opposed" to any meeting between the Vice President and the former 
Chilean president.105 

Pastor informed Brzezinski that he had "worked hard on State" to get 
its agreement with the NSC reconnnendations. The importance of 
presenting a "consensus strategy" to the President could not be overstated: 
"The decisions we make in the next few months will not only have a great 
impact on what happens in Chile, but will have important implications for 
our policy on human rights and our policy to Latin America." This made it 
all the more important, Pastor argued, that ARA's "ad hoc" approach to 
decision making not be allowed to "sum up US policy to Chile." The 
bureau's handling of the Frei-Almeyda issue was a case in point. Initially, 
ARA recommended that Frei meet with Todman, that Almeyda not meet 
with any US official, and that Chilean Ambassador Cauas be invited to 
confer with the William Luers. "Such a strategy would have made the 
President's statements on human rights look foolish," Pastor concluded. 
The NSC staffer's patience was sorely tested when Luers initially "refused 
to come or allow anyone else from [ARA] to attend [the informal 
interagency meeting] on the grounds that such a meeting should be held in 
State or nowhere. "106 Once ARA was on board, Brzezinski forwarded the 
consensus proposals to Carter, asking if he would care to meet with Frei. 
The President declined, responding that the Vice President should perform 
that duty l07 

The Frei visit posed a difficult decision once word of it was leaked to 
the press. Brzezinski communicated his concern to Mondale: on the one 
hand, "If we refuse to meet with him Pinochet would see it as an 
endorsement of his regime;" on the other hand, a meeting with Frei could 
be interpreted by Pinochet "as a sign that the US is crowning his 
opposition, and the Junta leader may accelerate the current wave of 
repression." No doubt, the fmmer Chilean President was "probably 
looking for some support in an effort to crack the solidarity of the Junta" at 
a time when a number of State Department officials were expressing 
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doubts as to whether Pinochet could survive if the US withdrew all 
support for him.108 

Before scheduling any meetings, State went to great lengths to reassure 
the Chileans that there was no major policy shift underway. Luers 
explained to Ambassador Cauas, that his government should not interpret 
Frei's visit in "any negative way" and, irrespective of the human rights 
issue, the administration had "no intention whatsoever" of attempting to 
destabilize the military regime. To avoid public misperceptions about the 
significance of a Frei meeting, the Department was seeking "low-key press 
coverage" and would issue no official statements related to the visit. The 
decision to receive Almeyda, Luers told Cauas, simply reflected the White 
House policy of establishing lines of communication with "leaders of other 
political currents" apart from Frei and the PDC, and "does not in any sense 
constitute an effort on our part to encourage a 'coalition' of [opposition] 
political leaders or parties in Chile. "109 

T odman and ARA had one overriding concern: that human rights not 
take center stage in discussions with Frei and Alymeda. Rather, the 
message should be that the administration's sole objective was to deepen 
its knowledge of the "broad spectrum" of political opinion in Chile. This 
limitation was championed even though Todrnan and other US officials 
most sympathetic to the Junta's arguments about its record and 
perfOlmance conceded that the Chilean regime remained a gross violator 
of basic human rights, that the security forces still operated with 
"impunity," and that Santiago must understand improved ties were 
dependent on "a substantial improvement" in the area of human rights. 
"Nothing escapes its influence," Todman acknowledged.110 

'Whether or not State was optimistic about convincing Cauas of the 
administration's good intentions, Embassy officials in Santiago doubted 
that the message could be gotten through to Pinochet for whom any 
Washington dalliance with opposition leaders was unacceptable. Charge 
d' Affaires Thomas Boyatt, (who had assumed that position in the seven 
month interim between the departure of Popper and the arrival of his 
replacement, George Landau) cabled the Department that the reception of 
Frei, Almeyda, and also Cardinal Silva in quick succession by senior US 
officials would cause "unrestrained fury here." All three "are enemies­
more than opponents" of the regime. It was therefore all the more urgent 
that Cauas take back to the Junta a "clear and direct" message about the 
US stance on human rights in Chile. "This [series of meetings] is strong 
medicine which the Junta will find very difficult to swallow," Boyatt 
continued, "[but] it is important to be direct and specific with the military 
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men with whom we are dealing here. Subtlety and innuendo will be lost on 
them."111 

In the event, it was more a case of Boyatt's advise being lost on 
officials back in Washington who, having committed to meetings with Frei 
and Almeyda, now sought to publicly play down their significance. An 
official dealing with Latin America told the New York Times they were 
nothing more than "an attempt to reverse symbolisms"-to send a global 
message that the era of "strongly supporting" the Pinochet regime was 
over. Nonetheless, he was careful to differentiate between jettisoning a 
"close embrace" policy and the Carter White House embarking on an anti­
Junta policy. "The United States has not taken sides," this official stressed. 
"We talk to the Chilean Government but we also talk to men of stature in 
the opposition, such as Frei . . . .  But we aren't endorsing Frei over anyone 
else and the Almeyda visit proves it. "112 Welcoming these opposition 
leaders was all about sending diplomatic signals and "not trying to tell 
anything to anybody"113-although that seemed to beg the question then of 
what the meetings were intended to achieve in the first place. 

The NSC's David Aaron interpreted Washington's decision as "a 
symbolic way at least of being able to express some of our regret that 
Chile had gone the route of military dictatorship after all those years of 
democracy."114 Robert Pastor added that while sympathy at their 
predicament was the key factor, the meetings were also arranged 
"deliberately to send the message that we viewed the opposition to 
Pinochet as legitimate." There was no doubt in Pastor's mind that the 
message did indeed get through to the Junta generals: 

I mean they were shocked. And they were so shocked by the meeting with 
Almeyda. I mean a meeting with Frei and the Vice President and 
Brzezinski would have been enough but the Ahneyda thing really turned it 
over. One could recognize the legitimacy of Frei. After all, he was the last 
elected President and there is no doubt in my mind, nor in Brzezinski's, 
nor in Mondale's, that that was appropriate, that was easy, that was a slam 
dlUlk. That was very easy to pull off in the White House. It was hard to do 
in the State Department. But Almeyda was a slightly different thing.l lS 

Neither meeting produced an explicit commitment from US officials 
that a restoration of democracy was high on the 'White House agenda-as 
distinct from the less confrontational notion of "moderation" of the 
regime's repressive policies. Nor was there evidence that Washington was 
interested in devising a strategy for working with the opposition on a 
future political transition. Frei and Ahneyda were not encouraged to bury 
their differences and/or review their policies in order to present a viable 
governing alternative and both came away with no substantive offers of 
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assistance in their respective efforts to persuade the military to return to 
barracks. Not that any specific commitments were actually requested by 
the Chileans. In his discussion with the Mondale and Brzezinski, Frei 
spoke in very general terms of what he hoped the US might do to influence 
events in Chile in a way that avoided any form of direct intervention. He 
preferred that the administration confine its actions to "creat[ing] 
conditions-by words, policies, and meetings-that will have a great 
influence on the developments in Chile." Were democracy to be 
"imposed" on Chile, it would be a "failure." Brzezinski, responded that the 
White House only sought to create "a moral framework, [not to 1 determine 
internal conditions." Mondale agreed that this defined the current policy 
"quite well," recalling that when he had served on the 1975 Senate Church 
Committee investigating US intelligence activities he was "ashamed to 
leam of our behavior in Chile" between 1964-1973 which "imposes on us 
a special responsibility to deal with the situation in Chile with good sense 
and respect for our 0\Vll values as well as Chile's.,,116 That said, no filTIl 
guarantees were offered by Washington. 

Still, in another sense, the decision to meet openly with Frei and 
Ahneyda could be seen as something of a watershed decision in the US 
approach to Chile. While European governments had been dialoguing with 
Chilean opposition leaders since the early months of Pinochet's rule, the 
Socialist Party's Enrique Correa observed that it was only with the advent 
of Carter that they gained access to Department of State officials: "For the 
first time, Carter began building relations with the opposition to 
Pinochet. ,,117 In developing these lines of communication, said Robert 
Service, Embassy political officer from July 1977 until August 1980, the 
Carter 'White House was building on prior, and continuing, Country Team 
outreach. "[The regime] knew we met with them, we listened to them, we 
had them to our houses, we reported on what was going on. "118 DCM 
Thomas Boyatt concurred: he and his colleagues met with Christian 
Democrats "all the time" but less so with the Socialists whose members 
"were either in jail or out of the country."119 Robert Service also attributed 
the limited contact with the Socialists to the fact that their party was 
operating largely clandestinely and most of the leaders were in exile.120 
Boyatt's successor Charles Grover (1978-80) did remember increased 
contacts with the Socialists as they began to return from exile in 
substantial numbers toward the end of the decade.121 

Beyond the political parties, the Embassy maintained close contact 
with the Catholic Church's Vicariate of Solidarity which it considered "the 
main source of infolTIlation on the human rights situation," while Labor 
Attache, Ed Archer, who succeeded Art Nixon, "spent most of his time." 
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dealing with the "democratic" labor unions.122 Such contacts were 
primarily intended to keep abreast of developments and convey a sense of 
vigilance over the fate of the center-right opponents of military rule. By 
showing the Embassy license plates in the company of regime critics (a 
tactic employed in the aftermath of the 1973 coup), the objective was to 
make it more of an embarrassment for the regime to crack dO\vn on them. 
At no time was this outreach initiative linked to any concerted campaign 
of democracy promotion. "We wanted, first, an end to human rights 
abuses, which you could stop very quickly, and a return to democracy 
once Pinochet stepped down," said Robert Service. "But forcing him to 
step down we felt was more up to the Chileans and not for us to tell him 
to. "123 

Mixed signals 

During his Washington visit, Eduardo Frei's major objective was to seek a 
"consistent and coherent" articulation of US policy, echoing Thomas 
Boyat!'s observation that the regime took comfort from what they 
perceived as the mixed signals coming from Carter officials. In 
conversation with Mondale and Brzezinski, Frei noted the comment by 
Junta member and Air Force commander General Gustavo Leigh during 
his recent visit to Argentina that "it did not matter what the \¥bite House 
thought; all that was important was the Pentagon, and he felt that the 
Pentagon was strongly supportive of the Chilean Junta." To this, Mondale 
simply commented: "Well said."!24 As if to underline the point, only a 
week later a senior Department of Defense (DOD) official offered some 
reassuring comments to Ambassador Cauas during a May 31  luncheon 
attended by military and civilian members of both governments. When 
Cauas asked about prospects for "the lifting of sanctions and the 
nOlmalization of bilateral relations," the Director of the Inter-American 
Region (ISA), Major General Richard Cavazos, responded that the biggest 
sticking point was the failure to convince Chilean military leaders "of the 
broad-based support" in the US for human rights and get them to 
understand that Congress would not lift sanctions in the absence of 
"significant positive steps to improve conditions." Cavazos recalled the 
1976 meeting between Merino and Secretary of De fen se Donald Rumsfeld 
at which time Rumsfeld instructed his staff that "we were to assist Chile to 
the extent permitted under the law." The US attendees reported that Cauas 
was "visibly elated" that his military attacbes had received a similar 
message from DOD officials, as indeed had Cauas himself on an earlier 
occasion from Deputy Secretary Warren Christopher. "Slapping his open 
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palms on his thighs, [Cauas] replied: 'Basta. Punto clave. Lo voy a 
reportar' ['That is enough. Key point. I'll report. 'l" The memo of the 
conversation concluded that the Ambassador's purposes "seem to have 
been served. ,,125 

Cavazos' interpretation brought a sharp retort from State's HA Bureau. 
Deputy Assistant Secretary Mark Schneider was furious at the Major 
General's "thoroughly incorrect" statement pertaining to current US policy 
on human rights in general and Chile in particular. "We are no longer in 
any sense directed to assist Chile 'to the extent pelTIlitted under the law,'" 
he complained to Patricia Derian, "until there is definite and decisive 
improvement in human rights conditions." Attending to the "three priority 
problem areas" (state of siege, intelligence organizations, lack of due 
process) would not alone justify lifting the ban on arms transfers: "Only 
genuinely convincing and patent long telTIl changes in the behavior of the 
Government of Chile could trigger fundamental changes in our present 
posture. ,,126 

The Inter-American Commission on Human rights (IACHR) provided 
strong evidence that this condition certainly was not being met. Its third 
report, focusing on the period March 1976 to February 1977, accused the 
regime of continuing to engage in murder, torture, the denial of due 
process, and arbitrary arrests, as well as maintaining severe restrictions on 
political and civil liberties. FurthelTIlore, the Chilean authorities 
consistently ignored new human rights decrees proclaimed by the Junta 
such that they have no "actual or practical meaning," and continually 
failed to cooperate with the reporting process by providing adequate data 
on violations of physical liberties. In general, the Commission found the 
political rights environment was "essentially" unchanged since its first 
report in 1975.127 Irrespective of these findings, and credible reports of a 
new wave of DINA-orchestrated disappearances, tortures and illegal 
detentions around this time, Chilean officials predictably dismissed these 
charges as referring to individuals who "held multiple identities, sneaked 
abroad or died during the coup." Nor did the visible evidence of an 
upsurge in regime abuses dissuade senior Embassy officials from 
continuing to recommend that US pressure on human rights be confined to 
private remonstrations and that any public statements of concern be 
couched in "general, world-wide telTIls. ,,128 

The IACHR report, which was to be tabled at the June OAS General 
Assembly meeting of foreign ministers in Grenada, was powerful 
ammunition if Washington decided to take a tough line on Chile at the 
regional gathering. A position paper cleared by ARA recommended that 
the US delegation strongly endorse the conclusions of the report.129 A 



1 64  Chapter 5 

separate ARA briefing memo provided more reinforcement for the IACHR 
conclusions. It advised that the entrenched disregard for human rights 
among the Southern Cone states dictated a twofold regional strategy: close 
cooperation with other democracies and regimes that did not perceive 
themselves to be targets of the policy; and distinguishing between serious 
abusers who at least were engaged in some effort to bring torture ''under 
control" (Brazil), those who were "implanting police states on the cold 
ashes of past difficulties" (Chile, Uruguay), and those that confronted "a 
serious terrorist threat" (Argentina). On that basis, Chile was seen to 
compare unfavorably even with the Argentine military dictatorship 
currently waging a "dirty war" ultimately responsible for the deaths of tens 
of thousands of civilians.Bo 

In preparation for his attendance at the OAS meeting, Vanee received 
briefing papers for a scheduled private meeting with the Chilean Foreign 
Minister, Admiral Patricio Carvajal, which anticipated that Carvajal would 
almost certainly wish to discuss the Frei and Almeyda visits. If so, it was 
suggested the Secretary should simply repeat earlier reassurances that they 
were merely a "reflection of our interest in understanding the positions 
held by a broad spectrum of political interests" and categorically deny that 
they implied "a lessening [of] our interest in improving relations with the 
Pinochet regime, assuming there is human rights improvement; [and] least 
of all . . .  any US involvement in a plan to overthrow the military 
government." He should further emphasize that a decision not to receive 
either opposition leader "would have caused more criticism than receiving 
them"-presumably a reference to likely US congressional and public 
disapproval.131 Paradoxically, this was precisely the kind of mixed signal 
that former President Frei and Santiago Embassy DCM Boyatt had warned 
could encourage the Junta to believe it had little to fear from Washington. 
The briefing papers also emphasised that, despite a modicum of 
improvement over the past year, Chile remained "a gross violator of 
human rights," and DINA continued to perpetrate abuses with impunity 
under the continuing state of siege.132 

Speaking before the OAS General Assembly, Vance put the case for 
human rights in general telTIlS only, declaring that a "state's efforts to 
protect itself and secure its society carmot be exercised by denying the 
dignity of its individual citizens or by suppressing political dissent. ,,133 At 
a subsequent press conference, he would not discuss the specifics of any 
one-on-one meetings with his Latin counterparts, merely stating that 
promises had been made to take steps to improve the rights situation in 
various countries. Refusing to identify the governments that had issued 
such assurances, Vance stated that as far as the US was concerned, "we 
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shall have to wait and see what happens. ,,134 In his discussion with 
Carvajal, the Secretary of State conveyed his primary message in more 
precise language: Chile's rulers had to demonstrate progress on human 
rights and a good place to begin was a lifting of the state of siege, reform 
of the intelligence organizations, the abolition of DIN A, and an acceptance 
of due process. Vance could not have been encouraged by Carvajal's 
response that the state of siege and the nation's intelligence organizations 
would remain in effect "as long as the Government of Chile deemed it 
necessary to protect [citizens from being] killed by terrorists."135 

The actual terrorist threat was miniscule at best. The "Rettig" 
Commission's investigation of human rights violations committed by 
private citizens for political purposes between January 1974 and August 
1977 uncovered a mere six cases of such actions and concluded that 
violent activity was "on a lesser scale" during this three and a half year 
period. The Commission's report was also damning of the authoritarian 
regime for its refusal to discriminate between legitimate protest and 
terrorism.136 

linbedded in these kinds of comments was the key reason as to why it 
was so difficult to get any traction on human rights from the Chilean 
regime. State's Chile Desk officer Robert Steven put it concisely: "They 
believed in what they were doing and we didn't have an awful lot of ways 
to influence them."137 The anned forces' conviction stemmed partly from 
its doctrine of national security which constituted a central part of the 
framework within which Chilean foreign policy was devised and pursued. 
Robert Pastor was one of the few senior American officials who 
comprehended the doctrine's all-embracing nature and why human rights 
didn't fit into the military's worldview: "They had convinced themselves 
they were doing God's work and we didn't understand it. They felt that 
they were defending Western civilization from the Communists and 
previous administrations in the US agreed with them. And all of a sudden 
you get these [Carter] people coming out of nowhere, telling them they 
weren't Christian and they weren't doing the right thing."138 If the Chilean 
military thought it was saving Western civilization, observed RA's Mark 
Schneider, there was only one conclusion it could, and did, continue to 
draw: "You can do just about anything. And they felt that they could."!39 
At the OAS meeting in Grenada, this worldview was on display for all to 
see. Chilean representatives made strenuous attempts "to achieve 
international acceptance for the institutional linkage of 'terrorism' (read 
'subversion') with the suspension of civil liberties, all in the name of an 
authoritarian defense against international Marxism."14o 
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Eduardo Frei's concern about Washington's confused signals on Chile 
policy came to the fore again in mid-1977 when the White House was 
forced to deny a press report that the NSC had requested a CIA study of 
"alternatives" to Chile's military Junta, accusing two State Department 
officials of engaging in "a direct effort to smear [NSC staff specialist on 
Latin America] Bob Pastor. ,,141 Having been "caught in a crossfire and 
almost shot," Pastor speculated that this was an attempt to get rid of him 
for allegedly advocating an "unjustifiable policy of intervention and by 
making it appear as if I were acting on my own against [Brzezinski's] 
instructions; to try to put a stop to the NSC Staffs 'interference' in the 
State Department's conduct of foreign policy; [and] to keep US policy to 
Chile solely the prerogative of ARA." 

Pastor acknowledged that his relationship with ARA had always been 
difficult, partly due to personality conflicts and policy issues but primarily 
for "institutional reasons." Unburdening his frustrations on Brzezinski, he 
then launched into a withering attack on what he considered the bureau's 
determined efforts to freeze the NSC out of Latin American policymaking 
altogether. "They act as if life does not exist outside ARA except perhaps 
on the Seventh Floor. They have tried to exclude me and have kept me 
uninfOlmed on what they have been doing. Hardly any infOlmation or 
recommendations bearing on future policy are forwarded to the NSC 
unless I ask for it first." As to current Chile policy, he damned it as "a 
series of uncoordinated ad hoc decisions" for which ARA must take much 
of the blame. The bureau wanted to initiate a dialogue with the regime, 
dangling the carrot of economic aid or positive statements by Vance or the 
US Embassy "for even the slightest indication of diminishing repression." 
This strategy could end up associating the President, either directly or 
indirectly, with the region's most brutal government for "a pittance." A 
competing approach, suggested by HA's Mark Schneider was "to 
immediately and totally disassociate the US from the present regime." 
While these two different views may have given the appearance of 
"bureaucratic pushing and pulling" to arrive at a policy outcome, Pastor 
argued that, in reality, both options were being pursued "simultaneously." 
Occasionally, Schneider "inserts himself in the process," bringing it to the 
attention of Christopher or Vance. At other times, ARA will directly 
communicate with the Chileans. It is hard not to conclude, \¥fote Pastor, 
"that our policy to Chile has been inconsistent and ad hoc without a sense 
of goals or strategies. ,,142 

Some weeks later, Pastor repeated his concern about the "mess" that 
was US policy toward Chile. He complained to a British Embassy official 
that State Department "radicals" led by HA's Patricia Derian wanted to get 
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tough with Chile and force its leaders to adopt better human rights 
practices while ARA remained firmly wedded to the "quiet diplomacy" 
strategy. For its part, the NSC subscribed to a "middle course" whereby 
the US "would distance itself from Chile but avoid politicizing economic 
institutions (e.g., Eximbank) by introducing the human rights argument."143 

Meanwhile, in Washington, an Inter-agency Human Rights Working 
Group report on Chile provided ammunition for those Carter officials 
opposed to the authorization of two AID loan applications for Chile 
totaling between $10 and $11  million respectively, part of a $27.5 million 
economic package supported by ARA, the Defense Department and senior 
AID officials, and approved by Congress for FYI977. When HA and 
AID's Latin American bureau successfully argued in the Working Group 
that, absent an improvement in the human rights situation, new AID loans 
to Chile should be withheld, and persuaded the Christopher Committee to 
this view, an outraged Terence Todman refused to let the matter rest. He 
personally lobbied Christopher directly to have the Committee overturn 
the decision. In the first place, he complained, the loans met the statutory 
"basic human needs" requirements or could be justified on humanitarian 
and development grounds because they were intended for farmers. More 
importantly, the situation in Chile today was "no worse and is somewhat 
better" than when the congressional ceiling on aid was imposed in the first 
place. The Deputy Secretary, wrote Todman, must see how "illogical" it 
would be to cut back further the original ceiling figure. The Working 
Group's activities not only flew in the face of some human rights gains 
that had actually occurred but it also undermined President Carter's 
professed desire to initiate a dialogue with Santiago. The US was more 
likely to achieve its objectives in Chile, Todman concluded, if its policy is 
"not perceived as punitive in nature. "144 

RA's Mark Schneider vigorously contested Todman's views in his 
0\Vll memo to Christopher, accusing State's senior Latin American 
diplomat of conflating the so-called improvements and ignoring the recent 
disappearances and beatings, and the ransacking of the homes of PDC 
leaders. Dialogue and the provision of economic aid in the absence of any 
reciprocity on Chile's part-for instance, taking some action to 
accommodate US concerns about DINA, the state of siege, due process 
and the like-was unacceptable. Schneider insisted there was a need to 
distinguish between loans for transmission directly to the regime (for 
example, the AID loans) and those intended for non-govenarnental 
organizations and state bodies at some distance removed from the 
government such as the Central Bank or the Agriculture Ministry.145 Once 
again the Deputy Secretary was forced to arbitrate the disagreement. 
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On July 1, Christopher announced a minor concession to ARA that 
underlined the inconsistent nature of Chile policymaking: final action on 
the two AID loans would be postponed for 30 to 60 days "to see what 
changes might develop" in the human rights area.!46 That same day the 
Chilean govermnent formally rejected the entire $27.5 million aid package 
when news of tbe delay became public.!47 Pinochet declared tbat Chile 
would not allow foreign credits to be linked to human rights criteria: 
"Chile is not a country of beggars and those who intend to use credits as a 
political pressure will fail.,,148 Undoubtedly, tbis sudden act of defiance 
was not disassociated from Chile's remarkable success in attracting loans 
from private US, West European, and Canadian banks exceeding $800 
million by 1977 (of which American banks accounted for more than $500 
million of this amount).149 The military regime's access to large-scale 
private sources of funding had a number of significant consequences: it 
further weakened US economic leverage, undelTIlined the intent of 
Congress in restricting aid, and rendered other administration initiatives of 
more symbolic, than practical, value. Clearly conditional factors impacting 
on US policy were changing for reasons beyond the control of Carter 
officials. And as far the Chilean regime was concerned, the human right 
approach already appeared to be notbing that should unduly concern tbern. 
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MUDDYING THE WATERS 

"The leading human rights advocates on the Hill are still not convinced 
that the Administration is serious about luiman rights. " 

Brzezinski to Carter, Jamtary 1978 

If Pinochet could turn a deaf ear to the Inter-American Human Rights 
Commission (IAHRC) and its February 1977 assessment of the situation 
in Chile he could not so easily dismiss the steady erosion of what 
legitimacy the military regime retained inside the country itself, and the 
tensions this was generating within the Junta and among its closest 
supporters. There were also new rumblings of disenchantment among the 
Catholic hierarchy that could not be treated in the same cavalier fashion as 
condemnatory reports by outside human rights bodies. Chilean workers 
posed another problem, both in terms of potential industrial action over 
traditional concerns like wages and conditions, and as a possible source of 
recruits for political mobilization against the regime. Not even the 
opposition political parties could be entirely dismissed. Several of their 
prominent leaders had connections abroad and some were campaigning 
through these contacts, especially in the US, for harsher action against the 
regime. If only as an irritation, they constituted a challenge Pinochet could 
not ignore and how he chose to deal with it would be part of the calculus 
of how the US would deal with him. 

Rising discontent in Chile 

During 1977, the Chilean bishops became more forthright in their 
denunciations of the regime over its economic policies, the expansion of 
DINA's operations, crackdO\vns on labor unions, and attacks on non­
violent critics of military rule including high-profile individuals within or 
close to the Church. When the regime banned all political parties in March 
1977 in order to strike at the Christian Democratic Party (PDC), the full 
Episcopal Conference responded with its strongest challenge to the 
dictatorship's legitimacy since the 1973 coup. In a declaration entitled 
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Nuestra Convivencia Nacional (Our Life as a Nation), the bishops 
criticized the regime's inherent weaknesses, demanded an end to bans on 
all political parties and the tennination of the state of emergency, 
requested more accurate infOlmation on the disappeared, attacked the 
growing gap between rich and poor, and called for the revival of 
democratic politics.1 The declaration revealed a widening gulf between the 
Church and the regime and it threatened to undermine what moral basis 
the military had been able to draw from the earlier support with which 
most bishops had greeted the overthrow of Allende. Pinochet declined to 
respond to the bishop's document, apparently not wanting to pour more 
fuel on the fire. 

In his annual May Day homily that same year, Cardinal Raul Silva 
launched a strong defense of the Chilean working class and the absence of 
respect for the rights of labor but, as in the past, was reluctant to take any 
action that might permanently damage the Church's traditional prerogatives 2 
At a luncheon speech four days later, he again focused on the 
unsatisfactory nature of military rule without, in Ambassador Popper's 
words, showing any inclination to "embark on an anti-government 
crusade. ,,} 

The ruling Junta was just as concerned to avoid any kind of precipitous 
break with the Church most strikingly illustrated in the events leading up 
to the resignation of the Minister of Justice, Renato Damilano, on April 20 
after only six weeks in office. In an address at University of Chile earlier 
that month, Damilano accused the Church hierarchy of "perpetrating 
inappropriate political and hypocritical attacks against the Government" 
inspired by Marxist ideology. In a subsequent interview, he arrogantly 
declared that he "neither repented nor withdrew" his remarks and, to make 
matters worse, dismissed the bishops as "palvas" (insignificant dust). This 
was the last straw for the Junta leaders. Having ignored warnings to lower 
the decibel level of his attacks on the Church, Damilano was abruptly 
dismissed from his ministerial post.4 

The labor movement presented its 0\Vll problems. 'When Carter took 
office, Chile's workers were on a new collision course with the regime 
after the Group of Ten (GIO) moderate unions broke with the govenament, 
angered by its blunt rejection of complaints that member organizations 
were being "paralyzed" under the pretext of national security. The 
continuing prohibition on strikes and bargaining over wages, together with 
other infringements on workers' rights, soon triggered more wide-ranging 
criticism of regime policies by the GI0 5 At the end of April, 126 labor 
organizations issued a document that accused the Junta of not fulfilling 
promises made in the areas of workers' rights or social justice, and 
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charged that the free market economic policy was "dramatically injurious 
to workers' interests."6 

Combined with a more active US effort to isolate Chile within global 
forums, these rising internal challenges convinced many of the Junta's key 
civilian advisers that the time had come to start planning a transition away 
from military rule-a view that did not lack support among some of 
Pinochet's Junta colleagues. Of perhaps greater significance, there had 
developed a growing restlessness among a majority of Anny generals over 
the spike in DINA illegal detentions, grounded in a belief that, as the CIA 
reported it, "the subversive situation is well under control, [the] state of 
siege should be lifted, [and] that DINA's arrest powers should be 
terminated." Even so, none of the generals were willing to argue the case 
with Pinochet because, again as the CIA saw it, they did not want to give 
the impression of capitulating to US pressures.7 

These developments notwithstanding, the US Embassy still considered 
the likelihood of Junta tensions and disagreements leading to a fracturing 
or breakup of the leadership as remote. There were no "ambitious potential 
heirs within the army," and other service chiefs were aware that "serious 
schisms would harm them all." Pinochet's strong support among upper 
and middle class sectors of Chilean society was also a check on challenges 
to his power.8 The behavior ofPinochet's most outspoken Junta critics, Air 
Force General Gustavo Leigh and, to a lesser extent, Navy Admiral Jose 
Merino, added weight to this assessment. 

Leigh had long opposed Pinochet's relentless drive to accumulate 
personal power through his control of DINA and by inflating his own 
standing-as President of the Republic-inside the Junta. Having 
originally assumed responsibility for overseeing the social ministries 
(education, health and housing), Leigh became a vocal critic of the 
regime's harsh economic reforms and was not averse to expounding on 
these views in public. One notable perfOlmance occurred at a mid-1977 
luncheon of European Economic Community Ambassadors in Santiago 
where he was the guest of honor: "Leigh put on an astounding show," 
according to the American Embassy's DCM Thomas Boyatt, "composed 
of roughly equal parts of criticism of Pinochet and pressure for political 
and human rights progress.'" While arguing that Pinochet "carmot afford 
to ignore his colleagues," Leigh, nonetheless, repeatedly emphasized the 
importance of Junta solidarity and anned forces unity.1O Admiral Merino 
preferred to confine his criticisms of Pinochet to close-door Junta meetings 
but joined with Leigh in contesting any sign that Pinochet was moving 
toward pelTIlanent military rule. He also voiced increasing alarm over the 
nation's international reputation and the consequences of antagonizing 
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world opinionY As heads of services highly dependent on access to 
advanced weaponry and spare-parts from abroad, both Junta members 
were acutely conscious of not unnecessarily alienating potential sources of 
supply and assistance.12 

Pinochet's riposte 

US officials in Washington and Santiago did their best to monitor tbese 
internal Junta dynamics. "[The] Pinochet situation is deteriorating," 
Secretary of State Vanee scribbled on notepaper during a June meeting in 
the White House. "If economic help should decrease [it] could have [a] 
positive effect.,,13 Days earlier, Ambassador Popper liad left Chile to 
become special representative to the Secretary of State in the Panama 
Canal negotiations, leaving Boyatt as the most senior official in the 
Embassy. On July 1, 1977, Boyatt cabled Vance that "for the first time we 
have a pattern of evidence that a number of senior military officials are 
sufficiently distressed by Chile's image regarding human rights abuses to 
begin gnawing away at DINA's omnipotence."14 Tensions among the 
ruling generals were not interpreted as tantamount to a groundswell of 
opposition to Pinochet himself. Rather, they were confmed to particular 
policies and/or policy directions. Moreover, US officials were sensitive to 
the fact that attempting to exploit tbese fault lines to achieve limited 
outcomes was fraught with risk. "The obvious problem was if you tried to 
bolster somebody, you might get his head taken off," remembered State's 
Chile Desk Officer Robert Steven. "The fact tbat the US might be seen 
officially supporting a general who might not be one hundred percent 
following Pinochet's line wasn't doing tliat fellow any favors.,,15 In any 
event, what awareness US officials did have of the Junta's internal 
divisions had no policy consequences in the 'White House or the State 
Department. They were not viewed as an opportunity to rethink or revise 
the existing approach. Instead, as he had done on previous occasions, it 
was the Chilean President who seized the initiative. 

On July 10, Pinochet armounced El Acto de Chacarillas (The Act of 
Chacarillas), in a speech at the same location authored by gremialista 
leader Jaime GuznU1n. This was a plan to establish a constitutional 
framework that would "institutionalize the regime and legalize its 
pelTIlanence in power." The creation of what Pinochet termed a "new 
democracy" was now a realistic goal, due to "the evident success of the 
economic plan, the progress of the social measures, and the [achievement 
of] order and tranquilily." Implying a seamless tliread between tbe events 
of September 11 ,  1973 and his plan to shape a "new democracy," Pinochet 
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defined the latter as "an authoritarian, protected, integrating, technological 
system with real social participation" that would fulfill the military's 
original intention III overthrowing "an illegitimate and ruinous 
government" and tenninating "a political-institutional regime already 
bankrupl."16 The CIA interpreted the timing of Pinochet's decision as 
essentially tactical, dictated by internal and external pressures. Among 
these were growing demands from within the Army high command for a 
shift in policy to improve ties with Washington, and urgings from 
Pinochet's Junta colleagues to "establish a timetable for transition to 
civilian rule. "17 But whatever his motives, Pinochet's unilateral decision 
did not sit well with his Junta colleagues. Air Force General Leigh was 
angry at not being consulted prior to the Chacarillas speech and vented his 
spleen with some "blunt remarks." He and the Navy's Admiral Merino had 
been "pressing for a more rapid transition from military rule" than 
anything Pinochet seemed to be proposing.18 

The timetable for the introduction of a "new democracy" was to be 
staggered. The first stage, a period of "recovery," would last until 
December 1980. Political power would remain concentrated in the hands 
of the anned forces leadership which would proceed to write a new 
constitution that would be submitted for approval through a national 
plebiscite. This would be followed by a four or five year "transition" phase 
to allow for the passage of legislative "refonns" in the areas of labor, 
social welfare, education and public administration. Meanwhile, there 
would be a gradual reduction in the military's legislative-though not 
executive-powers paralleling the establishment of a civilian legislative 
chamber whose members would be selected by the Junta. The final 
"normalcy or consolidation" stage, to be completed by 1990, would 
feature the election of two-thirds of the members of the new Congress 
who, in turn, would elect a president.19 

Almost immediately the regime's political "refonn" agenda came 
under attack from labor unions which rejected the dictator's vision of a 
"protected and authoritarian democracy," protested his timetable for a 
return to civilian rule, and insisted that the fonnation of any new political 
institutions must be based on genuine consultation with all sectors of 
Chilean society.20 Given the lack of specificity, and its vague and drawn­
out timetable that ensured the military would remain in charge at every 
step, it is not surprising that Chile's opposition leaders, likewise, rejected 
the plan describing it variously as a "cosmetic formula," a "farce," a 
"mockery of democracy," and a ruse to mask the continuation of Junta 
rule.21 The initial US response was more welcoming. (pinochet apparently 
sent Assistant Secretary of State Terence Todman an advance copy of the 
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speech believing him to be among those Carter diplomats most 
sympathetic toward the regime.22) Secretary of State Vance labeled the 
transition plan a "positive step" and one with which "in principle we are 
pleased."23 ARA's Deputy Assistant Secretary Frank McNeil was 
somewhat more reserved, describing the plan as "a limited and still rather 
exotic" way of returning Chile to some form of institutional legality.24 In 
Santiago, Boyatt reportedly visited Chilean Foreign Minister Patricio 
Carvajal to convey Washington's enthusiasm for the plan. His remarks 
triggered an angry response from opposition leaders forcing a State 
Department spokesman to issue a clarifying statement that the US 
remained as concerned as ever about human rights in Chile and that 
President Carter's preference was for an earlier return to democracy. Other 
Department officials were relaxed about Boyatt's comments on the 
grounds that "we don't want always to appear critical."25 

The NSC's Robert Pastor noted the absence in Pinochet's speech of 
any reference to the state of siege, any guarantee of due process or the 
future of DINA, and discerned a consensus among US officials that the 
timetable was "not serious." The main significance of the Chacarillas 
speech appeared to be Pinochet's seeming acknowledgment that a 
permanent military dictatorship was not a viable option for Chile-which 
Pastor, like Vance, considered a "positive step."26 That said, few officials 
in Washington followed the regime's constitutional proposals with 
sufficiently close interest or attention to incorporate Pinochet's brazen 
ambition into their overall assessment of the regime's intentions. "I don't 
think that anyone thought the detail of the constitutional debate was vital," 
said State's Robert Steven. The prevailing view was that the "military 
were going to do what they wanted to do and how they chose to phrase it 
was not of itself vital. "27 This was unsurprising insofar as the key 
objective of US policy remained "the enhancement of basic human rights," 
not efforts to "change governments or remake societies. "28 

Based on such reasoning, Carter officials concentrated on exploiting 
Pinochet's transition proposal to extract further concessions on human 
rights rather than democratic political reform. In mid-July, for instance, a 
special Chilean emissary arrived in Washington for a meeting with Deputy 
Secretary of State Robert Ingersoll to explain the decision to cancel a 
scheduled UNHRC Working Group visit. He carried a message from 
Pinochet complaining about an anti-Chile campaign being "orchestrated in 
UN forums." Applying mild pressure in the hope of reversing the decision, 
Ingersoll replied that cancellation of the Working Group's visit would only 
reinforce congressional opposition to economic and military aid programs 
for his nation.29 If there was any more comprehensive message the State 
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Department wished to deliver the Junta in the aftermath of Chacarillas, it 
would await the visit to Chile by Assistant Secretary Terence Todman­
the highest ranking US official to make the trip since Carter took office. 

The State Department's policy under fire 

As Todman's arrival in Santiago neared, the cable traffic and Department 
conversations offered insights into the differences of opinion opening up 
among Carter officials over how best to deal with Chile. In Washington, 
Warren Christopher cautioned his Assistant Secretary that most of the 
countries he would visit in his tour through Latin America were governed 
by "strongly anti-communist military leaders.. nurtured on Cold War 
rhetoric" which would inevitably "color" discussions on a number of 
topics. He would also likely find that recent US policy shifts, specifically a 
marked decline in US military relations with these countries, had produced 
"considerable bitterness" and a growing perception that the US was "at 
best, an unreliable partner."30 From the Embassy, more pointedly, Thomas 
Boyatt recommended that, in his meetings with Chilean officials, Todman 
should encourage the government's plarmed human rights measures, 
promise a positive response once they were implemented, and indicate the 
US was "favorably impressed" with the decision to make public proposed 
dates and steps for the transition from emergency rule.31 

Ambassador Popper, now back in Washington and apparently less 
concerned than previously about pushing Pinochet into some kind of anti­
American corner, challenged Boyatt's recommendations, messaging 
Todman that the Embassy had "veered off the mark." The Assistant 
Secretary should not be "less forthright" than Vance and Christopher in 
prodding the Junta to get on with the task of restoring a "greater degree of 
nOlmality" in their country. Todman might also press for the resumption of 
visits by international bodies such as the UNHRC Working Group, and an 
accelerated timetable for the military's return to barracks.32 Popper's 
recommendations received short shrift during an inter-departmental 
meeting attended by Todman: "Commenting on the political atmosphere in 
Chile [deleted] said that the situation is improving. Apparently the GOC 
does intend to get rid of DINA. There is a new flexibility and a new 
responsiveness to our pressures. The question now is how much and when 
to push for refolTIls. "33 

At the NSC, Robert Pastor could not see how these "two quite different 
Chile policies" in State-one to get tougher with Pinochet; the other to 
ease up-contributed to any push for refolTIl. "Rather than coalescing," he 
wrote to Brzezinski, "these two approaches seem to be moving further 
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apart."34 There could be no disputing that the major intra-agency 
protagonists were interpreting "cool but correct" relations with Chile 
according to their O\Vll agendas. To ARA, this framework was not 
incompatible with working through the Junta to achieve policy objectives; 
to HA, it signified no backsliding on demands for an end to the state of 
siege, reorganization or telTIlination of the intelligence agencies, a more 
satisfactory response on the subject of disappeared persons, and a move 
toward the "reassertion of traditional Chilean civil liberties. ,,35 

Pastor displayed increasing armoyance with State's contradictory and 
inconsistent messages on Chile, fearing that unless something was done, 
they would become "a significant embarrassment to the President." On the 
eve of Todman's departure, the NSC staffer kept up his scarcely veiled 
criticism ofVance and insisted that the Assistant Secretary take with him a 
very clear message to Chile and the other Southern Cone regimes about 
the nature of US policy. What they must be made to understand was that 
Washington sharply distinguished between "an announcement of intention 
and the implementation" of a policy, and between real and cosmetic 
changes. Otherwise, his hosts "won't have much trouble" dismissing 
administration policy as "grossly inconsistent. ,,36 

Prior to his scheduled meeting with the American envoy, Pinochet 
announced that DINA would be dissolved and replaced with a new 
intelligence service, the Centra Nacianal de Infarmaci6nes (National 
Information Center or CNI). Most observers downplayed any notion that 
this decision to restructure the major instrument of repression was a 
response to US pressure, emphasizing instead the role of interrelated 
domestic factors in Pinochet's calculations: increased armed forces support 
for the appointment of civilians to government positions and the 
institutionalization of the regime's legitimacy; concern about the need to 
break down Chile's global isolation; and Pinochet's apparent confidence that 
the internal security threat had eased to the point where "subversives . . .  can 
no longer challenge the authority of the governmenl."37 In Washington, 
Pinochet's move was interpreted as a concession to his Junta colleagues 
and their simmering hostility toward the security organization to the point 
where it had assumed the "role of the Gestapo," monitoring not only 
civilian opponents of the regime but military officers as well.38 

The question that divided US officials was how much significance to 
attach to DINA's dissolution. Its telTIlination also saw the closure of a 
number of notorious torture centers but the CNI inherited most of DIN A's 
estimated 4000 agents and continued many of the earlier security 
organization's functions.39 Unlike its predecessor, though, the CNI's 
authority and jurisdiction would be formally established under the Interior 
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Ministry and without the powers to arrest or detain individuals-those 
powers were now transferred to the President. Still, the US Embassy 
worried that "a loophole in the new law" gave CNI "certain detention 
powers and does not establish clearly enough that it will be merely an 
intelligence collection agency.'>40 Nevertheless, Todman dismissed 
suggestions that the replacement of D!NA with the CN! was little more 
than a sleight of hand, terming it a "very positive" development.41 Such an 
overly optimistic view was not shared by State's Bureau of Intelligence 
and Research (INR) which offered a much more cautious assessment, 
namely that it was premature to conclude whether the establishment of the 
CNI represented "a real or merely a cosmetic change in policy. "42 

Todman's more favorable assessment of DINA's disbandment was not 
the only contentious statement the Assistant Secretary made during his 
visit. Meeting with senior Chilean foreign policy officials, Todman 
sympathized with the need "for a positive espousal of democratic values to 
counter the Soviet menace" in Latin America and, invoking a Cold War­
era security agreement, told his audience that the US "would not abandon 
friends, particularly in this hemisphere."43 At the end of his stay, which 
included a 90 minute discussion with Pinochet, Todman applauded the 
regime's human rights progress, and attributed its negative international 
image "to a lack of infOlmation" and assessments largely based on 
"conditions that existed before but which do not correspond to the present 
situation. ,>44 Union officials who conferred with a visiting US 
congressional delegation only days after Todman left Chile offered a far 
more pessimistic slant on the abolition of DINA: it was only a 
"superficial" gesture and "the political and trade union situation would not 
improve" as a result.45 In a candid briefing to the EEC and Commonwealth 
Ambassadors, the US Embassy's Thomas Boyatt admitted that the 
discussions between Chilean officials and Todman, and with the 
congressional delegation, achieved little. They were similar to the 
CarvajalNance meeting at the June 1977 OAS gathering where there was 
"no meeting of minds whatsoever.'>46 

At the State Department, spokesman Hodding Carter appeared to 
endorse Todman's stance, telling reporters that Chile's global image "is 
somewhat distorted and somewhat out of date."47 Pinochet himself did this 
interpretation no favors when he soon added a qualification to his promise 
of elections, telling a New York Times reporter that the date Chileans 
would go to the polls had been stretched from eight to ten years and then 
only if the country continued to show "positive signs. ,,48 This statement 
would have come as no surprise to NSC officials who had earlier 
registered skepticism about his original drawn-out plans for a return to 
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civilian rule. A CIA study similarly concluded that the refonn measures 
promised by the regime were "still cloaked in ambiguity." The one 
indisputable fact was tbat Pinochet "intends to keep tbe process tightly in 
hand and prevent it from unraveling too fast. "49 

Human rights sidelined: Pinochet vsits Washington 

Foreign policy options papers on Latin America prepared for Carter 
following his election victory stressed that the renewal of negotiations 
over the Panama Canal treaty, suspended during the campaign, would be 
viewed by the region as "a critical test" of the new administration's 
policies. 50 Anything less tban a satisfactory outcome "could lead to bloody 
confrontations in the Canal Zone and doom any prospect for cooperative 
relations with [the hemisphere]."51 Within days of entering the White 
House, the President requested his senior foreign policy advisers to 
prepare a memorandum on Panama as part of a "broader review" of 
regional policy.52 

Following intense negotiations, American and Panamanian delegations 
finally reached agreement on treaties governing tbe future of the Canal: 
one would return sovereignty over the Canal Zone territory to Panama and 
establish joint operational control of the Canal itself; the other, would 
withdraw US forces from tbe area while granting the latter a permanent 
right to return to defend tbe Canal from an external threat. Carter and 
Panama's General Omar Torrijos signed the requisite documents on 
September 7 (approved by a national vote in Panama and, after a 
prolonged debate, ratified by two-thirds of the US Senate). To celebrate 
the signing of the treaties, President Carter invited all his Latin American 
counterparts (with the exception of Cuba's Fidel Castro) to Washington. 
This would represent a public relations coup for Pinochet, as would a 
promised \¥bite House meeting with Carter. Pinochet's invitation would 
also be significant as his first journey as President outside of Latin 
America except to attend the funeral of Spain's General Francisco Franco. 

The decision to include Pinochet on the list of invitees was not 
universally applauded within tbe foreign policy bureaucracy. HA led tbe 
opposition, describing it as a "bad idea" principally because he "was the 
only head of state who carried out an assassination in the streets of 
Washington"53-a reference to the murders of Orlando Letelier and his 
aide Ronni Moffitt in 1976. The NSC advised against sending invitations 
to any authoritarian or dictatorial head of state. Neither argument, 
however, persuaded Carter who refused to withdraw the invitation to 
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Pinochet because he had a bigger picture in mind. Robert Pastor 
elaborated: 

Carter called us all in Brzezinski, me and Mondale and the political 
types to talk about the signing ceremony for the Canal Treaties. I had 
convinced Zbigniew Brzezinski that we didn't want to own the dictators, 
so we should invite just the democratic presidents and the foreign 
ministers of the dictatorships. So Brzezinski goes in the room and he 
makes that case. Carter just dismissed him totally. He said 'You don't 
understand; you think the American people know the difference between 
Pinochet and [the military dictator of Paraguay General Alfredo] 
Stroessner, and these others. What we need to do is show the American 
people that all of Latin America backs the Canal Treaties. And to do that 
you have got to bring them all up here.'  So Carter was focused first and 
foremost on his first objective the Canal Treaties. 

Having lost the argument, the NSC had no option but to go along with 
the Carter strategy and let the President "work over directly" those 
dictators who attended the ceremony. 54 On Capitol Hill, much of the 
legislators' ire at inviting Pinochet was targeted at the scheduled White 
House meeting between the Chilean leader and Carter. In a letter to the 
President, Senator James Abourezk (D-SD) attacked the decision to 
entertain in the Oval Office a head-of-state who presided over a still 
"deplorable" human rights environment in his 0\Vll country. It would, 
Abourezk wrote, only "give him the additional power to continue the 
deprivation of human rights of a great many of his citizens."55 

Carter rejected the recommendation of Robert Pastor to allow Pat 
Derian to sit in on the President's meetings with the leaders of Chile, 
Paraguay, Uruguay, and Argentina. Although it would have established "a 
difficult precedent," Pastor argued that it would have clearly signaled the 
importance the President attached to human rights and defuse criticism 
from the human rights community which had "been attacking us for 
inviting these guys to the White House in the first place. ,,56 In any event, 
as expected, much of the hour long meeting between Carter and Pinochet 
focused on what the US President described as the "only major bilateral 
problem"-human rights. While Carter "laid it on the line," according to 
Pastor, his tone was "conciliatory" rather than aggressive or hostile.57 The 
President softened his remarks by acknowledging the "great progress" of 
recent months with the release of prisoners, improved trial procedures, and 
the armouncement of a future return to democratic government. 
Nonetheless, "in the eyes of the world Chile still had a human rights 
problem." To Pinochet, talk of this kind was simply part of "a vast and 
successful Marxist propaganda campaign" to discredit his regime. "All of 
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his problems," Carter later wrote in his diary, "were derived from Cuba 
and Russia, according to him." Pinochet denied there were any political 
prisoners in Chilean jails or any serious violations, explained away 
restrictions on personal freedoms to the danger posed by Marxists who 
would again wreak havoc if allowed to regain power. Carter was 
somewhat more successful in getting Pinochet to reconsider his decision to 
ban a UNHRC delegation from visiting Chile to investigate alleged 
widespread human rights abuses. But in return, Carter agreed to Pinochet's 
demands that tbe delegation would consist of two people only (officially 
visiting as individuals rather than members of a commission or working 
group of any kind), tbat tbere would be no advance publicity of tbe visit, 
that the study would be conducted in an "impartial" manner, and that the 
Chilean government would be allowed to comment on the report prior to 
publication. Pinochet was confident that tbe UN would not accept tbese 
conditions-which indeed turned out to be the case. 58 

Carter and Pinochet also discussed several other bilateral issues 
including the Peruvian military buildup. Carter attempted to allay Chilean 
fears of a Peruvian threat, telling Pinochet that Peru's President Morales­
BermUdez had assured him during their bilateral tbat his government's 
security needs had been satisfied and it did not intend to purchase 
additional military weaponry except for operational and maintenance 
materials.59 These assurances, however, gave Pinochet no comfort. 

The two heads of state then discussed the vexed, and seemingly 
intractable, issue of Bolivia's demand for a corridor to the sea-an issue 
that would eventually deflate any hopes Pinochet might have had that he 
could trust Carter and work with his administration to improve bilateral 
ties. Pinochet suggested that Washington lobby tbe Peruvians to grant a 
corridor to Bolivia while at the same time putting the onus on the 
landlocked country to convince Lima to accept a Chilean proposal 
regarding a tripartite zone. This offer, made in secret to La paz in 1975 
and largely reflecting an attempt to enlist it in an alliance against Peru, 
would have involved providing Bolivia with a narrow strip of land with 
access to the sea in exchange for some water rights and an equivalent 
amount of Bolivian territory. But this last demand was rejected by La Paz 
which insisted tbat tbe corridor had to include the port of Arica and 
refused to surrender any of its territory in return. There was also a further 
obstacle what would not be easy to surmount. Under a 1929 Treaty, Chile 
was legally forbidden from disposing of territory formerly owned by Peru 
without the latter's consent which Lima refused to give unless Chile 
provided a strip of land within a joint Peruvian-Chilean-Bolivian 
condominium zone at the Pacific end of the corridor as well as a tri-
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national port authority in Arica-a proposal the Pinochet regime rejected 
out of hand. On the eve of Carter's meetings with the heads-of-state of 
Peru, Bolivia and Chile, Brzezinski advised him that Peru was "the key" to 
any settlement even though it probably still harbored thoughts of regaining 
territory lost in the War of the Pacific. But while Lima supported Bolivia's 
claim, "its proposal was so unrealistic that one can infer that it is not eager 
to settle. ,,60 

Brzezinski did raise with Carter the possibility of applying pressure on 
Morales-Bermudez during their meeting. Quite fortuitously, the Peruvians 
were negotiating a standby loan with the IMF at the time and hoped for 
Washington's strong support, which put the US in a position to "exercise 
considerable influence" on Lima. Even though the country's economic 
program was reasonably "sound" and Morales-BermUdez would "probably" 
obtain the loan without US help, Brzezinski suggested to Carter that "you 
might want to subtly link the IMF issues to our concern over the 
corridor.,,61 It seems unlikely that Carter took that advice because, when 
he finally met with Bolivian President Rugo Banzer, he told him that the 
"burden" of negotiating a corridor to the sea rested largely on his 
shoulders. Two formidable obstacles lay in the way of a solution, said 
Carter: Peru's refusal to support an agreement negotiated between Bolivia 
and Chile alone, and Chile's rejection of a Peruvian proposal for an 
international zone at Arica.62 Presumably both were somehow Banzer's 
problem to solve. The entire impasse over Bolivia's access to the sea, in 
other words, remained unchanged. 

Overall, Chile Desk officer Robert Steven, who wrote briefing papers 
in preparation for the Carter-Pinochet meeting, expressed disappointment 
with the results of the encounter, especially from a human rights perspective. 
Re surmised that Carter may well have felt that this "wasn't the time or 
place" to more forcefully press Pinochet on human rights because this 
might have "opened up problems with all the other govenarnents."63 
Embassy DCM Thomas Boyatt was also disappointed over what he 
considered the President's lack of specificity in spelling out the 
administration's human rights policy, observing that "general statements 
on human rights are lost on Pinochet.,,64 

'Whatever Carter's intentions, the effect of avoiding a showdO\vn 
considerably buoyed Pinochet. Embassy cables leading up to the visit had 
described him as having "mixed feelings" over how he would be received 
in Washington, hopeful that the visit would provide some much needed 
legitimacy for his rule while "fear[ing] a high-level confrontation" over 
the Junta's human rights record. Instead, he came away feeling a sense of 
"relief," surprised that he had been treated so well. The meeting with 
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Carter was amicable, his positions on outstanding problems received a 
better than expected hearing, and there were no requests for the Junta to 
take specific internal measures. The meeting even raised expectations 
among some regime supporters that, [mally, the 'White House was 
beginning to appreciate "the 'Chilean reality. ",65 On his return to Santiago, 
Pinochet felt no compelling reason to lift the state of siege or take any 
other initiative that would have exposed him "to charges that he was 
submitting to US pressure."66 There was little sign that Carter's "working 
over" of Pi no ch et had achieved much at all on any front. 

The same was true of pressure on the Junta by its key domestic critics. 
During October, tbe Embassy and the CIA botb commented on improved 
ties between religious and military leaders. "See-saw Church-State 
relations appear to be on the mend," DCM Boyatt cabled State, "with both 
sides avoiding confrontation on socio-economic and political issues. "67 
Intelligence reports reached a similar conclusion: the Church had adopted 
a "more conciliatory attitude," singling out the key role of Cardinal Silva 
in "urging church leaders to be cautious in applying pressure on the 
government, since he judges that such tactics would be counterproductive."68 
By tbe end of November, however, the Embassy reported tbat "tbe carefully 
nurtured modus vivendi" was beginning to show signs of "strain," 
exacerbated by Pinochet's hostile remarks during a speech to labor leaders 
where he complained about the Vicariate of Solidarity for "developing and 
providing infonnation used by Chile's critics abroad" and accused it of 
engaging in political activity by working closely with tbe GIO labor 
leaders.69 Relations with such trade union leaders remained more difficult 
to predict. Although a threatened confrontation was defused, at least 
temporarily, when Pinochet agreed not to proceed with a plan to force a 
number of them from their positions, his animosity showed no signs of 
easing, fueled by a conviction that these individuals were being used by 
the Christian Democrats and "engaging in political activity to embarrass 
the government. "70 

Enter George Landau 

After considerable delay in nominating a new US Ambassador to Chile 
following the departure of David Popper, the White House submitted tbe 
name of George Landau who had previously served as Washington's 
Ambassador to Paraguay. If tbe Carter meeting witb Pinochet had augured 
well for a "softer" US approach to Chile, tbe Landau appointment would 
certainly have sent a different message: it promised a marked contrast to 
Popper and signaled that bilateral relations were about to enter a new and 
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far less amicable phrase. At his confirmation hearing before the Senate 
Foreign Relations Committee (SFRC)-only two weeks after the Carter­
Pinochet meeting-Landau was peppered with questions about human 
rights in Chile by legislators who challenged the "symbolic effect" of 
upgrading US Embassy representation (no ambassador had been appointed 
for six months) at a time when there were no perceived "great changes" in 
the conduct of the regime regarding human rights. The Ambassador­
designate gave no hint that any shift to a more moderate policy was being 
contemplated by the administration. Responding to a question from 
Committee chair, Frank Church (D-ID), Landau spelled out the basis for 
the approach he intended to take: "I have been dealing with human rights 
questions now for the last five years. I speak from the vie\vpoint of trial 
and error, from experience. It is one of the most difficult problems [and] 
we have to use all the methods at our disposal." Landau emphasized that 
his primary objective was to make the Embassy a veritable "focal point" 
for the promotion of human rights in Chile.71 

As Landau prepared to take up his post in mid-November, senior 
Carter policymakers moved to ensure that the regime was made fully 
aware the new Ambassador would come anned with a more forceful 
mandate to distance Washington from the ruling Junta than his predecessor 
had or desired to possess. Due to the "extraordinary importance of Chile as 
a symbol of human rights abuse," State's Peter Tarnoff suggested to 
Brzezinski that Landau meet with Carter before his departure for Santiago 
on November 4, thereby demonstrating the new Ambassador clearly 
"speaks with the authority of the Wliite House.,,72 Brzezinski enthusiastically 
supported this idea. In a memo to Carter he stressed that the Chilean 
regime must be in no doubt "that [Landau] is our representative and you 
have confidence in him. Otherwise, he and our human rights policy may 
suffer an lUlllecessary setback in terms of credibility."73 With the media 
deliberately informed of the meeting in advance, Landau was granted ten 
minutes with the President in the Oval Office. Before his departure, Carter 
wrote a letter to Pinochet to underscore the point further, stating that the 
new Ambassador had his "complete confIdence.,,74 Recalling the 
circumstances some three decades later, Landau observed that when he left 
for Chile he carried with him "very clear instructions, and they were to 
keep a distance from Pinochet. . .  and to do what I did in Paraguay: get 
things done.,,75 

On arriving in Santiago, Landau found Pinochet "very, very worried 
about the Carter administration: he thought they were out to get 
him. ,,76The Ambassador exempted the 'White House from this accusation 
but empathized with the Junta leadership's frustration over what it 
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perceived as a lack of reciprocity on Washington's part for concessions 
made, and was critical of the President's failure to realize that some of his 
officials, among them Robert Pastor and Mark Schneider, were indeed 
"out to get Pinochet. ,>77 If that was the case, there is no evidence that these 
sentiments predominated in such a way as to have any major policy 
consequences. True, the US was using its position in international forums 
(OAS, UN) to publicly criticize the regime's foot-dragging on human 
rights as were other govermnents around the world-but Chile was hardly 
the sole target of Carter's moralistic approach. 

Still, Pinochet's anxiety about Carter policy could only have been 
reinforced by a series of developments during Landau's first months in 
Santiago. In November, the interagency Christopher Committee determined 
that the US should oppose four new Chilean loan requests to the Inter­
American Development Bank (IADB) totaling $53.5 million, 
notwithstanding the dissolution of DINA, the cordial meeting between 
Carter and Pinochet, and the latter's conditional agreement to allow UN 
human rights inspectors into Chile. In the course of the Committee's 
discussion, ARA put forth its standard position that "basic human needs" 
(BHN) loans should be supported to avoid punishing the populace "for the 
sins of their govermnent." The bureau's Frank McNeil downplayed the 
scope of the Junta's repression by comparing it favorably with more 
egregious abusers, contending that the number of political prisoners in 
Chile was only in the hundreds and that while "many have been killed [it 
is] certainly less than in Indonesia." Once again, this view failed to attract 
much, if any, sympathy from other Committee members. Christopher 
himself categorically opposed any aid ties or financial assistance to the 
Junta until he saw some "believable and sustained" progress on human 
rights. Nor was it simply a case that, in supporting the loan applications, 
the US would be helping the least well off in Chilean society. What ARA 
failed to understand, said the NSC's Robert Pastor, was that all assistance 
of this kind, including BHN loans, was "channeled" through a government 
and, therefore, is imbued with "overtones of signs and symbols 
legitimizing that govermnent." HA's Mark Schneider challenged McNeil's 
attempt to put a favorable gloss on the human rights environment, noting 
that the Department continued to receive reports of arbitrary arrests, 
detention, disappearances and torture. Christopher brought the discussion 
to an end, announcing that the US would oppose all four loans if they 
came up to the IADB Board for a vote 78 This decision reaffirmed the 
thrust of Secretary Vance's prior cable to the Santiago Embassy that there 
had been no "fundamental change in the human rights situation in Chile 
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which would pelTIlit us to alter our position" on such matters as World 
Bank votes.79 

Although it temporarily withdrew a $14 million soft loan request to the 
IADB for health facilities in early December to avoid the embarrassment 
of an almost certain American veto, Chile did not lack support within the 
MDBs.80 The $24.5 million infrastructure loan request received approval 
from IADB Executive Directors despite the negative vote cast by the US 
representative. While the US position on this loan was no doubt galling to 
Santiago, the fact remained that the loan got through. Equally significant, 
as in other cases where the US opposed a loan on human rights grounds, 
Washington did not put pressure on other member countries to follow its 
lead.81 Another example of the contradictory nature of White House policy 
was that while it consistently opposed Chilean MDB loan requests, it did 
not telTIlinate US bilateral economic assistance which in 1977 totaled 
$33.2 million in loans and grants.82 

Still, Chilean officials were by now being constantly badgered over 
human rights by Carter administration civilian and military officials. In 
early December, the Head of the US Southern Command, General Dennis 
McAuliffe, held discussions in Santiago with Pinochet, Defense Minister 
General Herman Brady, and other senior Army officials. McAuliffe's 
central message was that if the Chileans wanted to improve bilateral 
relations, "the ball is in their court." Discrete improvements were well and 
good but "much more needs to be done and a good track record 
maintained over a sustained period. ,,83 These sentiments likely generated 
more discomfort coming from a fellow officer-who presumably better 
understood the Chilean military's calculations-than those coming from 
senior American diplomats. 

Some military supplies were getting through, including those in the 
pipeline before Congress terminated direct military aid. Although the ban 
extended to private arms transfers, during 1975-76 the Junta purchased 
US-origin vision equipment, revolvers, ammunition, trucks, aircraft and 
aircraft engines, and chemicals used in riot control. When Congress voted 
to extend the prohibition on anns deliveries in 1976, it was presumed 
Chile would remain completely off limits to US military aid and 
commerical anns sales. But, in January 1978, Pastor infolTIled Brzezinski 
that Defense contractors had transferred $43 million worth of arms to 
Chile in the first nine months of 1977 and an additional $39 million worth 
of arms were supposed to be in the pipeline for the following year. This 
situation, argued Pastor, "raises !\vo very fundamental questions: First, 
should we stop the pipeline? I really think we have no choice but to do that 
[and] secondly is there not a better monitoring device for keeping us 
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informed about such anns sales?,,84 The following month Pastor drew the 
NSC Adviser's attention to the fact that at the end FYI977, there was 
$77.9 million worth ofFMS undelivered orders. As they had already been 
contracted and paid for, he expressed "serious reservations" about 
stopping delivery at this time.85 

Back in mid-1977, an administration decision to delay the sale of 
police weapons was described by a State Department official as more of a 
cautious "stall [than a] firm decision" to halt the transfer of these types of 
items permanently.86 That same year the Chilean air force took delivery of 
the earlier purchased 36 F-SE and A-37 fighter planes.87 In November, the 
Los Angeles Times reported that the State and Defense Departments had 
approved sales of engines and electronic equipment to the Brazilian 
aircraft firm Embraer in the full knowledge that the parts were used in 
patrol planes on-sold to the Chilean navy.88 All told, Chile received tens of 
millions of dollars' worth of US military material during the first twelve 
months of the Carter presidency which DOD justified on the grounds they 
had been ordered before June 30, 1976 or else involved dual purpose 
equipment, such as the Embraer sales, which, technically, had civilian as 
well as military applications.89 

Whither the human rights policy 

Discussing the possibilities for exploiting tensions within the ruling Junta 
triggered by Pinochet's assumption of "a greater political role" at the end 
of 1977, an ARA draft memo titled Chile-A Tactical Plan warned that "it 
would be a grave mistake to overestimate the amount of potential leverage 
which the current situation entails." Of course, regime change was not on 
Washington's agenda. "It is not and should not be our policy," the memo 
stated, "to weaken General Pinochet nor to be instrumental in inducing a 
change of government." Maintaining a "cool" relationship and keeping 
cooperation "to a minimum" remained the preferred policy option. ARA 
thus advised limiting participation in activities with opposition groups 
over the next three to six months and instead focusing on funding specific 
small-scale projects in the private sector. But the regime should be under 
no misapprehension that cooperation came at a price: it could and would 
occur only if the Junta "takes serious steps to terminate arbitrary arrests 
and torture, and makes substantive moves toward democratization." The 
objective should be to put the Chileans "on the defensive." Once this 
general political framework was approved it should be implemented in 
consultation with key members of Congress and Washington's principal 
European allies who had an interest in Chile.90 Not long after, however, 
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Warren Christopher restated State's commitment to maintain "correct, 
cool relations" with the military government.91 

While Chile might remain a special case in terms of the human rights 
policy, tlie trend in White House thinking as early as tlie second half of 
1977 was nonetheless toward lowering expectations as to what tlie policy 
could achieve. In June, State Department officials had described the OAS, 
not the United States, as the "principal instrument" for pursuing regional 
improvements in human rights and backed up tliat statement by 
successfully sponsoring a resolution at the armual OAS meeting to 
delegate more of the responsibility for policing abuses to such bodies as 
the IACHR 92 Concurrently, US officials openly spoke of the need for 
greater "even handedness" in dealing with repressive regimes. "We don't 
want the human rights policy to be, or appear to be, purely punitive," 
remarked one ARA official. "We don't want improvements to go 
unnoticed."93 To increasing numbers of individuals inside and outside the 
administration this apparent shift seemed to denote a major backpedaling 
from tlie tough human rights rhetoric of the 1976 presidential campaign. 
Carter's chief of staff, Hamilton Jordan, at one point felt so exasperated by 
the President's apparent lack of commitment to the policy that he had 
asked tlie NSC Adviser, "What's tlie matter with him? I don't recognize 
him. He wasn't like this in Georgia."94 Responding to comments such as 
these, Brzezinski felt compelled to warn Carter of a growing public 
perception that his foreign policy was "soft" and advised him to strongly 
"reassert" his commitment to promoting human rights.95 

At year's end, Carter received a memo from Jordan, supporting a call 
for the President to re-engage forcefully with the issue. "We need to be 
more visible and active," Jordan wrote, because this was the one foreign 
policy initiative "that has a broad base of support among the American 
people and is not considered 'liberal. "'96 The domestic political cost of 
appearing to abandon human rights was not all that worried Carter's senior 
advisers. "[The 1 leading human rights advocates on tlie Hill," reported 
Brzezinski, "are still not convinced that the Administration is serious 
about human rights. "97 In State, there was pressure on Vance to urge the 
White House "to clarify to the bureaucracy how the President views the 
policy, its application, and the range of instruments being used."98 Most 
observers were interpreting his positions on aid legislation as reflecting 
little more than a desire for "damage limiting," wrote Policy Plarming's 
Anthony Lake, and the Executive seems only willing to take measures to 
deny economic or military assistance to major abusers if "ordered" to do 
so by Congress.99 Brzezinski lent support to this critique and suggested to 
Carter that the lack of a Presidential Directive (PD) on human rights was 
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causing "a certain degree of confusion" over the guidelines of US policy, 
and allowed those who opposed it to argue that the policy "does not even 
really exist."loo When a PD finally appeared in February 1978 it did little 
to clear up the confusion. Apart from a new emphasis on the use of 
"positive inducements and incentives acknowledging improvements in 
human rights whenever appropriate," the document essentially repeated 
what earlier policy drafts had said on the subj ect. 101 To some in the 
administration, the PD threatened to only finther water down the US 
government's commitment; to others, it singularly failed to address the 
bureaucratic differences which remained as wide as ever. 

Senior Treasury Department officials were equally unhappy with what 
they considered the State Department's failure to address major flaws in 
the "implementation" of the policy in the IFIs which they ascribed partly 
to a failure "to define clearly its human rights goals. "102 In a memo to 
Secretary W. Michael Blumenthal, two senior subordinates complained 
that, despite having worked "closely" with Warren Christopher and his 
staff, they could not get a precise definition of "gross violators" or what 
objectives the human rights policy were intended to achieve. Unless State 
was able to "pull together country strategies which integrate the IFIs with 
other policy instruments," the two Treasury officials warned, the result 
could have the effect of seriously complicating future congressional IFI 
appropriations.10] 

The appearance of a human rights policy suffused with contradictions 
and inconsistencies did not go unnoticed among America's allies, 
particularly those in Western Europe who had "mixed feelings about what 
we are doing," wrote Anthony Lake in an assessment of the first year of 
the program. Lake identified a number of features that had the potential to 
create "serious problems" in inter-Alliance relations: first, the provision of 
bilateral aid to a country like Chile while simultaneously opposing 
multilateral development bank loans to the same country; second, applying 
more rigorous human rights criteria to economic assistance directed at 
those people most in need while simultaneously adopting more flexible 
criteria regarding military aid or sales programs to selected authoritarian 
allies; third, actually funding abusive governments despite a professed 
commitment to provide aid only to those regimes attempting to improve 
their methods of rule; and, finally, a perception that the harshest aid cut­
offs targeted governments violating the "integrity of the person" (torture, 
arbitrary arrest, etc.) with less importance given to the issues of political 
and civil liberties, levels of economic development, and regimes making 
serious efforts to close the inequality gap. Lake proposed a greater effort 
to "multilateralize" lending policy in order to ease "suspicions of a holier-
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than-thou attitude or an ideological crusade against selected states."l04 
This would prove a forlorn ambition. 

Pinochet's "popular mandate" 

Amid this unfolding policy debate in Washington, Pinochet's autocratic 
rule was coming under sustained attack in the United Nations. Toward the 
end of 1977, the UNHRC Working Group on Chile issued a highly critical 
report and proposed the establishment of a fund to distribute humanitarian 
and financial aid to political prisoners and their families. Despite some 
marginal improvements, rights abuses remained "systemic and 
institutionalized. ,,105 The report brought an angry response from the 
Chilean Foreign Ministry which accused the Working Group of "openly 
violating the principal of nonintervention in the internal affairs of states 
regarding matters which are totally outside its jurisdiction. ,,106 In a letter to 
Carter on November 9, Pinochet denounced the report as a "veritable 
prosecution" of Chile and charged the Working Group with exercising a 
"double-standard" for its "disregard" of numerous other countries with far 
worse human rights records.107 Some weeks later, he again wrote to the 
White House what State's Peter Tarnoff described as an "icy" letter 
attacking the United Nations and the United States "over what he sees as 
[their] failure to understand Chile's position and our interference in 
Chilean internal affairs. ,,108 

These and similar blustering statements made no impression on the 
USUN delegation: in mid-November, it provoked uproar in both Santiago 
and Washington over its leading role in drafting the armual Chile human 
rights resolution for submission to the UNGA. Brady Tyson, who had 
played a prominent role in drafting the condemnatory March 1977 
resolution, was once again involved in drafting an equally harsh resolution 
and, on this occasion, was working "closely" with the Cuban delegation to 
do so. Santiago Embassy officials were incensed about this collaboration 
and its outcome: a document that was "more condenmatory" of Chile than 
alternative drafts submitted by the European Community (EC) and 
Sweden.109 When Ambassador Landau presented copies of his credentials 
at the Foreign Ministry days later, he was subjected to a "long and 
impassioned exposition" by Foreign Minister Carvajal that included an 
attack on "'the collusion" between Tyson and Cuba in preparing the 
resolution.110 

NSC staffer Thomas Thornton wrote to Brzezinski that the "US-Cuban 
draft. .  makes no concession to the fact that there have been 
improvements in Chile." It went far beyond the "less objectionable" 
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language offered by the Europeans, owed "some of the toughest language 
(unnecessarily tough in my view)" to Brady and not to the Cubans,!l1 and 
merely confirmed that "the Embassy is right! !  USUN is out of control.,,112 
Tensions between New York and Washington worsened when State 
signaled a desire to withdraw co-sponsorship of the resolution. The USUN 
delegation responded "that to do so would undercut our human rights 
credibility," especially as the great majority of member states, including 
the United Kingdom, were prepared to support this draft. State's Bureau of 
International Organizations (IO), was more concerned that this sort of 
problem would not go away "as long as Tyson is there. "113 

Pinochet and his senior military officials were bewildered by the US 
decision to accept the USUN position and not oppose Tyson's actions. To 
them, in the words of a CIA report, it was nothing short of "absurd and 
totally incomprehensible politically." Once the American delegation 
received the go-ahead to co-sponsor this resolution, the Chilean rulers 
concluded that it was a "waste of time to continue worrying about the 
present feelings of the US." They had lost all trust and confidence in 
Washington and, as the CIA report continued, "do not foresee any possible 
improvement of relations between the US and Chile as long as the current 
US President is in office." The US role in co-sponsoring the UN 
resolution, together with Carter's letter to Pinochet critical of Chile's 
human rights perfOlmance arOlmd the same time, seemed to the Junta 
leader totally inconsistent with the tenor of their September 1977 White 
House meeting-so much so that Pinochet requested the Foreign Ministry 
assess the impact of Chile withdrawing from the UN. These Chilean 
declarations most likely represented the "feelings of the moment," a CIA 
report suggested, and would not necessarily "guide GOC policy beyond 
the near term" in light of Pinochet's "well-known propensity to take 
extreme positions when angry."114 

The UN the resolution went before the General Assembly on 
December 7, 1977, producing the most scathing condenmation to date of 
the dictatorship's governance. Passed by a vote of 98 to 12 with 28 
abstentions, the resolution "deeply deplor[ ed] the destruction of the 
democratic institutions and constitutional safeguards formerly enjoyed by 
the Chilean people" and concluded that "constant and flagrant violations 
of human rights and fundamental freedoms continue to take place."115 
Pinochet's response was not long in coming. On December 18, he 
announced that Chileans would have a chance to express their 0\Vll 
opinion on his rule in a national referendum-scheduled for January 4, 
1978-that, if successful, would reinforce his mandate internally and 
provide useful ammunition with which to challenge his critics worldwide. 
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Pinochet used the UN vote to play on national pride in campaigning for a 
successful outcome to the plebiscite: the question put to Chileans was 
simply whether or not they supported his "defense of the dignity of Chile" 
and the nation's "sovereignty [against] international aggression."116 

The Santiago Embassy offered another motive for the decision to call 
the plebiscite: "to strengthen [Pinochet's] position within the Junta."117 
This was consistent with the trajectory of a number of decisions Pinochet 
had taken since 1973 to consolidate his authority at the top of the Army 
hierarchy (by manipulating promotions, assignments and the budgets of 
senior officers), within the Junta (by cultivating a base of support among 
conservative forces outside the military and appointing cabinets 
answerable to him rather than the collective leadership), and over the state 
repressive apparatus (through his control of DINA and its successor the 
CNI).118 On this occasion, his Junta colleagues were initially cool in their 
responses to Pinochet's ploy. General Leigh, again incensed over the lack 
of any prior discussion, opposed the whole idea of a plebiscite, 
maintaining that the result would not be taken seriously in the court of 
international opinion and would only enhance Pinochet's personal 
standing 119 The Navy's Admiral Jose Merino had similar quahns and, like 
Leigh, was indignant at Pinochet's failure to consult before making his 
announcement. A major rupture was avoided only when both were 
persuaded to publicly support the plebiscite once it had been armounced.120 

Although, in theory perhaps, the outcome could not be guaranteed, the 
plebiscite was in reality not quite the gamble it seemed. Pinochet loaded 
the dice in his favor by carrying it out under a state of siege, giving the 
political opposition no time to mount an effective campaign, and 
threatening to arrest anyone handing out leaflets advocating a "No" vote. 
The timing allowed for a mere eight day electioneering period (which 
included Christmas and the New Year holidays). While Pinochet may have 
been in the box seat, opposition to his proposal, especially from an 
increasingly active (although formally barmed) PDCl2l and the Catholic 
Church hierarchy (which wi1hlield endorsement of the plebiscite on the 
grounds that the wording of the question was too vague and the public ill­
prepared to make an informed choice) ensured that he did not have 
everything his 0\Vll way. 122 

For all that, Pinochet's confidence proved warranted. The final vote 
count was an overwhelming 75 percent "Yes" to 20 percent "No", with the 
rest of the votes null. The plebiscite's author called it a great moral victory 
and told Chile's politicians that, as a result of the vote, they were 
"finished."123 The ballot boxes would be put in cold storage for the next 
decade, he said, and there would be "no more elections and [no more] 
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voting for 10 years."!24 In Washington, the State Department offered a 
cautious appraisal of the result and what it might mean for Chile's future. 
Spokesman Thomas Reston was mildly critical, observing that ''we believe 
as a matter of principle that any election held should offer all parties 
sufficient guarantees to present their case. ,,125 The Embassy was inclined 
to take the result at face value or, in the words of Political Officer Robert 
Service, "as an accurate reflection of how Chileans felt at that time."126 
Not surprisingly, however, the political opposition branded the entire 
exercise a fraud. 127 

Privately, US officials exhibited more realism about the impact of 
Pinochet's success on the prospects for a return to civilian rule. A CIA 
brief concluded that it would "consolidate" his support within the military, 
particularly the Army, where "doubt about his judgment and leadership 
was beginning to spread," and would reaffitm his "preeminent" status in 
the ruling Junta 128 That analysis was shared by State's INR Bureau: the 
victory had increased Pinochet's "personal power" which, in turn, seemed 
likely to "stall any moves toward internal liberalization," and would 
probably solidify the regime's defiance of international pressures for 
human rights progress.129 Pinochet interpreted the referendum outcome, 
above all, as a personal triumph: "There are no divisions with the military 
Junta because we remain united," he told a Brazilian interviewer. "But 
now I lead the way and the other three follow."!30 Suitably emboldened, 
one of his first acts was to arrest 12 PDC political and labor leaders and 
banish them to internal exile which Policy Planning's Anthony Lake wrote 
in a briefing memo to Vance, signaled that he "will not yet tolerate 
opposition political activity."131 

The Letelier/Moffitt dilemma 

On relocating from the Santiago Embassy to Washington, D.C. to take up 
his new appointment as Chile Desk Officer in August, 1 977, Robert Steven 
discovered that most ARA officials from the Assistant Secretary level 
dO\vn "wanted, if possible, to separate themselves and their reputations" 
from the LetelierIMoffitt investigation. The prevailing sentiment was that 
the murders were "all very unfortunate" but should not be allowed to 
affect bilateral ties or "harm" the Pinochet regime. "The word that I very 
quickly got on the desk," recollected Steven, "was to be quiet and do what 
was necessary but don't raise any problems." One issue that arose was 
deciding what documents related to the case should be provided to the 
Justice Department which wanted to send officials to Chile to research the 
case, and conduct interviews with key individuals. Much to his dismay, 
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Steven discovered that the files related to the case were in a "mess . .  
literally cabinets stuffed full of documents, with no order." Once he began 
the arduous task of sorting out the chaos, he came across documents "that 
clearly should have been" provided to Justice. He initiated contact with 
Eugene Propper and Larry Barcella, the two Assistant US attorneys in 
charge of case, who were desperate for "real evidence" to back up their 
"suspicions." Propper had repeatedly complained about the "lackadaisical 
response" of Steven's predecessor, Robert Driscoll, to requests for 
documents pertinent to the case.132 When Steven handed over the now 
organized files to Propper, the Assistant Attorney "found very quickly the 
infOlmation that was there, recognized its importance, [and] was 
outraged"-so much so that he raised the possibility of prosecuting some 
State Department officials for "obstruction of justice," which Steven 
advised against. He later told Steven that these files were "an important 
turning point in handling the case, because this gave them leads then into 
the assassins who had come here. ,,133 

Propper's change of fortune in the State Department was not, however, 
matched by any significant progress on the Chilean side. In August 1977, 
Propper confided his frustration to the NSC's Robert Pastor. At their most 
recent meeting with Chilean Embassy officials, he reported, the Justice 
attorneys stressed the high probability that regime officials were involved 
in the assassinations and "suggested to them that they 'cut their losses' by 
helping us root out the guilty parties." Despite the Ambassador's promise 
of "full cooperation" and Pinochet's apparent agreement, "the infOlmation 
we received was superficial, incomplete, and failed to answer any of the 
important questions we asked. ,,134 

As the 'White House prepared to welcome regional political leaders to 
the Panama Canal Treaty signings in September 1977, the FBI already 
suspected the DINA of responsibility for the LetelierIMoffitt killings. On 
that occasion, Carter chose not to raise the issue because he did "not want 
anything to stand in the way of traditional US-Chilean friendship"135 and 
equally to avoid any note of discord that might divert regional and world 
attention from his Canal Treaty success. After all, as Carter later \¥fote in 
Keeping Faith, his idea of inviting heads-of-state to the signing ceremony 
was an attempt to "seize the initiative" from anti-treaty forces inside and 
outside the US Congress, and to stage a "vivid demonstration of the 
international significance of the treaties."136 Symbolism, in other words, 
was allowed to trump national security. 

However, by early 1978, the revelations of Chilean government 
involvement in this extraterritorial crime were beginning to create difficult 
problems for Pinochet, at home as well as abroad. In February, FBI and 
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Justice Department officials identified two Chilean military officers­
Michael Townley (an American citizen and DINA operative) and 
Armando Fernandez Larios (also a member of DINA)-they wanted to 
interrogate about the murder. In preparation for a meeting with Chile's 
Ambassador Cauas, ARA briefed Deputy Secretary of State Christopher 
that it was critically important to impress on Cauas the "gravity" with 
which the administration viewed the case, and "our detelTIlination to solve 
it." In other words, "we must insist upon the fullest cooperation."137 
State's Director of the Office of Andean Affairs, Ma1colm Barnebey, told 
a British Embassy official that if it was firmly established that DINA had 
ordered the LetelierlMoffitt killings and if the regime was "'caught with a 
smoking gun in its hand' all hell would break loose in this country."138 

Around this time, Christopher made what some State officials viewed 
as a fateful decision to pursue the investigation (and extradition requests) 
through legal, rather than political and diplomatic, charmels. On taking up 
his position in HA, near the top of Mark Schneider's immediate objectives 
was "to go after Pinochet and to use the foreign policy instruments of the 
US govermnent to do that." One new and formidable obstacle to achieving 
this outcome, in Schneider's view, was precisely Christopher's decision 
which effectively forfeited Pinochet's vulnerability on the issue. Had the 
administration been willing to adopt the position that this was an "act of 
state, not a criminal matter," it could then have taken the case to the 
Uinted Nations Security Council (UNSC) and the OAS on the grounds that 
it was a clear violation of treaty obligations "and we could have pressed 
really hard for their isolation and brought sanctions against them." 
According to State's HA bureau this would have made it possible "to get 
serious sanctions against individuals unless Contreras and Espinoza were 
extradited and made available. And then you could go after Pinochet."l39 
For a change, Todman sided with Christopher in not wanting to see an 
alternative (political) approach "pushed" aggressively. ARA's Chile Desk 
officer Robert Steven, a supporter of the HA approach, was instructed to 
'' 'let Justice take the lead in this. '  The signal was very, very clear: lay 
off. ,,140 

As well as denying US investigators the full strength of political and 
diplomatic leverage, pursuing the case through legal channels meant both 
trusting in-and respecting-the authority of the Chilean Supreme Court 
which dealt with all extradition requests. This was always going to be a 
questionable approach. Although Chile's opposition political parties had 
consistently accused the Court of working with the Junta, the reality was 
certainly more complex. From the beginning, the military had pledged to 
respect the independent fimctioning of the judiciary: officially the Junta's 
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responsibility was to deal with an emergency situation that existed beyond 
Chile's constitutional and legal framework while the Supreme Court 
retained its duties within the parameters of that framework. Politically, the 
Junta sought legitimacy in part by adhering to the principle of legality in 
ways that allowed the Court to exercise fOlTIlal limits on the prerogatives 
enjoyed by the ruling generals.14! But DCM Thomas Boyatt's assertion 
that it "was never Pinochet's COurt"142 certainly overstated its independence. 
In the absence of any legitimate arena of political debate, contests over the 
constitutionality or legality of the Junta's actions had more and more been 
charmeled into the courts in ways that risked a potential confrontation 
between the executive and judicial branches of government-in which 
ultimate power resided with the former. In practice, then, the Supreme 
Court's latitude for action was severely constrained. Christopher's 
decision to wait on the court's determination in the Letelier case, said 
Schneider, attested to his la\V)'er's instinct and was based on "a false 
assumption" that the Chileans were treating the US extradition request 
"straight" instead of factoring in political considerations.143 

Chile's half-hearted efforts to locate and arrest Michael Townley 
dominated a late March meeting in Santiago between Landau, Propper, 
Boyatt, and a number of Chilean officials, including Foreign Minister 
Carvajal. Part way through what Landau considered Propper's excessively 
diplomatic presentation to tbe group, tbe US Ambassador interrupted and 
bluntly accused tbe Chileans of not "'trying very hard'" and warned that, 
in the absence of a more serious effort, Propper would infolTIl the 'White 
House that the Chilean government had been uncooperative and less than 
truthful about its efforts to locate Townley. Although essentially a bluff, 
DCM Boyatt was sufficiently impressed, describing Landau's perfolTIlance 
as a case of really "'sticking tbe knife in [and then] twisting it.'" The 
gambit appeared to work when the Chileans promised to hand over 
Townley. But when Propper arrived at CN! headquarters on April 3 in tbe 
belief tbat Townley's departure formalities would be finalized that night, 
he was told that the expulsion would be delayed for up to two weeks. To 
Landau, there was only one explanation for this postponement: Contreras 
was maneuvering to block Townley's repatriation to the US. The 
Ambassador went directly to the Foreign Ministry and resorted to "some 
very firm table pounding," making it clear that "the investigation could not 
be contained within legal channels" for another two weeks and that the 
State Department "would be obliged to fight back with dramatic 
diplomatic actions." The Chileans finally relented and a "tentative" 
agreement was reached that same night on transferring TO\vnley into 
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American custody. Neither the Chileans nor the Americans, however, 
"seemed to be sure what would happen next. ,,144 

In the meantime, Pinochet could not simply ignore progress in the 
investigation and, to the surprise of a number of US officials, he went to 
some lengths to appease Washington. On March 21, for instance, the 
former head of DINA Manuel Contreras was dumped by Pinochet who 
formally "accepted" his resignation from the Army retaining the rank of 
General. Of greater consequence, two weeks later, Michael TO\vnley was 
expelled from Chile to the United States in what an Embassy political 
officer characterized as a semi-legal operation "because they essentially 
took him to the airport and gave him to US."145 Despite Washington's 
energetic efforts to get TO\vnley, this was a perplexing decision on 
Pinochet's part because it constituted the breakthrough the Carter 
administration was seeking in the investigation. Townley was eventually 
found to have planted the bomb in Letelier's car: his handover established 
beyond doubt DINA's involvement in the assassination and ensured that 
the case would henceforth dominate relations between the US and Chile. 
"The degree of cooperation we got from the [Chilean] military in hanging 
themselves was really quite remarkable," Robert Steven explained. "The 
fact that they went along with us as far as they did, turning the man over to 
us when he could have been 'disappeared,' and effectively admitting guilt 
by firing Contreras, was to their credit. ,,146 

Why Pinochet decided to surrender Townley is unknown but it ensured 
that for virtually the duration of the Carter presidency, the LetelieriMoffitt 
murders would cast a wide shadow across Chile policy. Steven "could not 
emphasize enough how much Letelier dominated everything. If I went to a 
meeting of any sort in the Department and tried to argue for any 
consideration on another Chile issue, I was shot do'Wll. "147 George Landau, 
likewise, recalled the case as "totally dominating" Chile policy: he "was 
never called back to Washington for consultations over any other issue. 
Letelier was it. "148 

Pinochet insulates the regime 

With Townley in American hands, and US investigators probing deeper 
into the circumstances of the LetelierIMoffitt murders, the Chilean 
government's civilian cabinet ministers now began to actively lobby 
Pinochet on the importance of resolving the broader legitimacy problem of 
the regime for the foreseeable future. The suggestions ranged from the 
adoption of a new constitution to the gradual withdrawal of the military 
from politics. These efforts were encouraged by Pinochet's chief 
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constitutional adviser- Jaime Guzman-and by members of his 0\Vll 
general staff, who were equally concerned about the need to progress 
Chile's institutional and juridical 'normalization' to separate the 
government from its anned forces-at least in a fOlTIlal sense.149 The 
driving force behind the Cabinet push was Sergio Fernandez, a regime 
"hardliner," with strong links to the gremio movement. 

The fIrst indication that Pinochet might be responsive to this pressure 
was an armouncement that the state of siege, operating since September 
1973, would not be renewed when it expired on March 11 .  Simultaneously, 
though, he announced that the state of emergency-that allowed Pinochet 
to retain arrest powers but limited incarceration to ten days in the absence 
of a specific charge-would be extended throughout the country for 
another six months.150 In April, Pinochet reorganized his cabinet, 
appointing three more civilian ministers so that civilians now outnumbered 
military officers. The transfer of Sergio Fernandez to head the Interior 
Ministry was particularly signifIcant because for the first time the security 
services would, at least formally, be under the control of a civilian. 
Pinochet also decided that, subject to approval by a future plebiscite, the 
Junta would enact a new constitution containing provisions regulating a 
phased transition to a "protected" democracy. Responsibility for overseeing 
this transition was delegated to Fernandez.151 Last, Pinochet pardoned a 
number of individuals convicted by military tribunals for offenses against 
national security, commuted the sentences of others to banishment from 
Chile, and promulgated a decree-law giving members of the armed forces 
complete amnesty for any criminal act that had taken place between 
September 1 1 ,  1973, and March 10, 1978-except, in another apparent 
concession to Washington, for crimes committed in connection with the 
LetelierIMoffitt murders. 152 Chile's Foreign Minister told the State's Frank 
McNeil that these new human rights initiatives were a "result of both 
Chilean jitters caused by the Letelier investigation and of growing pressure 
for changes within Chile." He compared the process of incremental refolTIl 
with that which took place in Spain after Franco's demise. The difference, 
he told McNeil, was that Pinochet "was not dead and showed no 
inclination of dying. ,,153 

The CIA ascribed Pinochet's decision to advance the transition 
timetable and improve the country's international image primarily to the 
role played by "key Army generals concerned about questions of 
legitimacy and improved relations with the United StateS.,,154 Even so, the 
only circumstance which could conceivably pose a serious problem for 
Pinochet, according to the agency, would be the discovery of "enough 
incriminating evidence" of his 0\Vll involvement in the LetelierIMoffItt 
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murders. As long as the military are satisfied that his '''hands are clean'" 
there was little chance of his being unseated.155 

Publicly at least, the State Department welcomed Pinochet's package 
of measures as a "positive contribution" to the human rights situation in 
Chile.156 Inside the Department, however, this was not a consensus view. 
HA expressed strong misgivings about Pinochet's seeming sleight of hand 
in a report that not even ARA disputed: "The Chilean Government 
continues to maintain a repressive system of control over all political 
activity. There are no effective legal guarantees against Government abuse 
of human rights. A state of emergency which gives the Government 
extraordinary powers remains in effect."157 INR interpreted Pinochet's 
actions as being driven solely by pragmatic politics, specifically a desire to 
moderate another resolution on Chile which was currently being drafted by 
the UNHRC 158 

At the end of January 1978, two NSC staffers met with the US 
Ambassador to the UNHRC, Edward Mezvinsky, to discuss the upcoming 
Commission meeting. Mezvinsky "promise[ d] to keep Brady Tyson in 
check on Chile" and ensure that any public statements on the "sensitive 
subject" of human rights would be made by him alone 159 Weeks later, the 
question of whether or not the US should co-sponsor the principal Chile 
resolution at the UNHRC had flared into a major disagreement between 
George Landau and HA. In a cable to the Department, the Ambassador 
opposed co-sponsorship of the resolution "as it presently stands" because a 
key US goal "is to remove [the] taint of double standard from [the] 
activities of that body." Withholding sponsorship was "the principal 
leverage that the US has for pressing for broader and nondiscriminatory 
attention to human rights violations" and would enhance "US human 
rights credibility and our effectiveness in international fora. "160 The day 
after this cable arrived, Mark Schneider received supportive phone calls 
from the British and Swedish Embassies. Buoyed by these messages, he 
delivered RA's response that a failure to co-sponsor the amended 
resolution would "cause problems with our Western allies and . .  
significantly damage" the prospects of achieving other US objectives in 
the UNHRC. In Latin America, he added, it would be interpreted as the 
US "backing off' on Chile. To make matters worse, Schneider concluded, 
the Congress would also likely see it as backtracking or "retrenchment" on 
the human rights policy in general.!6! 

On Capitol Hill, Pinochet's "concessions" of the previous year were 
subjected to a withering critique by Senator Edward Kennedy who 
described them as all smoke and mirrors: The general anmesty made "no 
mention of the 'disappeared' political prisoners who remain unaccounted 
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for [or] the thousands who are in political exile;" the state of siege had 
been replaced by a new state of emergency; and the plebiscite initiative 
was "not inconsistent" in the JlUlta's thinking with making no changes to 
existing proscriptions on political party and trade lUlion rights. These 
cosmetic changes simply reinforced the case for maintaining and 
tightening the aid sanctions-bilaterally and globally. Kennedy singled out 
the need to halt the continuing "back-door" economic funds from US 
private banks and the transfer of US military equipment to Chile "under 
spurious civilian labels or through third cOlUltries."162 

Another example of what Kennedy considered "back-door" aid was a 
recent Christopher Committee decision to approve $38 million in 
commercial export credits to Chile through the aegis of the Department of 
Agriculture's Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC). The US Embassy 
saw no reason to deny CCC credits to Chile on human rights grolUlds, nor 
did it think a decision to either withhold or grant CCC credits to Chile 
should be "used as a form of leverage affecting GOC behavior" because 
the nation's foreign exchange reserves and global credit rating were "in 
good shape." The lack of sufficient Chilean cooperation over the Letelier 
case, however, was another matter altogether. In a mid-JlUle cable, the 
Country Team questioned the propriety of extending any further credits to 
Chile or Chileans until extradition requests were met. "Doing otherwise," 
Ambassador Landau cautioned, "might signal to the GOC [a] lack of 
seriousness on our part by doing 'business as usual. 

,
,,163 

Among State Department officials, the most detelTIlined and consistent 
opponent ofHA's interpretation of the human rights situation in Chile was 
Assistant Secretary for Inter-American Affairs Terence Todman, who 
made no effort to conceal his lack of sympathy for the whole thrust of 
Carter's human rights policy. Following his visit to the Southern Cone 
nations in August 1977, Todman had been widely criticized by the human 
rights community for not being tough enough on government abuses in the 
countries he had visited l64 In early 1978, displaying his long held 
reluctance to insert political criteria into loan policy decisions, Todman 
clashed with Deputy Secretary Christopher in an ultimately failed attempt 
to get the administration to support a $14 million health loan request 
resubmitted by the Chilean regime to the IADB. In conversation with a 
senior British Embassy official, Todman decried the US policy of 
"disassociation," terming it a "failure" that Pinochet had exploited to his 
own advantage in the 1978 referendum campaign and its outcome. Only 
quiet diplomacy, he insisted, could have any chance of "getting the 
Chileans to mend their ways. ,,165 
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HA, on the other hand, refused to allow Todman's assertions to go 
uncontested. "There have been changes you could define as positive in 
telTIlS of decline in numbers of political prisoners," Mark Schneider 
testified before a House congressional subcommittee in opposing IABD 
loans to Chile, yet "there still remain serious abuses and violations. ,,166 

There was no disputing that the Junta had a case to answer over the 
absence of progress on political and civil rights; where US officials 
diverged was over the stance the administration should take in voting 
against loans to Chile that fell within the "basic human needs" category. 
Todman argued that the regime had become "much more selective and 
restrained in its use of the more flagrant human rights abuses" since mid-
1976, a number of other Third World countries had far worse records than 
Chile, and the regime's "highly creditworthy" status in the eyes of the 
foreign (especially US) private banking connnunity was providing a level 
of financial support which more than substituted for cutbacks in bilateral 
and multilateral aid flows, and ensured that whichever way the US voted 
would have a minimal impact at best.167 

Although Todman lost the argument he maintained his track record of 
resisting every sanction suggested by the Christopher Committee and HA 
targeting Chile or other Third World nations on the grounds that doing so 
somehow furthered the cause of human rights. His barely grudging support 
of Carter's Latin American policy [mally exhausted Christopher's patience 
to the point where he decided to relieve Todman of much of his 
responsibilities. The Assistant Secretary's fall from grace was hastened by 
a speech he gave to New York's Center for Inter-American Relations 
where he launched a thinly veiled attack on the administration's human 
rights policy. It would be a "tactical mistake" to blame an entire government 
for an intolerable act by one of its officials, he told his audience, adding 
that this approach embodied a "selective morality." Continuing in this 
vein, he said in dealing with any Western Hemisphere nation, "we do not 
have to believe that only the opposition is telling the truth, the whole truth, 
and nothing but the truth concerning the conditions prevailing in that 
country."168 Todman's speech was widely circulated in Chile and became 
the subject of a favorable editorial comment in the highest circulation 
daily paper El Mercurio which labeled it "particularly true with regard to 
Chile in the present circumstances."169 In Washington, his remarks were 
interpreted as beyond the pale and Christopher finally persuaded Carter to 
reassign Todman by nominating him as US Ambassador to Spain after he 
formally stepped down as Assistant Secretary in late June.170 
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Landau versus Washington 

Todman was not the only US official at odds with State Department 
policy. In a mid-March 1978 cable to Secretary Vance discussing the 
future direction of US policy toward Chile, Ambassador Landau had 
reached the conclusion that the lack of gains achieved by a policy of trying 
to coax Pinochet showed the approach had failed and a new one was 
required: "I rejected as politically impractical a strategy of working 
through the Pinochet regime to achieve human rights improvement. ,,171 As 
one of his Embassy political officers put it: "Those people who really 
thought you could nudge Pinochet, you know persuade him he didn't have 
to be such a tough guy, it was just sort of embarrassing. It was a carrot and 
stick sort of approach" and Landau doubted its effectiveness.l72 

By now, having developed a quite sophisticated understanding of the 
Chilean political scene, Landau, in effect, was challenging a fundamental 
assumption on which Carter policy was based-that Pinochet was not so 
much part of the problem (only some of his behavior was problematic) as 
part of the solution. While acknowledging that the US had limited leverage 
in seeking to influence a difficult ally, the Ambassador desired a more 
active effort to develop lines of communication with centeriright and 
acceptable centerlleft politicians, as well as the Junta and other generals 
more sympathetic to political changes. FurthelTIlore, there was no 
disputing that Pinochet retained substantial popular support and, echoing 
an argument often made by his predecessor, Landau warned that external 
pressures to moderate regime behavior carried the risk of a nationalistic 
backlash (the old Embassy fallback position). Adopting a policy of "cool 
disdain," Landau argued, was most likely to strengthen the 10nger-telTIl 
objective of a "more rapid, but peaceful transition . . .  to civilian democratic 
rule [and in] essence, we need to structure our approach for a longer 
haul.,,173 The key to achieving US objectives, he suggested to Vance, 
remained "the application of pressures modulated so as to avoid [any] 
backlash. ,,174 

For all his efforts to counsel Washington on the best course of action to 
achieve a consensus outcome, Landau was becoming increasingly 
frustrated over the contradictory responses of his political masters to 
Embassy analyses and proposals, and their refusal to reciprocate 
Pinochet's concessions to US policy demands. "I simply made it very clear 
that you can't have it both ways," he later explained. "You can't give me 
instructions to go in and get this done and that done if at the same time you 
don't show any recognition for the things they have done unilaterally to 
please us. ,,175 His criticism of a lack of reciprocity on the part of the \¥hite 
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House and State Department intensified following the decision in late 
March 1978 to replace the "hardline" Foreign Minister Patricio Carvajal 
with a relative moderate, Hermin Cub ill os-a change that signaled to 
Landau a shift to a more "flexible" foreign policy approach.176 

Cubillos' immediate task, as Landau saw it, was to convince Pinochet 
that he had to improve his relations with the US. The proof of his success 
was the restoration of the lines of communication between the Junta leader 
and the US Embassy. Witb Cubillos' help, "everything I asked for was 
done," said Landau who linked this development to Pinochet's new 
outreach strategy that included turning Michael TO\vnley over to American 
autborities, lifting tbe ban on the UN Special Rapporteur visiting Chile, 
and agreeing to meet for the first time with senior representatives of the 
US labor movement (AFL-CIO). "I reported this and said these are 
positive things and if we continued on this line we would be able to make 
real strides in tbe human rights field to get people released. The answer 
from Washington was to be harsher than ever."l77 Pinochet took great 
offense: "He now realized that regardless of what he did he would get only 
the fist in tbe face." Washington continued "to send [me] instructions to do 
a great number of things but of course I was rebuffed." Landau attributed 
the failure of his assessments to be taken seriously in State to the excessive 
influence wielded by HA, singling out Assistant Secretary Patricia Derian 
and Mark Schneider who, he insisted, "continued their attacks" on 
Pinochet. 178 

To Landau, his task had become even more difficult following Jimmy 
Carter's remarks at tbe opening session of tbe Eightb OAS General 
Assembly meeting in Washington, D.C. in June, 1978. Pinochet was 
already fuming over the Wbite House failure to respond to his earlier 
"concessions"; Carter's speech made matters worse because it included a 
call to find a solution to Bolivia's lack of access to the sea. In a surprise 
move some four months earlier, La paz had severed relations with 
Santiago over the failure to resolve this issue. During his meetings with 
Latin heads of state following the signing of the Panama Canal Treaties in 
1977, Carter had attempted to mediate the dispute: now he was publicly 
siding with Bolivia less than twelve months before the hundredth 
anniversary of the outbreak of hostilities between Peru, Bolivia and Chile 
in the War of tbe Pacific. This marked a departure from the more neutral 
stance adopted by the Ford administration. Landau was uncertain as to 
whether responsibility for Carter's comments lay with HA in its desire "to 
keep the pot stirred" or Robert Pastor "because he knew about the Bolivian 
thing." 'Whatever the reason, the Chilean leader was furious: "It was 
totally uncalled for because no-one had asked [the administration for such 



Muddying the Waters 203 

a statement] . The Bolivians hadn't asked them, it was a total surprise. To 
Pinochet that was a dagger to the heart," wrote Landau, "and he started 
realizing that things are not going to work, regardless of how many favors 
he does for me. "179 

Despite Todman's departure the following month-and his replacement 
as Assistant Secretary for Inter-American Affairs by Viron Vaky­
bureaucratic disagreements over the implementation of the human rights 
policy continued unabated. "We are engaging in an evangelical phase to 
advertise our moral concerns to the rest of the world," complained one US 
official. "Yet the inconsistent way we apply our policy means we look 
hypercritical and moralistic, not moral." RA's Assistant Secretary Patricia 
Derian's rejoinder sent a clear message that the human rights advocates 
were not about to accommodate the entreaties of their ARA (or any other) 
colleagues, or retreat into silence: "We aren't the tooth-fairy handing out 
sugar plums to kids who put their teeth under the pillow," she told 
reporters asking about the policy differences.18o For all the disarray in 
pursuing human rights policy, in other words, the strongest advocates of 
this approach were not about to back off or compromise in any fashion. 





CHAPTER 7 

ONE STEP FORWARD, Two STEPS BACK 

"The policy to Chile was simple: he 's a dictator, he's bad news. What can 
we do? And the answer is we can't do anything. " 
George Landmt, Ambassador to Chile, 1977-1982 

In April 1978, a report prepared for the Christopher Committee 
acknowledged new tensions had emerged with Congress during the first 
fifteen months of the Carter White House over implementation of the 
human rights policy. One was a perceived lack of consistency: Washington 
was seen to be applying harsh treatment to soft targets-nations where the 
US had no vital interests-but "a different standard to those countries 
which are important to us." Another was a concern that the policy was 
putting at risk more important US interests. Finally, there were questions 
raised as to whether sanctions, including opposition to IFI loans, were a 
more effective tactic in achieving human rights improvements than "moral 
suasion and arousal of world opinion. "1 This last assessment was dubious 
in the case of Chile. Four months on, the Director of State's Policy 
Planning (SIP) staff, Anthony Lake, argued that "Chile could be the 
hardest test of the policy we are advocating. Violations of the person have 
virtually ended, in part as a result of our pressure. There is a good chance 
that continued pressure from us could contribute to further progress toward 
restoration of political freedoms." Lake saw the US role in recent Chilean 
history as making it "impossible for us to be neutral: to begin now to 
support IFI loans to [Chile], or to open up Exim credits, would be seen (in 
Chile and abroad) as prematurely rewarding" the military dictatorship. The 
administration must also take into account congressional demands to 
increase pressures on the Junta to return Chile to democracy. In other 
words, "the arguments for keeping the heat on are strong."2 

Nonetheless State's Policy Planning (SIP) office raised the ire ofHA's 
Patricia Derian when it argued that the administration should adopt a 
general policy against taking human rights into account on IFI votes, once 
violations of the person had ended. "The problems inherent in SIP's broad­
brush approach are exemplified by the [case] of Chile," she wrote to 
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Christopher. "Aside from the political outcry, voting for IFI loans for 
Chile would create a serious moral dilemma." Violations of rights of the 
person, she continued, "have fallen off because sufficient numbers of 
political opponents have been killed, terrorized or driven into exile. It 
would be ironic if our logic led us automatically to respond favorably to 
such 'success' by supplying export credits and voting for IFI loans.,,3 No 
resolution of this difference of opinion was in sight. 

The Letelier investigation stalls 

While such differences of opinion continued in Washington, by mid-1978 
Pinochet had noticeably altered his approach toward the Letelier 
investigation. The CIA described the shift from an initial strategy of 
"grudging cooperation" to one of "hardline stonewalling tactics" in an 
effort to prevent the US government from building a case against Manuel 
Contreras and others involved in carrying out the murders. 

The State Department chose to show its disapproval at Chile's foot­
dragging by blocking a shipment of bomb parts Santiago had ordered 
before the congressional ban on anns transfers took effect. In June, 
Landau was also recalled to Washington following the Junta's rejection of 
numerous US requests to interrogate Chilean military officers identified by 
the FBI as persons of interest.4 These initiatives seemed out of tune with 
Deputy Secretary Warren Christopher's commitment to the legal route but 
he decided to use the occasion of Landau's recall to review the human 
rights situation in Chile-a decision the Department of Justice called the 
latest demonstration of the extent to which all aspects of US policy were 
now entangled in the Letelier case.5 Justice officials were distinctly 
unimpressed, indeed angered, according to ARA's John Bushnell, by 
State's very public armouncement linking the general and specific issues 
on the grounds that this "would strengthen Pinochet in his efforts to gain 
domestic support for his hidden policy of non-cooperation in the case." It 
undermined efforts by Justice officials to steer clear of internal Chilean 
politics and focus purely on getting hold of those security officials accused 
of responsibility for the murders for trial in an American court.6 
Christopher's decision to pursue the Letelier investigation primarily 
through legal channels was proving impracticable. Not surprisingly, the 
Chile Desk Officer Robert Stevens would later claim that "Chile relations 
in general [were] Warren Christopher's headache."7 

In his memo, Bushnell had reminded Christopher that the US still 
retained one source of leverage-"our principal non-symbolic weapon"­
in the effort to force Pinochet to extradite or prosecute those implicated in 
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the assassination: the approximately $25 million remaining in the FMS 
military supply pipeline for delivery to Chile. Terminating the funds on 
human rights grounds, however, was not justified on an objective 
evaluation of the situation inside Chile since "in both absolute and relative 
terms" abuses had declined since 1976 and any resort to new sanctions 
would almost certainly prove "counterproductive." Bushnell, however, 
recommended keeping the funds in reserve as "one of our most useful 
instruments of pressure" to gain Chile's cooperation. Given his initial 
directive, it would not have been surprising had Christopher rejected 
outright any proposed non-judicial approach to dealing with the Letelier 
matter. Instead, he ticked his agreement in the margin.8 

In mid-June, with Chilean cooperation in the Letelier investigation at a 
standstill, Pinochet's recently appointed Ambassador to the US, Jose 
Miguel Barros, was called to the State Department where officials 
impressed on him the importance the 'White House attached to a concerted 
effort on Chile's part to bring the investigation to a satisfactory 
conclusion.9 The Chilean response was more stonewalling. To State, it was 
increasingly clear that extradition of the former DINA officials for trial in 
the US was "not on the cards." If that was the case, US officials believed 
there was little chance of their prosecution in Chile. Moreover, lacking any 
clear evidence of Pinochet' s knowledge of the assassination his position as 
head of state was reasonably secure. For now, Pinochet and his closest 
advisors had adopted the position "that they have more to gain by 
stonewalling than by further cooperation. nlO 

In response to the regime's foot-dragging when it came to resolving 
the LetelierIMoffitt case, a State Department options paper addressed the 
question of what possible measures could be used to apply pressure on the 
regime. They ranged from the cancellation of Carter's ambassador-at-Iarge 
and Special Representative to the UN Law of the Sea Convention Elliot 
Richardson's scheduled visit to Santiago, to the withdrawal of Chile's 
invitation to participate in UNIT AS naval maneuvers later in the year, to 
the withdrawal of the Military Group (MILGP) and the US Ambassador. 
"Some or all of these steps in combination," the paper concluded, "will 
have secondary effects, including the tightening up by private international 
banks on their Chilean lending."" 

Richardson's proposed trip to Chile for a Law of the Sea conference 
caused disquiet among US officials because, in the wake of progress in the 
Letelier investigation, his high rank "might send the wrong signal­
American indifference to the assassination." Richardson's executive 
assistant was called to the Old Executive Office Building on the eve of his 
departure and told by an NSC official he should not visit Chile. Landau 
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had supported Richardson's attendance "on the grounds that Chile was a 
leader at the conference, and on the merits it was appropriate to consult its 
[Law of the Sea] officials."12 Ultimately, Richardson postponed the trip. 

'When Landau returned to Santiago after consultations in Washington, 
the State Department publicly declared that "mutual cooperation had been 
re-established" between the US and Chile.13 Yet, among those officials 
charged with responsibility for monitoring bilateral ties, this was not a 
consensus view. Nor was it the view within the Embassy where the 
Ambassador himself was particularly skeptical of a return to normal 
relations and considered the most likely outcome of various pressures on 
Pinochet in the medium term would be an internal military coup. "[W]e 
are approaching the end of the road in US-Chilean relations and it is only a 
matter of time before the Army leadership realizes that the only way Chile 
will improve its relations with the rest of the world is by replacing 
Pinochet. [Letelier] is the catalyst which will finally galvanize the Chilean 
Generals to take the inevitable step." With a long-standing dispute over the 
Beagle Islands dispute "heating up" again and Carter's failure to mention 
it during his OAS speech, concern over possible Argentine military action, 
anxiety over the UNHCR Working Group visit and the "political 
pressures" that were likely to follow it, the regime "feels besieged," 
concluded Landau.14 

State now considered dangling the carrot of US support to help resolve 
both the Beagle Charmel dispute and the Bolivian corridor issue. Recent 
discussions between State officials and Ambassador Landau, Secretary 
Vance informed the White House, left no doubt that the "GOC's greatest 
fear at present is that Argentina will take advantage of Chile's 
international isolation to seize islands south of the Beagle Channel." The 
quid pro quo for Chilean cooperation on the Letelier case might be US 
assurances to Pinochet about finding a means "to dissuade Argentina from 
military action." The US could likewise assure Chile of Washington's 
active support for direct negotiations with Bolivia over the corridor issue, 
thereby avoiding any possibility of it ending up in some international 
forum.15 

A resolution of the continuing debate in State over BHN loans to Chile 
soon became more pressing when, in July, a $20 million agricultural 
development loan application by the Chilean government came up for 
discussion in the Christopher Committee. The loan did not meet the BHN 
test but ARA believed it could easily be restructured to meet the criteria. 
Rather than force a quick decision the Committee members agreed to hold 
off for the time being. Non-BHN loans were a different matter altogether: 
the all-embracing shadow that the Letelier issue cast over Chile policy was 
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such that even ARA conceded that to approve these requests would be 
"misinterpreted" not only by the military leadership in Santiago but also 
by "important, Administration, Congressional, and public currents of 
opinion here. ,,16 

Pinochet ousts Leigh 

Landau's prediction that Pinochet might be deposed also proved incorrect 
when he actually consolidated his position in late July by removing 
General Leigh from the Junta, less than a week after the Air Force chief 
had called for a transition to "institutional nOlma1cy" within five years.17 
Leigh had certainly long harbored suspicions about Pinochet's ambitions. 
Their relationship first took a serious turn for the worse as far back as 
early 1976 when the Air Force General proposed the dissolution of DIN A 
and a speedy return to civilian rule.18 Months later, Leigh exercised his 
veto power in the Junta to halt Pinochet's efforts to privatize education and 
mining property. In 1977, he blocked Pinochet's attempt to assume broad 
legislative authority to deal with anomalies arising out of the January 1974 
decree declaring non-Marxist political parties in recess.19 \¥bile publicly 
insisting that he saw eye-to-eye with Pinochet on the form Chile's new 
institutional order should take, it was clear that Leigh preferred a 
quicker-if not more comprehensive-transition from military rule than 
Pinochet was willing to contemplate.20 However it was the looming 
Supreme Court decision on Letelier that "apparently motivated Pinochet to 
press for Leigh's ouster.'>21 

Under the terms of the June 24 Statute of the Junta, chiefs of staff held 
their posts until "death, resignation or a total impailTIlent of the person." 
While Pinochet could appoint and retire chiefs of staff of the Army, he 
needed the support of the other Junta members to remove Leigh.22 To 
neutralize any potential opposition to this move from Leigh's 0\Vll service, 
Pinochet had Army units surround Air Force bases prior to the 
announcement.23 The other Junta members "who disapproved of Leigh's 
constant challenges to Pinochet as damaging to the unity of the armed 
forces" supported his ouster.24 Leigh's removal was accompanied by a 
"massive purge" of air force generals.25 Seventeen of the Air Force's 19 
most senior officers resigned in protest and its 10th ranking officer, 
General Fernando Matthei, was promoted in Leigh's place.26 Once again 
Pinochet had asserted his authority over his Junta colleagues who, from 
now on, would be much more cautious about opposing his decisions. 

Not long after Leigh's ouster, a Federal Grand Jury in Washington, 
D .C. handed down its decision that eight Chileans had participated in tbe 
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Letelier assassination plot. Of those indicted, Assistant US Attorney 
Eugene Propper disclosed that the Carter administration would request the 
arrest and extradition offmmer DINA head General Manuel Contreras, his 
second-in-command Colonel Pedro Espinoza Bravo, and DINA operative 
Captain Femandez Larios. The next day, the House of Representatives, 
threatening to undelTIline Bushnell's success in persuading Christopher to 
keep the powder dry, voted against all US arms shipments in the pipeline 
until the three officials had surrendered to authorities. Justice Department 
officials were furious: labelling the action "premature and inappropriate," 
they warned that the legislators' action could "seriously impede" efforts to 
bring the three Chileans to trial if the Junta interpreted it as interference in 
Chile's internal affairs, and that it was little more than a political tactic 
aimed at toppling the regime. The House accepted this argument and 
swiftly reversed its original vote.27 

When Santiago had not responded to Propper's request by October, 
Deputy Assistant Secretary of State Frank McNeil laid out a phased 
strategy to "'break the Chilean stonewall '" and, if that failed, to punish the 
regime. First, Landau should be instructed to warn the Chileans to 
"abandon the cover-up" or the US would take "appropriate action." 
Second, they should be told that a failure to act might result in another 
recall of the Ambassador for consultations and the application of a new set 
of already decided-upon punitive measures. Third, Washington could go 
public with a threat it had learned about to "blackmail" Pinochet and 
thereby force him to continue to protect Contreras. In that event, the 
administration would be forced to conclude that the "continued cover up 
confirms GOC responsibility (read Pinochet) for the murders [and that] we 
were prepared to take certain concrete measures to severely affect" the 
bilateral relationship. Fourth, the White House might make good on that 
threat by taking "certain steps all at once for maximum effect."28 For the 
moment, these suggested actions-vague as they were-stayed at the level 
of general recommendations. 

US capital embraces Chile 

Through 1977 there had been no great influx of new foreign capital in 
Chile due largely to the country's economic recession, its stagnant 
domestic market, hyperinflation, and a perception that the labor force had 
not been sufficiently brought to heel or lasting political stability achieved. 
Nonetheless, American investors in Chile were "quite vocal" in their 
opposition to Carter's human rights policy .'9 A generalized hostility 
surfaced within weeks of the presidential transition because, compared to 
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the Allende years "they were now in a situation where they could operate, 
which is all they cared about," remembered the Embassy's Thomas 
Boyatt.3o But this new \¥hite House obsession with human rights "put 
their investments at stake and if Chile had decided to retaliate in some 
way, they were hanging out tbere," said a State Department official. "We 
had meetings with American businessmen and the atmosphere tended to be 
very chilly."31 

In an effort to improve the conditions for capital accumulation, the 
Pinochet regime introduced new foreign investment regulations in early 
1977 that offered greater incentives and protections to overseas investors. 
These regulations were part of a broader strategy to enhance tbe profit­
making environment by using the full force of the state's repressive 
apparatus to create a more docile workforce, and by eliminating the 
activities of political parties that might pose any long-term tbreat to 
property rights or to the security of overseas capital. The regime promoted 
its economic model in the American media, taking out press 
advertisements boasting that Chile had "tranquility and stability in all 
sectors of the labor force [and] internal conditions of social calm and 
peaceful coexistence, with a complete absence of any kind of radical 
violence.'>32 For the time being at least, and under the ever-constant 
vigilance of the regime, these were not empty claims, even if they 
contradicted the Junta's insistence to be still dealing with a major 
"terrorist" threat inside the country. Chile, observed George Landau, "was 
a good place to invest. ,,33 

In January 1978, the Exxon Corporation armounced that it was 
purchasing a government-owned copper mine for $107 million-tbe 
largest US investment since the military coup. Wben asked whether tbe 
regime's human rights perfOlmance was considered prior to the decision, 
an Exxon spokesman merely responded that the shift to a stable political 
order had transformed Chile into an attractive option.34 While the Exxon 
decision appeared to herald the beginnings of a surge in new US 
investments, caution remained the byword: only about 12 percent of the 
$4.1 billion in foreign investments approved by the Chilean government 
between mid-1974 and mid-1979 actually entered the country, charmeled 
almost exclusively into the mining sector of the economy, and profit levels 
during that period remained below the regional average.35 

Equally, if not more, critical to a turn-around in Chile's economic 
fortunes, and the Junta's ability to sustain the upswing, was continued 
access to large amounts of capital from foreign private banks. Between 
1973 and 1978, the Chilean government borrowed an estimated $1.5 
billion from these institutions, of which $927 million was provided by US 
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banks alone. In 1978, these financial institutions accounted for over 80 
percent of Chile's total borrowings abroad, profoundly weakening the 
dictatorship's vulnerability to outside economic and financial, let alone 
political, pressure over its human rights record.36 The most generous 
American benefactors included some of the nation's highest profile 
institutions: Bankers Trust ($180 million), Morgan Guaranty Trust ($150 
million), Chemical Bank ($125 million), Wells Fargo National Bank ($125 
million), Citicorp ($82 million), and First National Bank of Chicago ($75 
million).37 

This dramatic shift in the source of funds did not go unnoticed on 
Capitol Hill. In April 1978, House Banking Committee chairman Henry 
Reuss had reminded those participating US banks that lending to Chile 
was "not helpful" to the human rights policy and requested a "full public 
explanation." A First National Bank of Chicago executive gave an 
unsurprising defense: the lending was perfectly legal, the opportunities for 
profit making were "attractive," and the bank considered Chile to be a 
creditworthy country.38 A mid-year report prepared by the US Embassy 
bemoaned the extent to which the banks' behavior had effectively 
"dissipated the impact of USG actions linking economic assistance to 
human rights-constitutional government improvements." That said, as long 
as non-US private banks were eager to lend, any decision by American 
banks to reduce or telTIlinate their ties with Chile for whatever reason 
would have only a limited impact because European, Japanese and 
Canadian competitor banks could be expected to fill the vacuum. 
Nonetheless, the report allowed for the possibility that, "given the 
leadership role of US banks," any move to contract their lending could 
have a domino effect. "Just as US banks led the way in," the Embassy 
suggested to Vance, "so they can lead the way out. "39 

The White House, however, showed no inclination to press American 
banks to take the initiative. The dominant view was that the administration 
could not and should not try to interfere except where government 
subsidies were part of the calculation. "There was never any 
consideration," said Robert Pastor, "of an embargo on either trade or on 
financial services of any kind. ,,40 This refusal to block private capital flows 
to Chile was in keeping with a stance enunciated by Carter at the 
beginning of his presidency that he would not attempt to harness private 
sector investment and trade to the ends of his human rights policy-most 
recently repeated on the occasion of his visit to Brazil in March, 1978. 
Asked by journalists how he would respond if the US Congress sought to 
link commercial banking loans to Brazil's human rights policy, Carter's 
reply was unequivocal: "It would be inconceivable to me that any act of 
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Congress would try to restrict the lending of money by American private 
banks to Brazil under any circumstances . . .  and if such an act was passed 
by Congress, I would not approve it. ,,41 During later congressional 
testimony, Deputy Assistant Secretary of State Christopher reaffirmed that 
"as a general rule, we have sought to implement the human rights policy 
without interfering with private commercial operations abroad. ,,42 

The same principle applied to Chile: while the US government was 
prepared to take a hard line on Chilean loan requests in the multilateral 
development banks, private bank lending did not elicit a similar response. 
At hearings on US-Chilean relations in late July, Senator Kennedy and 
Representative Thomas Harkin ignored Carter's tough talk about vetoing 
any legislation that attempted to restrict private bank lending and 
announced they would introduce an amendment to the Foreign Assistance 
Act (FAA) in the hope of at least generating public pressure on these 
institutions to stop funding Chile and other major human rights violators 
by requiring the banks to document their financial support of these 
regimes. The likelihood of the amendment passing was slight, but what 
upset Carter officials was that the private sector lending atmosphere "will 
have been chilled."43 NSC Adviser Brzezinski attacked this initiative as 
part of a trend toward an overly assertive regional human rights policy that 
was "in danger of becoming one-sidedly anti-rightist." But he laid the 
blame at the feet of the State Department, not the Congress: "I said that we 
are running the risk of having bad relations simultaneously with Brazil, 
Chile and Argentina because of the way State was implementing our 
human rights policy."44 

But Pinochet had little to fear on the economic front. Through 1978, 
and due precisely to the massive inflow of private foreign bank capital, the 
Chilean economy was reviving in spectacular fashion. Average ammal 
growth rates were approaching seven percent, the shock treatment 
administered by the Chicago Boys had forced inflation down from triple to 
single digits, the export sector posted rapid growth figures and rising 
prices (accompanied by a significant fall in the balance of payments 
deficit), and real wage levels were beginning to climb (although they only 
returned to their 1970 level in 1980). Much of this new dynamism was 
made possible by deregulation of the financial sector, rising foreign 
investment, and the massive increase in funds from private foreign 
financial institutions. On the negative side, unemployment remained 
between 15 and 20 percent, public spending on health and education 
declined, increased consumption was concentrated in the top 20 percent of 
income earners, and the medium and long-term external debt rose 
sharply-from $4.3 billion in 1973 to $9.4 billion in 1980.45 
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The 'White House had no reason to upset Chile's economic refOlTIl 
program unduly. An announcement that the US Executive Director would 
vote "No" on a Chile structural adjustment loan (SAL) request at a World 
Bank Board meeting scheduled for late November-based on "legislative 
criteria" centered on human rights concerns-was accompanied by 
policymakers' dismissal of any suggestion that this decision had broader 
implications. Carter officials wanted it clearly understood that no action 
would be taken to otherwise pressure Chile because the administration 
"strongly" supported the Junta's economic policies and considered its 
market-orientation and record of responsible management a "model for 
others. "46 

The boycott threat 

As part of its determination to crush the political base of the Allende 
government and recreate a malleable labor force for its neo-liberal 
economic program, the organized working class had been singled out by 
the military regime and subjected to the full force of the state's repressive 
apparatus. Sunnning up Junta policy toward the labor movement after five 
years of military rule, Ambassador Landau was brief and to the point: it 
was based on "a big stick and not much carrot. "47 

During the Nixon-Ford years, the fate of Chile's unions had not been a 
high priority in Washington. To the extent that there was some interest in, 
and concern over, Pinochet's treatment of Chilean workers it was largely 
confined to the Santiago Embassy (principally Labor Attache Art Nixon) 
whose role DCM Thomas Boyatt characterized as that of "keeping the 
opposition union leadership alive" with the help of the AFL-CIO whose 
officials "were dO\vn to see us all the time. ,,48 Very occasionally in the 
Ford years, Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs 
William Rogers, would meet with AFL-CIO President George Meany to 
discuss the labor situation in Chile, although few if any policy consequences 
resulted.49 

Expectations that the Carter administration would take a greater 
interest in the plight of Chile's trade union movement were strong in view 
of the 'White House's professed commitment to a human rights-based 
foreign policy which at least acknowledged that there were social and 
economic rights even if these took a lower priority to political and civil 
rights. These hopes failed to eventuate: what efforts occurred to support 
workers' rights were half-hearted at best, reflecting a general reluctance to 
antagonize the Junta over issues that might impact negatively on the 
satisfactory resolution of more important problems-notably the Letelier 
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case. Despite the devastating reversal in labor's fortunes, union activism 
was never completely extinguished. In late 1977 and throughout much of 
1978, evidence of a revived challenge to the dictatorship was not hard to 
find. Labor disputes spread from the all-important copper miners to textile, 
minerals and ports and were accompanied by the establishment of the 
Coordinadora Nacional Sindical (National Trade Union Coordinator or 
CNS), an organization of Socialist, Communist and Christian Democratic 
union activists. 50 Rising worker militancy was a sufficient risk to Chile's 
export and investment drive that even the pro-government newspaper El 
Mercurio began to raise subtle concerns about the regime's ability to 
manage labor relations effectively.51 Even the country's neo-liberal 
refOlmers themselves began calling for new labor laws to replace 
emergency decrees and to give investors a degree of certainty in dealings 
with their workforces. 

Potentially more threatening to the economic program was the growing 
success of exiled Chilean labor leaders in mobilizing international support 
for the plight of their domestic constituencies. 52 In December 1977, an 
AFL-CIO convention passed a resolution describing the Pinochet regime 
as a "military fascist dictatorship" that had abolished all trade union rights 
and it requested the US government to "sever all relationships" with the 
Junta.53 The following May, the powerful American longshoremen's union, 
with the concurrence of the AFL-CIO, took matters into its 0\Vll hands, 
refusing to unload two Chilean ships docked in US ports in retaliation for 
the reported arrest of six Chilean maritime workers. Weeks later, a high­
level AFL-CIO delegation visited Chile at the invitation of the anti­
communist Group of Ten (GIO). 

In a two-hour meeting with General Pinochet, the delegation's leader, 
Thomas Gleason (an AFL-CIO vice-president and head of the International 
Longshoremen Association), said he was "very disappointed with the lack 
of respect for trade union freedoms and would leave Chile less favourably 
inclined than when he arrived." The delegation called for the lifting of 
restrictions on workers' rights to assemble without prior authorisation, to 
elect officials, to bargain collectively, and to take strike action. It was 
equally concerned about what passed for the government's attempt to train 
labor leaders, and stressed the importance of establishing a timetable for 
the election of labor representatives without delay to avoid driving 
democratic unionists into the anns of the communists or right-wing 
extremists. When Pinochet accused the G 1 0 of being "manipulated if not 
controlled" by the communists on the basis that both participated in a May 
Day demonstration, the delegation responded that this was a good example 
of why nonnalization of trade union activity was "an urgent priority" to 
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avoid polarizing the labor movement. In their private discussions with 
local union leaders, the American visitors also conveyed a blunt message: 
any actual cooperation between "democratic" and "communist" unions 
could create difficulties in regard to future AFL-CIO support. 54 

The delegation left Chile with little more than vague promises from 
Pinochet to attend to labor reforms at some time in the future. 55 AFL-CIO 
President George Meany, however, was not prepared to wait indefmitely 
for some sign that measures were being implemented. After listening to a 
report by Vice Presidents Gleason and Sol Chaikin on their Chile 
discussions, Meany wrote directly to President Carter that the AFL-CIO 
Executive Council had decided the military regime "must face grave 
international consequences" if it failed to significantly improve its human 
rights observance. In the absence of a "satisfactory response" from 
Pinochet by November 26, when the Executive Council of the Organizacion 
Regional Interamericana de Trabajadores (Inter-American Regional 
Organization of Workers or ORIT) met in Lima, the AFL-CIO would 
"cooperate fully" with hemisphere trade unions in organizing "an effective 
international action against the Chilean government's continued repression 
of its workers.,,56 To apply pressure on the 'White House, Meany ensured 
that his letter was distributed inside Chile as well. Union leaders told 
Landau that the dictatorship could not take the risk that an American 
labor-supported boycott would "snowball" into a worldwide boycott of 
Chilean products and transportation. 57 

Throughout this period, the US Embassy maintained "very close 
contact" with AIFLD officials and supported the organization's request for 
increased US govemanent funding.58 Landau acknowledged that an 
expanded AIFLD program in Chile involved some political risks simply 
because it received the bulk of its funding from Washington. AIFLD's 
other sponsor, the AFL-CIO, could also complicate the Institute's 
operations in Chile if the shipping boycott went ahead, conceivably 
endangering continuation of the entire program. On balance, though, 
Landau concluded that the proposed budget increases and the use of the 
additional funds to expand ongoing programs "do not dangerously 
increase our political exposure in Chile." FurthemlOre, these measures 
would enable the G 1 0 and the pro-government Sindicato de Trabajadores 
de Chile (Union of Chilean Workers or UNTRACH), which had already 
established a working relationship "to compete more effectively" with the 
leftist CNS and its labor allies, to operate in ways that would benefit long­
tenn US interests in Chile. 59 

The regime met another wave of industrial unrest in August-September 
with new and harsher repressive decrees, including the power to dismiss 
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public employees without due process. Following a late October meeting 
of the Junta, the Cabinet and the military high command, seven leftist 
national labor federations (representing 529 local unions with a total 
membership of more than 300,000 workers) were dissolved, and their 
property confiscated. The government then called snap elections (on 
October 31) for all private sector unions as part of an effort to head off any 
international trade boycott threat. Campaigning was barmed as were 
printed ballots. Any candidate who was a union office holder or had been 
formally affiliated with a political party during the past decade was 
ineligible to run for office. As well, the Ministry of Labor had the 
authority to armul any election if the successful delegates were judged to 
be "political." The aim was to cull the ranks of existing officials and to 
replace them with a more compliant union leadership.60 But these efforts 
backfired when the majority of newly elected union officials were regime 
critics eager for advice from all political persuasions on how best to 
confront the regime.61 

Still, in the absence of a more generally satisfactory movement on the 
labor front, the ORIT meeting in November unanimously adopted a 
motion proposed by the AFL-CIO to boycott trade with Chile. No 
effective date was set to take action: a top level meeting of AFL-CIO 
officials decided to hold off until the following January any decision on 
whether to proceed with the boycott in the hope that it could be avoided. 
But the relentless crackdown on workers' rights finally exbausted the 
patience of ORIT (and its principle member, the AFL-CIO). A proposal 
was put to the ORIT Executive Council to boycott all goods shipped into 
or out of Chile. As one foreign diplomat told the New York Times, 
Pinochet and ORIT were now "on a collision course. "62 

Landau advised Washington not to get "overly involved" in the dispute 
which could only "lend fuel" to those within Chile who sought to depict 
the boycott "as yet another instance ofUSG intervention." In his meetings 
with government officials, Landau emphasized the absence of US 
involvement in any threatened boycott action, worried that if the regime 
settled on a "foreign devils" interpretation the consequences would be 
hatmful to US interests. To encourage the regime to negotiate, infOlmal 
approaches appeared to offer the best prospect although Landau was not 
particularly optimistic that the Junta would act constructively given the 
generals' bedrock conviction that "politicized" labor unions bore a major 
responsibility for the "debacle" of the Allende years.63 The next day, 
Landau cabled an even more dO\vnbeat assessment of the Junta's 
willingness to address the problem: "We have seen no clear indication as 
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yet that the GOC is looking for a negotiated escape from the boycott 
threat. ,,64 

The Junta faced an uphill battle to mobilize public support for its tough 
anti-boycott stance. When ORIT first authorized a boycott, the Junta 
invoked the specter of an "external threat," accusing the political opposition 
of channeling "false and misleading" information to international labor 
organizations. To gain more traction for this campaign, Pinochet and his 
colleagues encouraged mass demonstrations in Santiago and other 
population centers-with disappointing results. In tbe capital, the US 
Embassy reported "relatively small and not wildly enthusiastic" turnouts 
despite a large-scale public relations effort and the early closure of 
government departments to allow their employees to attend. One such 
rally on December 6 drew a crowd estimated at a modest 15,000 but tbe 
relatively low key nature of the presentations indicated that tbe regime had 
not yet formulated a well thought-out anti-boycott strategy.65 

The boycott option complicated the Embassy's relationship with tbe 
military regime in another respect. Although Landau insisted that the 
Embassy had "consistently taken the position that a possible AFL-CIO 
sponsored boycott of Chile was entirely a matter between that organization 
and the government of Chile,"66 some Pinochet officials were not so sure 
that Labor Attache Ed Archer shared this view. In November, Foreign 
Minister Hermin Cubillos raised the issue of alleged negative cables on 
labor developments in Chile witb Secretary of State Cyrus Vance.67 Not 
for the first time had Chilean officials criticized the activities of Archer, 
and his predecessor Art Nixon, who botb frequently appeared in public 
with "democratic" trade unionists, making them "special targets" of 
regime armoyance.68 Cubillos publicly accused Archer and AlFLD's 
Andrew McLellan of providing tbe AFL-CIO executive with information 
that resulted in tbe boycott threat. Landau tbought there was "some 
danger" the regime would attempt to have Archer removed from his 
position 69 Subsequently, the Ambassador and visiting Chile Desk Officer 
Robert Steven were told by Cubillos that he had resisted considerable 
pressure to declare Archer persona non grata immediately following the 
ORIT boycott vote. The US diplomats responded that the regime should 
think carefully about taking such a decision in the future because tbe most 
likely consequence would be "a fintber hardening" of the AFL-CIO 
position, which at present was "sufficiently flexible to make a settlement 
possible." After all, the boycott was proposed as a last resort only after all 
other attempts to negotiate the restoration of labor rights had failed.70 

Landau's 0\Vll role was also somewhat more hands-on than he at times 
allowed. He not only played a key role in arranging the May meeting 
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between the AFL-CIO delegation and Pinochet,71 but had repeatedly gone 
out of his way to impress on Chilean officials the need to take seriously a 
boycott outcome and "deal constructively with the democratically oriented 
elements of the Chilean labor movement. ,>72 

In early December, with the AFL-CIO's backing, the President of 
AIFLD's Board of Directors, Peter Grace, arrived in Santiago for a 
meeting with Pinochet, Interior Minister Sergio Fermindez and Labor 
Minister Vasco Costa in an effort to mediate the boycott conflict. Landau 
reported that Grace avoided any contact with US Embassy officials but 
that he encountered a government line of "not being willing to negotiate 
under a threat. "73 This proved not to be the entirely true. 

The Grace-Pinochet meeting had not long concluded when Finance 
Minister Sergio de Castro, on his own initiative, flew to Washington on 
December 20 for urgent talks with George Meany, who bluntly told him 
that the AFL-CIO leadership would no longer "waste time" talking with 
Labor Minister Vasco Costa who it considered rigid and inflexible.74 The 
importance of at least accommodating Meany on this point was not lost on 
Pinochet who dumped Costa from the cabinet ahnost immediately. Within 
the diplomatic community in Santiago, his replacement, another of the 
Chicago Boys Jose Pifiera, was considered an astute choice.75 'Whether this 
one concession would have much of an impact appeared doubtful given 
that the AFL-CIO had made it clear that any decision to postpone the 
boycott would depend on how the government's actions were assessed by 
Chilean workers' representatives, in particular the GIO trade union leaders.76 

Pifiera requested a confidential meeting with Landau to discuss 
Washington's request that the Chilean govenarnent consult with GIO 
leaders prior to the January 8 ORIT boycott committee meeting. Landau 
told the new Labor Minister that talking with the democratic labor leaders 
was a necessity, unaware that Pifiera had been instructed by Pinochet that 
he was prohibited from "doing anything," especially negotiating with the 
GIO, before the scheduled ORIT meeting to avoid the perception that the 
regime "was acting under threat or out of weakness." When the 
Ambassador warned the Labor Minister that if something was not done a 
boycott was inevitable, the response seemed to evince little if any concern. 
A detailed economic analysis of the likely effectiveness and cost to Chile 
of a boycott authored by Pifiera prior to his cabinet appointment had 
concluded that the economy would be "inconvenienced but not seriously 
damaged." This had convinced Pinochet that the AFL-CIO "was not acting 
from a position of great strength."77 Nevertheless, avoiding a confrontation 
was preferable to testing this assumption with the possibility of dire 
consequences for the Chilean economy. 
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To offset the boycott threat and growing labor discontent, Pifiera 
announced, at the beginning of January 1979, the fIrst of the government's 
so-called "seven modernizations"-the new Plan Laboral (Labor Plan) 
under which trade unions would be granted the right to hold membership 
meetings without prior authorization, accorded greater autonomy in telTIlS 
of the right to strike in certain situations and to bargain collectively, and 
would be allowed to again collect membership dues by the time the new 
law came into effect. The G 1 0 and like-minded labor leaders complained 
that this was nothing more than "a statement of intention not facts" hedged 
with various restrictions. "They got nothing concrete," wrote Landau, "but 
a waiver of the prohibition against their right to meet." To the American 
Ambassador, Plan Laboral essentially reflected the regime's continuing 
detennination to maintain a depoliticized and controlled labor 
movement-and was probably destined to fail. His biggest concern was 
that efforts to keep the trade union movement "compartmentalized and 
weak" might accelerate the revival of "partisan politics as the only way to 
achieve bread and butter goals. ,,78 Two days later, to allow time to analyze 
the plan, the AFL-CIO decided to extend the deadline for a fInal boycott 
decision by seven days to the "almost euphoric" relief of the military 
dictatorship.79 Subsequently, the Embassy credited Peter Grace with 
convincing the government to introduce two refOlTIlS in February­
allowing unions to hold meetings without prior approval and pennitting 
them to collect union dues.80 

Whatever explained its back down, the AFL-CIO Executive Council 
ultimately took the entire boycott threat off the table, calling instead on 
President Carter to "exercise the diplomatic, legal, economic and political 
sanctions" at his disposal if the regime continued to suppress human rights 
and free trade unionism in Chile81-a request that was largely ignored. 
Meany himself later explained that concessions had been wrested from 
Pifiera that would "create circumstances pennitting the Chilean Group of 
Ten trade unions to handle the situation with their 0\Vll strength and means 
[which] would be a better solution than bringing the country to 
its . . .  knees.,,82 The evidence for this was limited if not necessarily 
unconvincing. The G 1 0 leaders themselves, while publicly rejecting the 
regime's plans to re-establish union "freedoms," indicated that the 
problem could be resolved without outside assistance. "'What the gringos 
believe is their problem," said Tucapel Jimenez, representing the 
government employees' union. "We have to solve our union problems the 
Chilean way. ,,83 

In return for the decision to put the boycott threat on hold, the AFL­
CIO had presumed that the regime and the G 1 0 would enter into a 
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constructive dialogue to resolve outstanding workers' rights issues. As 
weeks passed with no negotiations in sight, AFL-CIO Director of 
International Affairs Department Ernest Lee wrote an acerbic letter to 
Secretary of State Vance accusing the regime of acting as if nothing had 
changed: "rather it appears that trade unionists are called to listen, but not 
to be listened to, nor have their views been taken into consideration and 
acted upon."84 AIFLD's Executive Director William Doherty made 
essentially the same criticism during a meeting with Chilean union leaders 
and senior State Department officials. The military rulers had reneged on 
earlier promises to get the boycott suspended, and the labor refOlTIlS 
implemented to date were being seen to be "useless." At this point, the 
AFL-CIO and ORIT were not prepared to reconsider further action at least 
until the regime's self-imposed June 30 deadline for implementing the 
refOlTIlS at which time the situation would be reassessed and new measures 
taken if required. 85 

More fudging on human rights 

Throughout 1978 the Catholic Church also ratcheted up pressure on the 
government over human rights abuses and labor restrictions.86 Stressing 
the need for the Church to remain active in combating abuses against 
civilian non-combatants, Cardinal Silva inaugurated 1979 as the Year of 
Human Rights that would involve a series of nationwide meetings 
sponsored by the Vicariate of Solidarity, culminating in a major 
symposium to be held in late November. As the date for the symposium 
neared, the Vicariate armounced it had compelling evidence of more than 
600 proven cases of disappearances of alleged regime opponents. 87 
Despite strong regime pressures to call off the symposium, the gathering 
took place, attracting an estimated one thousand participants representing 
organized labor, the professions, youth organizations, intellectuals, 
Christian Democrats, and foreign human rights groups. 

This was a watershed moment in establishing the legitimacy of the 
human rights movement inside Chile-demonstrating the extent of its 
popular support-and marked a significant broadening of agitation on 
behalf of the victims of abuse beyond the Church and its agencies. 
Thereafter, the Chilean Commission of Human Rights and other secular 
organizations took an ever more prominent role in calling the government 
to account over its abusive treatment of civilians and, in the process, 
became increasingly more active in helping to mobilize political 
opposition to military rule in general. 88 
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By contrast, efforts to achieve a bureaucratic consensus on the human 
rights situation in Chile continued to elude the Carter administration as it 
approached the end of its second year in office. Ambassador Landau put a 
relatively positive gloss on the Junta's record and urged Washington to 
vote against any UN resolution to renew the mandate of the Working 
Group, claiming it was part of a Socialist bloc campaign to topple 
Pinochet from power because "nothing less than his departure will satisfy 
them."89 In fact, Pinochet eventually agreed to the visit-which Carter had 
pressed upon him at their meeting the previous September-only after 
extracting from Washington an agreement to wind up the operations of the 
Working Group at the end of the year and, in the interim, to replace its 
head, Pakistan's Alli Allana, who had overseen highly critical reports on 
Chile in the past.90 

Landau's assessment of the Junta's record was vigorously contested in 
the State Department. ARA's Thomas Enders advised Vance that any 
move to certify that Chile had made "significant progress" would be 
"difficult to defend" at home and abroad and could "cost us support on 
Central American policy, in Congress, and from the Europeans." He 
cautioned that the impact on Capitol Hill of certifying a country that "has 
made no significant human rights progress during the past two years" 
would be particularly negative, further weakening support for White 
House policy on the Hill.91 The recently completed annual report of the 
UN Ad Hoc Working Group on Chile damned the current situation with 
faint praise. 'While the end of "flagrant and massive" abuses constituted a 
marginal improvement, torture was still a routine accompaniment to the 
interrogation of prisoners, the security forces continued to arrest 
individuals on an arbitrary basis and often for political reasons, and the 
regime had presided over a "drastic" abrogation of trade union rights with 
the passage of the new labor legislation.92 

HA's Mark Schneider could not have agreed more. He described Chile 
as a country where "the abuses of the integrity of the person continue 
[and] the institutions of an authoritarian and repressive regime remain 
unchanged." This demanded no easing of pressure on the Junta and 
Pinochet, and no deviation from the current alTIls-Iength treatment of the 
Chilean regime.93 But just how far was "arms-length" in the bilateral 
relationship? By now human rights concerns had been effectively 
quarantined from other aspects of the relationship. A confidential 
Department analysis of the period 1974 to 1978 found no "significant 
spill-over" between diplomatic negotiations or bilateral agreements­
ranging from debt rescheduling, to double taxation relief, to setting up a 
cooperative meteorological observation program-and the dictatorship's 
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violent governing style. Nor was there any explicit attempt by either side 
to pursue a direct linkage strategy in talks on multilateral issues such as a 
common fund for commodities and dollar limits on Generalized Scheme of 
Preferences benefits.94 

Beagle Channel tensions 

The possibility of war between Chile and Argentina in late 1978 provided 
the most striking instance of Washington's preparedness to subordinate 
human rights to what it considered more urgent and important US strategic 
interests. The trigger was a dispute over possession of three islands in the 
Beagle Charmel which marked each country's southern border. The 
outcome would also determine congruent maritime territorial extensions 
totaling 30,000 square miles rich in fish stocks and mineral deposits 
(including oil), and possible rights in Antarctica. The conflict threatened to 
destabilize the entire Southern Cone and embolden an Argentine military 
Junta whose human rights record was of even greater concern in 
Washington than that of Chile's. 

In 1971, Chile and Argentina had agreed to submit the territorial 
dispute over the islands to binding arbitration under the auspices of the 
British Crown. Six years later, the International Court of Arbitration (lCA) 
awarded Chile sovereignty over the islands, the ruling to take effect within 
nine months of the decision. Argentina's generals attacked the ruling and 
in January 1978 the negotiating process collapsed altogether when Buenos 
Aires announced its fonnal repudiation of the ICA decision, leading to an 
inevitable rise in tensions with Chile. In Washington, the NSC's Robert 
Pastor argued that Argentina should pay a price for its decision to abruptly 
terminate negotiations by countermanding the proposed sale of $29 
million worth of tanker aircraft. To go ahead with the sale would reinforce 
the military Junta's belief that, in dealing with a globally "isolated and 
discredited" Chile, it could "dictate tenns" for resolving the conflict.95 

Over the next 10 months, Argentina began a military build-up at its 
U shuaia Bay naval base in Tierra del Fuego, climaxing in the dispatch of a 
naval squadron in mid-December. "I can remember the nationalistic 
emotion [in Buenos Aires at the time]," said the British Embassy Charge 
d' Affaires. "The Argentine nationalists were boiling with indignation 
while the military were boasting that they 'would be pissing in the Pacific 
by January. "'96 The diplomatic situation rapidly deteriorated and the 
armed forces of both countries were placed on full alert. A last minute 
effort by the region's foreign ministers to seek a mediated solution 
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foundered over Argentina's demand that it receive fOlTIlal recognition of 
some territorial claim in the islands south of Tierra del Fuego beforehand. 

The Chileans had made it clear to Landau upon his arrival in Santiago 
in late 1977 that they were extremely concerned about Argentina's 
intentions regarding the Beagle Channel islands and very keen to get 
assurances that the US would support Chile, or at least take a neutral 
stance, in the event of a military conflict. Recalling the episode years later, 
Landau maintained that he was able to convince Washington that Chile 
was the aggrieved party but his efforts didn't end there: "With 
Washington's knowledge, I gave the Chileans information about 
Argentine troop movements" and corresponded regularly about the dispute 
with Robert Pastor who contacted the US Ambassador to the Vatican to 
urge the Holy See's intervention.97 

On October 25, Secretary of State Vance reported to Carter that "we 
are receiving disturbing reports of Argentine military preparations" which 
might be little more than "sabre-rattling" but there was always the 
possibility that "the momentum of military preparations may become self­
fulfilling."" Forty eight hours later, Vance informed the President that the 
crisis "may be cooling off' following a reported discussion between 
Chilean and Argentine officials.99 This intelligence proved accurate with 
the subsequent announcement that the foreign ministers, Chile's Hermin 
Cubillos and Argentina's Carlos Pastor, would meet to discuss the 
selection of a mediator. Encouraged by this initiative, and reports that 
Argentina's Navy had been "ordered back to port," Vance expressed 
cautious optimism that tensions would subside, His measured response 
seemed justified when the Argentine foreign ministry's legal adviser told 
Washington in mid-November that his government was concerned over a 
"hardening impasse" due to Chile's refusal to continue bilateral talks 
which had "proved fruitless" to this point. He warned that if the Chileans 
failed to respond positively to its latest demarche, the Argentine 
government would be forced to take '''other steps. '''100 

Although October passed without an agreement, and talks were 
adjourned, Pinochet and his Argentine counterpart General Jorge Rafa"l 
Videla continued to exchange messages. The Argentines would agree to a 
Chilean proposal to bring in a mediator but only on condition that there 
was prior discussion of the boundary questions. The Argentines wanted 
exclusive maritime claims in the Atlantic, and the three islands in the 
Beagle Channel under Chilean jurisdiction threatened these claims. The 
Chileans resisted any idea of setting such conditions for mediation. 

President Videla was under pressure from military hardliners pushing 
for "a show of force" and a leader of this group warned Landau that failure 
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to resolve the dispute by mid-December would trigger war. The admiral in 
command of Argentina's Coast Guard reinforced this threat, telling an 
American Embassy officer in Buenos Aires that his country would occupy 
the disputed territory and sever diplomatic and trade relations with Chile if 
there was no resumption of negotiations by the first week of December. 
US efforts to maintain a dialogue with both sides were proving difficult. 
"Trying to mediate between the Argentines and the Chileans," the NSC's 
Robert Pastor wrote to Brzezinski, "would make Camp David look easy, 
and we just don't have the same kind of stake in the Beagle Channel."!01 

Both governments later confirmed that Cubillos and Pastor would 
confer in Buenos Aires on December 12 to discuss selection of a mediator 
for the delimitation of their boundaries in the South Atlantic. The 
Argentines had already sounded out with Rome the possibility of the Pope 
taking on this task and there were signals that the Chileans might find him 
acceptable. Meanwhile, troop buildups by both countries continued apace 
and there was no letup in Argentine threats to attack its neighbor if the 
Cubillos-Pastor meeting failed to resolve the impasse.102 The word from 
the Papal Nuncio in Buenos Aires was that the Pope would be willing to 
mediate the conflict "only if he became convinced that war was 
imminent."!03 The day before the Cubillos-Pastor meeting, with US 
intelligence reports warning that the Argentines were poised to invade and 
take control of the three islands "in order to strengthen their bargaining 
position," Warren Christopher decided to meet with the ambassadors of 
both countries "to urge restraint in strong telTIls. ,,104 

On December 19, US intelligence sources informed Landau that 
Argentina was preparing for an imminent invasion and occupation of the 
islands, and a simultaneous full-scale military assault on Chile itself. 
Representing the White House, Pastor sent the Argentine Junta a blunt 
warning that "if you take even one rock [of Chilean territory 1 as small as it 
may seem the government of the United States and their NATO allies will 
consider you the aggressor. "105 In Santiago, Admiral Merino ordered the 
Chilean navy to the area to block any invasion attempt while Chilean army 
troops were deployed along the border with Argentina. As the situation 
rapidly deteriorated, both Landau and Chilean Foreign Minister Cubillos 
were in contact with the Vatican urging immediate Papal mediation.106 The 
Vatican was now more than willing to intervene but Buenos Aires initially 
rejected the idea because its military planning was so far advanced. To 
overcome Argentine objections, Pope John Paul II offered to send an 
emissary immediately to both capitals.107 This proposal, together with the 
US warning to Buenos Aires, broke the deadlock and only hours before 
the Papal envoy's arrival in the Argentine capital the invasion was called 
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off. Two weeks later, with a Vatican envoy present, Argentine and Chilean 
officials signed an agreement to seek a peaceful solution and both 
renounced the use of force. This episode considerably improved Landau's 
standing with his host government: "I was able to get a lot of brownie 
points with the Chileans because they knew I was on their side and was 
helping them," he later recalled.108 

Despite this outcome, very little of this cordiality would spill over into 
the broader bilateral relationship between Santiago and Washington during 
the last two years of the Carter administration. In a presidential address to 
commemorate the 30th armiversary of the signing of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights on December 6, 1978, Carter singled out 
Chile as a country whose government practised repression.109 Although 
this sounded like a return to the tough language of his presidential 
campaign, the trajectory of the policy debate was replete with 
contradictory statements. At the beginning of February, 1979, Secretary of 
State Cyrus Vance cabled the Santiago Embassy that the final draft of the 
year's "Goals and Objectives" for Chile would acknowledge "improvement 
in the regime's observance of individual human rights" and indicate 
Washington's desire "to begin the slow and deliberate transition from cool 
to more llOlmal relations"-so long as the Letelier investigation was 
"resolved satisfactorily" and there was no "backsliding" on human 
rights 110 If anything, the outlook for US-Chilean relations from State's 
Seventh Floor was looking decidedly more promising than Carter's public 
criticism of the Pinochet regime might have suggested. 

A matter of days later, two inter-departmental memos on Chile 
prepared for Deputy Secretary Christopher exposed continuing differences 
in perceptions and approach among US officials over the interrelated 
issues of aid and human rights. One memo addressed the question of 
whether the President should continue to limit Eximbank credits on human 
rights grounds (they had been capped at $750,000 per foreign buyer some 
years earlier). The Bureau of Inter-American Affairs (ARA), Economic 
and Business Affairs (EB), Policy Planning Staff (SIP), and the Legal 
Adviser (L) argued that the limit should lapse because improvements in 
the human rights situation in Chile are now "generally recognized" and 
other punitive measures were available to demonstrate US dissatisfaction 
with continuing abuses without prejudicing American exporters. HA 
vehemently disagreed, contending that it was primarily the imposition of 
economic and military sanctions that had forced Pinochet to "end or 
reduce some basic abuses [and] we risk halting the trend if we ease up 
now." 111 On April 20, Christopher chaired another interagency meeting to 
discuss whether the $750,000 ceiling on Eximbank project loans to Chile 
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should be lifted by a Presidential determination in compliance with tbe 
Chafee amendment to tbe 1978 Export-Import Bank Act (which prevented 
applications for support from being denied on nonfmancial or non­
commercial grounds unless the President specifically detelTIlined that to do 
so was in the national interest or contributing to the promotion of policy 
objectives in areas such as international terrorism and human rights) 
before an April 22 deadline on an application lodged by Chile with tbe 
Bank. The otber complicating factor was tbe impending Chilean Supreme 
Court decision on the US request for tbe extradition of the three DINA 
officials involved in the LetelierIMoffitt murders. To avoid transmitting a 
"potentially misleading signal" to the regime, Secretary Vance 
recommended that tbe Bank take no action for the time being on tbe 
Chilean request for an increase in the $750,000 limit.112 

The second memo, written jointly by ARA's Viron Vaky and RA's 
Patricia Derian, sketched in broad strokes the core disagreement between 
the two bureaus: ARA's desire to concentrate on Chile's medium telTIl 
human rights performance (in tbis case the past 14 montbs) versus HA's 
preference for a longer-view that included the entire post-coup years and 
the possibility of "backsliding" in tbe future. ARA's stance was based on 
three factors: first, despite the suspension of most nOlTIlal political and 
civil rights there was limited evidence of recent killings or disappearances 
by the Chilean security forces; second, in practice, the regime was 
tolerating a substantial amount of infolTIlal political activity and criticism; 
and, third, economic and social rights did not constitute "an area which 
should weigh heavily in our human rights formulation." HA agreed that 
the incidence of violations had "declined significantly" but insisted that 
the instrumentalities of human rights abuses remained "largely 
unchanged." Countering the regional bureau's dismissive attitude toward 
the question of economic and social rights, RA presented the findings of 
the most recent UN Working Group report on Chile which was highly 
critical of the Junta's failure to deal with the serious unemployment 
problem while simultaneously cutting back on public health facilities and 
presiding over a significant rise in malnutrition among the nation's 
poory3 

Subsequent comments by senior officials of both countries seemed to 
indicate that the ARA position was winning the bureaucratic debate. 
Pinochet's Ambassador in Washington, Jose Miguel Barros, told reporters 
in March that US-Chilean relations were "normal," although they 
experienced periodic "ups and dO\vns.,,114 Only weeks later, Landau made 
a similar point before a meeting sponsored by the Council of the Americas 
in New York: he expected problems in the bilateral relationship to be 
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resolved before too long.115 In the meantime, an ARA-chaired inter-agency 
group had approved a modest plan for the Country Team to "continue to 
monitor closely actual human rights practices, promptly note progress or 
recidivism, and express our concern over human rights violations. ,,116 Of 
more significance in telTIlS of US policy, however, was Christopher's 
testimony before a House Foreign Affairs Subcommittee in May when he 
signaled an administration shift to a more "balanced" approach on human 
rights. Decisions often needed to be based on trends rather than particular 
existing situations, he said, and the most effective strategy for obtaining 
improvements was one that combined "the full range of diplomatic 
approaches" rather than relying primarily on punitive actions.117 

Another Letelier bombshell 

On May 13, bilateral ties took a dramatic turn for the worse. The Chief 
Justice of the Chilean Supreme Court, Israel Borquez, rejected Washington's 
request for the extradition of the three DINA officers implicated in the 
LetelierIMoffit murders-Contreras, Espinosa, and Larios. The NSC's 
Robert Pastor termed the decision "much worse than any one of us had 
anticipated. "118 HA was always convinced that it was a "false assumption" 
to ever imagine the Chileans would play the extradition case "straight. "119 
Secretary of State Vance again recalled Ambassador Landau for a 
"thorough review of all facets of our relations" with the Chilean regime.120 
In a letter to President Carter, Senators Edward Kennedy and Frank 
Church (D-ID) demanded a "review of our entire relationship" with the 
country, as well as a series of economic and military sanctions if the 
regime was unwilling to rescind the decision. 121 

Consideration of what kind of sanctions to implement triggered a 
heated discussion within the Executive Branch, pitting the Department of 
Justice and State's HA bureau, both of which argued for the toughest of 
responses, against the more restrained approach advocated by State's 
ARA, and the Commerce, Treasury and Defense Departments. Christopher 
chaired two interdepartmental meetings to discuss this latest setback which 
were dominated by a sharp disagreement between Assistant US Attorney 
Eugene Propper and Under Secretary of State for Political Affairs David 
N ewsom over what instructions Landau should take back with him to 
Santiago. In a reversal of roles, Propper now described as totally 
inadequate the Department's reluctance to adopt a tough approach and 
demanded that the Chileans be told as bluntly as possible "that we will not 
back down and we will not accept such conduct from them." When 
N ewsom countered that any response had to take into account "the entire 
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range of our bilateral relations," Propper exploded: "The Letelier case is 
our relations with Chile!"122 At the NSC, Pastor infonned Brzezinski that 
State wanted "to deliver a very, very finn demarche in order to make clear 
to the Chileans that our relations will be seriously and adversely affected," 
if they did not take the appeal seriously l23 What that meant was debatable 
given State was reluctant to implement sanctions in the hope that the full 
Court would overrule Borquez or, failing this, that the three officers would 
be tried in Chile. The question was how much pressure could or would 
Washington exert, if not to reverse the decision then at the very least to 
express its outrage. 

On Capitol Hill, as the Kennedy-Church response foreshadowed, the 
extradition outcome caused uproar. Angry legislators in both the House 
and Senate demanded that the White House suspend all forms of bilateral 
economic aid and, to the extent possible, multilateral loans, impose trade 
sanctions, innnediately recall the Ambassador and all US military personnel 
in Santiago, prohibit US visas to Chilean military and intelligence 
officials, and review the entire relationship with Chile if the regime held to 
its refusal to extradite the former DINA officials. The legislators also 
singled out the need to "scrutinize more closely, US private bank loans 
and investments-'backdoor aid,' which hard] provided the most critical 
economic lifeline to this international pariah regime. ,,124 The House 
Banking and Currency chair Henry Reuss wrote to Vance that the 
Supreme Court decision had created "an intolerable situation" and 
renewed his call for the administration to tackle the vexed issue of US 
private banks lending to Chile. He urged "a thorough analysis" of the 
impact of loans from these institutions on the Chilean economy, their role 
in enabling the regime to finance its international payments and service its 
foreign debt, and requested that serious consideration be given to directing 
the participating banks to halt new loans until the regime complies with 
the extradition request.125 The Borquez announcement also threatened to 
erode congressional support for a most favored trading nation draft 
agreement between the United States and Chile. Deputy Assistant 
Secretary for Inter-American Affairs John Bushnell received a memo from 
a Department colleague that the Letelier case had "charged the atmosphere 
on the Hill to such an extent that we must lean against consummating this 
agreement [because] the political stakes for the President and our Chile 
policy are high. 126 

Certainly, following the Court decision, Landau received much firmer 
directives than previously in dealing with the regime over this issue. On 
June 1, Christopher instructed him to meet with Pinochet and Foreign 
Minister Cubillos, and leave them in no doubt that bilateral relations were 
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"approaching a crossroads" as a result of the regime's absolute failure to 
conduct a serious investigation of the murders. He was also to stress that 
future ties would depend "very heavily" on the outcome of the US appeal 
against the ruling. Pinochet should be left under no illusion that if the 
appeal to have Borquez's "completely unacceptable" ruling overturned 
was unsuccessful, Chile could expect a stem response to what would then 
be seen as a case of "unpunished terrorism." Among the possible specific 
steps that might be taken, Christopher listed a denial of Eximbank credits 
and pressure on private American banks about their lending to the military 
dictatorship. 127 In a letter to Carter, six House members had called on the 
President to impose all of the "diplomatic, legal, economic and political 
sanctions at our disposal," including the prohibition on continued private 
bank lending to Chile, if the regime refused to extradite the three 
"henchmen" charged with the LetelierIMoffitt murders.!28 Chile also 
risked almost certain exclusion from the amrual UNIT AS naval manoeuvres 
in the absence of a satisfactory outcome to the extradition request.129 For 
the moment, however, the White House would respect due process and 
await the result of the Supreme Court deliberations. 

Meanwhile, Congress continued to lobby the 'White House over the 
role of the American banks in helping the Chilean economy stay afloat. 
Representative Thomas Harkin and 34 other members petitioned Carter to 
impress on the Junta that a failure to extradite the military officials would 
trigger a series of retaliatory measures including the telTIlination of US 
commercial loans to Chile-a precedent-setting action against a country 
with which the US had full diplomatic ties.130 The banks themselves had 
not allowed the Letelier issue to interrupt business as usual: over the 
preceding three weeks, Riggs National Bank agreed to extend $38 million 
worth of credits to Chilean military missions and the Bank of America 
announced that it would loan $45 million to Chile's Compaflia de las 
Cervecerias Unidas, a major beverage companyPl 

In mid-year, another internal State Department dispute surfaced over 
the question of whether to issue Commerce Department validated licenses 
for the export of some non-munitions to the Chilean anned forces. The EB 
Bureau had requested a Seventh Floor decision on whether to recommend 
that licenses be issued or maintain the existing ban pending the outcome of 
the US appeal to overturn the original Supreme Court decision in the 
Letelier case. Expressing scepticism that the current policy approach 
would accelerate a movement toward democracy or improve the regime's 
human rights performance, EB and ARA supported the sale of these items. 
They were more concerned about the hann a failure to do so would have 
on the US' reputation in Chile and elsewhere as a "reliable supplier, 
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thereby damaging our long-term export position." HA remained adamantly 
opposed to any loosening of constraints on military sales or aid on the 
grounds that approving the licenses would "send a clear signal to Chile 
that, despite the persistence of serious human rights abuses, we are still 
prepared to continue business as usual." After weighing the alternatives, 
Deputy Secretary Christopher decided to postpone a [mal decision until 
the conclusion of Chilean judicial proceedings on the Letelier case.132 

As the final decision neared, Landau was confidentially informed by 
Borquez that the jurists were working on a ruling to deny extradition and 
instead send the accused DINA officers for trial in a Chilean military 
COurt.133 While not ideal, Assistant Secretary Vaky communicated to 
Christopher that such an outcome might be enough to satisfy even HA and 
avoid the need for a strong US response. HA reacted angrily to this 
suggestion, accusing ARA of having suddenly shifted its position away 
from the consensus instructions previously transmitted to Landau. HA and 
Policy Plarming (SiP) argued that Washington should remain absolutely 
resolute in demanding that the three officers be extradited or face genuine 
Chilean justice; anything less "effectively entails allowing terrorists to go 
unpunished." The Embassy's worst fear was that the administration's 
evidence would be "insufficient" to reverse Borquez's original decision 
and eventually result in the defendants being exonerated. For precisely this 
reason the State Department had earlier determined that the Chilean 
regime's failure to comply with its extradition request would warrant 
application of all the other discussed punitive measures as well as 
"jawboning" key executive officers of the US major banks in Chile-an 
action proposed by HA in the event it was not possible to pass legislation 
placing limits on these financial institutions lending to Chile. Depending 
on the outcome, Vaky advised Christopher that the White House had a 
range of options at its disposal. If the Borquez decision was upheld and a 
military trial of the defendants rejected, the US should issue the toughest 
possible statement "deploring" the outcome, recall the Ambassador and 
reduce the Embassy staff, terminate Eximbank lending, suspend the FMS 
pipeline, withdraw the MILGP, cancel UNIT AS naval exercises with 
Chile, and lobby against Chilean loan requests to the MDBs except those 
meeting the BHN criteria.134 

Wbile none of these options should be taken off the table, Vaky 
counselled the importance of striking the "right balance of tolerable and 
productive pressure" in order both to avoid Pinochet's resort to a populist 
"defensive nationalism" and to prevent simply doing further harm to US 
interests in Chile. If the original Supreme Court decision was reaffirmed or 
there was to be no internal military trial of the accused, Vaky, in advising 
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Christopher not to act precipitously, referred specifically to calls for 
constraints on private bank lending. Any such measures, he argued, would 
not only set a dangerous precedent but also prove ineffectual because in all 
probability non-US private foreign banks, which already accounted for 
approximately forty percent of all commercial lending to Chile, would 
meet any shortfall, and "create significant losses for US banks in Chile 
which the US might find itself obligated to compensate." Witbin 72 hours, 
Christopher had changed his mind on recalling Landau for an indefinite 
period, deciding that it would have "no positive effect on the Letelier 
case. "135 

'Whether other agencies or individuals felt otherwise or concurred with 
Vaky's analysis, there was little time to debate the issue. On October 1, tbe 
Court upheld Borquez's original ruling barring any trial of tbe three 
intelligence officers who were subsequently released. Landau was 
convinced that responsibility for the decision rested with Pinochet who 
was unhappy over the general deterioration in US-Chilean relations. Only 
weeks after the Court's announcement, the US compounded the "offence" 
to Chile when it voted in favor of a resolution before tbe OAS General 
Assembly supporting Bolivia's case for an outlet to the sea. Landau was 
convinced that Washington's stance on this issue over the previous 15 
months had "influenced the Letelier case" above all others, angering 
Pinochet to the extent that he ultimately ordered the Court to hand down 
the ruling that it did. 136 

The extradition decision and the sanctions debate 

When the verdict not to extradite the ex-DINA officials or prosecute them 
in a Chilean court was armounced, State's Director of Andean Affairs 
Ma1colm Bamebey, called it a "'slap in the face for the US

,
.,,137 What 

particularly angered Washington was the lengtbs the Court judgment went 
to "discredit" not just Michael Townley's testimony but "every other piece 
of evidence" presented by the US government.138 Yet, the 'White House 
response was a cautious one. 'When Christopher infOlmed the President 
that the Department had issued a powerful statement criticizing the 
decision, Carter wrote in the margin of the memo: "I do not wish to break 
relations."139 Some weeks later, a confident Pinochet issued a press 
statement that the Letelier case was now definitively over and there was 
"no possibility" of new evidence that would force it to be reopened. 140 

Predictably, there was considerable disagreement between ARA and 
HA over precisely what measures the administration should take. HA 
supported the indefinite recall of the Ambassador, action to at least restrict 



One Step Forward, Two Steps Back 233 

US private banks from lending, the cancellation of military and economic 
aid commitments still in the pipeline, using the United Nations to highlight 
Chilean support for international terrorist acts, a US labor union boycott, 
removing the American Peace Corps from Chile, and a reduction of the 
US Embassy staff as part of a broader effort to ensure that bilateral 
relations reverted to '''minimal contact.'" The career officials in ARA, not 
surprisingly, were decidedly unenthusiastic about pursuing any such 
"hardline" approach.141 

Among the rest of the foreign policy bureaucracy there was limited 
support at best for retaliatory measures. EB's international section strongly 
opposed any move to cancel Overseas Private Investment Corporation 
(OPIC) programs, fearful that the Junta might rescind its agreement to 
settle $378.4 million in expropriation claims payable to the govenarnent's 
development finance institution.142 It rejected ARA's proposal to sharply 
restrict, if not telTIlinate completely, Eximbank credits to Chile since this 
would be nothing but a symbolic gesture given the willingness of 
European and Japanese banks to lend to the Pinochet regime and to do so 
would thus hurt American exporters.143 Over the longer telTIl, if the US 
imposed export controls "with no expectation of an impact on Chile," 
America's reputation as a reliable supplier of commercial goods would be 
"further tarnish[ed]." and the White House would have to confront a 
"substantial negative reaction" from Capitol Hil1.144 Those Departments 
most closely linked to America's overseas traders and investors-Treasury 
and Commerce-joined EB in opposing any attempt to suspend or 
telTIlinate Eximbank credits for much the same reason-the hann it would 
do to US exporters operating in the Chilean market, and the benefits that 
would accrue, as a result, to US competitors.145 

Involved departments were each seeking to protect their 0\Vll interests. 
The Department of Defense (DOD) was a clear case in point. Preoccupied 
with major crises in Central America and instability in the Caribbean, 
Secretary of Defense Harold Brown lobbied Vance that this was "scarcely 
an opportune time to signal a further disengagement from the Hemisphere 
by precipitately cutting our military representation III Chile." 
Acknowledging that the extradition denial was "lamentable," proposed 
countelTIleasures were nonetheless likely to "erode further our ability to 
influence political developments in the Southern Cone area." It was 
critically important, wrote Brown "to keep our attaches and MILGP in 
Chile to support our intelligence requirements and maintain some 
communication with their military services," or risk presenting the Soviet 
Union with "new opportunities" in this area.146 The Director of the Inter­
American Region in DOD singled out two specific proposals under 
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consideration by State that his Department could not abide. First, any 
move to cancel pipeline items for Chile's armed forces would be self­
defeating, not only making the country more vulnerable to foreign military 
intervention but forcing it to look elsewhere, primarily Europe, to purchase 
the most sophisticated jet fighter planes and "would cast the US in the role 
of unreliable source of supply." Second, was his agreement with Secretary 
Brown that to withdraw the MILGP and exclude Chile from UNIT AS 
would not only weaken the Pentagon's ability to maintain influence and 
contacts with the Chilean anned forces but also send a very clear signal 
that the US was disengaging from the region. 147 

State's ARA and Politico-Military Affairs (PM) bureaus lined up 
behind the Pentagon's Cold War viewpoint and provided another reason 
for maintaining the five-person MILGP in Santiago-to monitor the 
foreign military sales (FMS) pipeline as long as it was operative. HA was 
predictably underwhelmed by these arguments: "business as usual on the 
military side will contradict, both in Chile and here, our strong anti­
terrorist stance. ,,148 

'When the NSC's Robert Pastor read Bro\Vll's memo, the suggestion 
that reducing the US military presence in Chile would weaken intelligence 
capabilities and even "lose" the Southern Cone to Moscow elicited a 
cutting retort: "[This 1 is absolute nonsense . . . .  The foundation of these 
governments is anti-Communism. They have nowhere to go, but us." What 
principally concerned Pastor, however, was that no "credible case" for 
taking any retaliatory measures had yet been made and couldn't in the 
absence of answers to some fundamental questions: 'What justified US 
anger over a decision made by the legal system of a sovereign country? By 
what authority did the State Department have the right to judge a foreign 
government's laws and court system? 'What were the US objectives in the 
Letelier case, bilateral relations "and overall?" The lack of clarity about 
the precise nature of US policy when it came to answering these questions 
was what most disturbed Pastor. He urged Brzezinski to ignore Brown's 
concerns which were little more than "bureaucratically self-serving" 
concerns.149 

On October 15, Christopher chaired an inter-departmental meeting 
with the objective of reaching some sort of consensus on retaliatory 
measures that could be transmitted to the White House. Each department 
representative outlined their interests in Chile and how these would be 
affected by the various proposed sanctions. Justice rejected outright any 
suggestion that the Chilean Court had not erred in fact. ARA's Vaky was 
more interested in moving the discussion away from bureaucratic turf 
contests to a focus on the importance of balancing an act of government-
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orchestrated state terror "against all other American interests in Chile." 
Following the meeting, a Justice official who had attended telephoned 
Eugene Propper that support for soft sanctions was growing or, as he put 
it, "the marshallow is getting bigger." The decision by the US Ambassador 
to Chile to support Vaky particularly rankled: "I'm telling you, it was a 
different George Landau in there today [from the person who applied 
considerable pressure to force the Chileans to extradite TO\vnley in March 
1978]."150 

In a memo to Carter four days later, Secretary Vance spelled out the 
key factor that had to be taken into account when determining the White 
House response to the military regime's complicity in the murders of 
Letelier and Moffitt, its subsequent failure to seriously "investigate or 
prosecute these crimes on its O\vn," and the Chilean judicial system's 
refusal to extradite the accused DINA security officials or conduct a 
satisfactory local prosecution. "By its actions-and its inaction-the GOC 
[Govermnent of Chile 1 has, in effect, condoned this act of international 
terrorism within the US," Vance wrote, and it was essential that 
Washington signaled to Santiago and to the rest of the world "that such 
actions cannot be tolerated." 

It was unmistakably strong language if lacking in a correspondingly 
firm commitment to translate words into practice. V ance rejected the 
application of "extreme measures" such as legislation to limit private bank 
lending or a break in diplomatic ties on the grounds that they "would not 
serve our interests in Chile or elsewhere." Instead, his specific 
recommendations to the President included further diplomatic demarches 
conveying US "displeasure" over Chile's failure to prosecute those 
involved in an act of international terrorism, a reduction in the size of the 
US mission in Santiago, a gradual tennination of remaining FMS pipeline 
funds, the withdrawal of the MILGP, the suspension of Eximbank 
financing under the Chafee amendment, the denial of licenses for exports 
to the Chilean armed forces, and a halt to approval of any new OPIC 
guarantees for US investors in Chile.151 These proposed retaliatory 
measures failed to satisfy either Justice or HA both of which considered 
them not tough enough or ARA which thought them unlikely to achieve 
their objective while possibly creating new frictions in US-Latin American 
relations.152 

By his 0\Vll account, Pastor had "never been comfortable" with the way 
State dealt with the Letelier case,'53 due partly to a belief that the 
Department had conspired with Justice to limit his 0\Vll access to key 
documents related to the investigation. For someone who was "quite 
insistent on playing a role," Pastor was clearly angered by what he 
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complained was federal prosecutor Eugene Propper's conscious effort to 
exclude the NSC from involvement in these deliberations. The latter had 
pulled no punches in rejecting Pastor's desire to participate in the process. 
Chile Desk officer Robert Steven explained: 

When I mentioned this to the Justice Department officials, Propper said, 
'Tell them to go to hell. We don't want people involved who are going to 
be leaking stuff out of this investigation.' So the Justice Department's 
view was 'Don't share things with the National Security Council people; if 
they need briefings, they can come to Justice for it; it is not a State 
Department matter. It's a Department of Justice matter'. So it got to the 
point that when Bob Pastor called me one day and simply told me that 
from now on all messages going out from the Department on or about 
Chile had to be cleared with him, I said that I didn't have the authority to 
send stuff to hirn.154 

It was Vance's October 19 memo to the White House that pushed 
Pastor to boiling point. "I am appalled at [the memo's] failure to come to 
grips with any of the important questions or issues which are suggested by 
the Letelier case," he complained to Brzezinski. The Secretary of State had 
not provided the necessary political case for any punitive action the US 
might take in response to a legal detellllination by another country's 
judicial system-certainly not to the satisfaction of the NSC. 

The need for a "clear justification" to apply retaliatory measures 
against Santiago was more imperative than ever, Pastor noted, "in light of 
the unfolding crisis in Iran" following the Islamic Revolution and 
Washington's refusal to accommodate a request from the new government 
in Tehran to hand over the ousted Shah who, at the time, was receiving 
medical treatment in the United States.155 "There is no question," he 
subsequently wrote "that if we choose to armOlmce harsh, punitive 
sanctions against Chile for their failure to extradite Contreras, the 
Iranians . . .  will link our action to theirs." Brzezinski's handwritten note in 
the margin agreed that "this is a good point" and asked his Latin American 
staffer to draft a memo that could be forwarded to Vance.156 Senior ARA 
officials also expressed concern that the Shah's presence in the United 
States undellllined the stance of those within the administration advocating 
tough sanctions against Chile. "The Iranians are upset with us because we 
won't extradite the Shah," the newly appointed Chile Desk Officer, Peter 
Whitney observed. "And now we are complaining about the Chileans 
because they won't extradite Contreras."157 

Before the 'White House made a final decision on retaliatory action, the 
congressional liaison officials reported in late October that while the 
"liberals" on Capitol Hill unsurprisingly demanded strong sanctions, there 
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was "support across the Congress for filTIl action." 'What measures were 
chosen would be seen as a litmus test of the President's commitment to 
human rights, especially by the more outspoken critics of the Pinochet 
regime. Stressing how important this decision was, they advised that the 
tough sanctions would be in the President's "best political interest on the 
Hill. ,,158 

In passing on Pastor's concerns to the Secretary of State, meanwhile, 
Brzezinski emphasized how important it was that "we clarify and clearly 
identify our concerns with the Chilean decision, the objectives which our 
actions are designed to achieve, and the public justification for the proposed 
actions." This was the very point of the questions raised earlier by Pastor 
which, as far as the NSC was concerned, still demanded answers. 
Curiously, Brzezinski made no reference to the Iran issue, focusing instead 
on the legitimacy of passing judgment on a Chilean Supreme Court 
decision: "Unless we decide tbat our concern is based on tbe [GOC] 
failure to investigate the crime, then we will need to be able to respond to 
the question whether we are impugning tbe integrity of the Chilean court 
system." To avoid tbe latter, he argued, "I tbink we ought to be considering 
sanctions which are much less harsh that what you have recommended."159 
Ultimately, Brzezinski agreed with Vance's proposed actions, singling out 
for approval the Secretary's decision to reject "the more extreme 
measures" such as severing diplomatic ties or terminating private bank 
lending to Chile that were entirely "disproportionate to their likely benefits 
to US interests. ,,160 

Yet another obstacle stood in the way of swift action over Chile's 
Supreme Court decision, said newly-installed Chile Desk Officer Peter 
Whitney. "We couldn't get a quick response from the White House about 
what sanctions had been approved."161 After considerable delay, and under 
mounting pressure, in late November the President decided to adopt most 
of Vance's original recommendations. There would be a phased reduction 
in the size of the US military and diplomatic mission in Santiago, an 
orderly cancellation of military sales in the FMS pipeline, an end to 
disbursements of already approved military aid programs, the termination 
of US government guaranteed loans, the suspension of Eximbank 
guarantees, insurance and extensions of credit, and a freeze on additional 
OPIC coverage in Chile.162 The administration would more closely 
examine Chilean loan requests to tbe MDBs (although no detailed 
consideration or instructions would be given on voting for or against Chile 
loans) and requests to purchase US strategic materials and advanced 
technological products. These were the most punitive measures the Carter 
administration had taken against the Pinochet regime in three years. How 
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they would impact inside Chile, and what they would mean for the future 
US-Chilean bilateral relationship, remained to be seen. 



CHAPTER 8 

POLICY ADRIFT 

"if we don '[ sort things out better, we will be inviting the next 
administration to throw the baby out with the hathwater. " 

Thomas Thornton, NSC Staff official, assessing Chile policy, 
November 1980. 

On all sides initial reactions to the sanctions package were that Chile got 
off very lightly. Regime officials registered their indignation but seemed 
to recognize that they had dodged a bullet. The US business community in 
Chile was, likewise, "generally relieved that the measures were not 
harsher."l On Capitol Hill, Representative Tom Harkni lambasted the 
administration's "despicably weak response" and its failure to take the one 
initiative-for which the President had clear legal authority-that would 
have the most immediate impact: the suspension of all US private bank 
lending to Chile. "The uninterrupted flow of private bank loans ni the face 
of Chile's international terrorism is instead an effective endorsement of 
these activities."2 A more sarcastic response to the "minimal" economic 
impact of the sanctions came from the Canadian Ambassador in a despatch 
to Ottawa: "So thanks in part to [the Iranian] Ayatollah's contribution to 
preoccupying the White House . . .  the Letelier axe that has been hanging 
over Pinochet for nearly two years seems to have been lowered ever so 
carefully alongside the neck, and with only enough force to stand upright 
there. It will not be difficult to pull it out of the choppnig block when 
wanted."} 

Ironically, the Chilean regime seems to have risked more in the 
bilateral relationship than Carter was evidently prepared to do. The US 
President had resisted strong pressures from the Congress for harsher 
sanctions, up to and including a break in diplomatic relations, which he 
regarded as having the potential to only minimally advance American 
interests in Chile and quite possibly severely damage them elsewhere. 
"The measures we are taking constitute the best and the right response," 
commented one administration official. "If we restricted private bank 
lending to Chile we feel it would hamper the proper functionnig of the 
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whole international banking system."4 Still, not everyone appreciated this 
apparent gloved fis!. To Chile's Foreign Minister, Reman Cubillos, the 
sanctions signaled a "return to the old practice of old methods of US 
imperialism in Latin America."5 

Not surprisingly, the President's announcement produced a mixed 
response within the foreign policy bureaucracy. In State, HA had hoped 
that Ambassador Landau would be recalled for an indefiinte period 
(instead of only two months) and expressed disappointment at what it 
considered as insufficient a proposed 20 percent reduction in the number 
of Embassy personnel if both initiatives were "to have their full intended 
impac!."6 The NSC supported the actions to be taken and was pleased with 
the decision to exclude "the more extreme measures" although Brzezinski 
did express some concern that the proposed suspension of Eximbank 
funding on the basis of the Chafee amendment "could lead to business 
complaints against the use of export financing as a tool of foreign policy."7 

From Santiago, the US Embassy personnel cuts generated strong, if 
silent, criticism. Landau thought them "a joke." The sole impact of the 
reductions would fall on the Country Team he told Washington, not the 
Chileans who "wouldn't know and wouldn't care" or on Pinochet himself 
"who couldn't have cared less.'" DCM Charles Grover who assumed 
responsibility for running the pared down Embassy agreed: "If 
Washington saw this as punishing Chile . . .  Pinochet didn't notice." Given 
Carter's professed commitment to human rights, he observed how ironic it 
was that among those positions eliminated from the Political Section was 
that of the human rights reporting officer. This meant that there would 
now be even less time and resources to spend monitoring the regime's 
governance.9 

ARA gave Landau's complaints fairly short shrift. The three person 
Political Sections in the Lima and Bogota Embassies were functioning 
perfectly well, it argued, and with reporting on the Letelier case "virtually 
ended" there was no compelling reason for rescinding this decision. The 
bureau was prepared to concede that a case could be made for not 
subjecting the Economic/Commercial Section to the same cutback given 
the value of US exports to Chile had reached $1 billion annually and the 
prospects for increased US investments were promising. However, "since 
there is not necessarily any direct correlation between US exports/investments 
and an Embassy's staffing, one less Economic/Commercial position is 
unlikely to affect the operation of that Section."lO 

Executives of US corporations with investments in Chile (unlike their 
trade counterparts) were surprised at the "strength" of the measures; a 
senior official of the American Chamber of Commerce in Santiago warned 



Policy Adrift 241 

that they "may harm" US business in Chile ll On Capitol Hill, prominent 
anti-Pinochet legislators criticized the package of measures for precisely 
the opposite reason. Senator Edward Kennedy telTIled them "minimum 
appropriate steps [that] fell far short of a tough and vigorous action against 
terrorism. ,,12 In Chile, the moderate opposition parties were equally 
unimpressed, dismissing the armounced measures as feeble. The number 
of US military personnel had already been reduced to three attaches and 
their aides and, during 1978, the Junta had purchased most of its $750 
million of new military hardware from alternative arms suppliers in 
France, West GelTIlany, Brazil and Israel-all, paradoxically, important 
US political, strategic and/or economic allies.13 This was further evidence 
of a 'White House reluctance to translate its tough human rights rhetoric 
into practice on a regional scale. The administration, a senior State 
Department human rights official acknowledged, "didn't press other 
governments about supplying arms to Chile.,,14 

Pinochet's position seemed unassailable. The regime's major "success 
story" in 1979 was its turning around of Chile's economic "near-collapse" 
according to the Canadian Embassy's annual report. The country had 
ended the year with most major economic indicators pointing in a "healthy 
direction." That said, Chile still "looked like a dictatorship and felt like a 
dictatorship to the opposition within and outside the country."15 A British 
Embassy cable to London in early December had been even more acerbic, 
noting that Pinochet by year's end had made virtually no attempt to 
pretend that it was the Junta rather than him who ran country. Perhaps the 
most "disturbing factor" was a perception that the Chilean leader was 
becoming "distanced from everybody", and it was now "no-one's job to 
tap him on the shoulder and tell him he is mortal."16 As if to prove that 
assessment correct, on the night before Landau was scheduled to return to 
Washington for another round of consultations, Pinochet hosted a dinner 
for the Santiago diplomatic corps. During the course of the evening, 
Landau informed the Junta leader of his departure date, only to be met 
with what the Ambassador described as an arrogant and dismissive 
response: "'Well so what? Stay away as long as you want, I don't need the 
US' and he pointed to the Chinese ambassador who was standing there." 
The inference was unmistakeable: Pinochet had other friends who could 
fill the gap created by US sanctions, minor or majorY 

Pinochet's response to Landau at the diplomatic corps dinner would 
not have been a complete surprise to the Ambassador. On the mere four of 
five occasions when he met privately with the Chilean leader, they were 
"usually disagreeable" encounters. His DCM Charles Grover (1978-1980) 
remembered a similar experience: "I had to see Pinochet on only one 
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occasion and he was a very gruff kind of person who would kill arguments 
with a single statement. He didn't trust anybody who was a foreigner."18 

Counting the costs 

Following closely on the November 1979 sanctions decision, the US again 
voted in favor of the annual UNGA resolution critical of Chile's human 
rights record. In the context of the Supreme Court's disappointing decision 
in the Letelier extradition case, it was not hard for the USUN Mission to 
persuade Secretary of State Vance to approve another "Yes" vote rather 
than abstain in recognition of "improvements." An abstention would not 
only have been "difficult to explain" to the world at large, the Mission 
argued; it would have alienated the moderate anti-Pinochet opposition 
groups whom the administration purported to sympathize with if not 
actually support. The flaws in the resolution could be outlined in an 
"explanatory statement" accompanying the vote.19 Vanee agreed, but he 
instructed the American delegation to challenge the "accuracy" of those 
parts of the resolution implying that "several categories of human rights 
practice" had worsened over the previous twelve months and to emphasize 
that improvements "should be recognized. "20 On December 6, the 
resolution was adopted with 93 governments voting in favour, six against, 
and 28 abstentions. There was no disguising the fact that, in view of the 
Letelier decision and the resulting US sanctions, the UN vote capped the 
lowest point in bilateral ties since the 1973 coup. 

The deterioration in relations, however, was not irreversible-or even 
necessarily as dramatic as it seemed. The lines of diplomatic communication 
remained intact, the White House had rejected the harsher sanctions 
proposed by administration human rights advocates and influential 
members of Congress and, on closer inspection, a number of the measures 
Carter announced on November 30 began to look less punitive-and 
certainly far less effective-than they had at first appeared. Entering 1980, 
not one Embassy staff member targeted for repatriation had yet left 
Santiago and a majority of those who were due to go had already been 
eannarked for eventual relocation before the sanctions were armounced. 
As for the withdrawal of US MILGP personnel, this only affected a 
handful of officials whose major responsibility was to supervise a pipeline 
on military assistance that had been closed off to new grants in 1976. Once 
orders still in the pipeline had been delivered, it was always intended that 
the group would return home. Privately US Embassy officials and 
opposition political party leaders in Santiago described the sanctions 
adopted as "a slap on the wrist" at best and never believed that the White 
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House would carry through on its more dire threats over Letelier. "All 
right, we bluffed," one high-ranking American diplomat in Santiago told 
the Washington Post barely a month after sanctions were announced. 
"They called our bluff and we 10st."21 

This assessment delivered a very clear message to both sides of politics 
in Chile: to Pinochet supporters, that the US was weak and indecisive; to 
opponents of the regime, that Carter was unwilling to risk a complete 
break with tbe dictatorship. 

Pinochet's consistent alignment with American foreign policy 
objectives, of course, added to Washington's reluctance to contemplate 
actions that might provoke a serious fracture in bilateral ties. At a mid­
January 1980 meeting witb Foreign Minister Heman Cubillos, Deputy 
Assistant Secretary of State Samuel Baton expressed America's gratitude 
for Chile's support in its conflict with Iran's new Islamic government, its 
opposition to increasing Soviet influence in Afghanistan, and its efforts on 
behalf of Colombia in the latter's competition with Cuba for a seat on the 
Uinted Nations Security Council (UNSC). "The fact that the US had 
decided to keep its Ambassador in Chile," Baton told tbe Foreign Minister, 
"symbolized our belief that we could and should work together on matters 
of mutual interest, while recognizing that there were serious problems in 
our relationship." At tbe top of the list of problems was still the regime's 
failure to satisfactorily resolve the Letelier case. In his discussion with the 
visiting American diplomat, Cubillos displayed little or no interest in 
confronting this issue, preferring to focus on the "continuing US threats 
and pressure complicat[ing] tbe task of the [regime] moderates" in their 
efforts to maintain good ties witb Washington and lobby the Junta for a 
more rapid transition to democracy.22 These "threats," he said, only served 
to "strengthen the hardliners around Pinochet. "23 Landau wrote to Vance 
that Baton came away from his discussion with no indication the Chilean 
government "plans to take tbe steps tbat might allow us to put tbe 
[Letelier] matter behind."24 

Ambassador Landau agreed that the Letelier decision had "dropped 
[relations] to a new low," and warned against taking measures that could 
bolster the regime hardliners, although for very different reasons. No 
action should be taken tbat might undermine the benefits accruing to tbe 
American multinational business community in Chile, the country was an 
important trading partner and the stake of the US private business and 
financial community was "at an all-time high," and having implemented 
"all practical punitive measures available" it was unlikely that any fintber 
sanctions would strengthen government moderates over hardliners. That 
being the case, Landau proposed that US private commercial and financial 
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interests in Chile be treated independently of the formal diplomatic 
relationship. He drew a comparison with the importance of the regime's 
aligmnent with American foreign policy: Santiago "frequently takes 
positions on global issues compatible with US interests," particularly those 
related to East-West relations, the Middle East and Africa, and generates 
few, if any, security concerns in Washington. In these circumstances it 
made perfect sense, Landau concluded, for the administration to "maintain 
cool official relations for an indefinite period [until the Letelier issue was 
resolved] while still seeking and exploiting areas of congruent interest." 
What the Ambassador could not abide was the refusal of HA officials to 
acknowledge any positive initiatives taken by the military regime such as 
the abolition of DIN A, the extradition of Michael Townley, or Pinochet's 
decision to rescind the bans on visits to Chile by UN Special Rapporteurs 
and American labor leaders.25 "They could not care less what Pinochet 
did. They were out to get him [and] hit [him] over the head whenever they 
could." In light of this attitude, It was not surprising, Landau added, that "I 
was rebuffed" by Chilean authorities on numerous occasions in attempting 
to implement Department instructions. 26 

Corporate America's Chilean affair 

For all their hand wringing over the impact of the Letelier dispute on US­
Chilean relations, members of the US investment and banking connnunity 
continued to laud the Junta's economic strategy and its enforced political 
stability that had created an optimal profit-making enviromnent. Not even 
bilateral disagreements that periodically triggered the recall of the US 
Ambassador for consultations interrupted the increased flow of American 
capital to Chile. Anaconda Copper (now owned by Atlantic Richfield) 
signed a contract to invest up to $1.5 billion in a new mine. 'We have 
come back to Chile not only because of the mining prospects, but because 
this Government has created a climate of confidence for investment," said 
company president Ralph Cox. The head of Dow Chemical operations in 
Chile tenned business conditions "excellent" as did Jack Carter, the 
manager of Goodyear's $34 million tyre, battery, and rubber products 
plants in Chile. In contrast to other Third World countries "there is 
stability, a large and growing middle class and pent up demand after a long 
period of recession," he explained. St Joe Minerals Corporation was 
another prominent investor in Chile with estimates that its stake could 
eventually total as much as $500 million. US corporate executives and 
bankers openly acknowledged that human rights considerations exercised 
no influence over their decisions. "I don't think we spent five minutes 
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talking about human rights when the board made the decision to invest in 
Chile," observed Goodyear's Jack Carter, praising the economic road 
taken by the military regime 27 

By early 1980, at least five US copper companies were investing 
heavily in exploration and development, taking advantage of Chile's 
foreign investment laws which the Wall Street Journal described as 
"among the world's most attractive," and their ability to access copper ore 
that contained 50 percent more metal on average than domestic (US) ore.28 
Paralleling the upsurge in foreign investment was a continuing influx of 
foreign private bank loans. "Hardly a week passes," reported the New York 
Times in July, "that some important foreign banker is not pictured with 
[Pinochet], armouncing the opening of a new branch or a big loan."29 
American finance capital remained a steady and critical source of support. 
At the time of the Borquez extradition decision, for instance, the Chase 
Manhattan Bank opened its fIrst branch in the country, and during tlie last 
five months of 1980 at least four multimillion dollar syndicated loans to 
Chile were being managed by leading American multinational banks.30 
Ultimately, these developments further undercut tlie already feeble Carter 
administration efforts to apply economic pressures on the Chilean regime. 

There were, in any event, new calculations to factor into US relations 
with Chile and Latin America more generally. During tlie last 18  months 
of the Carter presidency, foreign policy decision-making was complicated 
by the deteriorating relationship between Brzezinski and Vance, and the 
President's uncertain response to their conflicting views. 'Whereas Vance 
generally remained committed to superpower detente and targeting 
abusive Third World governments, Brzezinski was by then urging an 
increasingly harder-line approach toward the Soviet Union in view of its 
"adventurism" in the Horn and Southern Africa, together with a renewed 
US military build-up, and an aggressive pursuit of human rights especially 
where this would strengthen dissident efforts to undelTIline Moscow's 
influence in Eastern Europe. According to Carter's Director of Central 
Intelligence, StansfIeld Turner, tlie President allowed himself to be caught 
in the middle. The result was that he "vacillated between Brzezinski and 
Vance, and they often cancelled each other OUt.31 After the Soviet invasion 
of Afghanistan in December 1979, Carter sided fIrmly witli the Brzezinski 
and backpedalled on tlie centrality of human rights in determining 
administration policy toward tlie Third World.32 
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MDB lending: The final debate 

Carter administration efforts to block or force the withdrawal of Chile loan 
requests to the MDBs, according to one calculation, probably resulted in 
decisions not to submit additional loan proposals totalling an estimated 
$500 million in order to avoid the humiliation or embarrassment of a 
negative voteY But the situation was more complex-and less flattering 
to the effectiveness of US policy-than it appeared. 

Carter had only just begun his fourth year in office when the issue of 
Chilean loan applications before the World Bank resurfaced. The US 
Executive Director's office alerted State and Treasury officials to three 
loans (for roads, water supply and agriculture) totalling $116 million 
which were coming up for detelTIlination, and requested "infOlmal" 
Department positions on each application prior to discussions with Bank 
management and other directors. Two of the loans, a $42 million highway 
construction project and a $38 million water supply project, had been held 
in abeyance at Chile's request after being processed through the Loan 
Committee stage in March 1979. The World Bank's Acting Regional Vice 
President, Eugenio Lari, thought this decision understandable at the time 
as most of Chile's financial requirements were being met by private 
foreign banks on increasingly generous telTIlS and the regime did not want 
to jeopardize access to these credits "by pressing multinational agencies 
for loans at the risk of provoking bitter Executive Board debates. ,,34 

State's Economic and Business Affairs (EB) bureau felt there was no 
good reason to support the loans, especially as the Bank had continued to 
defme Chile as "uncreditworthy" since it last approved a loan to the 
Pinochet regime in December 1978-albeit with the "controversy 
surrounding the political and human rights situation in Chile [constituting 
a] major unofficial factor" in the Bank's calculations. Bureau staff 
communicated to EB' s Assistant Secretary Deane Hinton their "strong 
preference" for convincing Bank management not to bring forward the 
loans which, they added for maximum impact, was Treasury's favored 
option as well. This, the bureau argued, was "consistent with the 
President's recent policy decisions on Chile"-presumably alluding to the 
previous November's package of sanctions. 35 

Hinton and ARA's Assistant Secretary William Bowdler (who 
succeeded Viron Vaky in January 1980) referred the question of what 
should be the Department's position on these upcoming Chile loan 
requests to Warren Christopher. The Assistant Secretaries were troubled 
by the timing of the loan submissions which coincided with congressional 
deliberations on the broader issue of the US subscription to the World 
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Bank's Selective Capital Increase (linked to a change in the voting powers 
of Bank members) because of a key difference that had emerged between 
the House and Senate versions of the FY1980 Foreign Assistance Act 
(FAA). Their fear was that any MDB loan to Chile "could put the Bill's 
passage further in doubt" and, if defeated, US contributions to all the 
MDBs, as well as bilateral aid programs, would be seriously affected. To 
avoid that possibility, Hinton and Bowdler joined forces to advise that if 
the Bank's management disregarded Washington's first preference, then 
the US should aggressively lobby to mobilize a consensus among the 
Executive Directors to oppose the loans and, failing that, instruct the US 
representatives to just oppose any loans that were brought forward and 
leave other member governments to vote as they wished.36 In the event, 
the US Executive Director was able to temporarily delay World Bank 
consideration of the Chile loans. But ARA's Chile Desk officer Peter 
Whitney made the general point of reminding his colleagues that voting 
against Chile loans in the MDBs was not among the Letelier sanctions 
announced by Vance despite the fact that HA having "specifically" 
requested that it be included.37 

In early March, Bowdler transmitted a memo to Christopher spelling 
out in detail ARA's position on whether loans to Chile in the World Bank 
and IADB should be based on the Letelier case or treated separately from 
human rights issues. The document highlighted a striking inconsistency 
between the "significant progress" in human rights achieved by the 
military regime during the past twelve months and a policy of opposing 
MDB loans on these self-same grounds. Bowdler wanted the Deputy 
Secretary to disentangle the two issues: "To prevent confusion arising over 
our response to an improvement in human rights conditions-particularly 
in countries where human rights are an issue in our relationships-we 
must keep these issues separate, and a signal should be sent which clearly 
recognizes Chile's improved human rights situation." ARA, therefore, 
supported a "Yes" vote on the BHN loans which would be consistent with 
the policy covering the Agency for International Development's (AID) 
Chile program in view of the Department's public statement at the time of 
the November 1979 sanctions that these activities would not be cut for 
humanitarian reasons. 

When the Christopher Committee had discussed the three World Bank 
loans in February, Bowdler continued, there was unanimous agreement 
that the water supply loan met the BHN criteria but a sharp division of 
opinion over whether Chile's improved human rights record was a 
sufficient reason for changing a policy "based on the arguments that the 
Letelier case is in fact a case of human rights." ARA la'W)'ers, rejected any 
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connection between the terrorist act and human rights legislation, and 
argued that improvements in the latter should be duly acknowledged. At 
the same time, the bureau's view was that voting decisions in the MDBs 
must take into account the Letelier case even though the November 
sanctions included no instruction to that effect. ARA was willing to 
support a "No" vote on non-BHN loans as "the appropriate expression of 
our concern" while holding firm to tbe position that approval of BHN 
loans to Chile accorded with recent US policy decisions and statements.38 
The Santiago Embassy gave unqualified support to ARA's stance, 
insisting that "an act of international terrorism" should not be confused 
"with improvements in the internal human rights perfOlmance of this 
regime. "39 

Another communique to Christopher jointly signed by Bowdler, 
Hinton, and HA's Assistant Secretary Patricia Derian again highlighted the 
lack of a Departmental consensus on what stance the US should take on 
the Chile loans: bilateral ties were "clouded by the Letelier case which HA 
believes should be considered as a serious human rights violation and 
ARA believes should be treated as a separate issue." Derian refused to 
budge from HA's deeply held belief that the Letelier case was, first and 
foremost, a major human rights abuse and therefore the US should 
resolutely oppose all aid to Chile. The regional and global implications of 
adopting the ARA-Embassy position-that Chile be placed in the same 
category as Argentina, Paraguay and Uruguay, abstaining on non-BHN 
loans and approving BHN loans-also needed to be taken into account. 
When tbe US changed its voting patterns in the MDBs tbis was generally 
acknowledged as a message carrying "considerable political significance"­
anotber reason for HA's opposition to any policy shift related to Chile loan 
submissions. "We should not," Derian argued, "send a signal to the 
Pinochet Government under present circumstances, even on a basic human 
needs loan." To change policy now would undelTIline the active and 
successful US role in mobilizing growing international opposition to MDB 
loans to Chile over the past two years: "We would fmd it very difficult if 
not impossible to justify our shift in position in tbe light of recent bilateral 
actions with regard to Chile." Bowdler restated ARA's position tbat 
Washington should only support BHN loans due to Chile's "failure to 
investigate and prosecute" those responsible for the LetelierIMoffitt 
murders. Whereas previously a large number of donor nations had 
opposed MDB loans to Chile, he reasoned, this situation no longer held 
and most Executive Directors could now be expected to caste favourable 
votes when the circumstance arose. 
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Presented with these two sharply opposed recommendations, 
Christopher decided to retain the existing policy of voting against all Chile 
loan requests primarily out a concern to avoid any perceptions among the 
public or Congress of a weakened commitment to human rights. 40 
Although the Embassy and ARA continued to press tbe case for a policy 
shift, at least when it came to BHN loans, Vance and his Deputy stood 
firm in support ofHA's position. Following Christopher's April 9 decision 
to maintain the Chile "No" vote policy, Department and Embassy critics 
were quick to fault it as "unfortunate and inconsistent" and based on a 
flawed rationale about the state of human rights in Chile which had 
improved over the past three years.41 Assistant Treasury Secretary C. Fred 
Bergsten initially concurred with the Vance-Christopher position before 
requesting a slight delay to "'think about tbe decision over tbe weekend.'" 
ARA baulked at clearing any cable until Treasury had made up its mind. 
On April 15, the log-jam was cleared when tbe Department announced its 
agreement.42 Two days later, at a World Bank Board meeting, the US 
Executive Director carried instructions from Treasury Secretary George 
William Miller to vote "No" on all three loan submissions. 

Vance explained the decision to oppose tbe water supply and 
agricultural BHN loans on the grounds of Washington's twin concerns 
with the human rights situation in Chile generally and, more importantly, 
the regime's "failure to fully investigate ... the Letelier matter" or to prosecute 
those responsible.43 Landau pleaded unsuccessfully for a reconsideration 
of the policy given the decline in state-authored abuses, adding that 
opposing tbe loans further weakened his own ability to press for 
concessions from the Junta. "The Carter administration really ruined all 
the possibilities to make progress on human rights," Landau reflected, and 
Vance had to accept most of tbe blame for being "completely uninvolved" 
in Chile policy which allowed HA to wield excessive influence.44 

World Bank decisions to postpone consideration of the agricultural 
credit loan (to September) and tbe highways loan (to November) gave 
proponents of a policy shift some breathing space to regroup and prepare 
for the next round of debate, confident that developments in the bilateral 
relationship and in internal Chilean politics could always be guaranteed to 
impact on arguments for and against Christopher's decision to oppose all 
loans. Meanwhile, US efforts to bring other Executive Directors on board 
made little headway. Washington's "No" votes in the MDBs were 
effectively little more than symbolic gestures that enabled the 
administration to maintain a principled posture while avoiding any attempt 
to effect the outcome of Board decisions. A senior World Bank economist 
with Latin American responsibilities sketched a devastating picture of a 



250 Chapter 8 

White House that lacked the courage of its convictions when it came to 
pursuing hlUllan rights objectives in that institution: 

The Americans had twenty percent of the vote and when the Americans 
would vote 'No' on something like that, they would essentially ask the 
Executive Director to read out a little script giving some fonn of pseudo 
economic or social justification and, with regret, vote 'No'. Period. But 
they didn't lobby. They didn't make an effort to get other Executive 
Directors' support until later. So we really didn't care, that much. They 
wouldn't harass us. In general in those years it was clear that an 
overwhelming majority were going to approve Chile loan requests. And 
the Americans didn't really make threats. \¥hen they really get tough, you 
know it. They were not tough. We were never worried about the Carter 
'No' votes on World Bank loans. 45 

The administration's lack of success should have come as no S"UIprise, 
given it was already aware of the refusal of American allies worldwide to 
support its Chile policy. On one occasion, the \¥hite House did send a 
high level delegation to Europe and Japan to lobby governments to oppose 
Chilean loan requests only to discover that "all of them thought we are 
absolutely crazy" to vote against them on human rights grounds.46 The 
cable traffic from European Embassies in particular revealed almost total 
agreement that host governments intended to vote purely on the "economic 
merits [or] economic viability" of each Chilean proposa1.47 

Military tensions 

At an early 1979 Christopher Committee meeting, Deputy Assistant 
Secretary of State John Bushnell described as "absurd" a situation in 
which the US voted against "sound" Chile loan requests to the MDBs 
while simultaneously retaining a number of military links with the 
authoritarian regime (joint naval exercises, technical assistance programs, 
etc.). These were precisely the \¥fong "signals" to be sending, he said. The 
Pentagon had other ideas and was "strongly opposed" to eliminating even 
the most minor programs such as the long-established Defense Mapping 
Agency (DMA) which provided financial and technical aid for the 
production of aerial maps of Chile. When Bushnell proposed terminating 
that project to avoid any perceived inconsistency with the human rights 
policy, the idea was fiercely contested by the Pentagon. DOD officials on 
secondment to ARA reported that their phones were "ringing off the hook 
with senior officers trying to figure out how to maintain the program." So 
concerned was the Department that it arranged for a delegation to meet 
with Bushnell and explain the supposed critical importance of this 
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program to US national security. At the scheduled time, a large number of 
senior military officers from the DMA program, the Navy, and other 
Pentagon staffers filed into tlie Deputy Assistant Secretary's office. One of 
those present at the meeting "counted the number of stars in the room, 
stars as in rank, and he said there were more than 40. The delegation was 
headed by a four-star general with several three-stars, and the bag carriers 
were one or two stars." Their pleading about the necessity for up-to-date 
maps for any operations in Chile was summarily rejected by Bushnell as 
lacking substance and anachronistic in the age of satellite monitoring.48 
Havnig lost tlie argument in State, DOD tlien protested the decision all tlie 
way up to the President-with the same outcome at each step.49 

A far more significant issue for US-Chilean military relations surfaced 
in February 1980 when NSC staffer Thomas Thomton alerted Brzezniski 
to a pending decision on whether tlie US should invite Chile and Argentnia 
to participate in the annual UNIT AS naval exercises with other Latin 
American allies. 'Whereas Defense "wants to go ahead," he reported, State 
would assuredly contend "that we should not let the Chileans participate 
this year as one more punishment for the Letelier affair." Thomton 
proposed inviting Argentina and excluding Chile, the latter decision 
"keyed specifically to tlie Letelier case." But he coupled tliis advice with a 
belief that, after three years, the time had arrived to seriously address tlie 
question of whether this Letelier-related "punishment" should finally come 
to an end. "Do we want this to be a time-limited action," Thomton asked, 
"or is it supposed to remain a semi-pelTI1anent factor in US-Chilean 
relations?" His answer was unequivocal: this UNIT AS decision should be 
"our last one." In future, issues that had the potential to complicate 
bilateral relations should be assessed "on the basis of their merits and 
overall Chilean behavior."50 

Twenty four hours later, Thornton informed Brzezinski of an apparent 
stalemate between State and DOD over whether or not to invite Chile, and 
of Under Secretary of State David Newsom's request that the NSC "take a 
position and, presumably, decide the issue." Brzezinski ticked "Yes" on 
the memo beside his staffer's recommendation that Chile not be invited to 
participate. 51 Robert Pastor now weighed into tlie debate. "I would pose 
Tom's question differently," he told Brzezinski. "How much staying 
power does tlie USG have? I tliink it would be a terrible embarrassment to 
the President if we proceeded with 'business as usual,' alluding to the 
UNIT AS exercise, four months after he announces a strong and finn 
policy" on the Letelier case. A second reason for avoiding "business as 
usual" had to do with domestic politics, specifically Mark Schneider's 
resignation from HA to run Senator Edward Kennedy's campaign against 
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Carter for the 1980 Democratic Party presidential nomination. "You can 
be absolutely certain tbat a decision to put tbe 'Letelier phase' in the past 
and proceed with UNITAS would be noticed," Pastor \¥fote, if for no other 
reason than that Kennedy was "hungry for issues." That aside, "there is no 
good reason for us to go ahead with UNIT AS; we are hardly in danger of 
losing Chile to anyone but the militarists. ,,52 

As tbe bureaucratic debate over Chile's participation in UNITAS 
intensified-and the larger question Thomton had raised awaited a 
response-Secretary Vanee became embroiled in another pressing Junta­
related matter in the United Nations: whether or not to co-sponsor a 
"sound, moderate" draft resolution in the United Nations Human Rights 
Commission (UNHRC) offered by the Netherlands that was critical of 
Chile while resisting more radical proposals tbat might be introduced. HA 
lobbied for co-sponsorship, but in view of the time constraint, was 
agreeable to putting American support behind the Dutch draft "to help 
forestall growtb of support for an expected radical-and unacceptable­
Cuban resolution." Vance authorized the US Mission in Geneva to 
support, not co-sponsor, the Dutch resolution, rejecting an ARA proposal 
to abstain on the vote. To do the latter, he decided, would constitute a 
policy shift which the administration was not prepared to make. Deputy 
Assistant Secretary Roberta Cohen had to "fight off a real effort" by ARA 
to change the US vote to abstention and to make a positive statement. 
Partly to mollify ARA, and encouraged by State's Bureau of International 
Organizations (10), Vance instructed the delegation to call attention to a 
limited number of flaws in the resolution at the time of the vote. 53 

While Vance was busy dealing with tbe UNHRC problem, President 
Carter was pondering a final decision on the UNIT AS issue. In the past, no 
question of being selective about who to invite had ever arisen because 
Latin American military regimes came and went in the region and the long 
plarming times needed for some exercises-usually two years in the case 
of UNIT AS-meant that these sorts of manoeuvres essentially remained 
independent of political considerations. When Carter accepted the NSC 
recommendation to exclude Chile it marked the first time in 21 years that a 
regional ally had not been invited to participate in UNIT AS on political 
grounds. 

At tbe NSC, Thornton applauded the decision and hoped the White 
House would "stand firm and not back down now in the face of Chilean 
pressure." Thomton also wanted Brzezinski to put pressure on Vance to 
address the larger question he had raised earlier: whether it was not time to 
"draw the line" under tbe Letelier case which had become State's 
"automatic reason for opposing anything." Thomton wrote that "inflicting 
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punishment indefmitely is poor policy and I don't see much virtue in 
proving our 'staying power' indefinitely." An added bonus if State could 
be persuaded to shift away from its "hardline" stance was that it would 
"probably also make DOD somewhat happier."54 

Conservative legislators could hardly control their anger over 
Chile's exclusion. One of the first challenges for Edmund Muskie-who 
would take over as Secretary of State on April 29 following Vance's 
resignation over his opposition to Carter's ill-fated military mission to 
rescue Americans held hostage in Tehran-was to face dO\vn protests by a 
sizable bipartisan group of House members (15 Republicans and 9 
Democrats) who aligned themselves with the Defense Department in 
opposing Vance's refusal to change his mind over UNITAS. In a letter to 
the President, they warned that the decision would establish a "dangerous 
precedent" by politicizing regional military cooperation. 55 In a personal 
letter to Muskie, Senate Foreign Relations Committee member Richard 
Lugar (R-IND) argued that excluding Chile would not contribute to 
regional security and was most likely to weaken the hemisphere's ability 
to contain the spread of Soviet influence. 56 On July 1, at a meeting with 
the President, conservative House members, Charles Wilson (D-TX) and 
Henry Hyde (R-ILL) termed the UNITAS decision "ridiculous" and 
accused Deputy Secretary of State Christopher of politicizing a security 
operation which they considered "personally insulting and 'absolutely 
infuriating. 

,,,57 
Carter went out of his way to assuage the wrath of those legislators 

hostile to Chile's exclusion by explaining that the decision had "a 
momentlUll of its own and that by the time he got involved with it, it was 
too late" and that he had already informed State that Chile's participation 
"could be done next year". But now it was imperative to send "a very clear 
and significant message" that the US was profoundly dissatisfied with the 
regime's response to the LetelierIMoffitt investigation. This failed to 
mollify his visitors. Wilson countered that the US response was a case of 
overkill while Hyde argued that the trial of the three DINA officials was 
equivalent to the US government "putting J. Edgar Hoover on trial." 
Carter conceded that it was possible that "we could have over made our 
point to Chile."" 

In Santiago, the UNIT AS armouncement had a profound impact on the 
armed forces, especially the Navy. "Chile was already a pariah at the UN 
and that bothered them," said Roberta Cohen. "The US votes and 
statements at the UN were a point of pressure; the State Department 
human rights reports bothered them too. But the ban on participation in 
naval exercises really hit them," because it effectively meant that the 
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military relationship was being "put on ice."59 Embassy DCM Charles 
Grover was similarly emphatic that "the tbings that bothered the military 
more tban anything else were related to purely military matters" and tbe 
UNITAS decision literally "sturmed" the Chilean Navy because this was a 
regular, important, and much anticipated part of their scheduled activities 
each year. 60 

The fOlTIlal Chilean government response was one of "grave 
disappointment." In conversation with the US Ambassador, Foreign 
Minister Cubillos went so far as to assert that it "would upset tbe stability 
in the Southern Cone" and embolden Argentina and Peru to take "a more 
threatening stance" in regard to the Beagle Channel islands and possible 
military intervention respectively. Cubillos accused Washington of 
applying a "double standard of morality" by treating Chile far more 
harshly in comparison with Argentina the human rights record of which 
was far worse and which "had not cooperated witb the US against tbe 
Soviets or in tbe nuclear field." He also suggested tbat the time had arrived 
to call a halt to defining American policy almost exclusively in terms of 
the Letelier issue. Without responding directly to the Foreign Minister's 
statement, Landau firmly reminded him tbat the Junta had repeatedly 
offered its full cooperation in the Letelier investigation only to stonewall 
any action over the past two years; and that the November measures "were 
not taken on human rights grounds [and therefore 1 it was not a question of 
applying a double standard." The Ambassador dryly added tbat no 
Argentinian government personnel had been "accused of murdering two 
persons in the streets ofWashington."61 

Pinochet gave his 0\Vll response in a keynote address to foreign 
Ambassadors in Santiago. Emphasizing tbat Chileans "fight against 
Marxist imperialism, a tenacious and powerful, but not invincible enemy," 
he exhorted those present "to defend Chile against tbe Soviet-inspired 
propaganda campaign." Pinochet also told his audience tbat those "who 
believe in western Christian civilization observe with fear that the country 
we had considered as the leader is not in fact; it seems unable to take any 
decisive action." There was no disguising his allusion to the US, Landau 
commented, adding tbat for tbe Chilean President "the Cold War never 
ended. ,,62 But nor was there any disguising what by now was the contempt 
Pinochet held for the Carter administration. 

Despite continuing Embassy pleas to rescind the UNIT AS decision, tbe 
administration remained fitmly committed to Chile's "ostracism" from the 
1980 naval exercise barring some particularly significant development that 
indicated a policy review might be in order.63 \¥hen the Embassy 
transmitted a Junta request that Washington review its position in April, 
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Deputy Secretary Christopher (for the Secretary) cabled that a short and 
unequivocal message be conveyed to the regime: "[The request] has been 
reviewed at a high level on [an 1 interagency basis" and it was agreed that 
inviting Chile to UNIT AS "would be inconsistent with other USG 
decisions in connection with [the] Letelier case."64 

Soon after Pinochet's Cold War speech to foreign ambassadors in 
Santiago, a development with consequences for both governments was 
unfolding in mid-March over the skies of the Pacific Ocean. En route to 
the Philippines in mid-March, at the invitation of President Ferdinand 
Marcos, and accompanied by Foreign Minister Cubillos, Pinochet received 
word from his host that the state visit had been abruptly cancelled on the 
grounds that Marcos suddenly had "urgent" business outside of Manila. 
Some days later, Marcos explained that security concerns-the discovery 
of an alleged plot by "foreign terrorists" to assassinate both leaders-had 
caused him to cancel the visit. 65 True or not, Pinochet was embarrassed 
and humiliated, all the more so given that he had viewed the trip as 
demonstrating the regime's enhanced international image.66 He blamed 
Cubillos for the debacle, accusing him of failing to anticipate the 
cancellation and, more generally, of consistently urging him to make 
concessions to Landau and the US government in the absence of any 
reciprocity on their part. 67 "See what your friends the Americans are doing 
to me," he reportedly exploded, before firing his Foreign Minister on the 
plane as it returned to Santiago.68 Landau long harbored a suspicion that 
"there must have been something we did" that explained the Marcos 
decision.69 The PDC's Edgardo Boeninger, however, suggested that the 
decision to remove Cubillos reflected Pinochet's suspicion that he was "a 
potential successor. . .  as a transitional civilian president and [Pinochet] had 
marked him dO\vn as a force to be removed at the first available 
opportunity."70 Whatever the reason for Cubillos' fall from grace, Pinochet 
promptly replaced him with a career diplomat, the then Chilean 
Ambassador to Spain, Rene Rojas. 

The US Embassy interpreted Cubillos' sacking as a sign that Pinochet 
was preparing to become much more directly involved in the day-to-day 
conduct of Chilean foreign policy at the expense of Foreign Ministry 
moderates.71 Canadian diplomats in Santiago attributed Cub ill os 

, 
downfall 

to pressure applied by the '" duras' (hard-liners) in the government and 
circles influential with the President." Although convinced that "that there 
is no way that Rojas can have the influence that Cubillos did" there was an 
upside to Rojas' appointment: Pinochet's selection of a civilian meant that 
the hardliners "had not enjoyed a complete triumph in ousting Cubillos,"72 
even if it was hard to discern much in the way of a policy shift following 



256 Chapter 8 

Rojas' selection. Chile's refusal to support the US bid for a seat on the 
UNHRC-despite an active, and successful, lobbying effort by the USUN 
delegation against passage of any General Assembly resolution highly 
critical of the regime's human rights perfOlmance-appeared to 
substantiate Pinochet's reported move to assert greater personal control 
over foreign policy and to distance Chile from the US in the process. 
Ambassador Landau called the decision "the first clear case of retaliation 
for USG decisions flowing from the LetelierIMoffitt case.,,73 The Cubillos 
sacking was a major setback for Landau who "lost [his] interlocutor to 
Pinochel." Thereafter, the Junta head refused to give him "the time of 
day." If the US Ambassador wished to appeal a prisoner's release or 
request that a particular human rights abuse be investigated, he could now 
only get a hearing from Interior Ministry officials: "By the end of the 
Carter regime I was kind of the lame duck."74 

In mid-June, Navy Commander Admiral Jose Merino re-ignited the 
debate over Chile's first-time exclusion from UNITAS, accusing the State 
Department of reaching this decision on the basis of a "banal political 
issue.,,75 He boasted that Chile's absence would in no way affect the Navy's 
preparedness; instead it would only damage "the hemispheric defense 
against communism. ,,76 This statement found a receptive audience in the 
Pentagon where efforts were underway to encourage greater Chilean 
participation in Southern Cone security affairs. In the NSC, on the other 
hand, it drew the ire of Robert Pastor who was already armoyed at DOD's 
aggressive effort to get the 'White House to sanction a visit to a number of 
countries in the region, including Argentina and Chile, by Secretary of the 
Navy Edward Hidalgo. Pastor attacked the DOD lobbying as "symptomatic 
of their continued efforts to undermine the President's human rights and 
security objectives in Latin America." He wanted Brzezinski to oppose the 
trip which could only send "mixed signals" to the hemisphere regarding 
the human rights policy, and divert the Pentagon's focus from "real 
security problems in the Caribbean" as well as improving ties with the 
aimed forces of the region's democratic countries.77 Pastor's colleague, 
Thomas Thomton, also opposed the trip partly on the grounds that it 
would almost certainly be perceived as "a gesture to make up for the 
UNITAS decisions."78 In a memo to Carter, Secretary of State Muskie also 
supported excluding Chile (and Argentina) from Hidalgo's itinerary 
because of the Junta's failure to take satisfactory action on the Letelier 
case. Surprisingly, the President wrote in the margin that he was "inclined 
to let him go" but would hold off making a final decision until Muskie had 
conferred with Defense Secretary Harold Bro'Wll. In the end, after Bro'Wll 
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had also consulted with Brzezinski, it was agreed that Hidalgo would go to 
Argentina but not Chile.79 

Warren Christopher gave no credence to Merino's warning that Chile's 
exclusion from the UNITAS exercises increased the region's vulnerability 
to communism. Responding to a 'White House request for an assessment of 
Soviet relations with Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Peru and Uruguay, 
Christopher wrote that "the strongly anti-Communist orientation of most 
current South American leaders and the significantly stronger position of 
the United States and many European nations have limited the growth of 
Soviet influence" in the hemisphere. In the case of Chile, which had no 
diplomatic ties with the Soviet Union, Moscow was not engaged in any 
activities "which seriously trouble the Pinochet regime domestically."80 

Nevertheless, on June 21, Brzezinski received a copy of Muskie's 
"Morning Summary" which described the official Chilean response to tbe 
UNIT AS ban as "predictably negative and nationalistic." Well aware of 
the absence of an administration consensus, the Pinochet government 
appeared "resigned to taking its lumps tbis year in the hope tbat next year 
will be business as usual.,,81 By "next year," the regime almost certainly 
had in mind a more sympathetic Republican Wliite House following tbe 
1980 presidential election. Nonetheless, the cancellation "hit them very 
hard" and to symbolically express his anger Pinochet "gave the order 
personally" that none of his cabinet ministers or senior military officials 
would attend the July 4th Independence Day reception at the US Embassy. 
Although Landau himself considered the UNITAS decision an "empty 
gesture," insofar as it had a limited impact on Chilean military capabilities, 
what "really bothered tbem" was the broader message it sent: that relations 
across the board were never likely to improve under Carter.82 

As it turned out, the impact of tbe UNIT AS decision on bilateral 
military ties was far less than its critics feared. In September, John 
Bushnell asked ARA' s Robert Service for a report on whetber administration 
policy, in light of the disappointing Letelier outcome, should be confined 
to the November 30 measures or expanded to "an almost total prohibition 
of the military-to-military relationship." In a telling memo, Service wrote 
that, to his knowledge, there had never been a decision requiring across­
the-board curtailment of aimed forces' interactions under the Letelier 
sanctions policy and even the November armouncement did not itself 
specify tennination of the Embassy's MILGP, merely a review of its 
function. In addition, while decisions were taken to discourage visits by 
military officials of both countries there was no move to prevent members 
of the US anned forces from attending multilateral conferences with their 
Chilean counterparts as recent meetings of senior regional air force 
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officials in Santiago and of hemisphere naval chiefs in Quito, Ecuador 
attested. The question remained, wrote Service, whether US interests 
"benefit or suffer" from a decision to tenninate most military ties with the 
Chileans. While it "reinforces our position that the GOC must take action 
against Contreras, et al. . .  the sanctions hurt us at least as much as the 
Chileans [and] at some point we are going to start removing or modifying 
them." In Santiago, this ratcheting up of pressure over Letelier fed into an 
existing "strong suspicion" within the Junta that the US objective is "not 
justice but political change at the highest level" which Pinochet could 
exploit to his O\Vll advantage.83 

Pinochet's Constitution 

The deterioration in Washington-Santiago relations since mid-1979 soon 
collided with more pressing internal problems that reqinred the Junta's 
attention. Worker discontent had begun to surge again, fuelled largely by 
the failure of Pifiera's Labor Plan to address unionists' concerns and the 
decline in real wage levels. Simultaneously, Cardinal Raul Silva's efforts 
to mollify Pinochet and ease the regime's pressure on the Church to stay 
out of politics actually revived tensions between these two powerful 
institutions. On the occasion of Silva's homily at the traditional 
Independence Day memorial mass on September 19, 1979, the Cardinal 
bowed to threats from tbe Chilean leader and excluded "pointed criticisms 
of the government" in tbe version of the text he read from the pulpit after 
Pinochet told him "he would walk out" of the Catbedral if he did not. 84 
This antagoinzed a large number of the Catholic clergy, two hundred of 
whom had petitioned Silva not to even appear at the service in protest at 
the regime's refusal to honor an agreement to return the Lonquen bodies 
(uncovered the previous year) to the families of the victims-instead 
secretly burying them in a mass grave. 'When the complete version of the 
speech was released, Ambassador Landau cabled Washington: "the 
generally activist Chilean clergy [were] dismayed that tbe Cardinal 
capitulated in the face of President Pinochet's bluff to walk out of the 
mass." In airport statements en route to Europe for the Chilean bishops ad 
limina (or obligatory regular) meeting with tbe Pope, Silva "reacted 
defensively when asked about his handling of tbe situation, stating tbat he 
'didn't want to step on anyone's toes.'" To Landau, Silva's behavior 
seemed part of an effort to avoid pushing church/state relations to 
"breaking point" at a time of particularly strained ties over a range of 
issues, including Pinochet's harsh criticism of the Episcopal Bishops' 
Council's study of the government's agrarian policy and "an ongoing 
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dispute over control of [Santiago's] Catholic University."" Relations 
failed to improve as the state continued its crackdO\vn on anti-regime 
protests and Silva canceled the traditional (1980) May Day mass.86 
Landau, who was on "great telTIls" with the Cardinal and the Vicariate, 
said senior Church officials often "came and cried on my shoulder but 
there was so little I could do."87 

Finding ways to quell the resurgence of opposition to military rule was 
not the only challenge confronting Pinochet and his generals. Their 
civilian gremialista supporters were constantly pressing to begin the 
process of implementing measures to consolidate the regime and its 
economic strategy over the long telTIl. Finally, Pinochet armounced that a 
plebiscite would be held on September 11 ,  1980 to approve a new 
Constitution that had two key objectives: to provide the framework for a 
transition from direct military rule to a "protected democracy," in the 
process relegating the political left to the margins of this proposed new 
political system; and to halt, then reverse, the nation's growing worldwide 
isolation that was seen as a potential threat to regime stability.88 The new 
Constitution was the outcome of conflicts and disagreements over a range 
of issues that had been a feature of Junta discussions since the beginning 
of the Carter presidency. As a compromise, it reflected the continuing 
strength of the Junta's unanimity rule and testified to the limits on 
Pinochet's ability to act completely independently of his colleagues' 
views. As was always the case, writes Robert Barros, "no member of the 
Junta unilaterally imposed their preferred institutional framework, 
timetable, or transition. "89 The decision to include political parties in 
future arrangements was a case in point. Only months earlier, Pinochet had 
restated his view that "under no circumstances can we accept the return to 
professional politicians and political parties . . .  because the parties would 
allow the Marxists to penetrate and return again to power. "90 However, his 
Junta colleagues, and a number of senior military and civilian officials, 
envisaged the participation of political parties in a "protected democracy" 
and "in the end Pinochet was a realist"91-meaning he knew that 
ultimately he would have to give way on this issue because these 
sentiments could not be ignored. 

The Constitution Chileans would vote to accept or reject set an eight­
year "transitional period" before a second plebiscite (in 1989) when 
Chileans would either endorse a regime-nominated candidate for president 
or, if this person was rejected, set the country on a path to competitive 
elections. To accept this long and circuitous route back to "democracy" 
required voters to approve a new Constitution that would institutionalize 
the outcome of the 1973 coup-including a leading role for the armed 
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forces in Chile's political life and entrenchment of the Junta's neo-liberal 
economic strategy. That Pinochet wanted this outcome was clear from the 
conditions under which the plebiscite would be held: without voter 
registration lists or party-appointed poll watchers, and with the opposition 
subject to incarceration or internal exile if any of its members attempted to 
mobilize politically n Not surprisingly, the anti-regime leaders-excluded 
from any role in drafting the Constitution---called for a "No" vote, 
interpreting the document as "merely a device to prolong military rule. "93 
From Washington, Senator Edward Kennedy denounced the whole 
exercise as a "fraud" and called on the US government to "dissociate itself 
both publicly and privately" from the regime; in the House, Thomas 
Harkin and 39 other members signed a letter to Pinochet describing the 
plebiscite as "transparently fraudulenl."94 Ambassador Landau added his 
voice to these concerns, accusing the regime of "pulling all the levers to 
insure favourable results" while simultaneously cracking dO\vn on the 
efforts to campaign for the "No" vote.95 

In late August, the Church entered the debate when the Episcopal 
Conference of Bishops issued a carefully worded statement expressing 
"strong sympathy" for those critical of the consultative process and the 
limited amount of time provided to address a range of questions that would 
give the plebiscite requisite moral authority. The statement singled out for 
criticism restrictions on access to the media, together with a lack of 
security about the procedures regulating polling.96 In a dispatch to Ottawa, 
the Canadian Embassy resorted to much blunter language: 

Amount of [information] from gov[ernmen]t about plebiscite and new 
constitution, not/not to say propaganda, is overwhelming. TV is flooded 
with pro-Pinochet sentiment, while opposition expressions get minimal 
attention in news. Radio is about 90/90 percent pro gov[ emmen]t [and] 
press is predominantly pro-gov[emrnen]t, with heavy advertising, and 
most editorial comment focusing on danger represented by any 
backsliding from government's policies and on opposition's weaknesses.97 

The steadily increasing opposition culminated in the largest anti­
regime protest since the 1973 coup as tens of thousands took to the streets 
to vent their anger only two weeks prior to the September 1 1  vote. While 
Pinochet did not anticipate the speed with which the opposition forces 
coalesced into a unified challenge to the plebiscite, any decision to cancel 
the vote was considered slim at best because Pinochet's "personal prestige 
is committed to it. "98 

As the vote neared, the Carter administration publicly adopted a wait­
and-see attitude although a number of senior officials had already made up 
their minds about the worth of Pinochet's Constitution. "We didn't take it 
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seriously," said the NSC's Robert Pastor.99 In State there were "mixed 
views" as to whether it was a step forward for Chile, basically summed up 
in the attitude that "it's better than nothing but it's got some things in there 
which can perpetuate fairly rigid control of the system by the more 
conservative elements in the country."100 ARA officials described the 
Constitution gambit as "a gimmick in order to protect the military from 
persecution" but acknowledged that the armed forces were unlikely to ever 
return to the barracks if some protection of this kind was not on offer. 
Even if true, this assessment cut no ice with HA officials who dismissed 
the whole process as an "unacceptable route to non-punishment."101 
According to Deputy Secretary Bushnell this was one more case where the 
Seventh Floor "split the difference" between HA's stance that this was 
Pinochet's strategy for holding onto power and his 0\Vll view that, 
however flawed, the document indicated a promise to return the country to 
democracy. In other words, "we said nothing before the vote, neither 
approving the process nor condemning it. ,,102 

In contrast to Washington's lack of policy coherence, Pinochet 
appeared single-minded and resolute. On the eve of the September 
plebiscite vote, Landau cabled State downplaying the possibility of 
"significant fraud" but suggesting that the plebiscite would "sharpen the 
fundamental dilemma which poses Pinochet's need to retain power 
indefinitely against the broad-based popular interest in returinng to 
civilian, elected government. The heart of the issue is that Pinochet 
believes he cannot dismount from the tiger and thus will not voluntarily 
leave office. ,,103 Certainly the overall result was never really in doubt: over 
two-thirds of voters (67 percent or 4.2 million) cast their ballots in favour 
of the new Constitution. Despite reports of widespread fraud,l04 Pinochet 
and his senior military and civilian advisers hailed the outcome as a 
complete success: it gave the regime the political legitimacy it desired, 
affilTIled the electorate's support of continued anned forces rule, and 
reinforced Pinochet's ideas about Chile's "democratic" future. Asked at a 
press conference what message he would like to send to the US 
government, Pinochet answered in effect that the Junta had given up trying 
to accommodate the Carter White House: 

It did not cost the United States one dollar, one bullet or a war to kick the 
comrlllmists out of Chile. \¥hen we needed something, instead of helping 
us, they hit out at us. So the only thing we ask of you is to leave us in 
peace to work, because we are doing a lot of things in accordance with our 
idiosyncrasy, believing that we are doing it well. 105 
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Passage of the new Constitution attested to Pinochet's skill as a 
political manipulator. The extraordinarily open-ended Article 8, for 
example, incorporated the most provocative constraint on the political left 
and mass mobilization politics: "[it] banned any person or group which 
contradicted the essential values of the 'Chilean spirit' from engaging in 
political activity, but was primarily a mechanism to exclude Marxists from 
the political system." The document, wrote Marcelo Pollack, also paid 
homage to the Chicago Boys and their success "in consecrating a . . .  social 
and economic model organized according to the laws of the market."106 

Although the Constitution did not grant Pinochet unbridled discretionary 
powers it ensured his almost absolute control "over the management of 
repression and eliminate[ d] any surviving elements of legal protection. "107 
Not for nothing did Washington refuse to "applaud" either the vote or the 
Qutcome.108 As late as it came, the State Department expressed 
disappointment at the long transition process, and issued a statement 
critical of the way the vote had been conducted, pointing out that the 
plebiscite neither "in its substance or process gave meaningful choices to 
the voters." Because it failed to advance the transition to democracy-at 
least anytime soon-there would be no change in US policy.I09 What 
additionally concerned the Carter administration was Pinochet's apparent 
post-plebiscite distancing from the gremialista movement which had been 
among the strongest advocates of a transition to a new political order. 
Having played an active role in the campaign for a "Yes" vote, Pinochet 
interpreted the result "as a personal victory that had reinforced his 
authority" and immediately began to increase contacts with those of his 
supporters "who insisted on the importance of keeping a very military 
orientation for the regime and warned him about the Gremialista 
ambitions."llo 

Even in the lead-up to the plebiscite, US-Chilean ties were falling to a 
new low. As the World Bank finally began preparations to consider 
Chile's request for the $43.5 million agricultural credit loan-which had 
been held over from earlier in the year-Treasury officials renewed their 
campaign for a reconsideration of the blanket decision in April to oppose 
all Chilean loan requests rather than abstain. HA officials were in no mood 
to see any change in the policy status quo, insisting that the human rights 
situation in Chile had "taken a turn for the worse" in the three months 
since the US voted against the BHN water supply loan: "Torture 
continues, arbitrary detention continues, and persons so detained in 1980, 
unlike in 1979, are being punished by internal banishment." A second 
reason was the nature of Pinochet's new Constitution and his transition 
timetable which HA was convinced would "set back considerably" the 
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return of an elected civilian government.111 From Santiago, Ambassador 
Landau accused HA of introducing "an entirely new consideration" into 
the debate on the loan applications, "namely our belief that the transition 
to free elections as provided for in the constitutional plebiscite is too 
lengthy." The previous understanding and agreement was that the regime's 
failure to act on the Letelier investigation "was the central and detennining 
reason" for negative US votes on all Chilean loans requests. Now, Landau 
maintained, "political considerations" were being advanced to justify the 
policy.112 Secretary Muskie responded that State's decision to abide by tbe 
April agreement to oppose all loans (reaffirmed at an August 28 meeting) 
was based on "both LetelierIMoffitt and human rights considerations. "113 
In the end, tbe US voted "No" on tbe agricultural credits loan in 
September, and "No" on the highway loan in November.114 In the process, 
the substance of Landau's complaint-that an entirely new rationale had 
been introduced into the policy debate-was never addressed. 

Only weeks after Chile's plebiscite, an NSC staff official wrote that the 
eleven months since the imposition of the Letelier sanctions have 
witnessed "some ugly trends in Chilean human rights behaviour. ,,115 
Although the worst of the state-authorized terror had passed, Amnesty 
International reports for 1979 and 1980 continued to express concern 
about political killings and imprisonment, torture, arbitrary detentions, and 
harassment of regime opponents including trade unionists, Church 
organizations, human rights activists, and the working class and urban 
poor in general."6 During the first half of 1980, the Chilean Human Rights 
Commission reported an increase in abuses that were now being carried 
out more discretely in order to minimize international opprobrium. 
Discussing the persistent use of torture, a member of the Santiago 
Archdiocese's legal aid service characterized the tactics employed by tbe 
security forces as "more sophisticated now, they don't leave marks and 
people don't disappear as tbey did before."117 

The UN Special Rapporteur's end-November 1980 report to tbe General 
Assembly on the human rights situation in Chile added further weight to 
these conclusions. The Rapporteur described increased restrictions on 
individual freedoms and civil rights, more "individual and collective 
arrests" compared with previous years, often resulting in torture, 
unexplained death and/or disappearance perpetrated by tbe security 
agencies and their rightist allies and "the almost total absence of protection 
against arbitrary action by officials [which 1 has created a climate of 
terror." Commenting on the regime's Labor Plan, the report concluded that 
approximately 80 percent of all workers had received no benefits from it 
whatsoever.118 By now, however, the military Junta was "resigned" to 



264 Chapter 8 

being a target of "politically-directed" criticism from abroad. And as for 
United Nations and Organisation of American States' resolutions, these 
were summarily dismissed as "annual rituals" which Chile's diplomats 
should no longer be "defensive" about in justifying and promoting tbe 
nation's policies."119 

As tbe Carter presidency entered its final months, tbe NSC's Thomas 
Thornton posed the question, in a memo to Brzezinski, of whether or not 
to undertake a final review of Chile policy "or simply leave matters for tbe 
next administration to deal witb." He was not pleased by what he believed 
was a decision by Warren Christopher to actually terminate a State 
Department study that had already begun. The case for doing nothing was 
fairly straightforward: there were no "pressing issues" that needed to be 
addressed in the short tenn; the Chilean regime remained "fairly odious" 
and had enacted a transition timetable "perpetuating tbe rule of Pinochet" 
that was "a mockery of the democratic process;" and by leaving changes to 
the next White House "we give them some cards to play." The counter, 
and more persuasive, argument was twofold: the Letelier sanctions had 
been ineffectual and were now "counterproductive" to US interests; and 
the "get tough" policy was being applied far more rigorously to Chile than 
to Argentina, whose generals were conducting a war of much greater 
brutality against their population. The result of the sanctions were said to 
discredit the administration's hlUllan rights policy and, lUlless Carter 
administration officials "sort things out better, we will be inviting the next 
administration to throw tbe baby out with tbe bathwater." Thomton 
concluded that it was in the 'White House interest to undertake a review. 120 

Wbat Thomton failed to make explicitly clear were tbe confused 
rationales invoked to justify current policy toward Pinochet. One involved 
the broad human rights issue with all the contested views about it which 
had plagued tbe administration from the beginning (and were furtber 
complicated by disagreements over whetber the Chilean regime should be 
held accountable only for post-1977 abuses or also for tbose committed 
prior to Carter entering office). Another was the Letelier case, which 
Warren Christopher had put firmly on a legal track to resolution although 
Chile's eventual obstructionism was bound to require the adoption of 
diplomatic responses from Washington. Finally, dealing with Pinochet 
now involved questions of promoting genuine democratic refOlTIl-not just 
human rights outcomes-as part of any plan to return the military to 
barracks. These various rationales allowed different agencies and 
individuals to advance different arglUllents for their preferred courses of 
action. And this complex situation virtually ensured the absence of a 
consistent US approach and made it extremely difficult for the Chileans to 
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calculate with any certainty what concessions might produce what rewards 
from Washington. 

In contrast to the disarray in US policy, Chile's ruling Junta and its 
aimed forces leadership maintained their essential internal cohesion and 
resisted any tendencies toward institutional fracturing.121 Pinochet had 
made sure that Washington would find it difficult to cultivate senior 
military figures opposed to his rule by promoting supporters to key 
command positions and allowing others to retain their high-level posts 
beyond the normal age of retirement. Cutbacks in US military assistance 
and Embassy personnel further weakened efforts to monitor developments 
inside the Chilean state's coercive institutions. 

Paradoxically, while shoring up his military support base, Pinochet 
was also engaged in formally distancing himself from the armed forces: 
his new Constitution had been convincingly "approved" in the September 
plebiscite the outcome of which could be interpreted as a sign of his own 
popular appeal. He faced no coherent political opposition, no serious 
challenge from the streets, and had battered an historically uinfied and 
activist trade union movement into submission. And he had opened the 
way to the eventual institutionalization of an authoritarian state in the 
guise of a "protected democracy." As well as being firmly in charge of 
Chile's political destiny at the end of 1980, in the economic sphere 
Pinochet had overseen a major structural readjustment and immeasurably 
enhanced the country's attractiveness to foreign private and investment 
capital. 122 

In the Department of State, assessments of US-Chilean relations during 
the latter half of the Carter presidency were pessimistic to say the least. 
When Robert Steven left the Chile Desk in mid-1979 he described 
bilateral ties as "static and unable to improve a great deal because of 
Letelier."123 His successor, Peter \Vhitney who served out the remaining 
18  months of Carter's term on the desk, characterized the relationship at 
the end of his tenure as "tense. "124 An Embassy political officer seemed 
rather sanguine about what the future held as "we were resigned" to 
having the Chilean military in power "for a while."125 During 1979-80, 
however, except for Nicaragua and, to a lesser extent, Cuba, the Western 
Hemisphere had been relegated to a "back burner" foreign policy concern 
as the administration shifted its attention to Iran, Afghanistan and other 
Third World trouble spots 126 The ability of HA and its few bureaucratic 
allies to counter the influence of anti-Communist hardliners such as NSC 
Adviser Brzezinski was further weakened by bureau personnel changes: 
Assistant Secretary Patricia Derian had resigned for health reasons, Mark 
Schneider had signed onto Senator Edward Kennedy's presidential 
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campaign team, and a number of staff positions remained vacant as foreign 
service officers reasoned that applying for HA positions might not be in 
their best long-tenn career interests given the very real possibility of a 
Republican Party victory in the November 1980 presidential election. 

Pinochet and his supporters had long since abandoned hopes of better 
ties with the Carter White House. The UNIT AS exclusion was the final 
straw. Relations between Washington and Santiago were now, in George 
Landau's words, "almost non-existent." The Chilean Junta "had a total 
distrust of United States and after UNIT AS they were just hoping and 
praying that Reagan would win the November presidential election."127 As 
things transpired, Robert Pastor observed, "Pinochet was very pleased 
with the electoral outcome. "128 But even before then, and after four years 
of Carter and his break with the policies of the Nixon-Ford era, Pinochet 
was in as strong a position as ever to confront whatever the next 
administration had in mind for Chile. 
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The Reagan administration would shift from, in its first tenn, reaching out 
again to the Pinochet regime with all the support it could give within 
legislative constraints, and, in its second tenn, viewing Pinochet as a threat 
to long-term US interests in Chile and actively encouraging him to return 
the country to civilian rule. But Pinochet would go at a time of his own 
choosing-as laid out in his 1980 Constitution-and without bothering 
much at all about what Washington was urging him to do. His longevity 
among Latin American military dictators of the period was a testament to 
his own tenacity and also to the limited influence the US could wield over 
independently-minded rulers south of the border. 

Certainly US policy toward Chile in the 1970s failed to make a 
significant impact on events inside the country. The Nixon Administration 
could not prevent the election of Salvador Allende's leftist Unidad 
Popular (UP) coalition in September 1970 and had no more success in its 
efforts to thwart Allende's assumption of power two months later. By 
exerting external pressure on the Chilean economy, Washington was able 
to make life extremely difficult for the UP government and it conspired 
with its opponents-including in the Chilean military-to oust Allende 
and his coalition from office. The coup of September 1973, however, was 
far less a response to US machinations than a decision taken by senior 
Chilean military commanders in what they considered to be the national 
interest. Moreover, the coup leaders were largely unknO\vn to US officials 
and, overtime, were distinctly unresponsive to Washington's advice on 
how they should govern and largely umnoved by the carrots the Nixon and 
Ford administrations extended or the sticks the Carter Administration 
eventually brandished over them. 

The overthrow of Allende basically returned Chile to its place among 
countries of relatively minor strategic, political and economic interest to 
the US. This meant there was no compelling need for the various actors 
involved in US foreign policy making to unite behind a cogent approach 
toward the country and its political fortunes. In the Cold War context of 
the period Henry Kissinger, like Richard Nixon, certainly wanted to 
prevent further experiments in using democratic means to arrive at 
communist revolutions and supporting those who had ousted the UP was 
one way they thought they could do that. But once Allende was overthrown 



268 Conclusion 

and the left decimated in Chile this cause lost its urgency for other 
officials in the administration and began to be seen by some as 
increasingly counterproductive to broader US interests. The Carter 
Administration appeared to single out Chile as a test case for its new 
human rights policy. But, once in office, this was a lesser priority for the 
President than demonstrating his new, less interventionist approach to 
Latin America as a whole. As a low priority issue, Chile presented an 
opportunity for different departments, agencies and individuals to more 
assertively contest the policy line because little of consequence was at 
stake. And as a source of frustration at how little influence the US was 
having on events inside the country, Chile generated a near constant 
source of evaluations, re-evaluations, disagreements, and conflicts. 

It was Kissinger's practice to deal with this challenge by ignoring those 
around him and making policy himself or else in direct negotiation with 
the President. In 1975, as Secretary of State, he did run into opposition to 
his attempts to deliver military equipment to Chile from the Department of 
Defense which was concerned about a wider issue, namely, inciting further 
congressional restrictions on arms transfers generally. The following year 
he clashed with Treasury over US support for an Inter-American 
Development Bank loan to Chile for much the same reason-Treasury' s 
fear that the wrong move would produce a congressional backlash with 
wider implications than just for Chile. For the most part, however, inter­
departmental disagreements about Chile policy were rare, although inside 
the State Department they were less so. The Office of Bolivia-Chile 
Affairs was bitterly divided over Washington's embrace of the Pinochet 
dictatorship; the HLUllan Rights Coordinator's Office took issue with 
various aspects of the policy; and, after a group of embassy officials 
questioned the whole approach in 1975, the Director of the Office of 
Policy Planning characterized the policy as a failure in a direct challenge 
to the Secretary's approach. 

As well, as Kissinger eventually began to suspect, these unresolved 
tensions among his subordinates regarding Chile policy spilled over into 
subtle forms of collusion between a small number of Department officials 
and those legislators most active in seeking to moderate the 'White House 
stance. These officials included Assistant Secretary of State for Inter­
American Affairs William Rogers who, having failed to temper 
Kissinger's uncompromising embrace of Pinochet, began to open lines of 
communication with human rights advocates and sympathetic members of 
Congress. Lower level State officials, including the Bureau of Inter­
American Affair's George Lister, were even more directly involved with 
particular legislators and human rights groups. Differences of opinion 
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within State that might have been dealt with through compromise by 
someone other than Kissinger instead helped shift the issue to a dispute 
between the Executive and Legislative branches of government and 
inadvertently lent encouragement to the passage of human rights 
legislation designed to constrain administration efforts to provide 
economic and military aid to Chile and other repressive Third World 
regImes. 

Whereas Nixon and Ford had turned a blind eye to the Chilean armed 
forces' brutal consolidation of their rule, the Carter administration focused 
its concerns on the Junta's institutions of repression. It did not, however, 
challenge the regime as such, thereby isolating a commitment to human 
rights from a concern about the nature of the regime violating those rights. 
The idea was to defend basic US interests in Chile and avoid a complete 
rupture in relations while working to alleviate abuses. From its inception, 
however, this focus on human rights was always more of an idea than a 
thought-out policy program, best illustrated by Carter's belief that only 
some of the regime's behavior was problematic. Not even holding the 
Junta accountable for an for an act of terrorism on the streets of 
Washington-the LetelieriMoffitt murders by DlNA operatives acting on 
the orders of Augusto Pinochet1-could shake Carter's belief that US 
interests were best served by maintaining ties with the Junta and that 
concessions were best extracted by working through the regime. This 
approach was given expression by Assistant Secretary of State Warren 
Christopher as "cool but correct" relations toward the dictatorship-a telTIl 
that invited those critical of the Chilean Junta to emphasize the word 
"cool" and those more sympathetic in their approach to emphasize the 
word "correct". The result was that decisions were often split dO\vn the 
middle rather than made on their merits. 

During Carter's first 15 months in office-the time most likely to 
produce a significant change in Chile policy-there developed no well­
conceived sense of how to deal with a government the 'White House 
refused to challenge head-on but whose behavior it sought to modify. The 
one potentially vulnerable economic pressure point to which the Junta was 
exposed-access to foreign aid and loans-had well and truly closed once 
American and other private foreign banks had stepped in and proceeded to 
lend billions of dollars to the regime. By early 1978, the ruling generals' 
firm hold on political power and their ability to resist external efforts to 
force changes in their style of governance had triggered a sharp difference 
of opinion among American officials over how to proceed. 

The "hardliners" among these officials desired to maintain lines of 
communication with the Junta, provide economic and military aid to the 
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extent possible, and acknowledge positive changes when they occurred. 
Tougher action, they argued, would be counter-productive: ratcheting up 
the pressure on Pinochet to implement desired refOlTIlS would simply 
provide him with further justification to become more repressive, 
paranoid, intransigent, or non-cooperative. Other Carter officials agreed 
with Ambassador George Landau's memo to the State Department in 
March of that year, dismissing the idea that human rights could be 
improved by working with Pinochet. This strategy had failed to achieve its 
objective, Landau wrote, and was "politically impractical." He suggested 
that a longer-term strategy based on consistently cool disdain was more 
likely to bring about the end of military rule 2 

This division over the application of Chile policy highlighted a key 
feature of the broader policy debate: a fOlmidable bureaucratic resistance 
to \¥hite House efforts to prioritize hlUllan rights relative to other 
competing interests in dealing with repressive Third World allies. This 
situation was not helped by consistently ambiguous public statements by 
the President and his senior foreign policy advisers as to where human 
rights fitted into the overall scheme of things. Designated exceptions or 
exemptions were an integral part of the policy from the very beginning. 
Whenever the pursuit of human rights conflicted with key US strategic, 
geopolitical or economic interests in a particular country, those interests 
always took precedence. 

This loophole generated inter-departmental and intra-agency disputes 
over specific applications often leading to policy outcomes on the basis of 
trade-offs and compromises rather than leadership; at other times sheer 
policy immobility was the result. Beyond this, no sharply defmed or 
comprehensive guidelines on how and when human rights concerns should 
be taken into account in framing and pursing US policy decisions were 
ever developed. The result was that individual officials, agencies and 
departments retained considerable latitude to interpret the policy and/or 
contest the interpretations of others-a problem which was magnified in 
the State Department as a result of efforts by Cyrus Vance to reverse the 
heavy-handed management style of Henry Kissinger. In the more devolved 
environment that resulted, the administration was unable to build a strong 
institutional base committed to the idea that human rights should play a 
key role in its foreign policy. 

The reorganization and streamlining of the foreign policy bureaucracy 
under Secretary of State Vance was intended to elevate the roles played by 
the State and the Defense Departments in crucial policy decision-making. 
In practice, however, this devolution of authority also raised the tenor of 
competing departmental interests, especially over the new emphasis on 
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human rights. If the core Carter White House message was that the US 
would no longer turn a blind eye to human rights abuses in its relations 
with other governments, the idea lacked strong administration supporters 
outside of the Bureau of Human Rights (HA), a handful of senior officials 
on State's Seventh Floor, and the NSC's Latin American specialist Robert 
Pastor. Inside the Pentagon, civilian and military officials were perhaps the 
most hostile to the human rights "innovation" because it threatened 
weapons transfers to Third World allies which could, in turn, reduce 
"access to and leverage over" the military as a key state institution, 
especially in Latin America 3 Treasury adhered to the policy but did so 
only grudgingly whenever it was involved in determining Washington's 
position on individual multilateral development bank loan requests. It too 
was primarily concerned with wider issues: generous replenishment of US 
contributions to those banks and ensuring a positive environment for US 
investors. Commerce resisted any attempts to link human rights and trade 
in ways that might threaten US access to export markets. Much the same 
reasons shaped the negative response of the US intelligence agencies to 
the idea of human rights playing a key role in foreign policy. Discussing 
the Pinochet dictatorship in Chile, one prominent HA official spoke of 
having experienced more problems with the Defense Intelligence Agency 
(DIA) and the CIA than with the Pentagon: both DIA and the CIA had 
built up extensive liaisons with their Chilean opposite numbers which they 
did not want to risk.4 

At the middle and lower rungs of the foreign policy bureaucracy there 
was a good deal of disagreement about the interpretation and application 
of the policy, especially in State where one official described an ongoing 
"guerrilla warfare battle"5 bet\veen the career foreign service officers in 
the geographic bureaus and the mainly political appointees located in the 
newly created Bureau of Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs (HA), a 
number of whom were recruited from Congress where they had worked on 
legislation restricting economic and military aid to countries with poor 
human rights records.6 The various agencies in dispute over policy 
continued to use what means they could to advance their 0\Vll agendas and 
frustrate those of others. Because HA had no direct access to cable traffic 
between the Embassies and State's desk officers, it relied on the good will 
of the latter to forward infOlmation relevant to human rights issues. This 
could always be delayed or withheld in attempts to keep HA in the dark or 
make its concerns seem groundless.7 One HA official remarked that the 
bureau had to "kick, scream and claw" its way into the policymaking 
process.8 Other bureaus were also particularly irritated by having to deal 
with more red tape in the form of a requirement that HA sign off on all 
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alms transfers and security assistance."9 Looking back to those turf battles, 
then Deputy Assistant Secretary for Human Rights and Security 
Assistance Steven Cohen described an essentially beleaguered HA Bureau, 
viewed by the rest of State-especially the Bureau of Inter-American 
Affairs or ARA-as a "hostile implant."lO 

Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs John 
Bushnell characterized the 1977-80 years as a period "unpleasant" 
confrontations between ARA and HA over the preparation of policy 
papers on human rights and "tremendous struggles" over the drafting of 
the annual Human Rights report to Congress. One side would want to praise 
relative improvements and the other side would demand condenmation and 
punishment. This situation was made all the worse by the failure of senior 
State Department officials, particularly Vance and Christopher, to 
seriously grapple with the problem. Instead, decisions tended to be made 
which merely "split the difference" between competing agencies.u On 
taking up his appointment as Under Secretary of State of Political Affairs 
in 1978, David Newsom immediately found himself in the midst of this 
conflict: "When I came into the Department. . .  some fifty cases of 
disagreement simmered within and between bureaus over the implementation 
of legislation requiring attention to hlUllan rights. ,,12 The establishment of 
an interagency committee chaired by Warren Christopher, responsible for 
assessing the human rights situation in countries seeking loans from the 
major international lending agencies proved no more effective: it quickly 
became a battleground for competing departmental priorities that 
Christopher could rarely resolve and which often worked against 
consensus decisions, gradually reducing the committee to an occasional 
player in loan decisions. 

What particularly angered the geographic bureaus was not human 
rights advocacy per se as much as what they perceived as RA's tendency 
to exclusively focus on this one factor to the exclusion of all else.13 "We 
were putting every single foreign policy operation through one single lens, 
which was human rights," explained ARA's Deputy Assistant Secretary 
William Stedman. "As important as human rights is, it's not the only optic 
through which to view conditions and developments in foreign countries. 
The exclusivity of this one approach only was becoming overbearing. As a 
consequence, the career service and its point of view was getting short 
shrift."14 Throughout her tenure as Deputy Assistant Secretary for Inter­
American Affairs, Sally Shelton-Colby was called upon, time and again, to 
mediate the constant "distrust" between ARA and RA officials, not only 
over matters of policy but also over seemingly clear-cut issues such as the 
actual human rights situation in particular countries: "You couldn't even 
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get a consensus on what the facts were, much less on policy."15 Both 
points are amply demonstrated in the two bureaus' battles over Chile 
policy. 

From her vantage point in State's Office of Southern Cone Affairs, 
Roberta Cohen also witnessed endless inter-agency disputes over 
implementing human rights policy in general and "big fights" over inter­
American affairs in particular. Like others, she traced the problem to the 
failure to develop a thought-out conceptual framework within which the 
human rights policy could be applied and how to go about applying it in 
practice: "I think that most people at State didn't really know what human 
rights were. How you apply it wasn't really something that was discussed 
or set out anywhere. "16 Perhaps no one attempting to reconcile differences 
between ARA and HA was more frustrated than the NSC's Pastor who 
described his own failed effort to have the problem resolved: "When [HA 
and ARA 1 became more extreme in their positions, I thought that if we 
brought it up to the ChristopherlBrzezinski level, which wouldn't have us 
dance back and forth depending on who grabbed the policy first in the 
State Department, we could really do something. But we didn't get very 
far."17 

Scholars have observed that divisions, disagreements and disputes of 
this kind in the foreign policy making process can produce creative 
responses to challenging situations.18 But they can also produce inertia 
with respect to changes in policies if not paralysis with respect to action of 
any kind. 'Where crucial US interests are not subject to immediate threat, 
the result of competing agendas is conducive to a stability of approach at a 
practical level so that little of significance changes from one 
administration to another. Certainly the rhetoric around Chile policy 
changed substantially from the Nixon-Kissinger period to the Carter 
period. Clearly also the intentions of each administration's policy were 
quite different. The Carter 'White House took a much more critical 
approach to Pinochet than had its predecessors, designating his regime as a 
major abuser of human rights, scaling back military relations, telTIlinating 
economic aid programs, and opposing Chilean loan requests to the 
multilateral development banks. Simultaneously, Carter officials embarked 
on an offensive to embarrass the Pinochet regime over its style of 
governance. Judged by the administration's own stated goals-a policy 
designed to align D.S. actions with the cause of human rights narrowly 
defined (,integrity of the person')-the aim was laudable and a number of 
positive results were achieved. Inside Chile, the impact of Carter policy 
was certainly suggested by the number of lives saved, the periodic easing 
of repression (release of prisoners, return of exiles, lifting states of 
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emergency), and the reconfiguration of the more appalling instruments of 
repression (closing dO\vn detention/torture centers, replacing DINA with 
the slightly less sinister CN!). Of course, how much of this would have 
been done in any event as a response to opportunities and challenges 
inside Chile is a matter of debate. The administration also had clearer, 
though limited, success in pursuing the Letelier investigation and the 
DINA operatives who carried out the terrorist act. 

What is less certain is whether Carter's approach facilitated the growth 
of the political opposition by encouraging the dictatorship to engage in 
pseudo-democratic refOlTIls. Pinochet's two major political initiatives, the 
1977 Chacarillas Plan and the 1980 plebiscite on a new military-authored 
Constitution, were less a response to US pressure than part of a broader 
effort to translate the regime's brute force into some kind of legitimacy to 
govern. 

That said, Pinochet found little difference in the reliability he sought, 
or the reciprocity he expected, from any of the administrations he dealt 
with in the 1970s. One senior State Department official involved in Chile 
policy in the decade considered here, thought little of any real substance 
had changed. In practical terms Carter Administration policy of public 
gesturing over human rights abuses, he said, seemed to produce as much 
response in Chile as the Kissinger approach, "to wit, you're much better 
off if you are quiet on the subject and put pressure on behind the scenes."19 
More generally, one study has observed that given the patterns of 
exceptions and compromises in implementing policy, it is not surprising 
that there was "no significant relationship between human rights violations 
and US assistance at any time during the Nixon, Ford, or Carter years. ,,20 

What this study has sho\Vll is the extent to which the bureaucratic contest 
over US foreign policy making at all levels can contribute to a levelling of 
differences in approach and outcomes across administrations irrespective 
of their ambitions and management styles. 
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